Developing an attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium vector to deliver Cathepsin B as a prophylactic and therapeutic vaccine against *Schistosoma mansoni* in a pre-clinical model

Adam S. Hassan

Department of Microbiology & Immunology McGill University, Montreal December 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Adam S. Hassan, 2022

ABSTRACT

Schistosomiasis is among the most important neglected tropical diseases and Schistosoma mansoni threatens hundreds of millions of people in over 50 countries worldwide. Infections occur in fresh water and risk groups include school-aged children as well as adults with occupations or domestic tasks involving contact with infested water. Chronic disease manifestations are attributable to egg deposition with ensuing inflammation in tissues such as the liver and intestine. The larval stage of S. mansoni (i.e.: schistosomula) migrate through respiratory tissues and adult worms reside in venules adjacent to the gastrointestinal tract. Praziquantel, an oral anthelminthic that paralyzes the adult worm, is the main drug for treatment of schistosomiasis. However, it does not protect against reinfection and drug resistance is a growing concern. Several candidate vaccines are in pre-clinical and clinical development, but none is designed to elicit both systemic and mucosal responses. We have repurposed an attenuated Salmonella enterica Typhimurium strain (YS1646) to produce a vaccine that targets Cathepsin B (CatB), a parasite digestive enzyme important for both juvenile and adult worms. After screening multiple constructs, two YS1646 strains with promising plasmid-based promoter-secretory signal pairings were selected for in vivo evaluation (nirB_SspH1_CatB and SspH1_SspH1_CatB). When mice vaccinated using a 3-week oral (PO: dose 1 x 10⁹ colony-forming units (cfu)) prime & intramuscular (i.e.: recombinant CatB IM; dose 20 µg) boost regimen were challenged 3 weeks post-vaccination, reduced worm and egg burden were observed in both the intestines and liver 7 weeks post-infection. In the nirB SspH1 CatB PO + CatB IM group, the worm and intestine/liver egg burdens were reduced 93.1% and 79.5%/90.3%, respectively. Having demonstrated promising prophylactic effects, we next assessed whether these candidate vaccines could act therapeutically. Compared to mock-vaccinated mice, therapeutic vaccination either 2 or 4 months after infection with a combined PO+IM regimen administered over 5 days resulted in significant reductions in all parasitological outcomes (46 - 50%) at 1 month post-vaccination with even greater reductions (64 - 73%) at 2 months post-vaccination. Next, we generated and screened several chromosomally integrated YS1646 strains expressing CatB to produce a viable candidate vaccine for eventual human use (i.e.: more stable expression of the target antigen and removal of plasmid-based antibiotic resistance). Based upon in vitro antigen expression, the most promising strain was advanced to *in vivo* testing (nirB SspH1 CatB). Despite a reduction in CatB gene copy number from 25 - 30 in the plasmid-bearing YS1646 to a single

copy in the chromosomally integrated YS1646 candidate, we observed significant decreases in parasite burden as well as robust systemic and mucosal antibody responses following combined PO+IM (5-day) vaccination. This multimodal vaccination approach led to a mixed T_H1/T_H2 profile in both the humoral and cellular responses. A vaccine having both prophylactic and therapeutic activity would be ideal for use in conjunction with praziquantel mass treatment campaigns, the current 'gold-standard' practice for schistosomiasis control. Overall, the findings in this thesis provide insight into the possible advantages of using a live attenuated bacterial vector expressing a parasite digestive enzyme antigen as a vaccine. These observations make an important contribution to the development of a potential vaccine for schistosomiasis.

RÉSUMÉ

La schistosomiase est l'une des plus importantes maladies tropicales négligées et Schistosoma mansoni menace des centaines de millions de personnes dans plus de 50 pays dans le monde. Les infections ont lieu dans l'eau douce et les groupes à risque incluent les enfants d'âge scolaire ainsi que les adultes avec des emplois ou tâches domestiques nécessitant un contact avec de l'eau infectée. Les symptômes de la phase chronique de la maladie sont attribuables à des œufs piégés entraînant de l'inflammation dans des tissus tels que le foie et les intestins. Le stade larvaire de S. mansoni (c.-à-d. schistosomules) migre à travers les tissus respiratoires et les vers adultes vivent dans les veinules adjacentes au tube digestif. Le praziquantel, un vermifuge oral qui paralyse le ver adulte, est la drogue principale pour traiter la schistosomiase. Cependant, le médicament ne protège pas contre une réinfection et la résistance au praziquantel est de plus en plus inquiétante. Plusieurs candidats-vaccins sont en phase préclinique et clinique, mais aucun n'est conçu pour déclencher des réponses immunitaires systémique et muqueuse. Nous avons adapté une souche atténuée de Salmonella enterica Typhimurium (YS1646) pour produire un vaccin qui cible l'antigène Cathepsine B (CatB), une enzyme digestive du parasite qui est importante pour les vers juvéniles et adultes. Ayant complété un criblage de plusieurs constructions, deux souches YS1646 à base de plasmide avec des combinaisons prometteuses de prometteur et signal de sécrétion ont été choisies pour des tests in vivo (nirB_SspH1_CatB et SspH1_SspH1_CatB). Lorsque nous avons vacciné des souris avec une première série de doses orales (PO: dose 1 x 10⁹ cfu) suivie d'une dose de rappel intramusculaire (c.-à-d. IM CatB recombinant; dose 20 µg) avec un intervalle de 3 semaines entre les deux, nous avons observé des charges réduites de vers et d'œufs dans les intestins et le foie 7 semaines après l'infection. Dans le groupe nirB_SspH1_CatB PO + CatB IM, les charges de vers et d'œufs dans les intestins et le foie étaient réduites à 93.1%, 79.5% et 90.3% respectivement. Ayant démontré des effets prophylactiques prometteurs, nous avons ensuite évalué si nos candidats-vaccins fonctionnent de façon thérapeutique. Comparée au groupe de contrôle, la vaccination thérapeutique soit 2 ou 4 mois post-infection avec un horaire de vaccination simultanée PO+IM administrée sur 5 jours a engendré des réductions significatives dans tous les résultats parasitologiques (46 - 50%) après un mois post-vaccination. Ces réductions ont augmenté (64 - 73%) 2 mois post-vaccination. Ensuite, nous avons généré et criblé plusieurs souches YS1646 exprimant CatB de façon chromosomique afin de produire un candidat-vaccin viable pour des éventuels essais cliniques (c.-à-d. une expression plus stable de notre antigène ainsi que l'élimination de la résistance aux antibiotiques dû à un plasmide). Selon l'expression antigénique *in vitro*, la souche la plus prometteuse a avancé pour des tests *in vivo* (nirB_SspH1_CatB). Malgré la réduction dans le nombre de copies du gène CatB de 25 - 30 dans la souche plasmide YS1646 à une seule copie dans le candidat YS1646 avec une intégration chromosomique, nous avons observé des hauts taux de réduction dans la charge parasitaire ainsi que des fortes réponses chez les anticorps dans les systèmes immunitaires systémique et muqueuse après l'horaire de vaccination combinée PO+IM (5 jours). Cette méthode de vaccination multimodale a mené à un profil mixte T_H1/T_H2 dans l'immunité humorale et cellulaire. Un vaccin qui puisse agir de façon prophylactique et thérapeutique serait idéal en utilisation conjointe avec des campagnes de traitement de masse avec le praziquantel qui est le pilier actuel de la lutte contre la schistosomiase. En tout, les découvertes de cette thèse révèlent plus d'informations sur les avantages d'utiliser une souche atténuée d'une bactérie en tant que vecteur pour exprimer une enzyme digestive d'un parasite comme antigène pour un vaccin. Ces résultats sont une contribution importante dans le développement d'un vaccin contre la schistosomiase.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My time in graduate school was defined by many remarkable people who have challenged me to grow as both a scientist and a person. My colleagues, mentors, and students have been great sources of inspiration over the past five years, and I am humbled to have crossed paths with them.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors Drs. Momar Ndao and Brian Ward. Momar – thank you for your constant support and guidance. You have always been available to provide advice but also to talk in general about matters that go beyond the lab. You took a chance on me and believed in my potential, and the time spent in your company has been nothing short of excellent. Brian – your vast depth of knowledge has always been inspiring and has pushed me to continue to learn and excel. You taught me the value in failed experiments and the lessons learned through troubleshooting. Both of you supported my goals and ideas and gave me the space needed to grow so that I could become the scientist I am today. You are giants in your fields, and it has been my immense pleasure and honour to learn from you.

I would also like to thank my advisory committee members Dr. Samantha Gruenheid and Dr. Greg Matlashewski. Thank you for your guidance and support over the years. Thank you as well for welcoming me as a TA in your courses and impacting my growth not only as a researcher but also as an instructor.

To all the members of the Ndao and Ward labs, past and present, thank you for your support and friendship over these past few years. Annie – I could not do much of the animal work without you. Thank you for helping me through my 'hesitations' with the mice and always being around to help me out. Angela and Louis – thank you for always being present to answer questions in the lab and your willingness to help with sample processing and various assays.

Specifically, Lydia– my 'work wife', thank you for being an incredible lab colleague and friend. Kaitlin – my fellow *Salmonella* person, I'm thankful that we were able to rely on each other and motivate one another during oral gavage experiments. Hilary – thank you for all the useful advice and for being around to discuss the latest season of Big Brother. Fatima – you were the best student room desk neighbour one could ask for. To Raidan, Jason, Pavitra, Karine, Jackson, Dilhan, Mohamed, Fabio, Nathalie, and others – thank you for the memories and lessons learned. To all the undergraduate students under my direct or indirect supervision, Morgan, Francesca F., Georgia, Jonathan, Magan, Tania, Lily, Theo, Sunny, and Francesca B. – it has been a great experience mentoring you in the lab and seeing you all continue to prosper in your career paths.

To my great friend Jaryd from Dr. Behr's lab – thank you for being the person I talk the most with about science. I've really enjoyed sharing about our data and experiments as well as having you as a friend and peer in general. I may have abandoned our post-doc plans (for now), but who knows, I might join the Sullivan lab one day.

To Dr. Charles Dozois and all members of his lab – thank you for welcoming me so warmly. It was a great experience to train in a different institute and gain new perspectives that will undoubtedly help me in the future.

I would be remiss to not mention all the animal care support staff, RI employees and collaborators at the BRI who helped in the setup and maintenance of our snail room as well as with the optimization of our challenge experiments.

And last, but certainly not least, a huge thank you to my family for always listening to me talk about my struggles and even offering advice where they could. We all learned and came to accept that the phrase "I'll be done soon in the lab" never meant as soon as we all thought. To my mother – thank you for always cheering me on and being excited to hear about my experiments. Thank you also for your enthusiasm to read my work and providing thoughtful edits with your amazing proofreading skills. To my sister – thank you for keeping me company on short weekend days or during the holidays and for picking me up from the lab whenever needed. The three of us make a great team and I will forever be thankful for having you in my life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Abstract | i |
|-------------------------------------|-------|
| Résumé | iii |
| Acknowledgements | v |
| Table of Contents | vii |
| List of Tables and Figures | xiii |
| List of Abbreviations | XV |
| Contributions of Authors | xxi |
| Contributions to Original Knowledge | xxiii |

| Chapter 1: Literature Review and Research Objectives | 1 |
|--|----|
| 1.1 SCHISTOSOMIASIS | 1 |
| 1.1.1 Brief History | 1 |
| 1.1.2 Disease Epidemiology | 2 |
| 1.1.3 Clinical Aspects | 3 |
| 1.1.3.1 Acute Schistosomiasis | 3 |
| 1.1.3.2 Hepatic & Intestinal Schistosomiasis | 4 |
| 1.1.3.3 Urogenital Schistosomiasis | 4 |
| 1.1.3.4 Neuroschistosomiasis | 5 |
| 1.1.3.5 Pulmonary Schistosomiasis | 6 |
| 1.1.4 Diagnostics | 6 |
| 1.1.5 Treatment and Control | 7 |
| 1.1.5.1 Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene (WASH) | 8 |
| 1.1.5.2 Vector Control | 8 |
| 1.1.5.3 Praziquantel | 9 |
| 1.1.5.4 Novel Drug Development | 11 |
| 1.1.6 Co-Infections | 13 |
| 1.1.6.1 Malaria | 13 |
| 1.1.6.2 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 (HIV-1) | 13 |
| 1.1.6.3 Tuberculosis (TB) | 14 |
| 1.1.6.4 Soil-Transmitted Helminths (STH) | 15 |
| 1.1.6.5 Hepatitis | 16 |
| 1.2 SCHISTOSOMIASIS INFECTION & HOST IMMUNITY | 17 |
| 1.2.1 Schistosoma Lifecycle | 17 |
| 1.2.2 Immunopathology | 19 |
| 1.2.3 Immunomodulation | 19 |
| 1.2.3.1 Cercaria and Schistosomula in the Skin | 19 |

| 1.2.3.2 Schistosomula and Adult Worms in the Bloodstream | 20 |
|--|----|
| 1.2.3.3 Eggs in Tissue | 21 |
| 1.2.4 Protective Immunity | 21 |
| 1.3 SCHISTOSOMIASIS VACCINES | 23 |
| 1.3.1 Vaccines in Clinical Development | 23 |
| 1.3.1.1 Schistosoma haematobium 28-kDa Glutathione S-Transferase (ShGST28) | 23 |
| 1.3.1.2 Schistosoma mansoni 14-kDa Fatty Acid Binding Protein (Sm14) | 24 |
| 1.3.1.3 Schistosoma mansoni Tetraspanin-2 (Sm-TSP-2) | 24 |
| 1.3.1.4 Schistosoma mansoni Calpain (Sm-p80) | 25 |
| 1.3.2 Pre-Clinical Candidates | 25 |
| 1.3.2.1 Tegumental Proteins | 25 |
| 1.3.2.2 Digestive Enzymes | 26 |
| 1.3.2.3 Schistosoma japonicum Vaccine Development | 26 |
| 1.3.3 Controlled Human Infection Model | 27 |
| 1.4 SALMONELLA-BASED VACCINES | 28 |
| 1.4.1 Salmonella Infection & Host Immune Responses | |
| 1.4.1.1 Salmonella Biology | 28 |
| 1.4.1.2 <i>Salmonella</i> and the Immune System | 29 |
| 1.4.2 Salmonella as Vaccine Vectors for Infectious Diseases | 30 |
| 1.4.2.1 Bacterial Diseases | 30 |
| 1.4.2.2 Viral Diseases | 31 |
| 1.4.2.3 Parasitic Diseases | 32 |
| 1.4.3 Salmonella Typhimurium YS1646 | 33 |
| 1.5 RATIONALE & RESEARCH OBJECTIVES | 34 |
| 1.6 REFERENCES | 36 |
| 1.7 FIGURES AND LEGENDS | 68 |
| Preface to Chapter 2 | 72 |
| Chapter 2: Vaccination against the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B using a YS1646 Salmonella enterica Typhimurium vector provides almost complete protection against Schistosoma mansoni challenge in a mouse model | 73 |
| 21 A DSTD A CT | 74 |
| | |
| 2.2 INTRODUCTION | 75 |
| 2.3 METHODS | 77 |
| 2.3.1 Ethics statement | 77 |
| 2.3.2 Plasmids | 77 |
| 2.3.3 Western blotting | 78 |
| 2.3.4 <i>In vitro</i> macrophage infection | 78 |

| 2.3.6 Immunization protocol | 79 |
|---|-----|
| 2.3.7 Intestine processing for IgA assessment | 80 |
| 2.3.8 Humoral response by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) | 80 |
| 2.3.8.1 Serum IgG and intestinal IgA | 80 |
| 2.3.8.2 Serum IgG1 and IgG2c | 81 |
| 2.3.9 Cytokine production by multiplex ELISA | 81 |
| 2.3.10 Schistosoma mansoni challenge | 82 |
| 2.3.11 Statistical analysis | 82 |
| 2.4 RESULTS | 83 |
| 2.4.1 In vitro Expression and Secretion of CatB by Transformed YS1646 Strains | 83 |
| 2.4.2 Antibody Response to YS1646-vectored Vaccination | 83 |
| 2.4.3 Cytokine Production in Response to YS1646-vectored Vaccination | 84 |
| 2.4.4 Protection from S. mansoni Challenge from YS1646-vectored Vaccination | 84 |
| 2.5 DISCUSSION | 86 |
| 2.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 91 |
| 2.7 AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS | 91 |
| 2.8 COMPETING INTERESTS | 91 |
| 2.9 REFERENCES | 92 |
| 2.10 FIGURES AND TABLES | 96 |
| 2.11 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL | 104 |

| Preface to Chapter 3 | 107 |
|--|---------|
| CHAPTER 3: Therapeutic activity of a Salmonella-vectored Schistosoma mansoni | vaccine |
| in a mouse model of chronic infection | 108 |
| 3.1 ABSTRACT | 109 |
| 3.2 INTRODUCTION | 110 |
| 3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS | 111 |
| 3.3.1 Ethics statement | 111 |
| 3.3.2 Chronic Schistosoma mansoni murine infection | 111 |
| 3.3.3 Mouse vaccination | 112 |
| 3.3.4 Serum antibody production by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) | 112 |
| 3.3.4.1 Serum CatB-specific Total IgG | 112 |
| 3.3.4.2 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 and IgG2c | 113 |
| 3.3.4.3 Serum total IgE | 113 |
| 3.3.5 Cell-mediated response by multiplex ELISA | 113 |
| 3.3.6 Histopathological assessment | 114 |
| 3.3.6.1 H&E staining | 114 |
| 3.3.6.2 PicroSirius Red staining | 114 |

| 5.5.7 Statistical analysis | 114 |
|--|---|
| 3.4 RESULTS | |
| 3.4.1 Efficacy of rapid, multimodal vaccination in a prophylactic model | |
| 3.4.2 Parasite burden after therapeutic vaccination | 115 |
| 3.4.3 Humoral responses after therapeutic vaccination | 116 |
| 3.4.4 Cytokine and chemokine responses | 117 |
| 3.5 DISCUSSION | 118 |
| 3.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 122 |
| 3.7 AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS | 123 |
| 3.8 COMPETING INTERESTS | 123 |
| 3.9 REFERENCES | 124 |
| 3.10 FIGURES AND LEGENDS | 127 |
| 3.11 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL | 133 |
| | |
| Preface to Chapter 4 | 135 |
| CHAPTER 4: Chromosomally integrated gene expression of <i>Schistosoma mansoni</i> | |
| Cathepsin B in a <i>Salmonella</i> Typhimurium vaccine vector protects against murine | |
| schistosomiasis | 136 |
| 4 1 A DSTD A CT | |
| 4.1 ADSTRACT | 137 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT | 137 138 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS | 137 138 139 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement | 137 138 139 139 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids | 137 138 139 139 139 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration | 137 138 139 139 139 139 140 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains | 137 138 139 139 139 139 140 141 141 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 142 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 142 142 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 142 142 142 142 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE 4.3.8.2 Serum CatB-specific IgG avidity | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 142 142 142 142 143 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS. 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE 4.3.8.2 Serum CatB-specific IgG 1& IgG2c | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 141 142 142 142 143 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS. 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration. 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization. 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE. 4.3.8.3 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 & IgG2c. 4.3.8.4 Intestinal CatB-specific IgA | 137 138 139 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 141 142 142 142 143 143 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE 4.3.8.3 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 & IgG2c 4.3.8.4 Intestinal CatB-specific IgA 4.3.8.5 Serum total IgE | 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 141 142 142 142 143 143 143 144 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS. 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE 4.3.8.3 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 & IgG2c 4.3.8.4 Intestinal CatB-specific IgA 4.3.9 Cell-mediated responses | 137 138 139 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 141 142 142 142 142 142 143 143 143 143 144 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE 4.3.8.3 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 & IgG2c 4.3.8.4 Intestinal CatB-specific IgA 4.3.8.5 Serum total IgE 4.3.9 Cell-mediated responses by multiplex ELISA | 137 138 139 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 141 142 142 142 143 143 143 143 144 144 |
| 4.1 ABSTRACT 4.2 INTRODUCTION 4.3 METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics statement 4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids 4.3.3 Chromosomal integration 4.3.4 Growth curves 4.3.5 Lyophilization of <i>Salmonella</i> strains 4.3.6 Confocal microscopy 4.3.7 Mouse immunization 4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) 4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE 4.3.8.2 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 & IgG2c 4.3.8.3 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 & IgG2c 4.3.8.4 Intestinal CatB-specific IgA 4.3.9 Cell-mediated responses 4.3.9.2 Flow cytometry analysis | 137 138 139 139 139 139 140 141 141 141 141 142 142 143 143 143 144 144 144 |

| 4.3.11 Histopathological assessment by H&E staining1 | 46 |
|--|----------|
| 4.3.12 Statistical analysis1 | 46 |
| 4.4 RESULTS1 | 46 |
| 4.4.1 Chromosomal integration of vaccine constructs in YS1646 Salmonella Typhimurium1 | 46 |
| 4.4.2 Heterologous vaccination with nirB_SspH1_CatB leads to robust systemic & local humoral | 47 |
| responses | 47 |
| splenocytes | 48 |
| 4.4.4 Vaccine-induced IFNy production is mediated by CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ 1 cells | 49 50 |
| 4.5 DISCUSSION1 | 51 |
| 4.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS1 | 58 |
| 4.7 AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS1 | 58 |
| 4.8 COMPETING INTERESTS1 | 58 |
| 4.9 REFERENCES1 | 59 |
| 4.10 FIGURES & TABLE1 | 65 |
| 4.11 SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL1 | 72 |

| Chapter 5: General Discussion | |
|--|-----|
| 5.1 MAIN FINDINGS | 177 |
| 5.2 LIMITATIONS OF THE WORK | 178 |
| 5.2.1 Animal model | 179 |
| 5.2.1.1 Differences in Salmonella Typhimurium responses in mice vs humans | 179 |
| 5.2.1.2 Mice are not an ideal schistosomiasis challenge model | 179 |
| 5.2.1.3 Absence of co-infections in naïve mice | 180 |
| 5.2.2 Challenges with live, attenuated vectored vaccines | 181 |
| 5.2.2.1 Persistence of YS1646 in the host | 181 |
| 5.2.2.2 Safety for immunocompromised individuals | |
| 5.3 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES | |
| 5.3.1 Enhancing mucosal immunity through oral adjuvants | |
| 5.3.1.1 Benefits of mucosal immunity for schistosomiasis | |
| 5.3.1.2 Can oral vaccination alone be sufficient? | |
| 5.3.1.3 Preliminary work with mucosal adjuvants: ATRA and dmLT | 184 |
| 5.3.2 Vaccination in PZQ-treated subjects | |
| 5.3.3 Cross-protection against other Schistosoma species | 186 |
| 5.3.4 Targeting other Schistosoma antigens | 187 |
| 5.3.5 Alternative delivery systems or vaccination approaches for Cathepsin B | 187 |
| | |

| 5.4 CONCLUDING REMARKS | |
|----------------------------|-----|
| 5.5 REFERENCES | 191 |
| 5.6 FIGURE & FIGURE LEGEND | |

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

| Figure 1.1. Geographic distribution of schistosomiasis | . 68 |
|---|------|
| Figure 1.2. S. haematobium (A) and S. mansoni (B) infection intensity across different ages | . 69 |
| Figure 1.3. Schistosoma lifecycle | . 70 |
| Figure 1.4. Host immune responses to Schistosoma infection | . 71 |

CHAPTER 2

| Table 2.1 | . Recombinant | Salmonella | constructs. | ••••• | |) |
|-----------|---------------|------------|-------------|-------|------|-------|
| | | | | | | |

| Figure 2.1. Plasmid map for recombinant YS1646 strains | 97 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 2.2. Immunization schedule | |
| Figure 2.3. Expression of recombinant cathepsin B | 99 |
| Figure 2.4. Production of Sm-Cathepsin B specific antibodies prior to challenge | 100 |
| Figure 2.5. Cytokine production prior to challenge. | 101 |
| Figure 2.6. Parasitologic burden | 102 |
| | |

| able 2.2. Granuloma size and egg morph | ology 10 | 13 |
|--|----------|----|
|--|----------|----|

| Supplementary | Table 2.1. | Other cytokine production prior to challenge | 104 |
|---------------|------------|--|-----|
| Supplementary | Table 2.2. | Primers used in construct design 1 | 105 |

| Supplementar | y Figure 2.1. | Histological stain | ning of liver | granulomas | 106 |
|--------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------|------------|---------|
| 11 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | |

CHAPTER 3

| Figure 3.1. Experimental study timeline. | 127 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 3.2. Effectiveness of shortened vaccination schedule in prophylactic model | 128 |
| Figure 3.3. Parasite burden reductions after therapeutic vaccination | 129 |

| Figure 3.4. Histopathological analysis of hepatic eggs | 130 |
|--|-----|
| Figure 3.5. Humoral responses | 131 |
| Figure 3.6. Cytokine and chemokine secretion levels | 132 |

| Supplementary Figure 3.1. Parasite burden reductions after therapeutic vaccination 4 months | |
|---|-----|
| post-infection | 133 |
| Supplementary Figure 3.2. Histopathological staining of hepatic sections | 134 |

CHAPTER 4

| Figure 4.1. Chromosomal integration |
|---|
| Figure 4.2. Humoral responses 166 |
| Figure 4.3. T _H 1 cytokine secretion levels |
| Figure 4.4. Other cytokines and chemokines |
| Figure 4.5. Flow cytometric analysis of T cells 169 |
| Figure 4.6. Parasite burden 170 |
| Table 4.1. Granuloma size and egg abnormality. 171 |
| Supplemental Figure 4.1. Study Design 172 |
| Supplemental Figure 4.2 Antigen-specific IgE 173 |
| Supplemental Figure 4.3. Flow cytometry gating strategy 174 |
| Supplemental Figure 4.4. Viability of lyophilized NHC over time |
| Supplemental Figure 4.5. Histopathological staining of hepatic sections |
| |

CHAPTER 5

| Figure 5.1. Humoral re | esponses1 | 99 |
|------------------------|-----------|----|
|------------------------|-----------|----|

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| Ad5 | Adenovirus serotype 5 |
|-----------------|--|
| ADCC | Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity |
| Amp | Ampicillin |
| ANOVA | Analysis of variance |
| ART | Antiretroviral therapy |
| ASE | Artesunate |
| ATP | Adenosine 5'-triphosphate |
| ATRA | All-trans retinoic acid |
| BATT | β-alanyl-tryptamine |
| BCA | Bicinchoninic acid |
| BCG | Bacille-Calmette Guérin |
| BMDC | Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell |
| BMGY | Buffered complex glycerol medium |
| CA | California |
| CAA | Circulating anodic antigen |
| CCA | Circulating cathodic antigen |
| CCL | Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand |
| CD | Cluster of differentiation |
| cDNA | Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid |
| Cfu | Colony-forming unit |
| CHI-S | Controlled human infection model for schistosomiasis |
| CHIM | Controlled human infection model |
| CI | Chromosomally integrated |
| Cm | Chloramphenicol |
| CNS | Central nervous system |
| CO ₂ | Carbon dioxide |
| CYP450 | Cytochrome P450 |
| D | Day |
| DALY | Disability-adjusted life year |

| DAMP | Danger-associated molecular pattern |
|--------|--|
| DAP | Diaminopimelic acid |
| DAPI | 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole |
| DC | Dendritic cell |
| ddPCR | Digital droplet polymerase chain reaction |
| DHA | Dihydroartemisinin |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium |
| dmLT | Double mutant heat-labile toxin |
| eGFP | Enhanced green fluorescence protein |
| ELISA | Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay |
| EN | Endemic normal |
| ES | Excretory/secretory |
| ETEC | Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli |
| FABP | Fatty acid binding protein |
| FBS | Fetal bovine serum |
| FGS | Female genital schistosomiasis |
| FHC | frr_SspH1_Cathepsin B |
| FLP | Flippase |
| FMDV | Foot-and-mouth disease virus |
| GALT | Gut-associated lymphoid tissues |
| GLA-AF | Glucopyranosyl lipid A in an aqueous formulation |
| GLA-SE | Glucopyranosyl lipid A in a squalene-in-water emulsion |
| GM-CSF | Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor |
| GMP | Good manufacturing process |
| H&E | Haematoxylin and eosin |
| HBV | Hepatitis B virus |
| HCV | Hepatitis C virus |
| HD | High dose |
| HDM | Helminth defense molecule |
| HIV-1 | Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 |
| HRP | Horseradish peroxidase |

| IFNγ | Interferon gamma |
|--------|--|
| IgA | Immunoglobulin A |
| IgE | Immunoglobulin E |
| IgG | Immunoglobulin G |
| IgM | Immunoglobulin M |
| IL | Interleukin |
| IM | Intramuscular |
| IN | Intranasal |
| IP | Intraperitoneal |
| ITZ | Itraconazole |
| IV | Intravenous |
| kDa | Kilodalton |
| Km | Kanamycin |
| LAMP | Loop-mediated isothermal amplification |
| LB | Luria/Lysogeny broth |
| LD | Low dose |
| LOD | Limit of detection |
| LPS | Lipopolysaccharide |
| LT | Heat-labile enterotoxin |
| M2e | Matrix protein 2 |
| MALT | Mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues |
| MCP-1 | Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 |
| MD | Maryland |
| MDA | Mass drug administration |
| MDR | Multi-drug resistance |
| MEF | Mefloquine |
| mg | Milligram |
| MGS | Male genital schistosomiasis |
| MHC | Major histocompatibility complex |
| mM | Millimolar |
| MIP-1a | Macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α |

| miRNA | Micro ribonucleic acid |
|-------|--------------------------------------|
| μg | Microgram |
| μl | Microliter |
| μm | Micrometer |
| mL | Milliliter |
| МО | Missouri |
| MoDC | Monocyte-derived dendritic cell |
| MOI | Multiplicity of infection |
| Mtb | Mycobacterium tuberculosis |
| NAD | Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide |
| NHC | nirB_SspH1_Cathepsin B |
| nirB | Nitrate reductase B |
| NJ | New Jersey |
| ng | nanogram |
| nPCR | Nested polymerase chain reaction |
| NTD | Neglected tropical disease |
| NY | New York |
| °C | Degree Celsius |
| OD | Optical density |
| ODN | Oligodeoxynucleotide |
| ODT | Orodispersible tablet |
| OR | Oregon |
| pagC | phoP activated gene C |
| PAMP | Pattern-associated molecular pattern |
| PBMC | Peripheral blood mononuclear cell |
| PBS | Phosphate-buffered saline |
| PCR | Polymerase chain reaction |
| pg | Picogram |
| PHC | pagC_SspH1_Cathepsin B |
| PIP | Praziquantel in preschoolers |
| Pmy | Paramyosin |
| | |

| PO | Per os |
|-------------|--|
| PolyI:C | Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid |
| PPC | Pediatric praziquantel consortium |
| PPC | Preferred product characteristics |
| PRR | Pattern recognition receptor |
| PspA | Pneumococcal surface protein A |
| PZQ | Praziquantel |
| QC | Quebec |
| qPCR | Quantitative polymerase chain reaction |
| RA | Radiation-attenuated |
| RAR | Retinoic acid receptor |
| RMT | Radiation mutation technology |
| RNAi | Ribonucleic acid interference |
| rpm | Revolutions per minute |
| RPMI | Rosewell Park Memorial Institute medium |
| RT | Room temperature |
| SCV | Salmonella-containing vacuole |
| SEA | Soluble egg antigen |
| SEM | Standard error of the mean |
| Sh28GST | Schistosoma haematobium 28 kDa glutathione S-transferase |
| SjIR | Schistosoma japonicum insulin receptor |
| SjTPI | Schistosoma japonicum triose-phosphate isomerase |
| Sm-KI-1 | Schistosoma mansoni Kunitz type protease inhibitor |
| Sm-p80 | Schistosoma mansoni calpain |
| SmAE | Schistosoma mansoni asparaginyl endopeptidase |
| SmCatB/SmCB | Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B |
| SmCKBP | Schistosoma mansoni chemokine-binding glycoprotein |
| SmHMGP1 | Schistosoma mansoni high mobility group protein 1 |
| SmNRPS | Schistosoma mansoni nonribosomal peptide synthetase |
| SmTCTP | Schistosoma mansoni transcriptionally controlled tumor protein homolog |
| SmTSP-2 | Schistosoma mansoni tetraspanin 2 |
| | |

| SPI | Salmonella pathogenicity island |
|-----------|---|
| STH | Soil-transmitted helminth |
| T3SS | Type 3 secretion system |
| TAL | Tegument-allergen-like |
| ТВ | Tuberculosis |
| TcdA/TcdB | Clostridium difficile toxin A/B |
| TDR | Tropical diseases research |
| Tfh | T follicular helper |
| TGR | Thioredoxin gluthathione reductase |
| Th | T helper |
| TLR | Toll-like receptor |
| TMB | Tetramethyl benzidine |
| TPP | Target product profile |
| TRPM | Transient receptor potential melastatin ion channel |
| US | United States |
| UT | Utah |
| VA | Virginia |
| w/v | Weight by volume |
| WASH | Water, sanitation, and hygiene |
| WHO | World Health Organization |
| WT | Wild type |
| x g | Times gravity |

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

The candidate has chosen to present a manuscript-based thesis. This thesis contains three original manuscripts and is in accordance with the guidelines for thesis preparation provided by the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies of McGill University. The candidate, Adam Hassan, is recognized as the principal author and to have performed the majority of the work of the manuscripts presented. The specific contributions of authors are as follows:

CHAPTER 1

Section 4 contains extracts from Winter K^{*}, <u>Hassan AS</u>^{*}, Dozois CM, Ndao M, Ward BJ. Current applications of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium as a vaccine vector. Manuscript prepared for submission to *Frontiers in Immunology*.

^{*}KW and ASH are co-first authors.

KW and ASH shared equal contributions in the preparation of the manuscript. CMD, MN, and BJW revised the manuscript.

CHAPTER 2

Hassan AS, Zelt NH, Perera DJ, Xing L, Ndao M, Ward BJ (2019). Vaccination against the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B using a YS1646 *Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium vector provides almost complete protection against *Schistosoma mansoni* challenge in a mouse model. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 13(12): e0007490.

This manuscript is reprinted from the journal PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases with permissions granted by the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. ASH was involved in all aspects of the study including study design, performing experiments, data analysis and preparation of the manuscript. NHZ and LX designed, constructed, and validated the plasmids. DJP assisted in the design of the snail housing facility and the infection model. BJW and MN supervised all parts of the study and prepared the manuscript.

CHAPTER 3

Hassan AS, Perera DJ, Ward BJ, Ndao M (2021). Therapeutic activity of a *Salmonella*-vectored *Schistosoma mansoni* vaccine in a mouse model of chronic infection. *Vaccine* 39(39): 5580-5588.

This manuscript is reprinted from the journal Vaccine with permission from Elsevier. ASH was involved in all aspects of the study including study design, performing experiments, data analysis and preparation of the manuscript. DJP assisted in the design of the snail housing facility and the infection model. BJW and MN supervised all parts of the study and prepared the manuscript.

CHAPTER 4

Hassan AS, Houle S, Labrie L, Perera DJ, Dozois CM, Ward BJ, Ndao M. Chromosomally integrated gene expression of *Schistosoma mansoni* Cathepsin B in a *Salmonella* Typhimurium vaccine vector protects against murine schistosomiasis. Manuscript under review at *npj Vaccines*.

ASH was involved in all aspects of the study including study design, performing experiments, data analysis and preparation of the manuscript. SH assisted with experimental design of chromosomal integration steps. LL assisted in sample collection & processing from vaccinated animals. DJP provided revisions to the manuscript. CMD supervised the portion of the study related to chromosomal integration experiments and provided revisions to the manuscript. BJW and MN supervised all parts of the study and prepared the manuscript.

**The general discussion (Chapter 5) was written by ASH and edited by BJW & MN.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO ORIGINAL KNOWLEDGE

The work presented in this thesis contributes original knowledge to the fields of schistosomiasis vaccine development and live attenuated vectored vaccines. The specific contributions are as follows:

In **Chapter 2**, we described the development of a prophylactic *S. mansoni* vaccine by repurposing the attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium strain YS1646 for plasmid-based expression of Cathepsin B and assessed immunogenicity & efficacy of prime-boost vaccination. We demonstrated that:

- 1. Oral priming doses with recombinant YS1646 along with an intramuscular boost of recombinant protein leads to mixed T_H1/T_H2 humoral and cellular responses.
- 2. Vaccination with the recombinant *Salmonella* vector generates potent local mucosal responses characterized by the production of anti-Cathepsin B IgA antibodies.
- 3. Prime-boost vaccination significantly reduces parasite burden (worms, hepatic eggs, intestinal eggs) in a mouse model of schistosomiasis.
- 4. Cathepsin B delivered both orally with a vector and intramuscularly induces diminished egg granuloma sizes in the liver and severely impacts the morphology of entrapped eggs.

In **Chapter 3**, we established a chronic infection mouse model for schistosomiasis and examined the therapeutic potential of our recombinant YS1646 vaccine vector. We demonstrated that:

- 1. A chronic schistosomiasis model in mice is feasible to test the therapeutic applications of a vaccine.
- 2. Our multimodal vaccination regimen can be reduced from a 3-week schedule to 5 days with similar prophylactic efficacy and significant parasite burden reductions up to 2 months post-vaccination following a period of 2- or 4-months post-infection.

- Multimodal vaccination was able to skew pre-existing & dominant T_H2 responses elicited by chronic schistosomiasis infection to a more mixed T_H1/T_H2 profile.
- 4. Vaccination reduced granuloma size and had adverse effects on egg morphology which led to decreased rates of liver fibrosis.

In **Chapter 4**, we designed a chromosomally integrated recombinant YS1646 vaccine vector to express Cathepsin B and evaluated the immunogenicity of such expression using a multimodal vaccination approach. We demonstrated that:

- 1. Chromosomal integration of a foreign vaccine/antigen has no effect on the fitness of the bacterial vector, and it is possible to integrate other genes in tandem.
- 2. Chromosomal expression of CatB generates potent humoral and cellular immune responses despite reductions in antigen copy number.
- Multimodal vaccination with a chromosomally integrated construct yields robust local, mucosal antibody responses along with greater systemic antibody responses than plasmidbased expression.
- Stable CatB expression in our system generates a mixed T_H1/T_H2/T_H17 cellular immune response.
- 5. Multimodal vaccination significantly reduces parasite burden and impacts egg-associated pathology in a murine challenge model.

Taken together, we have shown that vaccination with a live, attenuated strain of *Salmonella* Typhimurium expressing the parasitic digestive enzyme Cathepsin B can represent an effective vaccination strategy when coupled with intramuscular administration of the antigen in a mouse model of schistosomiasis. These efforts represent a considerable step towards the development of an effective vaccine with both prophylactic and therapeutic effect.

Literature Review and Research Objectives

1.1 SCHISTOSOMIASIS

Human schistosomiasis is a freshwater-borne disease caused by blood flukes of the genus *Schistosoma*. The three main schistosome worm species are *S. mansoni*, *S. haematobium*, and *S. japonicum*. Schistosomiasis is one of the most important parasitic diseases worldwide due to its mortality and morbidity rates¹. Over 250 million people are affected by this helminthiasis and approximately 800 million are at risk of infection². While over 90% of cases are in sub-Saharan Africa, other geographical foci include South and Central America, Asia, and the Middle East^{3,4}. Control measures include snail vector control, improved access to clean water, and mass drug administration (MDA) using praziquantel (PZQ)⁵. Despite these efforts, prevalence rates have not significantly decreased over time⁶. Vaccination campaigns in concert with existing measures as part of a multifaceted approach are likely to be the key to sustainable schistosomiasis control⁷. The following sections will define important aspects of disease burden and existing control measures.

1.1.1 Brief History

The parasite was first described in 1851 by Theodor Maximilian Bilharz and Carl Theodor Ernst while performing an autopsy in Egypt⁸. Dr. Bilharz described the presence of eggs in the patient's bladder and their transmission to freshwater through urine. He also hypothesized a link between the parasite and the clinical symptoms of dysentery and hematuria observed⁹. The disease was later referred to as bilharzia (or bilharziasis) in recognition of Dr. Bilharz. In 1858, the German zoologist David Friedrich Weinland proposed the name *Schistosoma* which means "split body" in Greek due to the worm's physiology⁹.

There is evidence of schistosomiasis in antiquity. Dating back over 6000 years, schistosome eggs have been found in pelvic sediment of skeletal remains in Syria¹⁰. As a result of the importation of monkeys and the slave trade during the fifth dynasty of the pharaohs (~ 2494–2345 BC),

schistosomiasis likely spread to Egypt where it was referred to as the "â-a-â disease" in medical papyri^{11,12}. Ancient Egyptians were advised to avoid polluted water and fishermen were asked to wear protective linen in order to prevent the "â-a-â disease"¹³. Finally, schistosomiasis was confirmed in ancient Egypt when, in 1910, *S. haematobium* eggs were identified in two mummies by British professor Marc Armand Ruffer¹⁴.

In the early 20th century, British parasitologist Robert Thomson Leiper elucidated the complete lifecycle of *Schistosoma* spp. and was able to distinguish *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium* as distinct species due to their morphology, egg type and snail vector¹⁵. In Asia, clinical manifestations of schistosomiasis infection can be found dating back over 2400 years in ancient Chinese medical texts¹⁶. In 1904, Japanese pathologist Fujiro Katsurada described hepatic schistosomiasis in a cat and classified the new species as *S. japonicum*¹⁷. Arrival of schistosomiasis in South America and Europe is thought to have occurred through the slave trade^{9,18}.

1.1.2 Disease Epidemiology

With more than 200 million people infected and over 800 million more at risk, schistosomiasis is a major global cause of morbidity and mortality². However, with current detection methods, disease prevalence is thought to be greatly underestimated^{19,20}. Sources of infection include rivers, lakes, reservoirs, and irrigation channels from tropical and sub-tropical endemic areas²¹. Poverty and poor sanitation contribute to the propagation of the disease. Mortality rates are difficult to assess but are thought to range between 280,000 – 500,000 deaths per year¹. However, the major impact of the disease lies in its associated morbidity rather than premature death. The global burden of schistosomiasis is estimated to cause the loss of 1.4 - 3.3 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs)^{22,23}. Symptoms of schistosomiasis include anemia, growth stunting, and irreversible organ damage²⁴.

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that schistosomiasis is transmitted in over 78 countries in tropical and subtropical regions¹. The three major species infecting humans are *S. mansoni*, *S. haematobium*, and *S. japonicum*. Three other species are capable of infecting humans to a lesser degree and are more locally distributed: *S. mekongi*, *S. intercalatum*, and *S. guineensis*²⁵.

S. mansoni and S. haematobium are endemic in Africa and the Middle East whereas only S. mansoni is prevalent in South America. S. japonicum is geographically restricted to East and Southeast Asia, predominantly found in the Philippines, Indonesia, China, and Japan. S. mansoni – S. haematobium and S. bovis – S. haematobium hybrids have been recently discovered in Africa and Europe^{26–29}. Hybrid schistosomes are difficult to diagnose and potentially have a wider host spectrum^{30,31} (**Figure 1.1**). While many cases are imported to Europe through migrants and travellers³², the risk of an emergent endemicity in Europe is increased by the detection of Biomphalaria and Bulinus snail vectors^{33,34}. Schistosomiasis infection can also cause significant economic losses represented by the loss of earnings and reduced productivity. S. bovis is one of the most important species responsible for infections in cattle and affects approximately 160 million animals in Africa and Asia, thus representing a significant financial burden as a result of livestock schistosomiasis^{35,36}.

Contact with contaminated water is necessary to contract schistosomiasis. Human waste contamination of local water sources contributes to disease prevalence in affected communities³⁷. In some endemic regions, 60 - 80% of school-aged children and 20 - 40% of adults are actively infected^{1,25}. The heaviest disease burden occurs in young school-aged children due to the amount of contact with infectious water¹ (**Figure 1.2**). However, recent reports have highlighted the burden on preschool-aged children as well as adolescents and adults, populations that have been often overlooked in monitoring and MDA efforts^{38–42}. Adults with occupations that require contact with infectious water such as fishermen, and irrigation workers as well as women performing domestic chores are also at great risk of acquiring infection^{1,3}.

1.1.3 Clinical Aspects

1.1.3.1 Acute Schistosomiasis

Acute schistosomiasis, also referred to as Katayama syndrome, is a non-specific disease presentation observed in non-immune individuals⁴³. Following percutaneous penetration of cercariae, the resulting systemic hypersensitivity is a reaction against migrating schistosomula and can occur from a few weeks to several months after the primary infection^{20,44}. It is often characterized by an acute febrile stage (i.e.: fever, chills, myalgias) and may be associated with

pulmonary and intestinal symptoms. However, fever is not always present, and this stage of the disease may be difficult to diagnose⁴⁴. Though travellers and tourists are most affected, people living in endemic areas for *S. japonicum* are susceptible despite a history of previous infections²⁰. While most patients recover after 2 - 10 weeks, some develop more serious disease with symptoms including weight loss, hepatomegaly, and generalized rash⁴³.

1.1.3.2 Hepatic & Intestinal Schistosomiasis

Individuals infected with *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* can progress towards a chronic condition known as intestinal schistosomiasis¹. Clinical manifestations are not due to adult worms, but rather from entrapped eggs in tissues such as the intestines, liver, spleen, lung, or cerebrospinal system²⁰. Adult worms reside in the mesenteric veins and most of the eggs produced pass through to the intestinal lumen. However, some of the eggs may become entrapped in intestinal tissues, and this results in gastrointestinal features such as isolated mucosal hyperplasia, pseudopolyposis, microulcerations, and superficial bleeding^{45–47}. Venous blood flow can also transport *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* eggs from the mesenteric veins to the portal vein where they become trapped in the surrounding periportal tissues⁴⁸. Granulomatous inflammation around the eggs is a cardinal feature of intestinal schistosomiasis pathology⁴⁹. These granulomas can cause significant enlargement of the spleen and liver, characteristic of hepatosplenic schistosomiasis^{50,51}. This hepatosplenomegaly is often accompanied by hepatic fibrosis and portal hypertension⁴⁹. Infected individuals are at significant risk of developing ascites, muscular loss, and hepatic failure⁵².

1.1.3.3 Urogenital Schistosomiasis

Urogenital schistosomiasis is associated with *S. haematobium* which reside in the pelvic venous plexus. Most of the eggs of this species pass through the urinary bladder wall and are deposited in bladder tissue and genital organs. Continuous inflammatory reaction to the eggs causes inflammation, fibrosis, and fibrotic nodules referred to as sandy patches^{53–55}. Blood in the urine (hematuria) is a classical sign of this form of the disease. Tissue inflammation can result in the thickening of the bladder wall and the development of pseudopolyps⁴⁸. In fact, urogenital schistosomiasis is associated with squamous cell carcinoma in the bladder, and *S. haematobium* is classified as a carcinogen^{56,57}. Bladder cancer is a frequent complication with an incidence rate of

3 - 4 cases per 100,000⁵⁸. With approximately two-thirds of African cases caused by *S. haematobium*, urogenital pathology is a serious public health threat⁵⁹. Inflammation and granuloma formation may also lead to hydronephrosis due to urine build-up, and thus result in kidney disease⁶⁰. Glomerular disease is also observed in 15% of patients with hepatosplenic schistosomiasis with *S. mansoni* infections⁶¹. Chronic disease manifestations also include bladder calcification, secondary bacterial infection of the urinary tract, and renal failure⁵⁵.

The cervix, seminal vessels, prostate are also susceptible to egg deposition^{62,63}. Infected men display increased levels of leukocytes and inflammatory cytokines in semen samples⁶⁴. Both men and women affected by genital schistosomiasis are at higher risk of HIV transmission^{65,66}. *S. haematobium* infection greatly impacts women's reproductive health. Female genital schistosomiasis (FGS) causes inflammatory lesions in ovaries, fallopian tubes, cervix, vagina, and vulva⁶⁷. FGS is also associated with neovascularization and friable mucosa which can result in contact bleeding⁶⁸. These symptoms may result in infertility and an increased risk of abortion. Male genital schistosomiasis (MGS) is less well characterized and often underreported. Symptoms include ejaculatory pain, blood in the semen, and infertility⁶⁹. Semen analysis of infected patients may reveal the presence of *S. haematobium* eggs and signs of male infertility such as low or absent sperm counts^{70,71}. Contrary to its female genital schistosomiasis, MGS symptoms and complications may resolve following praziquantel treatment^{65,72}.

1.1.3.4 Neuroschistosomiasis

Although rare, neuroschistosomiasis is the most common form of ectopic egg deposition and is one of the most severe clinical outcomes of schistosomiasis^{25,48}. It is caused by inflammatory responses to eggs in the cerebral or spinal venous plexus^{73,74}. Due to its smaller egg size, *S. japonicum* is responsible for most cerebral schistosomiasis cases, whereas *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium* mainly affect the spinal cord⁷⁵. However, CNS involvement occurs in only 2 - 4%of *S. japonicum* infections²¹. Spinal pathology resulting from *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium* infections cause transverse myelitis or subacute myeloradiculopathy. This can result in paralysis, lumbar or leg pain, muscle weakness, sensory loss, and bladder incontinence^{25,74}. *S. japonicum* is associated with cerebral granulomatous lesions and meningoencephalitic symptoms such as headache, vomiting, blurred vision, and epilepsy^{20,25,76}.

1.1.3.5 Pulmonary Schistosomiasis

Pulmonary schistosomiasis is another rare clinical presentation of the disease and results from ectopic egg deposition in the respiratory system. Due to portacaval shunting, venous blood can bypass the liver and reaches the vena cava through which *Schistosoma* eggs may be transported to the lung capillaries and induce granulomas in the perialveolar area⁴⁸. Egg-associated pathology may result in pulmonary hypertension and cor pulmonale which is a condition that results in failure of the right heart ventricle. Pulmonary hypertension may be a result of direct mechanical obstruction by the eggs or due to vascular remodelling⁷⁷. One form of pulmonary hypertension, pulmonary arterial hypertension, occurs in 5 – 10% of hepatosplenic schistosomiasis patients particularly due to *S. mansoni*. Schistosomiasis-associated pulmonary hypertension is one of the leading causes of pulmonary hypertension worldwide^{77,78}.

1.1.4 Diagnostics

Microscopic detection of eggs in stool (*S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum*) or urine (*S. haematobium*) samples is the gold standard for schistosomiasis diagnosis⁷⁹. For intestinal schistosomiasis, the Kato-Katz thick smear assay is a quantitative, simple, and inexpensive method to detect eggs from prepared fecal specimen^{80,81}. Urogenital schistosomiasis diagnosis requires a urine filtration technique⁸². The level of infection is expressed as eggs per 10 mL of urine or eggs per gram of stool⁸³. However, there are several major drawbacks with this diagnostic method. With sensitivity rates less than 50%, low intensity infections and cases in areas of low prevalence are often missed^{79,84}. In addition, there is a high degree of day-to-day variability and diurnal variation of egg excretions which renders conventional testing even more difficult^{85,86}. The low sensitivity also hinders diagnosis in travellers or individuals who have received praziquantel treatment^{48,87}. Modifications to the Kato-Katz technique have been proposed, but the main drawbacks persist^{88,89}. Other parasitological procedures include concentration methods to increase the frequency of eggs in stool samples^{90–92} or miracidium hatching tests^{93,94}, however these techniques are laborious, time-consuming, and not optimal for large-scale screening⁹⁵.

Routine serology tests measure serum IgG, IgM, or IgE against soluble worm antigen or crude egg antigen²⁰. Antibody detection is useful in travellers with no prior history of exposure as many may test positive even 2 years post-treatment⁹⁶. Seroconversion takes place typically from 4 – 8 weeks post-infection but can occur up to 22 weeks⁹⁷. Parasite antigens may also be detected in blood, urine, or sputum. Two main targets are circulating cathodic antigen (CCA) and circulating anodic antigen (CAA)⁹⁸. Both antigens can be detected early after exposure⁹⁹ and can be detected in blood and urine samples. Antigen levels are indicative of infection intensity but detection is not sensitive in light infections¹⁰⁰. Thus, this method is less suitable for areas with low endemicity or for travellers. CCA detection in urine was developed as a rapid lateral flow assay for *S. mansoni* but is less accurate for *S. haematobium* diagnosis⁷⁹. It has been successfully used for mapping *S. mansoni* prevalence before and after MDA campaigns¹⁰¹ but is not suitable for areas co-endemic for both *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium*¹⁰². CAA detection is considerably more sensitive than CCA testing, but it is also more expensive¹⁰³. For *S. japonicum* detection, four circulating antigens have been identified and a highly sensitive and specific sandwich ELISA has been described using chicken egg yolk IgY¹⁰⁴.

In high resource settings, molecular-based diagnostic methods have been implemented for detection in stool and urine^{105,106}. Multiplex polymerase-chain reaction (PCR) is particularly advantageous for infections in travellers¹⁰⁷. Several other PCR-based assays are being developed such as nested PCR (nPCR), real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR), and digital droplet PCR (ddPCR)¹⁰⁸. Schistosome-specific DNA and RNA targets include egg DNA, circulating cell-free parasite DNA, and circulating microRNAs (miRNAs)⁷⁹. Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) is a technique that allows for early detection of *S. mansoni* mitochondrial DNA in stool samples¹⁰⁹. While promising, molecular methods are currently not a practical tool in the field due to infrastructure requirements in most endemic regions rendering them inaccessible.

1.1.5 Treatment and Control

While schistosomiasis is endemic in many areas around the world, a few countries had success in eliminating the disease through a multifaceted approach combining increased sanitation, targeted vector control, and mass drug administration campaigns. Successful schistosomiasis control

programs include St. Lucia and other Caribbean islands, Morocco, Tunisia, Iran, Japan, and China^{110,111}. This demonstrates that schistosomiasis elimination is an achievable goal that will require the integration of various control measures.

1.1.5.1 Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene (WASH)

Many individuals living in endemic regions for schistosomiasis are subject to inadequate access to water and sanitation, poor infrastructure, and unsafe hygiene practices. These factors increase the risk of transmission, and such areas experience high burden of disease³⁷. The implementation of WASH practices requires the installation of equipment such as toilets, latrines, and sewage treatments¹¹². Barriers include cost, a lack of health professionals and government involvement, as well as a lack of advocacy^{113–115}. For example, latrines may be feared, found to be inconvenient, or poorly maintained all of which can reduce their potential impact¹¹⁶. Successful implementation requires behavioural changes and educational programs to improve disease knowledge and encourage safe practices¹¹⁷. Safe contacts with water also need to be made available as transmission can remain high even with adequate installations¹¹⁸. However, schistosomiasis infection rates have been significantly lowered in some countries where WASH has been introduced, and where residents had access to adequate sanitation¹¹⁹. Interventions such as proper excreta disposal, access to safe drinking water, and improved handwashing practices helped decrease community transmission in Tanzania and Oman^{120,121}. Thus, community participation and intersectoral collaboration are required for the successful implementation and sustainability of WASH interventions to reduce schistosomiasis transmission¹²².

1.1.5.2 Vector Control

Freshwater snails are the intermediate hosts of *Schistosoma* spp. The genera *Biomphalaria*, *Bulinus*, and *Oncomelania* are associated with *S. mansoni*, *S. haematobium*, and *S. japonicum* respectively²⁰. Elimination of infected snails reduces the risk of reinfection and provides an opportunistic window for treatment campaigns when transmission is low¹²³. The use of molluscicides, habitat change, predators (fish and crustacea), and biological competitors are all strategies to reduce host snail populations^{25,124}. Another strategy involves the introduction of schistosome-resistant snails into the wild snail population¹²⁵. Most commonly, the molluscicide

niclosamide, a licensed pesticide, is widely used for snail control¹²⁶. The drug kills snails at low concentrations and is non-toxic to humans, however it is toxic to certain freshwater fish and amphibians^{127,128}. This may give rise to ecological and economic concerns. The difficulty of such environmental control is increased due to climate change¹²⁹. Regular and long-term treatments are required as snail populations are rarely eliminated and may recolonize their original habitats^{20,110}. As niclosamide treatments are expensive and require repeated use, this strategy is not considered rapid or cost-effective⁴⁸. However, long-term management of the snail populations in Morocco and Japan played a considerable role in the elimination efforts in these countries, and it continues to be used in Egypt and China¹¹⁰. Therefore, affordable snail control is an important approach to achieve schistosomiasis elimination and should be considered for use in combination with MDA campaigns¹³⁰.

1.1.5.3 Praziquantel

Earliest forms of treatment for schistosomiasis were trivalent antimonial compounds such as tartar emetic^{131,132}. Antimony potassium tartrate induced muscle paralysis in female *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium* worms, thus leading to a separation of adult worm pairs in the blood vessels^{133,134}. Despite their effectiveness, patients treated with antimonial compounds often presented with severe side effects. Several other drugs such as lucanthone, niridazole, and hycanthone were developed but were later discontinued due to side effects¹³⁵. Metrifonate is a cholinesterase inhibitor which targets the schistosome nervous system and is currently used as an insecticide¹³⁶. It was effective against *S. haematobium*, but the requirement of several doses led to its commercial discontinuation. In the late 1960s, Pfizer developed oxamniquine and it was effective against *S. mansoni* schistosomula and adult worms¹³⁴. The drug can be administered orally as a single dose and damages parasites by disrupting cell division and protein synthesis^{1,137}. Oxamniquine is not used to treat any other diseases and remains on the WHO List of Essential Medicines. It was used extensively until the late 1990s in Brazil where only *S. mansoni* is present. However, due to concerns with cost and evidence of drug resistance, it was later replaced by praziquantel as a first-line treatment¹³⁸.

Praziquantel (PZQ) was developed in Germany in the mid-1970s in the laboratories of Bayer AG and Merck KGaA, and then later moved into clinical trials and large-scale use a decade later¹. It is

the cheapest and most effective medication with a reported cure rate of 60 - 90% after a single oral dose $(40\text{mg/kg})^{139}$. PZQ is effective against the adult stage of all three main schistosome species and can also be used to treat veterinary cases¹³⁴. The drug is well-absorbed and is effective as soon as 1 hour after ingestion. However, it can undergo extensive first-pass hepatic clearance wherein approximately 80% of the drug is metabolized by the liver⁴⁸. PZQ causes mild side effects and has low toxicity. It is also safe for use in young children and pregnant women^{140,141}. The WHO reported that approximately 76.2 million school-aged children and 19.1 million adults were treated with PZQ in 2018¹⁴². While increased coverage over the past 20 years has helped to reduce disease prevalence, the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted preventative chemotherapy treatment and may have impacted the progress made in schistosomiasis control in some countries^{143,144}.

Praziquantel is thought to induce paralysis in adult schistosomes by altering calcium ion transport in the tegument and increasing cellular permeability¹⁴⁵. It was hypothesized that β subunits of the voltage-gated calcium channels are responsible¹⁴⁶. The uncontrolled muscle tension leads to dislodgement of the worms from the mesenteries to the liver where vacuolization and disintegration of the parasite can occur^{147,148}. Morphological changes along the tegument also allow for greater antigen expression and the development of protective immune responses¹³⁴. The precise mechanism of action of PZQ was debated and unknown for decades. Through genetic analyses, ligand-based screening, and targeted mutagenesis, the transient receptor potential melastatin ion channel (TRPM_{PZQ}) in schistosomes was recently identified as the molecular drug target of PZQ^{149,150}. This provides critical information for monitoring drug resistance as TRPM_{PZQ} is responsible for sensitivity to PZQ¹⁴⁹. These data also explain the lack of effectiveness of PZQ against the liver fluke of the *Fasciola* genus, which is the result of a single amino acid change in the TRPM_{PZQ} binding pocket¹⁵⁰.

Standard praziquantel treatment is difficult in pediatric populations under the age of 6^{151} . The antischistosomal properties of PZQ are attributable to the (*R*)-praziquantel stereoisomer whereas the (*S*)-praziquantel produces the bitter quality of the drug which makes it difficult for children under 5 - 6 years of age to ingest¹⁵². Thus, compliance is an important issue in this age group with the currently available 600 mg tablet¹⁵³. Initiatives are being launched to change the synthesis of the drug and remove the (*S*) stereoisomer¹⁵⁴. In the meantime, PZQ is administered as crushed tablets mixed with food¹⁵⁵. Since 2012, the Pediatric Praziquantel Consortium (PPC) has been established to develop a pediatric formulation of the drug suitable for preschool-aged children¹⁵⁶. As part of the programme, a taste study in Tanzanian children aged 6 to 11 years and a phase II dosage study in *S. mansoni*-infected children in Côte-d'Ivoire have been conducted¹⁵⁷. This phase II dose-finding study tests two orodispersible tablets (ODTs) developed by the PPC. One contains only the (*R*)-praziquantel isomer (L-PZQ ODT) and the other contains a racemic mixture (rac-PZQ ODT) in a 1:1 ratio. Both tablets are 150 mg which is much smaller than the current form of the drug¹⁵⁸. Cure rates were highest in the groups receiving L-PZQ ODT 60 mg/kg (89.7%), commercially available PZQ 3x20 mg/kg (89.5%), and L-PZQ ODT 45 mg/kg (86%)¹⁵⁸. These higher doses of PZQ (40 mg/kg vs 60 mg/kg) in Ugandan children aged 3 – 8 years. This study suggested that higher doses were needed in younger populations to achieve a cure rate of $\geq 85\%^{140}$. The praziquantel in preschoolers (PIP) phase II trial is in the recruitment phase to test doses of 80 mg/kg against the standard 40 mg/kg dose in Ugandan children under 4 years of age¹⁵⁹.

While praziquantel is a very effective drug to treat schistosomiasis, there are important limitations to consider. For example, the drug is only effective against the adult worm stage and is unable to kill juvenile worms¹⁶⁰. Furthermore, PZQ treatment does not prevent re-infection and is ineffective against parasite eggs¹⁶¹. Reduced drug sensitivity has been observed in areas of heavy use¹⁶² and diminished susceptibility has been reported in endemic foci for *S. mansoni* in Egypt and Senegal^{163–165}. This phenomenon was also reproduced experimentally in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies^{166,167} and in mice receiving repeated *in vivo* PZQ treatments¹⁶⁸. A recent study has stipulated that PZQ efficacy is reduced in a low-protein diet mouse model¹⁶⁹. These findings may have implications in endemic areas for schistosomiasis where protein deficiency and malnutrition are concurrent public health problems, particularly in children. Taken together, overreliance on PZQ should not be overlooked and the development of alternative chemotherapeutic strategies has been encouraged¹⁷⁰.

1.1.5.4 Novel Drug Development

There is a growing need to develop new drugs and to identify novel drug targets for schistosomiasis. Due to its short half-life and inefficacy against larval schistosomes, praziquantel
cannot be administered as a prophylactic drug. The Chinese plant Artemisia annua produces the extract artemisinin which has three main derivatives including artemether (ART), artesunate (ASE), and dihydroartemisinin (DHA)¹⁷¹. The antimalarial properties of these derivatives have been well established¹⁷² but are also effective against schistosomula in the early stages of infection^{173,174}. ART targets several molecular events including glycogen metabolism, Ca²⁺-ATPase activity, and antioxidant machinery^{175–177}. ASE targets the enzyme thioredoxin gluthathione reductase (TGR) which is important for detoxification¹⁷⁸. DHA affects oviposition by damaging the worms' genital system¹⁷⁹. Administration of ART, ASE, or DHA can inhibit juvenile parasites independently and in combination¹⁴⁸. Co-administration of PZQ with ART or ASE provides better efficacy than PZQ treatment alone¹⁸⁰. Another drug in development is the anti-malarial, mefloquine (MEF), which is an amino alcohol compound. It is effective against all three major Schistosoma species. MEF is effective against both juvenile and adult worms and targets the parasite's gastrodermis and reproductive systems as well as the tegument¹⁸¹. MEF also reduces glycolytic activity in schistosomula¹⁸². MEF exhibits synergistic effects with both PZQ and artemisinin derivatives. In animal models, Combinations with either PZQ or ASE were highly effective against S. mansoni whereas the MEF-ASE regimen also demonstrated activity against S. *haematobium*^{181,183}. MEF has also shown to be effective in pregnant women infected with S. haematobium¹⁸⁴. A recent study in a mouse model has highlighted the synergistic effect of itraconazole (ITZ) with PZQ¹⁸⁵. ITZ is a cytochrome P450 (CYP450) inhibitor which enhanced PZQ activity against S. mansoni infection and alleviated liver pathology. In the liver, praziquantel undergoes extensive first-pass metabolism due to CYP450 enzymes¹⁸⁶. Therefore, it is suggested that ITZ, like other CYP450 inhibitors, reduces PZQ metabolism and increases systemic exposure^{187–189}. Finally, the sequencing of the genomes and transcriptomes of the three major schistosome species has allowed for the identification of novel drug targets¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹². New antischistosome drugs are being developed by targeting enzymes involved in the apoptotic cell death pathway, tyrosine kinase signalling, and septin structure¹⁴⁸. The discovery of these targets will aid in the development of novel drugs that could potentially enhance or surpass PZQ activity and lead to novel therapeutic avenues.

1.1.6 Co-Infections

1.1.6.1 Malaria

Malaria is a vector-borne parasitic disease caused by protozoa of the *Plasmodium* genus and transmitted by Anopheles mosquitos. Nearly 40% of the world's population is at risk of infection¹⁹³. The sub-Saharan African region accounts for 95% of global cases and over 90% of deaths. Children under 5 years of age and pregnant women make up the most vulnerable populations¹⁹⁴. Schistosomiasis and malaria are two of the most important parasitic infections and are geographically co-endemic in large parts of sub-Saharan Africa. Co-infections are also common in school-aged children¹⁹⁵. The impact of *Plasmodium-Schistosoma* co-infections on pathophysiology is not well understood. Pro-inflammatory and type 1 immune responses are necessary to control *Plasmodium* infection, however helminth infections typically downregulate these pathways and modulate the immune system toward anti-inflammatory and type 2 immune responses^{196,197}. It remains unclear whether this shift prevents severe pathology or interferes with clearance of *Plasmodium*¹⁹⁸. Studies conducted in sub-Saharan Africa have been contradictory, and both antagonistic^{199–201} and synergistic^{202–204} effects on pathology have been reported. Recent studies continue to present contrasting results. A study conducted in Zimbabwe examined coinfections in pre-school aged children²⁰⁵. In co-infected children, the progression of severe and complicated malaria was seven times more likely. This finding highlights the need to include preschool aged children in national schistosomiasis control programmes. However, in a study observing different age populations in Côte-d'Ivoire, no exacerbation of disease was noted in participants aged 5 – 18 years or in adults²⁰⁶. These varied observations may be impacted by participant age group, clinical phase of the disease, duration of infection, infection intensity, and the host's immune system²⁰⁷.

1.1.6.2 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 (HIV-1)

Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for over 90% of global schistosomiasis cases and more than 68% of the people infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)²⁰⁸. Epidemiological studies have shown that 17% of HIV-infected people in sub-Saharan Africa are seropositive for schistosomiasis²⁰⁹. Male and female patients with urinary schistosomiasis are at greater risk of

acquiring and transmitting the virus²¹⁰. In Malawi, increased susceptibility in women was suggested to be due to submucosal inflammation surrounding parasite eggs in cervicovaginal biopsy samples^{211,212}. In contrast, studies in Kenya and Uganda examining the impact of intestinal schistosomiasis observed down-regulation of anti-HIV immune responses such as decreased cellular production of IL-4 and IL-10 cytokines as well as diminished CD8⁺ T cell responses^{213,214}. Viral transmission is further complicated as intestinal schistosomiasis increases the presence of HIV receptors CCR5 and CXCR4 on CD4⁺ T cells²¹⁵. Mother-to-child HIV-1 transmission is also increased in mothers co-infected with both HIV and Schistosoma spp.²¹⁶. S. mansoni egg excretion was found to be decreased in patients co-infected with HIV-1. This effect seems to be correlated with decreased pools of CD4⁺ T cells but rates of both egg excretion and CD4⁺ T cell counts were increased following antiretroviral treatment (ART), thus supporting a role for T lymphocytes in egg excretion^{208,217,218}. HIV-1 viral load in patients co-infected with schistosomiasis appears to differ over the course of infection. Shortly after infection with the virus, viral load are high but later decrease to levels lower than in patients with HIV-1 alone²¹⁹. A study in Tanzania examining the impact of ART in co-infected patients suggested that ART is the dominant driver of viral load and outweighs the impact of schistosome infection²²⁰. Finally, HIV-1 infection does not adversely impact praziguantel treatment²²¹. However, anti-schistosome treatment may help control HIV-1 infection by reducing viral load, reducing genital lesions in cases of urinary schistosomiasis, and restoring mucosal and/or systemic anti-viral immunity²²².

1.1.6.3 Tuberculosis (TB)

In 2016, tuberculosis (TB) was the leading cause of death due to a single infectious agent²²³. Reports and data on TB control on the African continent are limited despite Nigeria ranking fourth in the world for the highest TB burden²²⁴. In 2011, a study conducted in Nigeria found that 13.5% of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) isolates were multidrug-resistant (MDR) which surpassed WHO reports that indicated a 4.3% incidence rate of MDR-TB in the area²²⁴. A cross-sectional study in Tanzania observed that 34% of positive cases for TB also presented with *S. mansoni* infection^{225,226}. With a rise in *S. haematobium* infections in south Corsica and in migrants^{227,228}, physicians are cautioned to consider both urogenital tuberculosis and schistosomiasis infections^{229,230}. Maternal schistosomiasis infection is negatively associated with IFN- γ TB

responses in core blood mononuclear cells but positively associated with cross-placental transfer of TB-specific IgG²³¹. A study in Kenya observed that co-infected individuals maintained functional T_H1 responses by CD4⁺ T cells²³². *S. mansoni*-infected individuals with latent TB infection had higher frequencies of IFN- γ^+ Mtb-specific CD4⁺ T cells whereas those with active TB had higher frequencies of GATA3⁺ CCR4⁺ Mtb-specific CD4⁺ T cells expressing T_H1 cytokines²³². Interestingly, murine studies revealed that *S. mansoni* infection reduces the protective efficacy of BCG vaccination and increases susceptibility to *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG infection^{233,234}. However, this same phenomenon was not observed in a Ugandan clinical trial testing a new TB candidate vaccine, MVA85A, in BCG-vaccinated adolescents²³⁵. *S. mansoni* infection had no impact on T and B cell responses in trial participants²³⁵. Finally, a longitudinal study in children in Eswatini showed that *S. haematobium* infection induced changes in DNA methylation and immune phenotype that inhibited TB-specific immune control and persisted for at least 6 months after praziquantel treatment²³⁶.

1.1.6.4 Soil-Transmitted Helminths (STH)

Soil-transmitted helminths affect more than a quarter of the global population²³⁷. In several regions, schistosomiasis is co-endemic with soil-transmitted helminths, such as *Ascaris lumbricoides* and *Trichuris trichiura*, and hookworms, such as *Necator americanus* and *Ancylostoma duodenale*²³⁸. Polyparasitism for helminth infections are widespread in both animals and humans²³⁹. Risk factors for such co-infections include low socio-economic conditions, poor hygienic standards, and lack of clean water^{240–243}. Moreover, genetic components account for increased accumulation of helminth infections in certain individuals^{244,245}. An epidemiological study described that a positive association between *S. mansoni* and hookworm infections is dependent on the socio-economic status of the patient among other factors²⁴⁶. Studies conducted in Brazil yielded contrasting results for co-infections. One showed that *S. mansoni* egg counts correlated positively with hookworm infection but negatively with *Ascaris* and *Trichuris* egg counts²⁴⁷. However, data from schoolchildren showed that co-infection with *S. mansoni* and *T. trichiura* were associated but not *S. mansoni* and *A. lumbricoides*²⁴⁸. Despite a significant degree of antigenic cross-reactivity, humoral responses against *Schistosoma* antigens were not altered in co-infected patients²⁴⁹. In addition, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from hookworm

or *A. lumbricoides* patients responded to stimulation by schistosome antigens²⁵⁰. Nonetheless, coinfections can have negative effects in affected individuals. A study conducted in the Philippines observed that children co-infected with hookworm and *S. japonicum* suffered from higher levels of anemia compared to single infections²⁵¹. Children are a vulnerable population as STH infections can occur in the first year of life and schistosomiasis causes high disease burden in school-aged children²³⁸. More work is needed to study these co-infections and their impact on health.

1.1.6.5 Hepatitis

Schistosomiasis, hepatitis B virus (HBV), and hepatitis C virus (HCV) co-infections are reported in many countries where schistosomiasis is endemic²⁵². Globally, the combined prevalence rate of HBV and HCV infection exceeds 50% in most Asian and African regions²⁵³, and these two viral pathogens are of particular interest in concomitant infections with Schistosoma spp. since all three infections can cause liver damage²⁵⁴. In rural populations of China, it was found that 25% of Schistosoma seropositive individuals were co-infected with HBV compared to 0.6% in seronegative patients²⁵⁵. In Egypt, prevalence of schistosomiasis and HCV infection is high, and in a study of 200 chronic HCV patients, 12.8% were seropositive for both Schistosoma and HBV^{252,256}. Furthermore, HCV and S. mansoni antibodies were detected in 40.2% of Egyptian wastewater treatment plant workers²⁵⁷. The presence of one disease does not necessarily predispose for the other²⁵⁴. The higher incidence rate of hepatitis in Schistosoma-infected individuals is associated with modes of transmission for HBV and HCV such as parenteral schistosomiasis treatment using unsterile syringes, blood transfusions for anemia and endoscopic interventions^{258–261}. Community-wide treatment campaigns previously consisted of intravenous tartar emetic administration and led to a large reservoir of HCV in countries such as Egypt²⁶². Chronic schistosomiasis infection induces liver damage, and this is further complicated by HBV infection in which liver fibrosis can progress towards cirrhosis²⁶³. However, HBV vaccines are immunogenic in Schistosoma-infected individuals despite reduced responses to vaccination²⁶⁴. Vaccination against HBV would at least prevent triple infection with Schistosoma-HBV-HCV²⁵⁴. Meanwhile, S. mansoni infection increases HCV morbidity by increasing viral RNA titers, histological activity, the incidence of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma, and mortality rates in patients²⁶⁵. Certain HBV therapies have a positive effect on schistosomiasis infection and improve liver fibrosis markers²⁶³. Additionally, an Egyptian clinical trial examining the effect of

pegylated interferon (PegIFN-a2a) as a treatment for HCV was not affected by schistosomiasis infection²⁶⁶.

1.2 SCHISTOSOMIASIS INFECTION & HOST IMMUNITY

The *Schistosoma* lifecycle is complex and has several distinct stages. Schistosomiasis has evolved and spread in parallel with human evolution and migration over thousands of years and many of the clinical features of the disease are caused by host immune responses to different stages of the helminth's lifecycle. However, these responses are necessary to contain the infection, despite failing to eradicate it, and achieve a balanced host-parasite inter-relationship. In order to develop vaccines and treatments to eliminate the parasite, a better understanding of the infection and host immune responses is needed. The following sections outline the parasite lifecycle, its interactions with the host immune system, and features of protective immunity.

1.2.1 Schistosoma Lifecycle

Schistosome species are transmitted by aquatic snails in freshwater sources²⁶⁷. The intermediate hosts of *S. japonicum* are *Oncomelania* snails of the Popamiopsidae family. These snails have differentiated sexes and are capable of breathing under water. Conversely, *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium* target Planorbidae snails of the genera *Biomphalaria* and *Bulinus* respectively. The planorbid snails are air-breathing and hermaphroditic¹. The lifecycle starts when parasite eggs are excreted into freshwater from infected hosts and hatch to release free-living ciliated miracidia²⁵. Egg hatching is induced by changes in osmotic pressure and the release of an egg-hatching enzyme²⁶⁸. Miracidia are one of two non-feeding larval stages and depend on glycogen stores as an energy source while searching for a snail host²⁶⁹. Miracidia have a short lifespan and their infectivity and motility decrease with age²⁷⁰. Upon recognition of snail mucus, they can increase their angular velocity to increase the odds of finding a suitable host²⁷¹. Within the snail, the parasite undergoes asexual replication through mother and daughter sporocyst stages. This stage of the lifecycle requires 4 - 6 weeks prior to the release of thousands of infectious cercaria²⁵. Cercaria also depend on glycogen stores which can be depleted within hours despite a lifespan of 2 - 3 days²⁷². This free-living parasite stage possesses a powerful bifurcated tail to search for hosts and

acetabular glands that provide secretions needed for host skin penetration¹. Linoleic acid and arginine present on the skin serve as chemical attractants²⁷³. Upon penetration of the skin, cercaria undergo morphological and physiological changes to adapt to the new environment and transform into schistosomula which remain in the skin for a short period before entering the blood vasculature. A migration study performed in hamsters showed that the majority of schistosomula entered circulation between 60 - 80 hours post-exposure²⁷⁴. The schistosomula then migrate passively to the lung where they undergo more morphological changes in the capillary beds^{79,275}. The migration time to the lung differs between Schistosoma species²⁷⁶. From the lungs, the elongated schistosomula flow through the blood in the pulmonary veins and eventually reach the liver where they will complete their maturation into adult worms. The parasite doubles in weight every 2.3 days for 2 weeks²⁷⁷. At this stage, the sex of the worms can be determined. Before exiting the liver, male and female worms lie *in copula* where the female fits within the gynecophoric canal of the male. These worm pairs are then able to migrate to their final anatomical locations such as the mesenteric veins for S. mansoni and S. japonicum and the vesical vein plexus of the bladder for S. haematobium¹. Interestingly, the adult worm pairs are necessary for proper reproductive development of the female. The male schistosome is responsible for transducing signals to stimulate the development of mature females^{278,279}. Recently, it was found that, under the control of transcription factor GLI1, a male-derived nonribosomal peptide synthetase (Sm-NRPS) is induced in paired male worms. Sm-NRPS then produces the dipeptide β-alanyl-tryptamine (BATT) to induce female sexual development²⁸⁰. After 4 – 6 weeks post-infection, mature female schistosomes continuously produce eggs at varying rates depending on the species (150 eggs/day for S. haematobium, 300 eggs/day for S. mansoni, and 1000 eggs/day for S. japonicum)^{1,79}. Eggs can traverse through the blood vessel wall by releasing enzymes and enter either the intestinal or bladder lumen from which they will be excreted back into freshwater to perpetuate the lifecycle^{276,281}. However, up to two thirds of these eggs are carried into the circulation and are deposited in multiple organs such as the liver and bladder, thus causing chronic pathology^{281,282} (Figure 1.3).

1.2.2 Immunopathology

Schistosomiasis murine models have been extremely valuable to decipher mechanisms of immunopathology. The acute phase of the disease initiates a moderate T_H1 response to parasitic antigens^{210,283}. This is characterized by the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-1, and IL- $6^{207,284}$. Schistosome eggs stimulate the immune system through the release of soluble egg antigens (SEA) which induce the activation of resident macrophages. These macrophages release inflammatory cytokines that recruit leukocytes, neutrophils, and monocytes²⁸⁵. The T_H1-type cytokines released during the acute phase mediate the establishment of early granulomas²⁸³. This is later followed by a shift in the immune response towards a T_{H2} phenotype. Egg antigens such as omega-1 condition dendritic cells to prime type-2 responses²⁸⁶. This shift in the pattern of the host immunity is necessary to dampen the inflammatory responses induced by SEA. Mouse models with impaired T_{H2} immunity experienced severe disease and premature death due to an unchecked T_H1 response^{287–289}. Therefore, SEA mediate a shift towards responses which exert anti-inflammatory effects and regulate T_H1-mediated T_H2 immunopathology. Classical T_H2 cytokines, IL-4, IL5, and IL-13, are upregulated and promote granuloma formation and help establish chronic infection²⁹⁰. IL-13 is responsible for granulomatous inflammation and liver fibrosis^{291,292}. Alternatively activated macrophages and the regulatory cytokine IL-10 serve to dampen the T_H2 responses and limit granulomatous inflammation^{288,293}. These immunomodulatory mechanisms serve to limit granulomatous formations and reduce fibrosis of newly deposited eggs in later stages of the infection²⁹⁴. Both T_H1 and T_{H2} phases are regulated by IL-10 production by macrophages and T cells²⁹⁵ (Figure 1.4).

1.2.3 Immunomodulation

In some cases, schistosome parasites are able to survive within immunocompetent hosts for over 30 years^{25,296}. Host immunity is dominated by T_H2 and regulatory responses^{297,298} which are driven by diverse parasite immunomodulators to promote survival²⁹⁹. All *Schistosoma* lifecycle stages produce immunoregulatory molecules.

1.2.3.1 Cercaria and Schistosomula in the Skin

The cercarial larval stage establishes infection after skin penetration through the release of excretory/secretory (ES) molecules^{300,301}. These ES products promote T_H2 responses in the skin by predisposing bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) to upregulate expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II, CD40, and CD86, and secretion of IL-4 by CD4⁺ T cells^{302,303}. *S. mansoni* cercaria can mediate histamine release via the transcriptionally controlled tumor protein homolog (SmTCTP)³⁰⁴. This schistosome protein helps control blood flow and histamine is a vasodilator and capable of inducing IL-10 production^{299,303,305}. Skin-stage schistosomula ES products can lead to apoptosis of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes via the Fas/FasL pathway³⁰⁶. *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* cercaria express the proteins Sm16 and Sj16, trematode-specific helminth defense molecules (HDMs)^{307,308}. Sm16 induces the production of IL-1 receptor antagonist a (IL-1ra) which competes with IL-1 α and IL-1 β to block IL-1-mediated inflammatory responses in the skin³⁰⁹. Sj16 has also shown immunomodulatory effects³¹⁰. *S. mansoni* cercaria induce the production of prostaglandin PGE2 by keratinocytes which stimulates the production of IL-10^{311,312}.

1.2.3.2 Schistosomula and Adult Worms in the Bloodstream

Schistosome worms reside in the bloodstream of their mammalian hosts and therefore must evade immunological pressure from their surrounding environment. The tegument surface is a major site for host-parasite interactions and plays an important role in parasite survival and immunomodulation²⁹⁹. Interestingly, there are no signs of overt inflammation around intravascular schistosomes³¹³. This can be achieved through the control of danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is a potent pro-inflammatory mediator when released in the extracellular environment^{314,315}. The *S. mansoni* ATP diphosphohydrolase, SmATPDase1, cleaves exogenous ADP and ATP^{316,317}. SmNPP5 is an essential protein for schistosome survival that cleaves nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and blocks NAD-induced T cell apoptosis³¹⁸. The parasite worms express other tegumental proteins such as the proteases SmCalp1 and SmCalp2 which are responsible for cleavage of host blood proteins and allow for unimpeded movement within the vessels^{319,320}. Other schistosome proteins serve to evade the host's complement system^{321,322}. Aside from tegumental proteins, gastrointestinal and ES molecules are also involved in immune evasion. The cysteine protease cathepsin B1 has immune-skewing

properties and protects mice from lethal injection of LPS by preventing the release of several inflammatory mediators and blocking TLR3 and TLR4 signalling³²³. Glycolytic and redox enzymes as well as heat shock proteins and cyclophilins also exert immunomodulatory effects on host immune cells²⁹⁹.

1.2.3.3 Eggs in Tissue

Most eggs are not excreted by the host but rather become trapped in tissues where they are responsible for chronic pathology. These eggs induce T_H2-type responses that lead to the formation of granulomas⁴⁹. Analysis of SEA revealed the protein IL-4-inducing principle of schistosome eggs previously denoted as alpha1 (α 1) (now IPSE/ α 1)³²⁴. IPSE/ α 1 is a glycoprotein enriched inside the eggshell and secreted to surrounding host tissue. It is recognized by human antibodies as a major immunogenic component of SEA³²⁵. IPSE/ α 1 attenuates inflammation by stimulating IL-4 & IL-13 production, blocking chemokine activity, and translocating to the nucleus to modulate transcription³²⁶⁻³²⁸. IL-4 and IL-13 production in basophils helps generate antiinflammatory, alternatively activated macrophages and can inhibit the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines³²⁶. IPSE/ α 1 may also play a role in the generation of regulatory B cells³²⁹. Another important egg-stage protein is omega-1 (ω 1). This secreted glycoprotein drives human monocytederived dendritic cells (MoDCs) to polarize naïve CD4⁺ T cells towards a T_H2 phenotype. Omega-1 also downregulates CD83 and CD86 expression on DCs and inhibited IL-12 production³³⁰. It is also recognized by human antibodies³³¹. Other egg antigens such as kappa-5, chemokine-binding glycoprotein (SmCKBP), and high mobility group protein 1 (SmHMGP1) modulate the host immune system to favour parasite survival²⁹⁹.

1.2.4 Protective Immunity

In endemic regions, people are repeatedly exposed to infectious cercaria putting them at risk for both super-infection and reinfection post-treatment. While children remain susceptible to recurrent infections, adults gradually become resistant^{332–334}. Indeed, protective immune responses to schistosomes can develop slowly over a period of 10 - 15 years in chronically-exposed individuals⁴⁸. Anti-*Schistosoma* immunity is thought to be responsible for this resistance to reinfection in adulthood rather than a reduced contact with water³³⁴. While resistance in mice is

characterized by T_H1 responses, resistance to reinfection in humans is associated with T_H2 immune responses mediated by parasite-specific IgE, eosinophils and the cytokines IL-4 and IL-5^{335–337}. In contrast, susceptibility to reinfection is correlated with IgG4³³⁸. However, this resistance is partial and sterile immunity is not observed. Praziquantel treatment increases these correlates of resistance and helps achieve a partial acquired immunity^{339,340}. Interestingly, the balance between IgG4 and IgE is affected differentially in children and adults³⁴¹. Following treatment, IgG4 levels in adults decrease while IgE levels remain stable or increase whereas children experience increases in both antigen-specific IgE and IgG4. Studies suggest that natural or chemical worm death causes the release of parasitic antigens that sensitize the host to future, migrating schistosomula³⁴². In addition, successive treatments can increase the interval between reinfections³⁴³. One hypothesis for the difference between age groups for resistance and the long development of partial immunity is that children are exposed to fewer dying worms which have an average lifespan of 3 – 10 years⁴⁸. *S. mansoni* adult worm-associated tegument-allergen-like (TAL) proteins have been suggested to be potential targets of protective IgE antibodies³⁴⁴. IL-4-producing T follicular helper (Tfh) cells may mediate these effector functions³⁴⁵.

It was first observed in experimental models that infected hosts develop an 'immunity' to subsequent cercarial challenges^{346–348}. Adult worms might protect their hosts against new infections and this phenomenon was termed concomitant immunity^{349,350}. This immunity was directed against skin and lung-stage schistosomula and mediated by the adult worm population to control the infection intensity within the host. Larval worms are more susceptible to host immune responses compared to their adult counterparts that possess several immune evasion mechanisms³⁵¹. Thus, adult worms may help direct an immune response against migrating schistosomula to reduce intraspecific competition³⁵⁰.

Whereas partial immunity can be gained over a long period either through chemotherapy or a history of repeated infections, natural resistance has been observed in an endemic region of Brazil^{352,353}. Stool samples were egg-negative despite exposure to infectious water³⁵⁴. These naturally resistant individuals are termed 'endemic normal' (EN)³⁵⁵. PBMCs from EN individuals mount both T_H1 and T_H2 responses to stimulation with parasite antigens characterized by elevated IFN- γ secretions, thus classifying them as an immunologically distinct group³⁵³. They also produce

higher levels of IgE against schistosomula tegument than drug-induced resistant individuals³⁵⁶. IgG4 levels to tegument and egg antigens are also low³⁵⁴. Many factors may explain this natural resistance such as prenatal tolerance induction, low-intensity infections, single sex infections, aborted infections prior to worm maturation, or self-cure³⁵⁵. Interestingly, serum analysis of EN individuals aided in the identification of two schistosomiasis vaccine candidates Sm-TSP-2 and Sm29, and this distinct group may help guide future vaccine discovery^{357,358}.

1.3 SCHISTOSOMIASIS VACCINES

In order to achieve control and elimination of schistosomiasis, an effective vaccine is necessary as part of a multifaceted approach including the different control measures highlighted earlier^{6,7}. For the past few decades, there has been substantial effort made to develop schistosomiasis vaccine candidates, however very few have progressed to clinical trials and none has proceeded to licensure^{95,359}. Schistosomiasis has ranked among the top ten diseases for which the need for a vaccine has been deemed urgent by a panel of experts³⁶⁰. Early work with a radiation-attenuated cercaria (RA) vaccine showed promise and led the development of several molecular vaccine candidates³⁶¹. Murine immunization with these gamma-irradiated cercaria induced high levels of protection but this approach could not be translated to humans³⁶². However, these experiments provided evidence that optimal protection requires both T_H1 and T_H2 associated responses³⁶³. The following sections outline clinical and pre-clinical development of schistosomiasis vaccines as well as novel approaches to accelerate the vaccine pipeline.

1.3.1 Vaccines in Clinical Development

1.3.1.1 Schistosoma haematobium 28-kDa Glutathione S-Transferase (ShGST28)

The glutathione S-transferase (GST) protein is involved in the reduction of parasite oxidative stress³⁶⁴. It also plays a role in fatty acid metabolism and prostaglandin D₂ synthesis³⁵⁹. The antigen is distributed in the cytosol and along the genital organs, tegumental surface and parenchyma³⁶⁵. Moreover, inhibition of GST activity affects parasite muscle function and worm fecundity^{366,367}. The ShGST28 vaccine was adjuvanted with aluminum hydroxide and named Bilhvax[®]. A phase Ia study in healthy French adult men indicated that the vaccine was well tolerated, did not cross-

react with human GST, and elicited a strong T_H2-biased response³⁶⁸. A phase Ib trial in healthy Senegalese children showed that it was also well tolerated in a pediatric population³⁶⁹. Co-administration of Bilhvax and PZQ was safe in *S. haematobium*-infected adults and children in a phase II study³⁶⁷. However, despite seroconversion in vaccinated individuals, a phase III trial in Senegalese children reported relatively low efficacy which trial investigators attributed to interference by the repeated PZQ treatments³⁶⁷.

1.3.1.2 Schistosoma mansoni 14-kDa Fatty Acid Binding Protein (Sm14)

Fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs) are expressed at all *Schistosoma* lifecycle stages and participate in the uptake of host-derived fatty acids and sterols³⁷⁰. These enzymes are present in the cytosol and in tissues such as the tegument and muscle layers³⁷¹. Recombinant protein alone or adjuvanted with Freund's complete adjuvant provided 50 – 68% protection in mice and 89% in rabbits³⁷². Interestingly, vaccination also provided cross protection against *Fasciola hepatica*³⁷³. Naturally resistant individuals display a T_H1-type immune response to Sm14, and the antigen reduces liver pathology in mice^{374,375}. Sm14 adjuvanted with glucopyranosyl lipid adjuvant-stable emulsion (GLA-SE) was tested in a phase I trial in healthy Brazilian adult men³⁷⁶. The vaccine was well tolerated and highly immunogenic. Sm14/GLA-SE was also safe in a phase IIa study in Senegalese adults and resulted in 92% seroconversion. The vaccine has advanced to a phase IIb trial in Senegalese school-aged children, but results are still pending⁶.

1.3.1.3 Schistosoma mansoni Tetraspanin-2 (Sm-TSP-2)

Tetraspanins (TSPs) are surface membrane and scaffolding proteins and are involved in tegument formation^{377,378}. TSP-2 is present on schistosomula and adult worms, and is an essential protein for nutrient acquisition, waste excretion and immune evasion. Additionally, IgG1 and IgG3 antibodies in the sera of naturally resistant individuals recognize TSP-2³⁵⁷. Immunization with TSP-2 in mouse models resulted in 57% and 62% reductions in worm and hepatic egg burdens respectively³⁵⁷. In healthy and infection-naïve adults, Sm-TSP-2 adjuvanted with aluminum hydroxide (Sm-TSP-2/Alhydrogel) and co-administered with or without glucopyranosyl lipid A (GLA-AF) was safe and well tolerated³⁷⁹. A phase Ib study testing Sm-TSP-2/Alhydrogel with or without AP 10-701 in healthy adults in endemic Brazil has been completed but results are still

pending⁶. Phase I dose-escalation and phase IIb studies in healthy adults are currently recruiting participants in Uganda and are expected to be completed by early 2025⁶.

1.3.1.4 Schistosoma mansoni Calpain (Sm-p80)

Sm-p80 is the large subunit of the calcium-activated cysteine protease calpain. It is located on the parasite's surface epithelial syncytium and is responsible for tegument biogenesis for immune evasion^{380,381}. Sm-p80 is a promising vaccine candidate and exhibits prophylactic, therapeutic, anti-pathology, and transmission-blocking effects³⁸². Vaccination with the antigen also induces cross-protection against all three main schistosome species³⁸¹. A double-blind baboon study reported 93% reduction in adult female worms and 90% reduction in tissue egg excretion when formulated with GLA-SE³⁸³. Robust antigen-specific IgG, IgG1, IgG2a, and IgM levels were observed in baboons and lasted 5 - 8 years³⁸⁴. The vaccine is named SchistoShield[®] and is currently recruiting infection-naïve, healthy adults in the United States. A phase Ib dose-escalation trial is then planned in healthy African adults^{6,385}.

1.3.2 Pre-Clinical Candidates

1.3.2.1 Tegumental Proteins

The *Schistosoma mansoni* 29 kDa protein (Sm29) is expressed on the tegument of lung-stage schistosomula and adult worms^{386,387}. IgG1 and IgG3 antibodies from the sera of naturally resistant individuals recognize Sm29³⁵⁸. Immunization with recombinant protein elicits a mixed cellular and humoral response in mice with an increase in antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells and memory cells^{387,388}. In a murine reinfection model, Sm29 can induce a protective response³⁸⁸. Sm29 formulated with the adjuvant alum induced protection in mice ranging from $29 - 37\%^{389}$. A fusion protein combining Sm14 and Sm29 significantly reduced hepatic egg burden by 74% unadjuvanted and by 83% when adjuvanted with polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C)³⁹⁰. Another candidate antigen is paramyosin (Pmy) which is a myofibrillar protein expressed on the tegument of lung-stage schistosomula and in the glands of penetrating cercaria³⁹¹. Pmy peptides are detected by T cells in naturally resistant individuals³⁹². In a mouse model, Pmy vaccination reduced worm and intestinal egg burdens by 44% and 59% respectively, and elicited IgG1 and IgG2 antibodies³⁹³. Lastly, *S. mansoni* Kunitz type protease inhibitor (Sm-KI-1) is an excretory/secretory product

expressed on the tegument of adult worms and sub-shell region of $eggs^{394}$. Mouse immunization moderately reduces parasite burden but is able to induce a mixed $T_H 1/T_H 2$ cellular response³⁹⁵.

1.3.2.2 Digestive Enzymes

Schistosoma mansoni expresses gut-associated proteases to degrade host blood macromolecules for nutrition. These functions are necessary for parasite survival. To date, cysteine peptidases asparaginyl endopeptidase (SmAE/Sm32) and cathepsin B1 (Sm-CatB/SmCB1) have been identified^{359,396}. SmAE hydrolyzes pro-proteins and provides an amino acid source for the parasite. Inhibition of this protease results in reduced oviposition of adult worms³⁹⁷. An SmAE encoding DNA vaccine resulted in a 37% reduction of egg-laying in female worms, thus suggesting that this antigen exerts an anti-fecundity and anti-pathology effect³⁹⁸.

Cathepsin B1 is the most abundant protease in the parasite gut and degrades hemoglobin as an energy source³⁹⁹. Vaccination with Sm-CatB increases the secretion of T_H2-associated cytokines and induces high titers of IgG, IgG1, and IgG2b antibodies in mice⁴⁰⁰. The Ndao lab has chosen Sm-CatB as a target for murine vaccination studies. These studies consisted of three doses of recombinant protein adjuvanted with either CpG dinucleotides⁴⁰¹, Montanide ISA 720 VG⁴⁰², and AddaVax, an MF59-like squalene adjuvant, as well as sulfated lactosyl archaeal archaeosomes (SLA)⁴⁰³ in a murine vaccination/challenge model. In these studies, the effectiveness for parasitologic outcomes ranged from 54 – 87%. Additionally, expression of Sm-CatB by human adenovirus serotype 5 (Ad5) with recombinant protein boosts reduced worm burden by 72% and hepatic/intestinal egg burden by 69%/76% and ameliorated egg-induced liver pathology⁴⁰⁴.

1.3.2.3 Schistosoma japonicum Vaccine Development

Schistosoma japonicum vaccine development must consider the zoonotic transmission of the parasite. Livestock animals such as bovines are particularly affected⁴⁰⁵. Therefore, a *S. japonicum* vaccine would need to be administered in reservoir hosts to reduce transmission in humans. Paramyosin (Sj97) is a preclinical vaccine candidate tested in mice and water buffalo⁴⁰⁶. Other important candidates are Sj26GST and Sj28GST⁴⁰⁷. Further examples of *S. japonicum* vaccine targets include the glycolytic pathway enzyme triose-phosphate isomerase (SjTPI), insulin

receptors (SjIRs), fatty acid binding protein (Sj14), a member of the tetraspanin family (Sj23)³⁵⁹. The type of preclinical vaccine candidate varies between recombinant protein vaccines, DNA vaccines, and attenuated vectored vaccines³⁵⁹.

1.3.3 Controlled Human Infection Model

Controlled human Schistosoma infection models represent a new and valuable tool to test new vaccine candidates, define correlates of protection, and identify novel vaccine targets⁴⁰⁸. Controlled human infection model (CHIM) studies are cost-effective and can provide preliminary efficacy data in a shorter time frame than field studies dependent on natural infection⁴⁰⁹. CHIM studies do not replace large-scale clinical trials but serve as proof-of-concept studies to validate vaccine candidates. For example, initial efficacy of the malaria RTS, S vaccine was obtained in a CHIM study and later confirmed in a phase III clinical trial^{408,409}. These studies recruit a small number of healthy volunteers and are controlled in terms of dose, route, and pathogen strain^{362,410}. Recently, a controlled human infection model for schistosomiasis (CHI-S) was put into place in the Netherlands⁴¹¹. Healthy Dutch volunteers were infected with either 10, 20, or 30 single-sex, male cercaria to avoid egg-associated pathologies⁴¹². Sex is determined by multiplex, real-time PCR⁴¹³. Infection was confirmed by detection of circulating anodic antigen (CAA) in 82% of volunteers at 3 - 10 weeks post-exposure in the absence of schistosome egg production⁴¹¹. Infection with 20 cercaria led to adverse events in 18% of volunteers. Participants reported symptoms of acute schistosomiasis such as fever, myalgia, and headache. Among volunteers from endemic regions, CHI-S could be utilized to better define responses associated with clinical protection and distinguish them from immune responses acquired from prior exposure⁴¹⁴. The model could also aid in investigating the effects of repeated cercaria exposure. The single-sex CHI-S model differs from natural infection due to the absence of eggs and is not able to replicate egginduced immune responses with their known impact on immunomodulation. However, it provides a unique opportunity to rapidly test vaccine candidates and speed up the development of schistosomiasis vaccines and therapeutics⁴⁰⁸.

1.4 SALMONELLA-BASED VACCINES

The licensed *S*. Typhi oral vaccine, Ty21a, is well tolerated, immunogenic, and easy to administer^{415,416}. This has led to the investigation of attenuated *Salmonella* vectors to deliver heterologous recombinant antigens to induce protective responses against several different pathogens^{417–419}. Such vaccines can elicit mucosal, humoral, and cellular immunity at a low cost⁴²⁰. Wild-type *S*. Typhimurium can cause disease in humans but is limited to the gastrointestinal tract⁴²¹. The following sections outline *Salmonella* Typhimurium infection, resulting host immune responses, and applications of *S*. Typhimurium as a vaccine vector for infectious diseases.

1.4.1 Salmonella Infection & Host Immune Responses

1.4.1.1 Salmonella Biology

Salmonella spp. are enteric Gram-negative and facultatively anaerobic bacteria of the Enterobacteriaceae family⁴²². The genus Salmonella is divided into two species: Salmonella enterica and Salmonella bongori. The species S. enterica is further divided into six subspecies and S. enterica subspecies I contains the serovars Typhi and Typhimurium⁴²³. Salmonella Typhi causes typhoid fever in humans whereas S. Typhimurium causes mild gastroenteritis⁴²⁴. Infection naturally occurs after the consumption of contaminated food or water through the oral-gastric route. Bacteria access the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) via invasion of M cells and then proceed to replicate in the Peyer's patches⁴²⁵. Only 10% of genes differ between S. Typhi and S. Typhimurium and this difference lies in their virulence factors which are encoded on the Salmonella pathogenicity islands (SPIs)⁴²⁶. Salmonella enterica contains two type III secretion systems (T3SSs) that play an important role in bacterial virulence. The first one (T3SS1) is encoded by SPI-1 and is crucial for cell invasion and the activation of pro-inflammatory responses⁴²¹. Upon cell entry, the bacterium is contained in a modified phagosome called the Salmonella-containing vacuole (SCV). Salmonella replicates within the SCV and secretes effector proteins through the T3SS2 which is important for intracellular survival in macrophages⁴²⁷. Interestingly, for S. Typhi, SPI-2 T3SS is not required for survival in human macrophages but may play a role in modulating the host immune system and infecting other cell types like dendritic cells or natural killer cells⁴²⁸. In addition, some *Salmonella* can escape the SCV, replicate in the cytosol,

and serve as a reservoir for dissemination⁴²⁹. Following invasion of the M cells, the bacteria translocate to the intestinal lymphoid follicles and the draining mesenteric lymph nodes where they can later multiply within mononuclear phagocytic cells of the lymphoid follicles, liver, and spleen⁴³⁰.

1.4.1.2 Salmonella and the Immune System

Salmonella spp. express several pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that trigger responses by the host innate immune system. The T3SS, fimbriae, flagella, LPS, and bacterial DNA are all recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)⁴²¹. Salmonella LPS and flagellin trigger TLR4 and TLR5 activation respectively^{431,432}. Signalling cascades lead to the activation and recruitment of neutrophils, dendritic cells, and macrophages as well as upregulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , and IFN- γ^{421} . IL-18 contributes to host resistance by triggering the release of IFN- γ which is required for controlling the infection^{433,434}. Inflammasomes play a central role in innate immune responses to Salmonella infection. Upon detection of flagellin by the NRLC4 inflammasome, caspase-1 triggers pyroptotic macrophage death to clear infection independently of IL-1 β or IL-18⁴³⁵. Therefore, the innate immune system is crucial for early Salmonella control but requires the aid of the adaptive immune system to clear infection⁴³⁶.

CD4⁺ T cells play an important role in host immunity to *Salmonella* infection. *Salmonella* antigens are presented by MHC class II molecules to CD4⁺ T cells⁴³⁷. Knockout mouse models for MHC class II and CD4 demonstrated high susceptibility to infection⁴³⁸. The flagellar filament protein FliC is a natural *Salmonella* antigen and is recognized by memory CD4⁺ T cells in both mice and humans. *S*. Typhimurium-infected murine macrophages and dendritic cells present FliC epitopes which triggers the proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells and IFN-γ secretion⁴³⁹. IFN-γ knockout mice are also susceptible to disseminated *Salmonella* infection or vaccination in both mice and humans^{441–} ⁴⁴³. Their induction is triggered by bystander dendritic cells that present antigens of *Salmonella*-infected apoptotic cells^{444,445}. Ty21a vaccination induces both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses to a variety of *Salmonella*-specific antigens, and it also upregulates expression of mucosal homing markers on circulating CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes⁴⁴⁶.

Salmonella infection elicits both systemic and mucosal humoral responses as well⁴⁴⁷. B cell deficient mice are more susceptible to infection and the passive transfer of serum or B cells can protect against infection^{448,449}. *Salmonella* porins induce long-lived bactericidal antibody responses in mice⁴⁵⁰. At mucosal sites, secretory IgA correlates with resistance to infection⁴²⁴. IgA and IgG likely help control *Salmonella* infection in mucosal and systemic compartments whereas T cells act in both. Interestingly, T cells can migrate between and offer protection at different mucosal sites^{451,452}. Taken together, *Salmonella*-based vaccines offer great potential for protection against other infectious diseases.

1.4.2 Salmonella as Vaccine Vectors for Infectious Diseases

Excerpt adapted from Winter K^{*}, <u>Hassan AS</u>^{*}, Dozois CM, Ndao M, Ward BJ. Current applications of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium as a vaccine vector. Manuscript prepared for submission to *Frontiers in Immunology*. *KW and ASH are co-first authors.

The use of *Salmonella* as a vaccine vector for other viral, bacterial, and parasitic organisms has many advantages. One of these is the ability of *Salmonella* to induce both local and systemic immune responses, and this may be effective for the expression of heterologous antigens. In addition, *S*. Typhimurium directly targets intestinal microfold (M) cells overlying the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT), has a large carrying capacity, and are easy to manipulate in both laboratory and industry settings⁴²⁰. Finally, as mentioned earlier, *Salmonella* Typhimurium also contains a multitude of PAMPs which may serve to enhance immune responses elicited by the heterologous antigen being expressed by the vector.

1.4.2.1 Bacterial Diseases

Salmonella vectors have also been used to target other bacterial pathogens such as Streptococcus pneumoniae. Construction of an attenuated strain capable of expressing pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA), a highly immunogenic protein, was reported⁴⁵³. Oral immunization of mice led to a strong Th1 bias based on IgG isotype profile and elicited antigen specific mucosal IgA

responses. Vaccination with recombinant *Salmonella* strains protected against challenge by three different routes (IP, IV, and IN).

Furthermore, studies have been conducted in developing vaccines for *Staphylococcus aureus*. The delivery of SaESxA and SaESxB through the SPI-1 T3SS generated serum IgG and mucosal IgA titers in mice⁴⁵⁴. ELISpot data also revealed that vaccination led to antigen specific IFN- γ and IL-17A splenocytes. While this approach lengthened survival in mice, vaccinated animals still succumbed to infection.

The Ward lab has recently demonstrated the protective capabilities of the YS1646 strain of S. Typhimurium against murine *Clostridioides difficile* infection⁴⁵⁵. A multimodal approach consisting of IM and PO doses on day 0 followed by additional PO doses on days 2 and 4 led to 100% protection against lethal challenge by several candidate strains. This multimodal schedule would be relatively simple to administer and reduce clinic visits. In practice, only the intramuscular dose along with the first oral dose would be supervised and then the following oral doses may be taken autonomously. Combining oral and intramuscular dosing enables the induction of both local and systemic immune responses. Attenuated strains were developed to express either the receptor binding domain of toxin A (TcdA) or toxin B (TcdB). Interestingly, PO administration alone of a combination of TcdA and TcdB strains led to 82% survival in a lethal challenge model (30% survival in the control group). Significant antigen-specific serum IgG and intestinal IgA titers were elicited as well. These titers were maintained for 6 months after vaccination (Winter, unpublished). PO vaccination induced long lived cell-mediated responses in the spleen and protected mice from lethal challenge 6 months after vaccination (~90% survival compared to 33% in the control group).

1.4.2.2 Viral Diseases

Recently, the *Salmonella* vaccine vector system was adapted for the development of next generation foot-and-mouth disease virus (FMDV) vaccines⁴⁵⁶. Through radiation mutation technology (RMT), the research group created the attenuated strain of *Salmonella* Typhimurium KST0666 to express FMDV VP1 protein under a stress-inducible system. Mice immunized orally showed an increase in fecal IgA, serum IgG and serum IgM titers compared to the non-recombinant *Salmonella* control group. The group also observed an increase in activated CD8+ T cells in

vaccinated animals as well as an increase in the production of antigen-specific IFN- γ , IL-5 and IL-17A, demonstrating that their delivery system led to a mixed profile of cellular immune responses. Vaccinated mice were also protected against *Salmonella* challenge, thus suggesting the possibility of dual protection against FMDV and *Salmonella*.

The mucosal immunity generated by *Salmonella* vectors is particularly interesting in the case of HIV vaccines. The virus enters at mucosal surfaces and oral vaccination would improve responses at these tissues and lead to a first line of defense at an early stage of infection. HIV-1 Gag is a conserved structural antigen and a prime target for the development of a vaccine. A number of studies have been conducted with recombinant *Salmonella* expressing HIV-1 Gag, Tat and Nef proteins either in the bacterial cytoplasm or as a secreted antigen^{424,457}. A murine study demonstrated that oral immunization led to the expansion of CD4+ T cells and the expression of IFN- γ , IL-2, and TNF- α by Th1 cells as well as IL-4 and IL-5 from Th2 cells⁴¹⁹.

In addition, an attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium vector has been used to protect against H1N1 and H5N1 influenza infection in mice⁴⁵⁸. Mice orally vaccinated were protected against lethal challenge with both viruses and vaccination induced significant increases in anti-HA serum IgG and mucosal IgA titers. ELISpot data revealed an increase in anti-HA IFN- γ production in T cells as well. Another study reported the construction a *Salmonella* strain capable of expressing H1N1 Ha and the matrix protein 2 (M2e)⁴⁵⁹. This study examined the IgG profile of vaccinated animals and reported an increase in both IgG1 and IgG2a titers. Interestingly, IM and IP immunization strategies were more effective than PO in protection from lethal challenge (100% for both vs 66.6% for PO). mRNA induction of IFN- γ and IL-4 were observed for all three routes of administration along with IL-10 expression for IM and IP only.

1.4.2.3 Parasitic Diseases

S. Typhimurium vectors have been generated to address both visceral and cutaneous leishmaniasis. Oral delivery of gp63 by an attenuated *S*. Typhimurium vector has been shown to induce resistance in mice whereas another group used *in silico* approaches to produce two *Salmonella* vectors that reduced visceralization of *L*. *major* and induced resistance to *L*. *donovani in vivo*^{460–463}. The study of *Salmonella*-vectored vaccines targeting helminths is particularly interesting given their size and complexity. One group has described the potential of intranasal administration of *S*. Typhimurium SL3261 for an antigen-derived epitope of *Trichinella spiralis*⁴⁶⁴. Parasite reduction of 61.8% was observed upon challenge and vaccination induced high titers of IgG1 specific antibodies as well as high concentrations of IL-5. The same strain was used in vaccination studies for *Echinococcus granulosus*⁴⁶⁵. Mice were immunized both intravenously and orally against the fatty acid binding protein EgDf1. The group observed that oral administration of the vector was a superior approach and led to the induction of IgG1, IgG2a and IgA antibodies. Splenocytes restimulated *ex vivo* also led to high production of IFN-y, IL-2 and IL-5 cytokines. Furthermore, a *Salmonella* vector expressing TSOL18, an oncosphere antigen of *Taenia solium* has been generated⁴⁶⁶. Vaccinated mice demonstrated high and sustained antibody titers as well as an increase in CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes. High antibody production was also observed in immunized pigs⁴⁶⁶. Finally, the YS1646 strain of *S*. Typhimurium has been used for immunization studies targeting *S. japonicum*⁴⁶⁷. Chen *et al.* showed reduced parasite burden and increased IgG2a production as well as an increase in IL-12 and IFN-y expression⁴⁶⁷.

1.4.3 Salmonella Typhimurium YS1646

The *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium strain YS1646 (also VNP20009) is an attenuated strain developed as an anti-cancer treatment⁴⁶⁸. The strain is a purine and xylose auxotroph (deletion of the *purI* and *xyl* genes), has reduced septic shock potential due to modification of lipid A (deletion of the *msbB* gene), and is susceptible to antibiotics⁴⁶⁹. YS1646 was derived from the *msbB*⁺ strain YS72. It can infect a wide variety of solid tumor types and a strong safety profile^{469,470}. The strain was originally designed to deliver therapeutic proteins to the tumor microenvironment but proved to be effective in inhibiting tumor growth in mice^{470–472}. The antitumor effect is suggested to correlate with SPI-2 gene expression and does not depend on the presence of T or B cells^{468,473}. A phase I study in patients with metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma was conducted testing intravenous administration of VNP20009⁴⁷⁴. Tumor colonization was only observed in two patients receiving doses of 3 x 10⁸ colony-forming units (cfu)/m² and 1 x 10⁹ cfu/m². The former dose was the maximum tolerated in the study and resulted in low toxicity.

However, no patients experienced tumor regression. This lack of efficacy is believed to be due to limited bacterial colonization and rapid clearance of the bacteria from the bloodstream⁴⁷⁴. Despite these results in human trials, subsequent mouse studies indicated that, similar to systemic infection, oral administration of VNP20009 led to high tumor regression and induced effective anti-tumor immune responses as high as doses of 10⁹ cfu^{475,476}. Recently, VNP20009 continues to be studied as an anti-cancer tool with a focus on improving tumor infiltration and the delivery of therapeutic anti-tumor cargoes^{477,478}. Therefore, while this attenuated strain failed to inhibit tumor growth in humans in its first clinical trial, its well-documented safety profile and ability to deliver heterologous antigens makes it an interesting candidate for oral vaccination.

1.5 RATIONALE & RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

For nearly 50 years, schistosomiasis control efforts have relied primarily on mass administration of praziquantel (PZQ)⁴⁷⁹. While resistance to the drug has been induced experimentally^{166,480} and field reports have hinted at reduced susceptibility^{164,481}, widespread drug resistance has yet to be proven and isolated cases of therapeutic failure may be due to other factors^{163,482,483}. Despite the success of PZQ, the facts remain that it is less active against juvenile worms and does not protect against reinfection^{160,484–486}. As a result, vaccines will likely be needed to ensure long-lasting control and elimination of the disease.

In recent years, many gains have been made in the field of schistosomiasis vaccine development. Several candidate vaccines are in pre-clinical development, and a small number have progressed to human clinical trials^{6,487}. While most of these candidates focus on tegumental proteins of the adult worm, our group has targeted the cysteine protease *Schistosoma mansoni* Cathepsin B (Sm-CatB)^{401–404,488}. Sm-CatB is an important digestive enzyme of both migrating larvae and adult worms for nutrient acquisition via the breakdown of host blood macromolecules⁴⁸⁹. Recent successes with different adjuvant formulations led us to consider the attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium strain YS1646 as a bacterial vector for Sm-CatB. Oral administration may prove more effective in endemic areas, and the YS1646 vector allows for the generation of both systemic and mucosal immune responses. This thesis addresses the central hypothesis that using the live attenuated YS1646 strain of *S*. Typhimurium as a vector for Sm-CatB will stimulate the host's

immune system and lead to greater parasite burden reductions than observed with previous vaccine formulations.

The first objective of this thesis was to construct recombinant YS1646 strains and characterize prophylactic protection against challenge using a prime-boost vaccination strategy in a murine model (Chapter 2). We tested 13 different strains in vitro and progressed with 2 for in vivo evaluation. One of these two strains generated substantial humoral IgG and local IgA antibody responses as well as systemic cell-mediated responses when mice were primed orally and then received an intramuscular boost 3 weeks later. This approach provided almost complete protection against S. mansoni challenge. These findings then prompted us to consider the therapeutic benefits of our vaccine. Thus, the second objective of this thesis was to determine the therapeutic efficacy of our multimodal vaccination strategy in a mouse model of chronic infection (Chapter 3). We developed a chronic infection model where mice were vaccinated either 2- or 4-months postinfection, and later sacrificed either 1- or 2-months post-vaccination. Parasite burden was decreased by 1-month post-vaccination and relative reductions continued to increase at the 2month mark. This approach also resulted in a shift in the immune profile of vaccinated animals from a skewed T_H2 bias to a more balanced pattern of response. The success of our candidate vaccine both prophylactically and therapeutically encouraged further development and the generation of a chromosomally integrated strain as opposed to our previous plasmid-based system. Therefore, the third objective of this thesis was to chromosomally integrate the Cathepsin B antigen into the YS1646 genome and evaluate the immunogenicity and protective efficacy of this new vaccine strain (**Chapter 4**). Through chromosomal integration, we successfully removed any risk of antibiotic resistance which was present in our previous plasmid-based strains, and we were able to observe strong systemic humoral and cellular responses as well as robust mucosal immunity. Parasite burden was significantly decreased following multimodal vaccination and eggassociated liver pathology was reduced. The findings outlined in this thesis highlight the potential for oral vaccination with a bacterial vector that delivers a parasite digestive enzyme. The work presented herein suggests that this novel approach may contribute significantly to schistosomiasis vaccine development.

1.6 REFERENCES

- 1. LoVerde, P. T. Schistosomiasis. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1154, 45–70 (2019).
- 2. Steinmann, P., Keiser, J., Bos, R., Tanner, M. & Utzinger, J. Schistosomiasis and water resources development: systematic review, meta-analysis, and estimates of people at risk. *Lancet. Infect. Dis.* **6**, 411–425 (2006).
- 3. Lo, N. C. *et al.* Review of 2022 WHO guidelines on the control and elimination of schistosomiasis. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **0**, (2022).
- 4. Onasanya, A., Bengtson, M., Oladepo, O., Van Engelen, J. & Diehl, J. C. Rethinking the Top-Down Approach to Schistosomiasis Control and Elimination in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Front. Public Heal.* **9**, 99 (2021).
- 5. Walker, J. W. *et al.* Environmental Predictors of Schistosomiasis Persistent Hotspots following Mass Treatment with Praziquantel. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **102**, 328 (2020).
- 6. Molehin, A. J., McManus, D. P. & You, H. Vaccines for Human Schistosomiasis: Recent Progress, New Developments and Future Prospects. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **23**, (2022).
- 7. Stylianou, A., Hadjichrysanthou, C., Truscott, J. E. & Anderson, R. M. Developing a mathematical model for the evaluation of the potential impact of a partially efficacious vaccine on the transmission dynamics of Schistosoma mansoni in human communities. *Parasites and Vectors* **10**, 294 (2017).
- Bilharz, T. M. Fernere Beobachtungun Uber Das Pfortader Des Menschen Bewohnende Distomum Haematobium Und Sein Verhaltniss Zu Gewissen Pathologishen Bildungen Aus Brieflichen Mitheilungen an Professor v. Sielbold vom 29 Marz 1852. Zeitschrift fur Wissenschaftliche Zool. Leipzig 4, 72–76 (1852).
- 9. Di Bella, S., Riccardi, N., Giacobbe, D. R. & Luzzati, R. History of schistosomiasis (bilharziasis) in humans: from Egyptian medical papyri to molecular biology on mummies. *Pathog. Glob. Health* **112**, 268 (2018).
- 10. Anastasiou, E., Lorentz, K. O., Stein, G. J. & Mitchell, P. D. Prehistoric schistosomiasis parasite found in the Middle East. *Lancet. Infect. Dis.* **14**, 553–554 (2014).
- 11. Adamson, P. B. Schistosomiasis in antiquity. *Med. Hist.* **20**, 176 (1976).
- 12. Breasted, J. H. Ancient Records of Egypt, Vol Two. (1906).
- 13. Leake, C. D. *The old Egyptian medical papyri*. (Lawrence, Kan., University of Kansas Press, 1952).
- 14. Othman, A. A. & Soliman, R. H. Schistosomiasis in Egypt: A never-ending story? *Acta Trop.* **148**, 179–190 (2015).
- 15. Leiper, R. T. Report on the Results of the Bilharzia Mission in Egypt, 1915. *J. R. Army Med. Corps* **30**, 235–260 (1918).
- Mao, S. P. & Shao, B. R. Schistosomiasis control in the people's Republic of China. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 31, 92–99 (1982).
- 17. Katsurada, F. Schistosomum japonicum, ein neuer menschlicher Parasit, durch welchen eine endemische Krankheit in verschiedenen Gegenden Japans verursacht wird. 日本動物

学彙報 5, 147-160 (1904).

- Bouchet, F., Harter, S., Paicheler, J. C., Araújo, A. & Ferreira, L. F. First recovery of Schistosoma mansoni eggs from a latrine in Europe (15–16th centuries). *J. Parasitol.* 88, 404–405 (2002).
- de Vlas, S. J. & Gryseels, B. Underestimation of Schistosoma mansoni prevalences. *Parasitol. Today* 8, 274–277 (1992).
- 20. Gryseels, B., Polman, K., Clerinx, J. & Kestens, L. Human schistosomiasis. *Lancet* **368**, 1106–1118 (2006).
- 21. Verjee, M. A. Schistosomiasis: Still a Cause of Significant Morbidity and Mortality. *Res. Rep. Trop. Med.* **10**, 153 (2019).
- 22. Murray, C. J. L. *et al.* Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet (London, England)* **380**, 2197–2223 (2012).
- Kyu, H. H. *et al.* Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet* **392**, 1859–1922 (2018).
- 24. Deol, A. K. *et al.* Schistosomiasis Assessing Progress toward the 2020 and 2025 Global Goals. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **381**, 2519–2528 (2019).
- 25. Colley, D. G., Bustinduy, A. L., Secor, E. & King, C. H. Human schistosomiasis HHS Public Access. *Lancet* **383**, 2253–2264 (2014).
- 26. Huyse, T. *et al.* Regular treatments of praziquantel do not impact on the genetic make-up of Schistosoma mansoni in Northern Senegal. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* **18**, 100–105 (2013).
- 27. Boissier, J. *et al.* Outbreak of urogenital schistosomiasis in Corsica (France): an epidemiological case study. *Lancet. Infect. Dis.* **16**, 971–979 (2016).
- 28. Moné, H. *et al.* Introgressive hybridizations of Schistosoma haematobium by Schistosoma bovis at the origin of the first case report of schistosomiasis in Corsica (France, Europe). *Parasitol. Res.* **114**, 4127–4133 (2015).
- 29. Le Govic, Y. *et al.* Schistosoma haematobium-Schistosoma mansoni Hybrid Parasite in Migrant Boy, France, 2017. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **25**, 365–367 (2019).
- 30. Moné, H., Holtfreter, M. C., Mouahid, G. & Richter, J. Difficulties in Schistosomiasis Assessment, Corsica, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **22**, 762–763 (2016).
- Webster, B. L. & Southgate, V. R. Compatibility of Schistosoma haematobium, S. intercalatum and their hybrids with Bulinus truncatus and B. forskalii. *Parasitology* 127, 231–242 (2003).
- 32. Lingscheid, T. *et al.* Schistosomiasis in European Travelers and Migrants: Analysis of 14 Years TropNet Surveillance Data. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **97**, 567–574 (2017).
- 33. Majoros, G., Fehér, Z., Deli, T. & Földvári, G. Establishment of Biomphalaria tenagophila snails in Europe. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **14**, 1812–1814 (2008).
- 34. Welter-Schultes, F. W. European non-marine molluscs, a guide for species identification:

Bestimmungsbuch für europäische Land-und Süsswassermollusken. (Planet Poster Editions, 2012).

- 35. Engdaw, T. & Abuhay, A. Overview on Schistosoma infection with reference to its economic importance. *Eur. J. Appl. Sci.* **7**, 268–273 (2015).
- 36. You, H., Cai, P., Tebeje, B. M., Li, Y. & McManus, D. P. Schistosome Vaccines for Domestic Animals. *Trop. Med. Infect. Dis.* **3**, (2018).
- Campbell, S. J. *et al.* Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene (WASH): A Critical Component for Sustainable Soil-Transmitted Helminth and Schistosomiasis Control. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8, (2014).
- 38. Stothard, J. R. *et al.* Closing the praziquantel treatment gap: new steps in epidemiological monitoring and control of schistosomiasis in African infants and preschool-aged children. *Parasitology* **138**, 1593 (2011).
- 39. Lo, N. C. *et al.* Comparison of community-wide, integrated mass drug administration strategies for schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminthiasis: a cost-effectiveness modelling study. *Lancet Glob. Heal.* **3**, e629–e638 (2015).
- 40. Bustinduy, A. L. *et al.* Expanding Praziquantel (PZQ) Access beyond Mass Drug Administration Programs: Paving a Way Forward for a Pediatric PZQ Formulation for Schistosomiasis. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **10**, (2016).
- 41. Lo, N. C. *et al.* A call to strengthen the global strategy against schistosomiasis and soiltransmitted helminthiasis: the time is now. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **17**, e64–e69 (2017).
- 42. Kalinda, C., Mindu, T. & Chimbari, M. J. A systematic review and meta-analysis quantifying schistosomiasis infection burden in pre-school aged children (PreSAC) in sub-Saharan Africa for the period 2000–2020. *PLoS One* **15**, e0244695 (2020).
- 43. Ross, A. G., Vickers, D., Olds, G. R., Shah, S. M. & McManus, D. P. Katayama syndrome. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **7**, 218–224 (2007).
- 44. Bottieau, E. *et al.* Imported Katayama fever: Clinical and biological features at presentation and during treatment. *J. Infect.* **52**, 339–345 (2006).
- 45. Mohamed, A. R. E. S., Al Karawi, M. A. & Yasawy, M. I. Schistosomal colonic disease. *Gut* **31**, 439 (1990).
- 46. Lambertucci, J. R., Voieta, I. & Barbosa, A. J. A. Colonic polyps in hepatosplenic schistosomiasis mansoni. *Rev. Soc. Bras. Med. Trop.* **38**, 80–81 (2005).
- 47. Cao, J., Liu, W. J., Xu, X. Y. & Zou, X. P. Endoscopic findings and clinicopathologic characteristics of colonic schistosomiasis: A report of 46 cases. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 16, 723 (2010).
- 48. McManus, D. P. et al. Schistosomiasis. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 2018 41 4, 1–19 (2018).
- 49. Hams, E., Aviello, G. & Fallon, P. G. The Schistosoma Granuloma: Friend or Foe? *Front. Immunol.* **4**, 89 (2013).
- 50. Vennervald, B. J. *et al.* Detailed clinical and ultrasound examination of children and adolescents in a Schistosoma mansoni endemic area in Kenya: hepatosplenic disease in the absence of portal fibrosis. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* **9**, 461–470 (2004).

- 51. Wilson, S., Vennervald, B. J. & Dunne, D. W. Chronic hepatosplenomegaly in African school children: a common but neglected morbidity associated with schistosomiasis and malaria. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **5**, (2011).
- 52. Andrade, Z. A. Schistosomiasis and liver fibrosis. *Parasite Immunol.* **31**, 656–663 (2009).
- 53. Santos, L. L. *et al.* Urogenital Schistosomiasis—History, Pathogenesis, and Bladder Cancer. *J. Clin. Med.* **10**, 1–11 (2021).
- 54. Santos, J. *et al.* Comparison of findings using ultrasonography and cystoscopy in urogenital schistosomiasis in a public health centre in rural Angola. *S. Afr. Med. J.* **105**, 312–315 (2015).
- 55. Gray, D. J., Ross, A. G., Li, Y. S. & McManus, D. P. Diagnosis and management of schistosomiasis. *BMJ* **342**, (2011).
- 56. Vennervald, B. J. & Polman, K. Helminths and malignancy. *Parasite Immunol.* **31**, 686–696 (2009).
- 57. Cancer, I. A. for R. on. Biological agents. *IARC Monogr. Eval. Carcinog. risks to humans* (2012).
- 58. Shiff, C. *et al.* Ultrasound verification of bladder damage is associated with known biomarkers of bladder cancer in adults chronically infected with Schistosoma haematobium in Ghana. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **100**, 847–854 (2006).
- 59. Brindley, P. J. & Hotez, P. J. Break Out: Urogenital Schistosomiasis and Schistosoma haematobium Infection in the Post-Genomic Era. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **7**, (2013).
- 60. Kayange, N. M. *et al.* Kidney disease among children in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Pediatr. Res.* **77**, 272 (2015).
- 61. Brito, T. D., Nussenzveig, I., Carneiro, C. R. & Silva, A. M. Schistosoma mansoni associated glomerulopathy. *Rev. Inst. Med. Trop. Sao Paulo* **41**, 269–272 (1999).
- 62. Leutscher, P. *et al.* Schistosoma haematobium induced lesions in the female genital tract in a village in Madagascar. *Acta Trop.* **66**, 27–33 (1997).
- 63. Leutscher, P. *et al.* Community-based study of genital schistosomiasis in men from Madagascar. *Lancet (London, England)* **355**, 117–118 (2000).
- 64. Leutscher, P. D. C. *et al.* Increased prevalence of leukocytes and elevated cytokine levels in semen from Schistosoma haematobium-infected individuals. *J. Infect. Dis.* **191**, 1639–1647 (2005).
- Midzi, N., Mduluza, T., Mudenge, B., Foldager, L. & Leutscher, P. D. C. Decrease in Seminal HIV-1 RNA Load After Praziquantel Treatment of Urogenital Schistosomiasis Coinfection in HIV-Positive Men—An Observational Study. *Open Forum Infect. Dis.* 4, (2017).
- 66. Kjetland, E. F. *et al.* Association between genital schistosomiasis and HIV in rural Zimbabwean women. *AIDS* **20**, 593–600 (2006).
- 67. Kjetland, E. F., Leutscher, P. D. C. & Ndhlovu, P. D. A review of female genital schistosomiasis. *Trends Parasitol.* **28**, 58–65 (2012).
- 68. Jourdan, P. M. et al. Pathologic mucosal blood vessels in active female genital

schistosomiasis: new aspects of a neglected tropical disease. *Int. J. Gynecol. Pathol.* **32**, 137–140 (2013).

- 69. Kayuni, S. A. *et al.* Male Genital Schistosomiasis Along the Shoreline of Lake Malawi: Baseline Prevalence and Associated Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices Among Local Fishermen in Mangochi District, Malawi. *Front. Public Heal.* **9**, 590695 (2021).
- 70. Torresi, J., Sheori, H., Ryan, N. & Yung, A. Usefulness of Semen Microscopy in the Diagnosis of a Difficult Case of Schistosoma haematobium Infection in a Returned Traveler. *J. Travel Med.* **4**, 46–47 (1997).
- 71. Abdel-Naser, M. B., Altenburg, A., Zouboulis, C. C. & Wollina, U. Schistosomiasis (bilharziasis) and male infertility. *Andrologia* **51**, e13165 (2019).
- 72. Leutscher, P. D. C., Høst, E. & Reimert, C. M. Semen quality in Schistosoma haematobium infected men in Madagascar. *Acta Trop.* **109**, 41–44 (2009).
- 73. Ferrari, T. C. A. & Moreira, P. R. R. Neuroschistosomiasis: clinical symptoms and pathogenesis. *Lancet. Neurol.* **10**, 853–864 (2011).
- 74. Ross, A. G. et al. Neuroschistosomiasis. J. Neurol. 259, 22–32 (2012).
- 75. Walker, M. & Zunt, J. R. Parasitic Central Nervous System Infections in Immunocompromised Hosts. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **40**, 1005 (2005).
- 76. Ferrari, T. C. de A. Involvement of central nervous system in the schistosomiasis. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **99**, 59–62 (2004).
- 77. Sibomana, J. P. *et al.* Schistosomiasis Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Front. Immunol.* 11, 1 (2020).
- 78. Fernandes, C. J. C. D. S. *et al.* Schistosomiasis and pulmonary hypertension. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1586/ers.11.58* **5**, 675–681 (2014).
- 79. Weerakoon, K. G. A. D., Gobert, G. N., Cai, P. & McManus, D. P. Advances in the Diagnosis of Human Schistosomiasis. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **28**, 939 (2015).
- Katz, N., Chaves, A. & Pellegrino, J. A simple, device for quantita tive stool thick-smear technique in schistosomiasis mansoni. *Rev. Inst. Med. Trop. Sao Paulo* 14, 397–400 (1972).
- 81. Ricciardi, A. & Ndao, M. Diagnosis of parasitic infections: What's going on? *J. Biomol. Screen.* **20**, 6–21 (2015).
- Feldmeier, H., Doehring, E. & Daffalla, A. A. Simultaneous use of a sensitive filtration technique and reagent strips in urinary schistosomiasis. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 76, 416–421 (1982).
- 83. Feldmeier, H. & Poggensee, G. Diagnostic techniques in schistosomiasis control. A review. *Acta Trop.* **52**, 205–220 (1993).
- 84. Utzinger, J., Becker, S. L., van Lieshout, L., van Dam, G. J. & Knopp, S. New diagnostic tools in schistosomiasis. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* **21**, 529–542 (2015).
- 85. Polman, K., Engels, D., Fathers, L., Deelder, A. M. & Gryseels, B. Day-to-day fluctuation of schistosome circulating antigen levels in serum and urine of humans infected with Schistosoma mansoni in Burundi. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **59**, 150–154 (1998).

- Doehring, E., Feldmeier, H. & Daffalla, A. A. Day-to-day variation and circadian rhythm of egg excretion in urinary schistosomiasis in the Sudan. *Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol.* 77, 587–594 (1983).
- 87. Spear, R. C. *et al.* The challenge of effective surveillance in moving from low transmission to elimination of schistosomiasis in China. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **41**, 1243 (2011).
- 88. Xu, B. *et al.* A Novel Procedure for Precise Quantification of Schistosoma japonicum Eggs in Bovine Feces. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **6**, (2012).
- 89. Mello-Silva, C. C., João, R. C., Augusto, R. de C. & Santos, C. P. A rapid diagnostic test for schistosomiasismansoni. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **108**, 1078 (2013).
- 90. Cringoli, G., Rinaldi, L., Maurelli, M. P. & Utzinger, J. FLOTAC: new multivalent techniques for qualitative and quantitative copromicroscopic diagnosis of parasites in animals and humans. *Nat. Protoc.* **5**, 503–515 (2010).
- 91. Marti, H. & Escher, E. SAF--an alternative fixation solution for parasitological stool specimens. *Schweiz. Med. Wochenschr.* **120**, 1473–1476 (1990).
- 92. Glinz, D. *et al.* Comparing diagnostic accuracy of Kato-Katz, Koga agar plate, etherconcentration, and FLOTAC for Schistosoma mansoni and soil-transmitted helminths. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **4**, (2010).
- 93. Zhu, H. *et al.* Comparison of the miracidium hatching test and modified Kato-Katz method for detecting Schistosoma japonicum in low prevalence areas of China. *Southeast Asian J. Trop. Med. Public Health* **45**, 20 (2014).
- Jurberg, A. D., De Oliveira, Á. A., Lenzi, H. L. & Coelho, P. M. Z. A new miracidia hatching device for diagnosing schistosomiasis. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 103, 112–114 (2008).
- Ogongo, P., Nyakundi, R. K., Chege, G. K. & Ochola, L. The Road to Elimination: Current State of Schistosomiasis Research and Progress Towards the End Game. *Front. Immunol.* 13, (2022).
- 96. Rabello, A. L. T., Garcia, M. M. A., Pinto da Silva, R. A., Rocha, R. S. & Katz, N. Humoral immune responses in patients with acute Schistosoma mansoni infection who were followed up for two years after treatment. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **24**, 304–308 (1997).
- 97. Jones, M. E., Mitchell, R. G. & Leen, C. L. S. Long seronegative window in schistosoma infection. *Lancet* **340**, 1549–1550 (1992).
- Al-Sherbiny, M. M., Osman, A. M., Hancock, K., Deelder, A. M. & Tsang, V. C. W. Application of immunodiagnostic assays: detection of antibodies and circulating antigens in human schistosomiasis and correlation with clinical findings. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 60, 960–966 (1999).
- 99. Van Dam, G. J., Bogitsh, B. J., Van Zeyl, R. J. M., Rotmans, J. P. & Deelder, A. M. Schistosoma mansoni: in vitro and in vivo excretion of CAA and CCA by developing schistosomula and adult worms. *J. Parasitol.* 557–564 (1996).
- 100. Van Lieshout, L., Polderman, A. M., Visser, L. G., Verwey, J. J. & Deelder, A. M. Detection of the circulating antigens CAA and CCA in a group of Dutch travellers with

acute schistosomiasis. Trop. Med. Int. Heal. 2, 551-557 (1997).

- Colley, D. G. *et al.* A Five-Country Evaluation of a Point-of-Care Circulating Cathodic Antigen Urine Assay for the Prevalence of Schistosoma mansoni. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 88, 426 (2013).
- Ashton, R. A. *et al.* Accuracy of circulating cathodic antigen tests for rapid mapping of Schistosoma mansoni and S. haematobium infections in Southern Sudan. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 16, 1099–1103 (2011).
- Corstjens, P. L. A. M. *et al.* Tools for diagnosis, monitoring and screening of Schistosoma infections utilizing lateral-flow based assays and upconverting phosphor labels. *Parasitology* 141, 1841–1855 (2014).
- 104. Cai, Y. C. *et al.* Chicken egg yolk antibodies (IgY) for detecting circulating antigens of Schistosoma japonicum. *Parasitol. Int.* **61**, 385–390 (2012).
- 105. Meurs, L. *et al.* Is PCR the next reference standard for the diagnosis of Schistosoma in stool? A comparison with microscopy in Senegal and Kenya. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9, e0003959 (2015).
- 106. Obeng, B. B. *et al.* Application of a circulating-cathodic-antigen (CCA) strip test and realtime PCR, in comparison with microscopy, for the detection of Schistosoma haematobium in urine samples from Ghana. *Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol.* **102**, 625–633 (2008).
- Cnops, L., Tannich, E., Polman, K., Clerinx, J. & Van Esbroeck, M. Schistosoma realtime PCR as diagnostic tool for international travellers and migrants. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* 17, 1208–1216 (2012).
- 108. Lv, C. *et al.* Molecular Techniques as Alternatives of Diagnostic Tools in China as Schistosomiasis Moving towards Elimination. *Pathogens* **11**, (2022).
- 109. Fernández-Soto, P. *et al.* A Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP) Assay for Early Detection of Schistosoma mansoni in Stool Samples: A Diagnostic Approach in a Murine Model. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8, (2014).
- 110. Rollinson, D. *et al.* Time to set the agenda for schistosomiasis elimination. *Acta Trop.* 128, 423–440 (2013).
- Giboda, M., Bergquist, R. & Utzinger, J. Schistosomiasis at the Crossroad to Elimination: Review of Eclipsed Research with Emphasis on the Post-Transmission Agenda. *Trop. Med. Infect. Dis.* 7, (2022).
- Albonico, M., Montresor, A., Crompton, D. W. T. & Savioli, L. Intervention for the control of Soil -transmitted helminthiasis in the community. *Adv. Parasitol.* 61, 311 (2006).
- 113. Bartram, J. & Cairncross, S. Hygiene, Sanitation, and Water: Forgotten Foundations of Health. *PLoS Med.* **7**, (2010).
- 114. Cairncross, S. Sanitation in the developing world: current status and future solutions. *Int. J. Environ. Health Res.* 13 Suppl 1, (2003).
- Cairncross, S. & Valdmanis, V. Water supply, sanitation and hygiene promotion (chapter 41). (2006).

- Aagaard-Hansen, J., Mwanga, J. R. & Bruun, B. Social science perspectives on schistosomiasis control in Africa: past trends and future directions. *Parasitology* 136, 1747–1758 (2009).
- 117. Sow, S., de Vlas, S. J., Mbaye, A., Polman, K. & Gryseels, B. Low awareness of intestinal schistosomiasis in northern Senegal after 7 years of health education as part of intense control and research activities. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* 8, 744–749 (2003).
- 118. Rollinson, D. A wake up call for urinary schistosomiasis: reconciling research effort with public health importance. *Parasitology* **136**, 1593–1610 (2009).
- 119. Grimes, J. E. T. *et al.* The Relationship between Water, Sanitation and Schistosomiasis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **8**, (2014).
- 120. Jacob, B. & Kazaura, M. Access to Safe Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene: A Cross-Sectional Study among the Maasai in Tanzania. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **104**, 1535 (2021).
- 121. Al Abaidani, I. *et al.* Decline in transmission of schistosomiasis mansoni in Oman. *Infect. Dis. Poverty* **5**, (2016).
- 122. Holveck, J. C. *et al.* Prevention, control, and elimination of neglected diseases in the Americas: pathways to integrated, inter-programmatic, inter-sectoral action for health and development. *BMC Public Health* **7**, 1–21 (2007).
- 123. Augusto, G., Magnussen, P., Kristensen, T. K., Appleton, C. C. & Vennervald, B. J. The influence of transmission season on parasitological cure rates and intensity of infection after praziquantel treatment of Schistosoma haematobium-infected schoolchildren in Mozambique. *Parasitology* **136**, 1771–1779 (2009).
- Sokolow, S. H. *et al.* Reduced transmission of human schistosomiasis after restoration of a native river prawn that preys on the snail intermediate host. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 112, 9650–9655 (2015).
- 125. Marques, D. P. D. A. *et al.* Reduced susceptibility of a Biomphalaria tenagophila population to Schistosoma mansoni after introducing the resistant Taim/RS strain of B. tenagophila into Herivelton Martins stream. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- 126. Takougang, I., Meli, J., Wabo Poné, J. & Angwafo, F. Community acceptability of the use of low-dose niclosamide (Bayluscide®), as a molluscicide in the control of human schistosomiasis in Sahelian Cameroon. *Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol.* **101**, 479–486 (2007).
- 127. Dai, J. R. *et al.* A novel molluscicidal formulation of niclosamide. *Parasitol. Res.* **103**, 405–412 (2008).
- Oliveira-Filho, E. C. & Paumgartten, F. J. R. Toxicity of Euphorbia milii latex and niclosamide to snails and nontarget aquatic species. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 46, 342–350 (2000).
- 129. Adekiya, T. A., Aruleba, R. T., Oyinloye, B. E., Okosun, K. O. & Kappo, A. P. The Effect of Climate Change and the Snail-Schistosome Cycle in Transmission and Bio-Control of Schistosomiasis in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* **17**, (2019).
- 130. Sokolow, S. H. *et al.* Global Assessment of Schistosomiasis Control Over the Past Century Shows Targeting the Snail Intermediate Host Works Best. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.*

10, (2016).

- Duffin, J. & René, P. 'Anti-moine; anti-biotique': the public fortunes of the secret properties of antimony potassium tartrate (tartar emetic). *J. Hist. Med. Allied Sci.* 46, 440– 456 (1991).
- 132. Forsyth, D. M. & Simpson, W. T. Oral tartar emetic in the treatment of schistosomiasis. *Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol.* **55**, 410–412 (1961).
- 133. KHAYYAL, M. T. THE EFFECTS OF ANTIMONY UPTAKE ON THE LOCATION AND PAIRING OF SCHISTOSOMA MANSONI. Br. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 22, 342–348 (1964).
- 134. Trainor-Moss, S. & Mutapi, F. Schistosomiasis therapeutics: whats in the pipeline? http://dx.doi.org/10.1586/17512433.2015.1102051 9, 157–160 (2015).
- 135. Thétiot-Laurent, S. A. L., Boissier, J., Robert, A. & Meunier, B. Schistosomiasis Chemotherapy. *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.* **52**, 7936–7956 (2013).
- 136. Kramer, C. V., Zhang, F., Sinclair, D. & Olliaro, P. L. Drugs for treating urinary schistosomiasis. *Cochrane database Syst. Rev.* **2014**, (2014).
- Morgan, J. A. T., Dejong, R. J., Snyder, S. D., Mkoji, G. M. & Loker, E. S. Schistosoma mansoni and Biomphalaria: past history and future trends. *Parasitology* **123 Suppl**, (2001).
- 138. Rugel, A. R. *et al.* Why does oxamniquine kill Schistosoma mansoni and not S. haematobium and S. japonicum? *Int. J. Parasitol. Drugs Drug Resist.* **13**, 8 (2020).
- 139. Cioli, D., Pica-Mattoccia, L., Basso, A. & Guidi, A. Schistosomiasis control: Praziquantel forever? *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* vol. 195 23–29 (2014).
- 140. Bustinduy, A. L. *et al.* Population Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Praziquantel in Ugandan Children with Intestinal Schistosomiasis: Higher Dosages Are Required for Maximal Efficacy. *MBio* **7**, (2016).
- 141. Friedman, J. F., Olveda, R. M., Mirochnick, M. H., Bustinduy, A. L. & Elliott, A. M. Praziquantel for the treatment of schistosomiasis during human pregnancy. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 96, 59 (2018).
- 142. Kokaliaris, C. *et al.* Effect of preventive chemotherapy with praziquantel on schistosomiasis among school-aged children in sub-Saharan Africa: a spatiotemporal modelling study. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **22**, 136–149 (2022).
- 143. Ehrenberg, J. P. *et al.* Strategies supporting the prevention and control of neglected tropical diseases during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty* vol. 9 (2020).
- 144. Toor, J. *et al.* Predicted impact of COVID-19 on neglected tropical disease programs and the opportunity for innovation. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **72**, 1463–1466 (2021).
- Salvador-Recatalà, V. & Greenberg, R. M. Calcium channels of schistosomes: unresolved questions and unexpected answers. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Membr. Transp. Signal.* 1, 85 (2012).
- 146. Greenberg, R. M. Ca2+ signalling, voltage-gated Ca2+ channels and praziquantel in

flatworm neuromusculature. Parasitology 131, S97-S108 (2005).

- 147. Doenhoff, M. J., Cioli, D. & Utzinger, J. Praziquantel: mechanisms of action, resistance and new derivatives for schistosomiasis. *Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis.* **21**, 659–667 (2008).
- 148. You, H., McManus, D. P. & Gobert, G. N. Current and prospective chemotherapy options for schistosomiasis. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1517/21678707.2015.998998* **3**, 195–205 (2015).
- 149. Clec'h, W. Le *et al.* Genetic analysis of praziquantel response in schistosome parasites implicates a transient receptor potential channel. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **13**, (2021).
- 150. Park, S. K. *et al.* Mechanism of praziquantel action at a parasitic flatworm ion channel. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **13**, eabj5832 (2021).
- 151. Reinhard-Rupp, J. & Klohe, K. Developing a comprehensive response for treatment of children under 6 years of age with schistosomiasis: research and development of a pediatric formulation of praziquantel. *Infect. Dis. Poverty* **6**, (2017).
- 152. Cupit, P. M. & Cunningham, C. What is the mechanism of action of praziquantel and how might resistance strike? *Future Medicinal Chemistry* vol. 7 701–705 (2015).
- 153. Winnick, S., Lucas, D. O., Hartman, A. L. & Toll, D. How do you improve compliance? *Pediatrics* **115**, e718–e724 (2005).
- 154. Meyer, T. *et al.* Taste, a new incentive to switch to (R)-praziquantel in schistosomiasis treatment. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **3**, e357 (2009).
- 155. Mutapi, F. Changing Policy and Practice in the Control of Pediatric Schistosomiasis. *Pediatrics* **135**, 536–544 (2015).
- 156. Stothard, J. R., Sousa-Figueiredo, J. C., Betson, M., Bustinduy, A. & Reinhard-Rupp, J. Schistosomiasis in African infants and preschool children: let them now be treated! *Trends Parasitol.* 29, 197 (2013).
- 157. N'Goran, E. *et al.* Challenges and Lessons From Conducting A Paediatric Clinical Trial in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of the Praziquantel Oral Dispersible Tablets Phase II Study in Côte d'Ivoire. *Adv. Parasitol.* **103**, 75–89 (2019).
- N'Goran, E. K. *et al.* Efficacy and Safety of New Orodispersible Tablet Formulations of Praziquantel (Racemate and L-Praziquantel) in Schistosoma mansoni-Infected Preschool-Age Children and Infants: A Randomized Dose-Finding Phase 2 Study. *Front. Trop. Dis.* 0, 31 (2021).
- 159. Webb, E. L. *et al.* The praziquantel in preschoolers (PIP) trial: study protocol for a phase II PK/PD-driven randomised controlled trial of praziquantel in children under 4 years of age. *Trials* **22**, (2021).
- 160. Pica-Mattoccia, L. & Cioli, D. Sex- and stage-related sensitivity of Schistosoma mansoni to in vivo and in vitro praziquantel treatment. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **34**, 527–533 (2004).
- Ross, A. G. P., Olveda, R. M. & Li, Y. An audacious goal: the elimination of schistosomiasis in our lifetime through mass drug administration. *Lancet (London, England)* 385, 2220–2221 (2015).
- 162. Crellen, T. *et al.* Reduced efficacy of praziquantel against Schistosoma mansoni is associated with multiple rounds of mass drug administration. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **63**, 1151–

1159 (2016).

- 163. Wang, W., Wang, L. & Liang, Y. S. Susceptibility or resistance of praziquantel in human schistosomiasis: a review. *Parasitol. Res.* **111**, 1871–1877 (2012).
- Ismail, M. *et al.* Characterization of isolates of Schistosoma mansoni from Egyptian villagers that tolerate high doses of praziquantel. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 55, 214–218 (1996).
- Fallon, P. G., Sturrock, R. F., Niang, A. C. & Doenhoff, M. J. diminished susceptibility to praziquantel in a Senegal isolate of Schistosoma mansoni. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 53, 61– 62 (1995).
- Couto, F. F. B. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni: A method for inducing resistance to praziquantel using infected Biomphalaria glabrata snails. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 106, 153–157 (2011).
- Ismail, M. M., Farghaly, A. M., Dyab, A. K., Afify, H. A. & el-Shafei, M. A. Resistance to praziquantel, effect of drug pressure and stability test. *J. Egypt. Soc. Parasitol.* 32, 589– 600 (2002).
- 168. Pica-Mattoccia, L. *et al.* Genetic analysis of decreased praziquantel sensitivity in a laboratory strain of Schistosoma mansoni. *Acta Trop.* **111**, 82–85 (2009).
- Kadji Fassi, J. B. *et al.* Protein undernutrition reduces the efficacy of praziquantel in a murine model of Schistosoma mansoni infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 16, e0010249 (2022).
- 170. Moreira-Filho, J. T. *et al.* Schistosomiasis Drug Discovery in the Era of Automation and Artificial Intelligence. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, (2021).
- 171. Perez del Villar, L., Burguillo, F. J., Lopez-Aban, J. & Muro, A. Systematic review and meta-analysis of artemisinin based therapies for the treatment and prevention of schistosomiasis. (2012).
- 172. Shu-Hua, X. Development of antischistosomal drugs in China, with particular consideration to praziquantel and the artemisinins. *Acta Trop.* **96**, 153–167 (2005).
- 173. Saeed, M. E. M., Krishna, S., Greten, H. J., Kremsner, P. G. & Efferth, T. Antischistosomal activity of artemisinin derivatives in vivo and in patients. *Pharmacol. Res.* 110, 216–226 (2016).
- 174. Li, H.-J. *et al.* Effects of artemether, artesunate and dihydroartemisinin administered orally at multiple doses or combination in treatment of mice infected with Schistosoma japonicum. *Parasitol. Res.* **109**, 515–519 (2011).
- 175. Zhai, Z., Zhang, Y., Liu, H., Feng, T. & Xiao, S. Effect of artemether on enzymes involved in carbohydrate metabolism of Schistosoma japonicum. *Zhongguo ji Sheng Chong xue yu ji Sheng Chong Bing za zhi= Chinese J. Parasitol. Parasit. Dis.* 18, 162– 164 (2000).
- 176. Lepore, R. *et al.* Identification of the Schistosoma mansoni molecular target for the antimalarial drug artemether. *J. Chem. Inf. Model.* **51**, 3005–3016 (2011).
- 177. Xiao, S. H. et al. Effect of artemether on glucose uptake and glycogen content in

Schistosoma japonicum. *Zhongguo yao li xue bao= Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* **18**, 363–367 (1997).

- 178. Sayed, A. A. *et al.* Identification of oxadiazoles as new drug leads for the control of schistosomiasis. *Nat. Med.* **14**, 407–412 (2008).
- 179. Li, H.-J. *et al.* In vivo activity of dihydroartemisinin against Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula in mice. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Heal.* **44**, 379–387 (2013).
- 180. Liu, R., Dong, H.-F., Guo, Y., Zhao, Q.-P. & Jiang, M.-S. Efficacy of praziquantel and artemisinin derivatives for the treatment and prevention of human schistosomiasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Parasit. Vectors* **4**, 1–17 (2011).
- 181. Xiao, S. Mefloquine, a new type of compound against schistosomes and other helminthes in experimental studies. *Parasitol. Res.* **112**, 3723–3740 (2013).
- Manneck, T., Keiser, J. & Mueller, J. Mefloquine interferes with glycolysis in schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni via inhibition of enolase. *Parasitology* 139, 497– 505 (2012).
- Keiser, J., Manneck, T. & Vargas, M. Interactions of mefloquine with praziquantel in the Schistosoma mansoni mouse model and in vitro. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 66, 1791– 1797 (2011).
- 184. Basra, A. *et al.* Efficacy of mefloquine intermittent preventive treatment in pregnancy against Schistosoma haematobium infection in Gabon: a nested randomized controlled assessor-blinded clinical trial. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **56**, e68–e75 (2013).
- 185. Sabra, A. N. A., Salem, M. B., William, S., Hammam, O. A. & El-Lakkany, N. M. Itraconazole, a cytochrome P450 inhibitor, enhanced the efficacy of praziquantel against Schistosoma mansoni infection and alleviated liver injury in mice. *Exp. Parasitol.* 239, (2022).
- 186. Giorgi, M. *et al.* Pharmacokinetics and microsomal oxidation of Praziquantel and its effects on the P450 system in three-month-old lambs infested by Fasciola hepatica. *J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther.* 24, 251–259 (2001).
- Nleya, L. *et al.* The effect of ketoconazole on praziquantel pharmacokinetics and the role of CYP3A4 in the formation of X-OH-praziquantel and not 4-OH-praziquantel. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **75**, 1077–1087 (2019).
- Ridtitid, W., Ratsamemonthon, K., Mahatthanatrakul, W. & Wongnawa, M. Pharmacokinetic interaction between ketoconazole and praziquantel in healthy volunteers. *J. Clin. Pharm. Ther.* 32, 585–593 (2007).
- 189. Zdesenko, G. & Mutapi, F. Drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics of praziquantel: A review of variable drug exposure during schistosomiasis treatment in human hosts and experimental models. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **14**, e0008649 (2020).
- 190. Berriman, M. *et al.* The genome of the blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni. *Nature* **460**, 352–358 (2009).
- 191. Young, N. D. *et al.* Whole-genome sequence of Schistosoma haematobium. *Nat. Genet.*44, 221–225 (2012).
- 192. Zhou, Y. *et al.* The Schistosoma japonicum genome reveals features of host-parasite interplay. *Nature* **460**, 345–351 (2009).
- 193. Escalante, A. A. & Pacheco, M. A. MALARIA MOLECULAR EPIDEMIOLOGY: AN EVOLUTIONARY GENETICS PERSPECTIVE. *Microbiol. Spectr.* **7**, (2019).
- 194. Badmos, A. O. *et al.* What sub-Saharan African countries can learn from malaria elimination in China. *Trop. Med. Health* **49**, 86 (2021).
- 195. Vennervald, B. J. & Dunne, D. W. Morbidity in schistosomiasis: an update. *Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis.* **17**, 439–447 (2004).
- 196. Knowles, S. C. L. The effect of helminth co-infection on malaria in mice: a meta-analysis. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **41**, 1041–1051 (2011).
- 197. Boef, A. G. C. *et al.* Parasitic infections and immune function: effect of helminth infections in a malaria endemic area. *Immunobiology* **218**, 706–711 (2013).
- 198. Salgame, P., Yap, G. S. & Gause, W. C. Effect of helminth-induced immunity on infections with microbial pathogens. *Nat. Immunol.* **14**, 1118–1126 (2013).
- 199. Briand, V., Watier, L., Le Hesran, J.-Y., Garcia, A. & Cot, M. Coinfection with Plasmodium falciparum and Schistosoma haematobium: protective effect of schistosomiasis on malaria in Senegalese children? *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **72**, 702–707 (2005).
- 200. Hürlimann, E. *et al.* The epidemiology of polyparasitism and implications for morbidity in two rural communities of Côte d'Ivoire. *Parasit. Vectors* **7**, 81 (2014).
- 201. Lemaitre, M. *et al.* Coinfection with Plasmodium falciparum and Schistosoma haematobium: Additional Evidence of the Protective Effect of Schistosomiasis on Malaria in Senegalese Children. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **90**, 329 (2014).
- 202. Sokhna, C. *et al.* Increase of malaria attacks among children presenting concomitant infection by Schistosoma mansoni in Senegal. *Malar. J.* **3**, 43 (2004).
- 203. Wilson, S. *et al.* Hepatosplenomegaly in Kenyan schoolchildren: exacerbation by concurrent chronic exposure to malaria and Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* 12, 1442–1449 (2007).
- 204. Midzi, N. *et al.* Consequences of polyparasitism on anaemia among primary school children in Zimbabwe. *Acta Trop.* **115**, 103–111 (2010).
- 205. Mduluza-Jokonya, T. L. *et al.* Association of Schistosoma haematobium infection morbidity and severity on co-infections in pre-school age children living in a rural endemic area in Zimbabwe. *BMC Public Health* **20**, (2020).
- 206. Hürlimann, E. *et al.* Antagonistic effects of Plasmodium-helminth co-infections on malaria pathology in different population groups in Côte d'Ivoire. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 13, (2019).
- 207. Caldas, I. R. *et al.* Human schistosomiasis mansoni: immune responses during acute and chronic phases of the infection. *Acta Trop.* **108**, 109–117 (2008).
- 208. Sanya, R. E. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni and HIV infection in a Ugandan population with high HIV and helminth prevalence. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* **20**, 1201 (2015).

- 209. Smith, C., Smith, H., Seaton, R. A. & Fox, R. Seroprevalence of schistosomiasis in African patients infected with HIV. *HIV Med.* **9**, 436–439 (2008).
- 210. Barsoum, R. S., Esmat, G. & El-Baz, T. Human Schistosomiasis: Clinical Perspective: Review. *J. Adv. Res.* **4**, 433 (2013).
- Jourdan, P. M., Holmen, S. D., Gundersen, S. G., Roald, B. & Kjetland, E. F. HIV target cells in Schistosoma haematobium-infected female genital mucosa. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 85, 1060 (2011).
- 212. Jourdan, P. M., Roald, B., Poggensee, G., Gundersen, S. G. & Kjetland, E. F. Increased vascularity in cervicovaginal mucosa with Schistosoma haematobium infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 5, e1170 (2011).
- 213. Mwinzi, P. N. M., Karanja, D. M. S., Colley, D. G., Orago, A. S. S. & Secor, W. E. Cellular immune responses of schistosomiasis patients are altered by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coinfection. *J. Infect. Dis.* **184**, 488–496 (2001).
- McElroy, M. D. *et al.* Coinfection with Schistosoma mansoni is associated with decreased HIV-specific cytolysis and increased IL-10 production. *J. Immunol.* 174, 5119–5123 (2005).
- 215. Secor, W. E. *et al.* Increased density of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coreceptors CCR5 and CXCR4 on the surfaces of CD4+ T cells and monocytes of patients with Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Infect. Immun.* **71**, 6668–6671 (2003).
- 216. Gallagher, M. *et al.* The effects of maternal helminth and malaria infections on mother-tochild HIV transmission. *Aids* **19**, 1849–1855 (2005).
- Muok, E. M. O. *et al.* Association between CD4+ T-lymphocyte counts and fecal excretion of Schistosoma mansoni eggs in patients coinfected with S. mansoni and human immunodeficiency virus before and after initiation of antiretroviral therapy. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 89, 42–45 (2013).
- 218. Karanja, D. M. S., Colley, D. G., Nahlen, B. L., Ouma, J. H. & Secor, W. E. Studies on schistosomiasis in western Kenya: I. Evidence for immune-facilitated excretion of schistosome eggs from patients with Schistosoma mansoni and human immunodeficiency virus coinfections. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 56, 515–521 (1997).
- Colombe, S. *et al.* HIV-1 viral loads are not elevated in individuals co-infected with Schistosoma spp. after adjustment for duration of HIV-1 infection. *Front. Immunol.* 9, 2005 (2018).
- 220. Masikini, P. *et al.* Schistosomiasis and HIV-1 viral load in HIV-infected outpatients with immunological failure in Tanzania: a case-control study. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **19**, (2019).
- 221. Bustinduy, A. *et al.* HIV and schistosomiasis co-infection in African children. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **14**, 640–649 (2014).
- 222. Patel, P. *et al.* Association of schistosomiasis and HIV infections: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* **102**, 544 (2021).
- 223. Koch, A. & Mizrahi, V. Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Trends Microbiol.* **26**, 555–556 (2018).

- 224. Cadmus, S. I. B. *et al.* The problem of resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* may be underestimated in Africa. *Int. J. Mycobacteriology* **7**, 148 (2018).
- 225. Range, N. *et al.* HIV and parasitic co-infections in tuberculosis patients: a cross-sectional study in Mwanza, Tanzania. *Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol.* **101**, 343–351 (2007).
- 226. Li, X. X. & Zhou, X. N. Co-infection of tuberculosis and parasitic diseases in humans: a systematic review. *Parasit. Vectors* **6**, 79 (2013).
- 227. Holtfreter, M. C., Moné, H., Müller-Stöver, I., Mouahid, G. & Richter, J. Schistosoma haematobium infections acquired in Corsica, France, August 2013. *Eurosurveillance* 19, 20821 (2014).
- 228. Theuring, S. *et al.* Screening for infectious diseases among unaccompanied minor refugees in Berlin, 2014–2015. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* **31**, 707–710 (2016).
- Richter, J., Equihua-Martinez, G., Müller, K. & Lindner, A. K. Correspondence (letter to the editor): Consider Urogenital Schistosomiasis and Tuberculosis. *Dtsch. Arztebl. Int.* 116, 191 (2019).
- Naber, K. G., Kulchavenya, E., Bichler, K. H. & Wagenlehner, F. M. E. [Urogenital tuberculosis and schistosomiasis (bilharzia) : Urological challenges in displaced persons]. Urologe. A 57, 1191–1199 (2018).
- 231. Gebreegziabiher, D., Desta, K., Desalegn, G., Howe, R. & Abebe, M. The Effect of Maternal Helminth Infection on Maternal and Neonatal Immune Function and Immunity to Tuberculosis. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- 232. McLaughlin, T. A. *et al.* CD4 T Cells in Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Schistosoma mansoni Co-infected Individuals Maintain Functional TH1 Responses. *Front. Immunol.* 11, 127 (2020).
- 233. Elias, D. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni infection reduces the protective efficacy of BCG vaccination against virulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Vaccine* **23**, 1326–1334 (2005).
- Elias, D., Akuffo, H., Thors, C., Pawlowski, A. & Britton, S. Low dose chronic Schistosoma mansoni infection increases susceptibility to Mycobacterium bovis BCG infection in mice. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 139, 398 (2005).
- 235. Wajja, A. *et al.* The effect of current Schistosoma mansoni infection on the immunogenicity of a candidate TB vaccine, MVA85A, in BCG-vaccinated adolescents: An open-label trial. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 11, (2017).
- 236. DiNardo, A. R. *et al.* Schistosomiasis Induces Persistent DNA Methylation and Tuberculosis-specific Immune Changes. *J. Immunol.* **201**, 124 (2018).
- 237. Jourdan, P. M., Lamberton, P. H. L., Fenwick, A. & Addiss, D. G. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. *Lancet (London, England)* **391**, 252–265 (2018).
- 238. Geiger, S. M. Immuno-epidemiology of Schistosoma mansoni infections in endemic populations co-infected with soil-transmitted helminths: Present knowledge, challenges, and the need for further studies. *Acta Trop.* **108**, 118–123 (2008).
- 239. Petney, T. N. & Andrews, R. H. Multiparasite communities in animals and humans: frequency, structure and pathogenic significance. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **28**, 377–393 (1998).

- 240. De Silva, N. R. *et al.* Soil-transmitted helminth infections: updating the global picture. *Trends Parasitol.* **19**, 547–551 (2003).
- 241. Utzinger, J., Bergquist, R., Shu-Hua, X., Singer, B. H. & Tanner, M. Sustainable schistosomiasis control—the way forward. *Lancet* **362**, 1932–1934 (2003).
- 242. Thapar, N. & Sanderson, I. R. Diarrhoea in children: an interface between developing and developed countries. *Lancet* **363**, 641–653 (2004).
- 243. Bethony, J. *et al.* Soil-transmitted helminth infections: ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm. *Lancet* **367**, 1521–1532 (2006).
- 244. Williams-Blangero, S. *et al.* Genetic analysis of susceptibility to infection with Ascaris lumbricoides. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **60**, 921–926 (1999).
- Bethony, J. *et al.* Additive host genetic factors influence fecal egg excretion rates during Schistosoma mansoni infection in a rural area in Brazil. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 67, 336– 343 (2002).
- 246. Raso, G. *et al.* An integrated approach for risk profiling and spatial prediction of Schistosoma mansoni–hookworm coinfection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 103, 6934–6939 (2006).
- 247. Chamone, M., Marques, C. A., Atuncar, G. S., Pereira, A. L. A. & Pereira, L. H. Are there interactions between schistosomes and intestinal nematodes? *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 84, 557–558 (1990).
- 248. Parraga, I. M. *et al.* Gender differences in growth of school-aged children with schistosomiasis and geohelminth infection. (1996).
- 249. Webster, M. *et al.* Factors affecting high and low human IgE responses to schistosome worm antigens in an area of Brazil endemic for Schistosoma mansoni and hookworm. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 57, 487–494 (1997).
- Corrêa-Oliveira, R. *et al.* Infection with Schistosoma mansoni correlates with altered immune responses to Ascaris lumbricoides and hookworm. *Acta Trop.* 83, 123–132 (2002).
- Ezeamama, A. E. *et al.* The Synergistic Effect of Concomitant Schistosomiasis, Hookworm, and Trichuris Infections on Children's Anemia Burden. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 2, 245 (2008).
- 252. Omar, H. H. Impact of chronic schistosomiasis and HBV/HCV co-infection on the liver: current perspectives. *Hepat. Med.* **11**, 131 (2019).
- 253. Alberts, C. J. *et al.* Worldwide prevalence of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus among patients with cirrhosis at country, region, and global levels: a systematic review. *Lancet Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **7**, 724–735 (2022).
- 254. Abruzzi, A., Friedx, B. & Alikhan, S. B. Coinfection of Schistosoma Species with Hepatitis B or Hepatitis C Viruses. *Adv. Parasitol.* **91**, 111–231 (2016).
- 255. Zhang, Y. *et al.* Prevalence and co-infection of schistosomiasis/hepatitis B among rural populations in endemic areas in Hubei, China. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **114**, 155 (2020).

- 256. Omar, H. H., Taha, S. A., Hassan, W. H. & Omar, H. H. Impact of schistosomiasis on increase incidence of occult hepatitis B in chronic hepatitis C patients in Egypt. J. Infect. Public Health 10, 761–765 (2017).
- El-Esnawy, N. A. & Al-Herrawy, A. Z. Seroprevalence of certain hepatitis viruses among Egyptian workers infected with schistosomiasis. *J. Egypt. Public Health Assoc.* 75, 357– 366 (2000).
- 258. Hyams, K. C., Mansour, M. M., Massoud, A. & Dunn, M. A. Parenteral antischistosomal therapy: a potential risk factor for hepatitis B infection. *J. Med. Virol.* **23**, 109–114 (1987).
- 259. Edris, A. *et al.* Seroprevalence and risk factors for hepatitis B and C virus infection in Damietta Governorate, Egypt. *East Mediterr Heal. J* **20**, 605–613 (2014).
- 260. Xaydalasouk, K., Strobel, M., Buisson, Y., Black, A. P. & Muller, C. P. Seroprevalence and risk factors of hepatitis B and C virus infections in female workers of Lao garment factories. *PLoS One* **13**, e0199919 (2018).
- 261. Tozun, N. *et al.* Seroprevalence of hepatitis B and C virus infections and risk factors in Turkey: a fieldwork TURHEP study. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* **21**, 1020–1026 (2015).
- 262. Strickland, G. T. Liver disease in Egypt: hepatitis C superseded schistosomiasis as a result of iatrogenic and biological factors. *Hepatology* **43**, 915–922 (2006).
- Huang, L. H. *et al.* The efficacy and safety of entecavir in patients with advanced schistosomiasis co-infected with hepatitis B virus. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 17, e606–e609 (2013).
- 264. Bassily, S. *et al.* Efficacy of hepatitis B vaccination in primary school children from a village endemic for Schistosoma mansoni. *J. Infect. Dis.* **166**, 265–268 (1992).
- 265. Gasim, G. I., Bella, A. & Adam, I. Schistosomiasis, hepatitis B and hepatitis C coinfection. *Virol. J.* **12**, (2015).
- 266. Derbala, M. F. *et al.* Treatment of hepatitis C virus genotype 4 with peginterferon alfa-2a: Impact of bilharziasis and fibrosis stage. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **12**, 5692 (2006).
- 267. Ross, A. G. P. et al. Schistosomiasis. N. Engl. J. Med. 346, 1212–1220 (2002).
- 268. Jones, M. K. *et al.* Correlative and dynamic imaging of the hatching biology of Schistosoma japonicum from eggs prepared by high pressure freezing. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 2, (2008).
- 269. De Souza, R. P. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni miracidia: revisiting motility and survival parameters for improved computational modelling. *Parasitology* **149**, 1078–1084 (2022).
- 270. Anderson, R., Mercer, J., Wilson, R., Parasitology, N. C.- & 1982, undefined. Transmission of Schistosoma mansoni from man to snail: experimental studies of miracidial survival and infectivity in relation to larval age, water temperature, host. *cambridge.org* 85, 339–360 (1982).
- 271. Fingerut, J. T., Zimmer, C. A. & Zimmer, R. K. Larval swimming overpowers turbulent mixing and facilitates transmission of a marine parasite. *Ecology* **84**, 2502–2515 (2003).
- 272. Lawson, J., Parasitology, R. W.- & 1980, undefined. The survival of the cercariae of Schistosoma mansoni in relation to water temperature and glycogen utilization.

cambridge.org (1980) doi:10.1017/S0031182000056079.

- 273. Haeberlein, S. & Haas, W. Chemical attractants of human skin for swimming Schistosoma mansoni cercariae. *Parasitol. Res.* **102**, 657–662 (2008).
- 274. Wilson, R. A. & Lawson, J. R. An examination of the skin phase of schistosome migration using a hamster cheek pouch preparation. *Parasitology* **80**, 257–266 (1980).
- 275. Wilson, R. A. The saga of schistosome migration and attrition. *Parasitology* **136**, 1581–1592 (2009).
- 276. Nation, C. S., Da'dara, A. A., Marchant, J. K. & Skelly, P. J. Schistosome migration in the definitive host. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* vol. 14 1–12 (2020).
- 277. van Oordt, B. E. P., Tielens, A. G. M. & van den Bergh, S. G. The energy metabolism of Schistosoma mansoni during its development in the hamster. *Parasitol. Res.* 75, 31–35 (1988).
- Hernandez, D. C., Lim, K. C., McKerrow, J. H. & Davies, S. J. Schistosoma mansoni: sex-specific modulation of parasite growth by host immune signals. *Exp. Parasitol.* 106, 59 (2004).
- 279. LoVerde, P. T., Andrade, L. F. & Oliveira, G. Signal Transduction Regulates Schistosome Reproductive Biology. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **12**, 422 (2009).
- 280. Chen, R. *et al.* A male-derived nonribosomal peptide pheromone controls female schistosome development. *Cell* **185**, 1506-1520.e17 (2022).
- 281. Schwartz, C. & Fallon, P. G. Schistosoma "Eggs-iting" the host: Granuloma formation and egg excretion. *Frontiers in Immunology* vol. 9 (2018).
- 282. Cheever, A. W., Macedonia, J. G., Mosimann, J. E. & Cheever, E. A. Kinetics of egg production and egg excretion by Schistosoma mansoni and S. japonicum in mice infected with a single pair of worms. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **50**, 281–295 (1994).
- 283. Zheng, B. *et al.* T Lymphocyte-Mediated Liver Immunopathology of Schistosomiasis. *Frontiers in Immunology* vol. 11 (2020).
- 284. Hiatt, R. A., Roberto Sotomayor, Z., Sanchez, G., Zambrana, M. & Knight, W. B. Factors in the pathogenesis of acute schistosomiasis mansoni. *J. Infect. Dis.* **139**, 659–666 (1979).
- Burke, M. L. *et al.* Temporal Expression of Chemokines Dictates the Hepatic Inflammatory Infiltrate in a Murine Model of Schistosomiasis. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 4, 598 (2010).
- 286. Everts, B. *et al.* Schistosome-derived omega-1 drives Th2 polarization by suppressing protein synthesis following internalization by the mannose receptor. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 1753 (2012).
- 287. Pearce, E. J. & MacDonald, A. S. The immunobiology of schistosomiasis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2**, 499–511 (2002).
- 288. Hoffmann, K. F., Cheever, A. W. & Wynn, T. A. IL-10 and the dangers of immune polarization: excessive type 1 and type 2 cytokine responses induce distinct forms of lethal immunopathology in murine schistosomiasis. *J. Immunol.* **164**, 6406–6416 (2000).
- 289. Nono, J. K. et al. Host regulation of liver fibroproliferative pathology during experimental

schistosomiasis via interleukin-4 receptor alpha. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 11, (2017).

- 290. Colley, D. G. & Secor, W. E. Immunology of human schistosomiasis. *Parasite Immunology* vol. 36 347–357 (2014).
- 291. Wynn, T. A. IL-13 effector functions. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21, 425–456 (2003).
- 292. Chiaramonte, M. G., Cheever, A. W., Malley, J. D., Donaldson, D. D. & Wynn, T. A. Studies of murine schistosomiasis reveal interleukin-13 blockade as a treatment for established and progressive liver fibrosis. *Hepatology* 34, 273–282 (2001).
- 293. Pesce, J. T. *et al.* Arginase-1–Expressing Macrophages Suppress Th2 Cytokine–Driven Inflammation and Fibrosis. *PLoS Pathog.* **5**, 1000371 (2009).
- 294. Lundy, S. K. & Lukacs, N. W. Chronic schistosome infection leads to modulation of granuloma formation and systemic immune suppression. *Front. Immunol.* **4**, (2013).
- 295. Boros, D. L. & Whitfield, J. R. Endogenous IL-10 regulates IFN-gamma and IL-5 cytokine production and the granulomatous response in Schistosomiasis mansoni-infected mice. *Immunology* **94**, 481 (1998).
- 296. Harris, A. R. C., Russell, R. J. & Charters, A. D. A review of schistosomiasis in immigrants in Western Australia, demonstrating the unusual longevity of Schistosoma mansoni. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **78**, 385–388 (1984).
- 297. Pearce, E. J. *et al.* Th2 response polarization during infection with the helminth parasite Schistosoma mansoni. *Immunol. Rev.* **201**, 117–126 (2004).
- 298. Abdel Aziz, N., Nono, J. K., Mpotje, T. & Brombacher, F. The Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell population requires IL-4Rα signaling to control inflammation during helminth infections. *PLoS Biol.* 16, (2018).
- 299. Acharya, S., Da'dara, A. A. & Skelly, P. J. Schistosome immunomodulators. *PLoS Pathog.* **17**, (2021).
- 300. Jenkins, S. J. & Mountford, A. P. Dendritic Cells Activated with Products Released by Schistosome Larvae Drive Th2-Type Immune Responses, Which Can Be Inhibited by Manipulation of CD40 Costimulation. *Infect. Immun.* **73**, 395 (2005).
- 301. Curwen, R. S., Ashton, P. D., Sundaralingam, S. & Wilson, R. A. Identification of novel proteases and immunomodulators in the secretions of schistosome cercariae that facilitate host entry. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **5**, 835–844 (2006).
- 302. De Oliveira Fraga, L. A., Torrero, M. N., Tocheva, A. S., Mitre, E. & Davies, S. J. Induction of Type 2 Responses by Schistosome Worms during Prepatent Infection. J. Infect. Dis. 201, 464 (2010).
- 303. Jenkins, S. J., Hewitson, J. P., Jenkins, G. R. & Mountford, A. P. Modulation of the host's immune response by schistosome larvae. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3024.2005.00789.x.
- 304. Rao, K. V. N., Chen, L., Gnanasekar, M. & Ramaswamy, K. Cloning and Characterization of a Calcium-binding, Histamine-releasing Protein from Schistosoma mansoni. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 31207 (2002).
- 305. Catto, B. A., Lewis, F. A. & Ottesen, E. A. Cercaria-induced histamine release: a factor in the pathogenesis of schistosome dermatitis? *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **29**, (1980).

- 306. Chen, L., Rao, K. V. N., He, Y. X. & Ramaswamy, K. Skin-stage Schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni Produce an Apoptosis-inducing Factor That Can Cause Apoptosis of T Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 34329 (2002).
- Bránnström, K., Sellin, M. E., Holmfeldt, P., Brattsand, M. & Gullberg, M. The Schistosoma mansoni Protein Sm16/SmSLP/SmSPO-1 Assembles into a Nine-Subunit Oligomer with Potential To Inhibit Toll-Like Receptor Signaling. *Infect. Immun.* 77, 1144 (2009).
- 308. Shielsid, J. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni immunomodulatory molecule Sm16/SPO-1/SmSLP is a member of the trematode-specific helminth defence molecules (HDMs). *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 14, 1–25 (2020).
- 309. Ramaswamy, K. *et al.* Secretion of an anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory factor by Schistosomulae of Schistosoma mansoni. *J. Inflamm.* **46**, 13–22 (1995).
- Hu, S., Wu, Z., Yang, L. & Fung, M. C. Molecular cloning and expression of a functional anti-inflammatory protein, Sj16, of Schistosoma japonicum. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **39**, 191–200 (2009).
- 311. Fusco, A. C., Salafsky, B. & Kevin, M. B. Schistosoma mansoni: eicosanoid production by cercariae. *Exp. Parasitol.* **59**, 44–50 (1985).
- Ramaswamy, K., Kumar, P. & He, Y.-X. A role for parasite-induced PGE2 in IL-10mediated host immunoregulation by skin stage schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni. *J. Immunol.* 165, 4567–4574 (2000).
- 313. Keating, J. H., Wilson, R. A. & Skelly, P. J. No overt cellular inflammation around intravascular schistosomes in vivo. *J. Parasitol.* **92**, 1365–1369 (2006).
- 314. Bours, M. J. L., Swennen, E. L. R., Di Virgilio, F., Cronstein, B. N. & Dagnelie, P. C. Adenosine 5'-triphosphate and adenosine as endogenous signaling molecules in immunity and inflammation. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **112**, 358–404 (2006).
- 315. Virgilio, F. Di, Sarti, A. C. & Coutinho-Silva, R. Purinergic signaling, DAMPs, and inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* **318**, C832–C835 (2020).
- 316. Da'dara, A. A., Bhardwaj, R., Ali, Y. B. M. & Skelly, P. J. Schistosome tegumental ectoapyrase (SmATPDase1) degrades exogenous pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic nucleotides. *PeerJ* **2**, (2014).
- 317. Bhardwaj, R. & Skelly, P. J. Purinergic signaling and immune modulation at the schistosome surface? *Trends Parasitol.* **25**, 256–260 (2009).
- 318. Nation, C. S., Da'Dara, A. A. & Skelly, P. J. The essential schistosome tegumental ectoenzyme SmNPP5 can block NAD-induced T cell apoptosis. *Virulence* **11**, 568 (2020).
- 319. Wang, Q., Da'dara, A. A. & Skelly, P. J. The human blood parasite Schistosoma mansoni expresses extracellular tegumental calpains that cleave the blood clotting protein fibronectin. *Sci. Rep.* **7**, (2017).
- 320. Wang, Q., Da'Dara, A. A. & Skelly, P. J. The blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni cleaves the coagulation protein high molecular weight kininogen (HK) but does not generate the vasodilator bradykinin. *Parasit. Vectors* **11**, (2018).

- Deng, J., Gold, D., LoVerde, P. T. & Fishelson, Z. Inhibition of the Complement Membrane Attack Complex by Schistosoma mansoni Paramyosin. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 6402 (2003).
- 322. Inal, J. M. & Sim, R. B. A Schistosoma protein, Sh-TOR, is a novel inhibitor of complement which binds human C2. *FEBS Lett.* **470**, 131–134 (2000).
- 323. Donnelly, S. *et al.* Helminth Cysteine Proteases Inhibit TRIF-dependent Activation of Macrophages via Degradation of TLR3. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 3383 (2010).
- 324. Schramm, G. *et al.* Molecular characterization of an interleukin-4-inducing factor from Schistosoma mansoni eggs. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 18384–18392 (2003).
- 325. Schramm, G. *et al.* IPSE/alpha-1: a major immunogenic component secreted from Schistosoma mansoni eggs. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **147**, 9–19 (2006).
- 326. Knuhr, K. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni Egg-Released IPSE/alpha-1 Dampens Inflammatory Cytokine Responses via Basophil Interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13. *Front. Immunol.* 9, 2293 (2018).
- Pennington, L. F. *et al.* H-IPSE Is a Pathogen-Secreted Host Nucleus-Infiltrating Protein (Infiltrin) Expressed Exclusively by the Schistosoma haematobium Egg Stage. *Infect. Immun.* 85, (2017).
- 328. Smith, P. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni secretes a chemokine binding protein with antiinflammatory activity. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 1319 (2005).
- 329. Haeberlein, S. *et al.* Schistosome egg antigens, including the glycoprotein IPSE/alpha-1, trigger the development of regulatory B cells. *PLoS Pathog.* **13**, (2017).
- 330. Everts, B. *et al.* Omega-1, a glycoprotein secreted by Schistosoma mansoni eggs, drives Th2 responses. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 1673 (2009).
- 331. Dunne, D. W., Jones, F. M. & Doenhoff, M. J. The purification, characterization, serological activity and hepatotoxic properties of two cationic glycoproteins (alpha 1 and omega 1) from Schistosoma mansoni eggs. *Parasitology* **103 Pt 2**, 225–236 (1991).
- 332. Ouma, J. H., Butterworth, A. E. & Sturrock, R. F. On the use of age-intensity data to detect immunity to parasitic infections, with special reference to Schistosoma mansoni in Kenya. *Parasitology* **105** (**Pt 2**), 219–227 (1992).
- 333. Kabatereine, N. B. *et al.* Adult resistance to schistosomiasis mansoni: age-dependence of reinfection remains constant in communities with diverse exposure patterns. *Parasitology* 118 (Pt 1), 101–105 (1999).
- 334. Mitchell, K. M., Mutapi, F., Savill, N. J. & Woolhouse, M. E. J. Explaining Observed Infection and Antibody Age-Profiles in Populations with Urogenital Schistosomiasis. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* **7**, 1002237 (2011).
- Jiz, M. *et al.* Immunoglobulin E (IgE) Responses to Paramyosin Predict Resistance to Reinfection with Schistosoma japonicum and Are Attenuated by IgG4. *Infect. Immun.* 77, 2051 (2009).
- 336. Dunne, D. W. *et al.* Immunity after treatment of human schistosomiasis: association between IgE antibodies to adult worm antigens and resistance to reinfection. *Eur. J.*

Immunol. 22, 1483–1494 (1992).

- 337. Hagan, P., Blumenthal, U. J., Dunn, D., Simpson, A. J. G. & Wilkins, H. A. Human IgE, IgG4 and resistance to reinfection with Schistosoma haematobium. *Nature* **349**, 243–245 (1991).
- Dessein, A. J. *et al.* Resistance to Schistosoma mansoni in humans: influence of the IgE/IgG4 balance and IgG2 in immunity to reinfection after chemotherapy. *J. Infect. Dis.* 168, 1000–1008 (1993).
- 339. Walter, K. *et al.* Increased human IgE induced by killing Schistosoma mansoni in vivo is associated with pretreatment Th2 cytokine responsiveness to worm antigens. *J. Immunol.* 177, 5490–5498 (2006).
- 340. Reimert, C. M. *et al.* Eosinophil Activity in Schistosoma mansoni Infections In Vivo and In Vitro in Relation to Plasma Cytokine Profile Pre- and Posttreatment with Praziquantel. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* **13**, 584 (2006).
- 341. Grogan, J. L. *et al.* Antischistosome IgG4 and IgE responses are affected differentially by chemotherapy in children versus adults. *J. Infect. Dis.* **173**, 1242–1247 (1996).
- Fitzsimmons, C. M. *et al.* Progressive Cross-Reactivity in IgE Responses: an Explanation for the Slow Development of Human Immunity to Schistosomiasis? *Infect. Immun.* 80, 4264 (2012).
- 343. Karanja, D. M. S. *et al.* Resistance to reinfection with Schistosoma mansoni in occupationally exposed adults and effect of HIV-1 co-infection on susceptibility to schistosomiasis: a longitudinal study. *Lancet (London, England)* **360**, 592–596 (2002).
- 344. Fitzsimmons, C. M. *et al.* The Schistosoma mansoni tegumental-allergen-like (TAL) protein family: influence of developmental expression on human IgE responses. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **6**, (2012).
- 345. Fairfax, K., Nascimento, M., Huang, S. C. C., Everts, B. & Pearce, E. J. Th2 responses in schistosomiasis. *Semin. Immunopathol. 2012 346* **34**, 863–871 (2012).
- 346. Smithers, S. R. & Terry, R. J. Resistance to experimental infection with Schistosoma mansoni in rhesus monkeys induced by the transfer of adult worms. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 61, 517–533 (1967).
- 347. Dissous, C. & Capron, A. Schistosoma mansoni: antigenic community between schistosomula surface and adult worm incubation products as a support for concomitant immunity. *FEBS Lett.* **162**, 355–359 (1983).
- 348. Dean, D. A. Schistosoma and related genera: acquired resistance in mice. *Exp. Parasitol.* 55, 1–104 (1983).
- 349. Hagan, P. & Wilkins, H. A. Concomitant immunity in schistosomiasis. *Parasitol. Today* 9, 3–6 (1993).
- Buck, J. C., De Leo, G. A. & Sokolow, S. H. Concomitant Immunity and Worm Senescence May Drive Schistosomiasis Epidemiological Patterns: An Eco-Evolutionary Perspective. *Front. Immunol.* 11, 160 (2020).
- 351. Brown, S. P. & Grenfell, B. T. An unlikely partnership: parasites, concomitant immunity

and host defence. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 268, 2543 (2001).

- 352. Correa-Oliveira, R. *et al.* The human immune response to defined immunogens of Schistosoma mansoni: elevated antibody levels to paramyosin in stool-negative individuals from two endemic areas in Brazil. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **83**, 798–804 (1989).
- 353. Viana, I. R. C. *et al.* Interferon-γ production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from residents of an area endemic for schistosoma mansoni. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 88, 466–470 (1994).
- 354. Oliveira, R. R. *et al.* Factors Associated with Resistance to Schistosoma mansoni Infection in an Endemic Area of Bahia, Brazil. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **86**, 296 (2012).
- 355. Corrêa-Oliveira, R., Rodrigues Caldas, I. & Gazzinelli, G. Natural versus Drug-induced Resistance in Schistosoma mansoni Infection. *Parasitol. Today* **16**, 397–399 (2000).
- 356. VIANA, I. R. C. *et al.* Comparison of antibody isotype responses to Schistosoma mansoni antigens by infected and putative resistant individuals living in an endemic area. *Parasite Immunol.* **17**, 297–304 (1995).
- 357. Tran, M. H. *et al.* Tetraspanins on the surface of Schistosoma mansoni are protective antigens against schistosomiasis. *Nat. Med.* **12**, 835–840 (2006).
- 358. Cardoso, F. C., Pacífico, R. N. A., Mortara, R. A. & Oliveira, S. C. Human antibody responses of patients living in endemic areas for schistosomiasis to the tegumental protein Sm29 identified through genomic studies. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **144**, 382 (2006).
- 359. Tebeje, B. M., Harvie, M., You, H., Loukas, A. & McManus, D. P. Schistosomiasis vaccines: where do we stand? *Parasites and Vectors* vol. 9 1–15 (2016).
- 360. Cohen, J. Unfilled Vials. Science 351, 16–18 (2016).
- 361. Ricciardi, A. & Ndao, M. Still hope for schistosomiasis vaccine. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics* vol. 11 2504–2508 (2015).
- 362. Driciru, E. *et al.* Immunological Considerations for Schistosoma Vaccine Development: Transitioning to Endemic Settings. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 635985 (2021).
- 363. El Ridi, R. & Tallima, H. Why the radiation-attenuated cercarial immunization studies failed to guide the road for an effective schistosomiasis vaccine: A review. *J. Adv. Res.* 6, 255 (2015).
- 364. Torres-Rivera, A. & Landa, A. Glutathione transferases from parasites: a biochemical view. *Acta Trop.* **105**, 99–112 (2008).
- 365. Liu, J. L., Fontaine, J., Capron, A. & Grzych, J. M. Ultrastructural localization of Sm28 GST protective antigen in Schistosoma mansoni adult worms. *Parasitology* **113** (**Pt 4**), 377–391 (1996).
- 366. Remoué, F. *et al.* Functional Specific Binding of Testosterone to Schistosoma haematobium 28-Kilodalton Glutathione S-Transferase. *Infect. Immun.* **70**, 601 (2002).
- 367. Riveau, G. *et al.* Safety and efficacy of the rSh28GST urinary schistosomiasis vaccine: A phase 3 randomized, controlled trial in Senegalese children. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 12, (2018).

- 368. Riveau, G. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of rSh28GST antigen in humans: phase 1 randomized clinical study of a vaccine candidate against urinary schistosomiasis. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **6**, (2012).
- Anisuzzaman & Tsuji, N. Schistosomiasis and hookworm infection in humans: Disease burden, pathobiology and anthelmintic vaccines. *Parasitology International* vol. 75 102051 (2020).
- 370. Tendler, M. & Simpson, A. J. G. The biotechnology-value chain: development of Sm14 as a schistosomiasis vaccine. *Acta Trop.* **108**, 263–266 (2008).
- 371. Brito, C. F. A. *et al.* Sm14 gene expression in different stages of the Schistosoma mansoni life cycle and immunolocalization of the Sm14 protein within the adult worm. *Brazilian J. Med. Biol. Res. = Rev. Bras. Pesqui. medicas e Biol.* 35, 377–381 (2002).
- 372. Tendler, M. *et al.* A Schistosoma mansoni fatty acid-binding protein, Sm14, is the potential basis of a dual-purpose anti-helminth vaccine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93, 269 (1996).
- 373. Almeida, M. S. *et al.* Vaccination against Fasciola hepatica infection using a Schistosoma mansoni defined recombinant antigen, Sm14. *Parasite Immunol.* **25**, 135–137 (2003).
- 374. Fonseca, C. T. *et al.* Human T cell epitope mapping of the Schistosoma mansoni 14-kDa fatty acid-binding protein using cells from patients living in areas endemic for schistosomiasis. *Microbes Infect.* **7**, 204–212 (2005).
- 375. Garcia, T. C. M. *et al.* Peptides containing T cell epitopes, derived from Sm14, but not from paramyosin, induce a Th1 type of immune response, reduction in liver pathology and partial protection against Schistosoma mansoni infection in mice. *Acta Trop.* 106, 162–167 (2008).
- Santini-Oliveira, M. *et al.* Schistosomiasis vaccine candidate Sm14/GLA-SE: Phase 1 safety and immunogenicity clinical trial in healthy, male adults. *Vaccine* 34, 586–594 (2016).
- 377. Braschi, S., Curwen, R. S., Ashton, P. D., Verjovski-Almeida, S. & Wilson, A. The tegument surface membranes of the human blood parasite Schistosoma mansoni: a proteomic analysis after differential extraction. *Proteomics* **6**, 1471–1482 (2006).
- 378. Charrin, S., Jouannet, S., Boucheix, C. & Rubinstein, E. Tetraspanins at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 127, 3641–3648 (2014).
- 379. Keitel, W. A. *et al.* A phase 1 study of the safety, reactogenicity, and immunogenicity of a Schistosoma mansoni vaccine with or without glucopyranosyl lipid A aqueous formulation (GLA-AF) in healthy adults from a non-endemic area. *Vaccine* **37**, 6500 (2019).
- 380. Siddiqui, A. A. et al. Characterization of Ca2+-dependent neutral protease (calpain) from human blood flukes, Schistosoma mansoni. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (1993).
- 381. Molehin, A. J. *et al.* Cross species prophylactic efficacy of Sm-p80-based vaccine and intracellular localization of Sm-p80/Sm-p80 ortholog proteins during development in Schistosoma mansoni, Schistosoma japonicum and Schistosoma haematobium HHS

Public Access. Parasitol Res 116, 3175–3188 (2017).

- 382. Zhang, W. *et al.* Fifteen Years of Sm-p80-Based Vaccine Trials in Nonhuman Primates: Antibodies From Vaccinated Baboons Confer Protection in vivo and in vitro From Schistosoma mansoni and Identification of Putative Correlative Markers of Protection. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 1246 (2020).
- 383. Zhang, W. *et al.* Sm-p80-based schistosomiasis vaccine: Double-blind preclinical trial in baboons demonstrates comprehensive prophylactic and parasite transmission-blocking efficacy. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1425**, 38–51 (2018).
- 384. Siddiqui, A. A. & Siddiqui, S. Z. Sm-p80-based schistosomiasis vaccine: Preparation for human clinical trials. *Trends Parasitol.* (2017) doi:10.1016/j.pt.2016.10.010.
- 385. Panzner, U. *et al.* Recent advances and methodological considerations on vaccine candidates for human schistosomiasis. (2021).
- Chura-Chambi, R. M. *et al.* Refolding of the recombinant protein Sm29, a step toward the production of the vaccine candidate against schistosomiasis. *J. Biotechnol.* 168, 511–519 (2013).
- 387. Cardoso, F. C. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni Tegument Protein Sm29 Is Able to Induce a Th1-Type of Immune Response and Protection against Parasite Infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 2, (2008).
- 388. Alves, C. C. *et al.* Sm29, but Not Sm22.6 Retains its Ability to Induce a Protective Immune Response in Mice Previously Exposed to a Schistosoma mansoni Infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9, (2015).
- 389. Alves, C. C. *et al.* A strong humoral immune response induced by a vaccine formulation containing rSm29 adsorbed to alum is associated with protection against schistosoma mansoni reinfection in mice. *Front. Immunol.* **9**, 2488 (2018).
- 390. Mossallam, S. F. *et al.* Fusion protein comprised of the two schistosomal antigens, Sm14 and Sm29, provides significant protection against Schistosoma mansoni in murine infection model. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **15**, (2015).
- Eyayu, T., Zeleke, A. J. & Worku, L. Current status and future prospects of protein vaccine candidates against Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Parasite Epidemiol. Control* 11, e00176 (2020).
- 392. Fonseca, C. T. *et al.* Identification of paramyosin T cell epitopes associated with human resistance to Schistosoma mansoni reinfection. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **142**, 539 (2005).
- 393. Diab, T. & Aly, I. PP-188 efficacy of Schistosoma mansoni Paramyosin (Sm97) and fatty acid binding protein (Sm-FABP) as a candidate vaccine against schistosomiasis mansoni. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* S97 (2011).
- 394. Ranasinghe, S. L., Fischer, K., Gobert, G. N. & McManus, D. P. Functional expression of a novel Kunitz type protease inhibitor from the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasit. Vectors* 8, (2015).
- 395. Ranasinghe, S. L., Duke, M., Harvie, M. & McManus, D. P. Kunitz-type protease inhibitor as a vaccine candidate against schistosomiasis mansoni. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* **66**,

26-32 (2018).

- 396. Sajid, M. *et al.* Functional expression and characterization of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B and its trans-activation by an endogenous asparaginyl endopeptidase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 131, 65–75 (2003).
- 397. Chacón, N. *et al.* Immunogenicity of polymerizable synthetic peptides derived from a vaccine candidate against schistosomiasis: the asparaginyl endopeptidase (Sm32). *Immunol. Lett.* 88, 199–210 (2003).
- 398. Chlichlia, K., Bahgat, M., Ruppel, A. & Schirrmacher, V. DNA vaccination with asparaginyl endopeptidase (Sm32) from the parasite Schistosoma mansoni: anti-fecundity effect induced in mice. *Vaccine* **20**, 439–447 (2001).
- 399. Skelly, P. J. & Shoemaker, C. B. Schistosoma mansoni proteases Sm31 (cathepsin B) and Sm32 (legumain) are expressed in the cecum and protonephridia of cercariae. *J. Parasitol.* 87, 1218–1221 (2001).
- 400. El Ridi, R. *et al.* Cysteine peptidases as schistosomiasis vaccines with inbuilt adjuvanticity. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- 401. Ricciardi, A., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Evaluation of the immune response and protective efficacy of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B in mice using CpG dinucleotides as adjuvant. *Vaccine* **33**, 346–353 (2015).
- 402. Ricciardi, A., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. A vaccine consisting of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B formulated in Montanide ISA 720 VG induces high level protection against murine schistosomiasis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **16**, (2016).
- 403. Perera, D. J. *et al.* Adjuvanted Schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B With Sulfated Lactosyl Archaeol Archaeosomes or AddaVaxTM Provides Protection in a Pre-Clinical Schistosomiasis Model. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 2990 (2020).
- 404. Perera, D. J. *et al.* A low dose adenovirus vectored vaccine expressing Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B protects from intestinal schistosomiasis in mice. *eBioMedicine* **80**, 104036 (2022).
- 405. McManus, D. P. & Loukas, A. Current status of vaccines for schistosomiasis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* vol. 21 225–242 (2008).
- 406. Wu, H., Jiz, M. A., Olveda, R., Jarilla, B. & Kurtis, J. D. Development of Paramyosin as a Vaccine Candidate for Schistosomiasis. *Front. Immunol.* **6**, (2015).
- 407. You, H. & McManus, D. P. Vaccines and diagnostics for zoonotic schistosomiasis japonica. *Parasitology* **142**, 271–289 (2015).
- 408. Koopman, J. P. R., Driciru, E. & Roestenberg, M. Controlled human infection models to evaluate schistosomiasis and hookworm vaccines: where are we now? *https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2021.1951244* 20, 1369–1371 (2021).
- 409. Roestenberg, M., Hoogerwerf, M. A., Ferreira, D. M., Mordmüller, B. & Yazdanbakhsh, M. Experimental infection of human volunteers. *Lancet. Infect. Dis.* 18, e312–e322 (2018).
- 410. Jamrozik, E. & Selgelid, M. J. Human infection challenge studies in endemic settings

and/or low-income and middle-income countries: key points of ethical consensus and controversy. J. Med. Ethics 46, 601 (2020).

- 411. Langenberg, M. C. C. *et al.* A controlled human Schistosoma mansoni infection model to advance novel drugs, vaccines and diagnostics. *Nat. Med.* 2020 263 **26**, 326–332 (2020).
- 412. Janse, J. J. *et al.* Establishing the Production of Male Schistosoma mansoni Cercariae for a Controlled Human Infection Model. *J. Infect. Dis.* **218**, 1142–1146 (2018).
- 413. Quack, T., Doenhoff, M., Kunz, W. & Grevelding, C. G. Schistosoma mansoni: the varying occurrence of repetitive elements in different strains shows sex-specific polymorphisms. *Exp. Parasitol.* **89**, 222–227 (1998).
- 414. Elliott, A. M. *et al.* Ethical and scientific considerations on the establishment of a controlled human infection model for schistosomiasis in Uganda: report of a stakeholders' meeting held in Entebbe, Uganda. *AAS Open Res.* **1**, 2 (2018).
- 415. Levine, M. M. *et al.* Duration of efficacy of Ty21a, attenuated Salmonella typhi live oral vaccine. *Vaccine* **17 Suppl 2**, (1999).
- 416. Pasetti, M. F., Salerno-Gonçalves, R. & Sztein, M. B. Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi Live Vector Vaccines Delivered Intranasally Elicit Regional and Systemic Specific CD8+ Major Histocompatibility Class I-Restricted Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 4009 (2002).
- 417. Fraillery, D. *et al.* Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi Ty21a Expressing Human Papillomavirus Type 16 L1 as a Potential Live Vaccine against Cervical Cancer and Typhoid Fever. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* **14**, 1285 (2007).
- 418. Metzger, W. G. *et al.* Impact of vector-priming on the immunogenicity of a live recombinant Salmonella enterica serovar typhi Ty21a vaccine expressing urease A and B from Helicobacter pylori in human volunteers. *Vaccine* **22**, 2273–2277 (2004).
- 419. Chin'Ombe, N., Bourn, W. R., Williamson, A. L. & Shephard, E. G. Oral vaccination with a recombinant Salmonella vaccine vector provokes systemic HIV-1 subtype C Gag-specific CD4+ Th1 and Th2 cell immune responses in mice. *Virol. J.* **6**, 87 (2009).
- 420. Roland, K. L. & Brenneman, K. E. Salmonella as a vaccine delivery vehicle. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* **12**, 1033 (2013).
- 421. de Jong, H. K., Parry, C. M., van der Poll, T. & Wiersinga, W. J. Host–Pathogen Interaction in Invasive Salmonellosis. *PLoS Pathog.* **8**, (2012).
- 422. FARMER III, J. J. Enterobacteriaceae: introduction and identification. *Man. Clin. Microbiol.* (2003).
- 423. Rivera-Chávez, F. & Bäumler, A. J. The Pyromaniac Inside You: Salmonella Metabolism in the Host Gut. (2015) doi:10.1146/annurev-micro-091014-104108.
- 424. Chin'ombe, N. Recombinant Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium as a vaccine vector for HIV-1 Gag. *Viruses* vol. 5 2062–2078 (2013).
- 425. Jones, B. D., Ghori, N. & Falkow, S. Salmonella typhimurium initiates murine infection by penetrating and destroying the specialized epithelial M cells of the Peyer's patches. *J. Exp. Med.* **180**, 15 (1994).

- 426. Sabbagh, S. C., Forest, C. G., Lepage, C., Leclerc, J. M. & Daigle, F. So similar, yet so different: uncovering distinctive features in the genomes of Salmonella enterica serovars Typhimurium and Typhi. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **305**, 1–13 (2010).
- 427. Hensel, M. *et al.* Genes encoding putative effector proteins of the type III secretion system of Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 are required for bacterial virulence and proliferation in macrophages. *Mol. Microbiol.* **30**, 163–174 (1998).
- 428. Forest, C. G., Ferraro, E., Sabbagh, S. C. & Daigle, F. Intracellular survival of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi in human macrophages is independent of Salmonella pathogenicity island (SPI)-2. *Microbiology* **156**, 3689–3698 (2010).
- 429. Knodler, L. A. *et al.* Dissemination of invasive Salmonella via bacterial-induced extrusion of mucosal epithelia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**, 17733–17738 (2010).
- 430. Ibarra, J. A. & Steele-Mortimer, O. Salmonella–the ultimate insider. Salmonella virulence factors that modulate intracellular survival. *Cell. Microbiol.* **11**, 1579–1586 (2009).
- 431. Wilson, R. P. *et al.* The Vi-capsule prevents Toll-like receptor 4 recognition of Salmonella. *Cell. Microbiol.* **10**, 876–890 (2008).
- 432. Zeng, H. *et al.* Flagellin is the major proinflammatory determinant of enteropathogenic Salmonella. *J. Immunol.* **171**, 3668–3674 (2003).
- 433. Mastroeni, P. *et al.* Interleukin 18 Contributes to Host Resistance and Gamma Interferon Production in Mice Infected with Virulent Salmonella typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 478 (1999).
- 434. Monack, D. M., Bouley, D. M. & Falkow, S. Salmonella typhimurium Persists within Macrophages in the Mesenteric Lymph Nodes of Chronically Infected Nramp1+/+ Mice and Can Be Reactivated by IFNγ Neutralization. J. Exp. Med. 199, 231 (2004).
- 435. Miao, E. A. *et al.* Caspase-1-induced pyroptosis is an innate immune effector mechanism against intracellular bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* **11**, 1136 (2010).
- 436. Lalmanach, A. C. & Lantier, F. Host cytokine response and resistance to Salmonella infection. *Microbes Infect.* **1**, 719–726 (1999).
- 437. Villarreal-Ramos, B. *et al.* Immune responses in calves immunised orally or subcutaneously with a live Salmonella typhimurium aro vaccine. *Vaccine* 16, 45–54 (1998).
- Hess, J., Ladel, C., Miko, D. & Kaufmann, S. H. Salmonella typhimurium aroA-infection in gene-targeted immunodeficient mice: major role of CD4+ TCR-alpha beta cells and IFN-gamma in bacterial clearance independent of intracellular location. *J. Immunol.* 156, 3321–3326 (1996).
- 439. Bergman, M. A. *et al.* CD4+-T-Cell Responses Generated during Murine Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium Infection Are Directed towards Multiple Epitopes within the Natural Antigen FliC. *Infect. Immun.* **73**, 7226 (2005).
- 440. Bao, S., Beagley, K. W., France, M. P., Shen, J. & Husband, A. J. Interferon-γ plays a critical role in intestinal immunity against Salmonella typhimurium infection. *Immunology* 99, 464 (2000).

- 441. Lundin, B. S., Johansson, C. & Svennerholm, A. M. Oral Immunization with a Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi Vaccine Induces Specific Circulating Mucosa-Homing CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells in Humans. *Infect. Immun.* **70**, 5622 (2002).
- 442. Salerno-Goncalves, R., Pasetti, M. F. & Sztein, M. B. Characterization of CD8(+) effector T cell responses in volunteers immunized with Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi strain Ty21a typhoid vaccine. J. Immunol. 169, 2196–2203 (2002).
- 443. Lee, S. J., Dunmire, S. & McSorley, S. J. MHC class-I-restricted CD8 T cells play a protective role during primary Salmonella infection. *Immunol. Lett.* **148**, 138 (2012).
- 444. Yrlid, U. & Wick, M. J. Salmonella-Induced Apoptosis of Infected Macrophages Results in Presentation of a Bacteria-Encoded Antigen after Uptake by Bystander Dendritic Cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **191**, 613 (2000).
- 445. Sundquist, M., Rydström, A. & Wick, M. J. Immunity to Salmonella from a dendritic point of view. *Cell. Microbiol.* **6**, 1–11 (2004).
- 446. Rudolph, M. E. *et al.* Diversity of Salmonella Typhi-responsive CD4 and CD8 T cellsbefore and after Ty21a typhoid vaccination in children and adults. *Int. Immunol.* 31, 315 (2019).
- 447. Mittrücker, H.-W., Raupach, B., Köhler, A. & Kaufmann, S. H. E. Cutting edge: role of B lymphocytes in protective immunity against Salmonella typhimurium infection. *J. Immunol.* 164, 1648–1652 (2000).
- 448. Mastroeni, P., Simmons, C., Fowler, R., Hormaeche, C. E. & Dougan, G. Igh-6-/- (B-Cell-Deficient) Mice Fail To Mount Solid Acquired Resistance to Oral Challenge with Virulent Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium and Show Impaired Th1 T-Cell Responses to Salmonella Antigens. *Infect. Immun.* 68, 46 (2000).
- Hochadel, J. F. & Keller, K. F. Protective effects of passively transferred immune T- or B-lymphocytes in mice infected with Salmonella typhimurium. *J. Infect. Dis.* 135, 813–823 (1977).
- 450. Secundino, I. *et al.* Salmonella porins induce a sustained, lifelong specific bactericidal antibody memory response. *Immunology* **117**, 59 (2006).
- 451. Agace, W. Generation of gut-homing T cells and their localization to the small intestinal mucosa. *Immunol. Lett.* **128**, 21–23 (2010).
- 452. Kaufman, D. R. *et al.* Trafficking of Antigen-Specific CD8+ T-Lymphocytes to Mucosal Surfaces Following Intramuscular Vaccination. *J. Immunol.* **181**, 4188 (2008).
- 453. Xin, W., Li, Y., Mo, H., Roland, K. L. & Curtiss, R. PspA family fusion proteins delivered by attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium extend and enhance protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect. Immun.* **77**, 4518–4528 (2009).
- 454. Xu, C. *et al.* Live attenuated Salmonella typhimurium vaccines delivering SaEsxA and SaEsxB via type III secretion system confer protection against Staphylococcus aureus infection. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **18**, (2018).
- 455. Winter, K., Xing, L., Kassardjian, A. & Ward, B. J. Vaccination against clostridium difficile by use of an attenuated salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium vector (YS1646)

protects mice from lethal challenge. Infect. Immun. 87, (2019).

- 456. Zhi, Y. *et al.* Salmonella Vaccine Vector System for Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus and Evaluation of Its Efficacy with Virus-Like Particles. *Vaccines* **9**, 1–17 (2021).
- 457. Chin'ombe, N., Lebeko, M. & Kgatle, M. Overexpression of recombinant HIV-1 Subtype C Tat and Nef in a Salmonella vaccine vector. *Pan Afr. Med. J.* **16**, (2013).
- 458. Pei, Z. *et al.* Oral Delivery of a Novel Attenuated Salmonella Vaccine Expressing Influenza A Virus Proteins Protects Mice against H5N1 and H1N1 Viral Infection. *PLoS One* 10, (2015).
- 459. Hajam, I. A. & Lee, J. H. An Influenza HA and M2e Based Vaccine Delivered by a Novel Attenuated Salmonella Mutant Protects Mice against Homologous H1N1 Infection. *Front. Microbiol.* 8, (2017).
- 460. Saljoughian, N., Taheri, T. & Rafati, S. Live vaccination tactics: possible approaches for controlling visceral leishmaniasis. *Front. Immunol.* **5**, (2014).
- 461. Schroeder, J., Brown, N., Kaye, P. & Aebischer, T. Single Dose Novel Salmonella Vaccine Enhances Resistance against Visceralizing L. major and L. donovani Infection in Susceptible BALB/c Mice. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 5, (2011).
- 462. Yang, D. M. *et al.* Oral Salmonella typhimurium (AroA-) vaccine expressing a major leishmanial surface protein (gp63) preferentially induces T helper 1 cells and protective immunity against leishmaniasis. *J. Immunol.* **145**, 2281–2285 (1990).
- 463. Xu, D., Mcsorley, S. J., Chatfield, S. N., Dougant, G. & Liew, F. Y. Protection against Leishmania major infection in genetically susceptible BALB/c mice by gp63 delivered orally in attenuated Salmonella typhimurium (AroA- AroD-). *Immunology* **85**, 1 (1995).
- 464. Pompa-Mera, E. N. *et al.* Trichinella spiralis: Intranasal immunization with attenuated Salmonella enterica Carrying a gp43 antigen-derived 30mer epitope elicits protection in BALB/c mice. *Exp. Parasitol.* **129**, 393–401 (2011).
- Chabalgoity, J. A. *et al.* Expression and immunogenicity of an Echinococcus granulosus fatty acid-binding protein in live attenuated Salmonella vaccine strains. *Infect. Immun.* 65, 2402–2412 (1997).
- 466. Ding, J. *et al.* Immune responses to a recombinant attenuated Salmonella typhimurium strain expressing a Taenia solium oncosphere antigen TSOL18. *Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 36, 17–23 (2013).
- 467. Chen, G. *et al.* Oral delivery of the Sj23LHD-GST antigen by Salmonella typhimurium type III secretion system protects against Schistosoma japonicum infection in mice. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **5**, (2011).
- 468. Pawelek, J. M. *et al.* Salmonella pathogenicity island-2 and anticancer activity in mice. *Cancer Gene Ther.* **9**, 813–818 (2002).
- 469. Clairmont, C. *et al.* Biodistribution and genetic stability of the novel antitumor agent VNP20009, a genetically modified strain of Salmonella typhimurium. *J. Infect. Dis.* 181, 1996–2002 (2000).
- 470. Luo, X. et al. Genetically modified Salmonella typhimurium inhibited growth of primary

tumors and metastase. in Proc Annu Meet Am Assoc Cancer Res vol. 40 3146 (1999).

- 471. Pawelek, J. M., Low, K. B. & Bermudes, D. Tumor-targeted Salmonella as a novel anticancer vector. *Cancer Res.* 57, 4537–4544 (1997).
- 472. Low, K. B. *et al.* Lipid A mutant Salmonella with suppressed virulence and TNFalpha induction retain tumor-targeting in vivo. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **17**, 37–41 (1999).
- 473. Luo, X. *et al.* Antitumor effect of VNP20009, an attenuated Salmonella, in murine tumor models. *Oncol. Res.* **12**, 501–508 (2001).
- 474. Toso, J. F. *et al.* Phase I Study of the Intravenous Administration of Attenuated Salmonella typhimurium to Patients With Metastatic Melanoma . *J. Clin. Oncol.* **20**, 142–152 (2002).
- 475. Jia, L. J. *et al.* Oral delivery of tumor-targeting Salmonella for cancer therapy in murine tumor models. *Cancer Sci.* **98**, 1107–1112 (2007).
- 476. Chen, G. *et al.* Oral delivery of tumor-targeting Salmonella exhibits promising therapeutic efficacy and low toxicity. *Cancer Sci.* **100**, 2437–2443 (2009).
- 477. Liang, K., Liu, Q. & Kong, Q. New technologies in developing recombinant-attenuated bacteria for cancer therapy. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **118**, 513–530 (2021).
- 478. Liu, X. *et al.* Comparison of Anticancer Activities and Biosafety Between Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium ΔppGpp and VNP20009 in a Murine Cancer Model. *Front. Microbiol.* **13**, 914575 (2022).
- 479. Vale, N. *et al.* Praziquantel for Schistosomiasis: Single-Drug Metabolism Revisited, Mode of Action, and Resistance. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **61**, (2017).
- 480. Ismail, M. *et al.* Assessment of praziquantel therapy in treatment of Schistosoma mansoni infection. *J. Egypt. Soc. Parasitol.* **24**, 231–238 (1994).
- 481. Stelma, F. F. *et al.* Efficacy and side effects of praziquantel in an epidemic focus of Schistosoma mansoni. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **53**, 167–170 (1995).
- 482. Gryseels, B. *et al.* Are poor responses to praziquantel for the treatment of Schistosoma mansoni infections in Senegal due to resistance? An overview of the evidence. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 6, 864–873 (2001).
- Botros, S., Pica-Mattoccia, L., William, S., El-Lakkani, N. & Cioli, D. Effect of praziquantel on the immature stages of Schistosoma haematobium. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 35, 1453–1457 (2005).
- Xiao, S. H., Catto, B. A. & Webster, L. T. Effects of praziquantel on different developmental stages of Schistosoma mansoni in vitro and in vivo. *J. Infect. Dis.* 151, 1130–1137 (1985).
- Oniya, M. O. & Odaibo, A. B. Reinfection pattern and predictors of urinary schistosomiasis among school pupils from a Southwestern village in Nigeria. *Int. J. Trop. Dis. Heal.* 1, 173–177 (2006).
- 486. Tetteh-Quarcoo, P. B. *et al.* Persistent Urogenital Schistosomiasis and Its Associated Morbidity in Endemic Communities within Southern Ghana: Suspected Praziquantel Resistance or Reinfection? *Med. Sci. (Basel, Switzerland)* **8**, 10 (2020).

- 487. Molehin, A. J. Schistosomiasis vaccine development: Update on human clinical trials. *Journal of Biomedical Science* vol. 27 (2020).
- 488. Ricciardi, A., Zelt, N. H., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Immune mechanisms involved in schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B vaccine induced protection in mice. *Front. Immunol.* **9**, (2018).
- 489. Jílková, A., Horn, M. & Mareš, M. Structural and Functional Characterization of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B1. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **2151**, 145–158 (2020).

1.7 FIGURES AND LEGENDS



Figure 1.1. Geographic distribution of schistosomiasis. Main foci represented for *S. mansoni*, *S. haematobium*, *S. intercalatum*, *S. japonicum*, and *S. mekongi* infections along with *S. haematobium/S. mansoni* co-infections. S. haematobium infections in Corsica are not represented.

Reproduced from Gryseels B, Polman K, Clerinx J, Kestens L (2006) Human schistosomiasis. Lancet. 368: 1106-1118. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69440-3, with permission from Elsevier, Copyright Elsevier 2006.



Figure 1.2. *S. haematobium* (**A**) and *S. mansoni* (**B**) infection intensity across different ages. Highest burdens of infection occur in school-aged children and infection intensity reduces with age.

Reproduced from Colley DG, Bustinduy AL, Secor WE, King CH (2014) Human schistosomiasis. Lancet. 383: 2253-2264. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61949-2, with permission from Elsevier, Copyright Elsevier 2014.



Figure 1.3 *Schistosoma* **lifecycle.** Eggs hatch in freshwater and release miracidia that will infect their respective snail intermediate host. Within the snail, miracidia replicate and produce cercaria that will infect their definitive host through skin penetration. Cercaria then transform into migrating schistosomula which will travel through venous circulation and eventually reach the liver where they will mature into adult worm pairs. Depending on the species, worms then migrate to their respective anatomical locations and lay eggs that will either be excreted to propagate the lifecycle or retained in host tissues.

Reproduced from McManus, D. P. *et al.* Schistosomiasis. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 2018 41* **4**, 1–19 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-018-0013-8 with permission from Springer Nature Ltd., © Copyright Springer Nature Ltd. 2018.



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 1.4 Host immune responses to *Schistosoma* infection. Initial immune responses are dominated by a T_{H1} phenotype. After oviposition by mature adult worm pairs, there is a shift towards T_{H2} immunity mediated by the release of soluble egg antigens. Both T_{H1} and T_{H2} responses are later regulated by IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells.

Reproduced with permission from Dunne DW, Cooke A (2005) A worm's eye view of the immune system: consequences for evolution of human autoimmune disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 5: 420-426. doi: 10.1038/nri1601. Copyright Nature Publishing Group, 2005.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER 2

There are currently no available schistosomiasis vaccines in endemic regions. Mass drug administration campaigns with praziquantel are effective, but the anthelmintic drug has key limitations such as its ineffectiveness at treating larval stages of the parasite lifecycle as well as its inability to provide long-term prophylaxis. Current candidate vaccines are limited to an intramuscular approach targeting surface membrane proteins. Our group has previously demonstrated the immunogenic and protective effects of intramuscular immunizations with adjuvanted Cathepsin B. This cysteine protease is most abundant in the parasite gut, and it is essential for nutrient acquisition and worm development. We believed that existing vaccine formulations with Cathepsin B could be further improved and adapted to alternative delivery systems. Therefore, we sought to develop an oral vaccine repurposing the live attenuated Salmonella enterica Typhimurium strain YS1646 that could stimulate both systemic and mucosal immune responses. Mice were immunized following a prime-boost regimen involving a series of oral recombinant Salmonella doses and an unadjuvanted intramuscular dose of recombinant Cathepsin B. Vaccinated animals were then exposed to cercarial challenge. The following chapter describes the immune response generated by such vaccination strategies by evaluating serum and intestinal antibody responses as well as cytokine secretion levels. The chapter also describes the protection efficacy of the vaccine using a mouse model of schistosomiasis.

This chapter was adapted from the following manuscript: Vaccination against the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B using a YS1646 *Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium vector provides almost complete protection against *Schistosoma mansoni* challenge in a mouse model. **Hassan AS**, *et al. PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 13(12): e0007490 (2019).

Vaccination against the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B using a YS1646 Salmonella enterica Typhimurium vector provides almost complete protection against Schistosoma mansoni challenge in a mouse model

Adam S. Hassan^{a,b}, Nicholas H. Zelt^{a,b}, Dilhan J. Perera^{b,c}, Momar Ndao^{a,b,c}, Brian J. Ward^{a,b,c}

- Department of Microbiology and Immunology, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada
- Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre (RI-MUHC), Montreal, Quebec, Canada
- c. Division of Experimental Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

PLoS Negl Tropl Dis. 2019 December 2; 13(12): e0007490. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007490 Copyright © 2019. Hassan *et al.*

2.1 ABSTRACT

Schistosoma mansoni threatens hundreds of millions of people in >50 countries. Schistosomula migrate through the lung and adult worms reside in blood vessels adjacent to the intestinal mucosa. Current candidate vaccines aren't designed to elicit a mucosal response. We have repurposed an attenuated Salmonella enterica Typhimurium strain (YS1646) to produce such a vaccine targeting Cathepsin B (CatB), a digestive enzyme important for parasite survival. Promoter-Type 3 secretory signal pairs were screened for protein expression *in vitro* and transfected into YS1646 to generate candidate vaccine strains. Two strains were selected for in vivo evaluation (nirB_SspH1 and SspH1_SspH1). Female C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice, 3 weeks apart, using six strategies: i) saline gavage (control), ii) the 'empty' YS1646 vector orally (PO) followed by intramuscular (IM) recombinant CatB (20µg IM rCatB), iii) two doses of IM rCatB, iv) two PO doses of YS1646-CatB, v) IM rCatB then PO YS1646-CatB and vi) PO YS1646-CatB then IM rCatB. Serum IgG responses to CatB were monitored by ELISA. Three weeks after the second dose, mice were challenged with 150 cercaria and sacrificed 7 weeks later to assess adult worm and egg burden (liver and intestine), granuloma size and egg morphology. CatB-specific IgG antibodies were low/absent in the control and PO only groups but rose substantially in other groups (5898-6766ng/mL). The highest response was in animals that received nirB_SspH1 YS1646 PO then IM rCatB. In this group, reductions in worm and intestine/liver egg burden (vs. control) were 93.1% and 79.5%/90.3% respectively (all P<.0001). Granuloma size was reduced in all vaccinated groups (range 32.86–52.83 $\times 10^3 \mu m^2$) and most significantly in the nirB_SspH1 + CatB IM group $(34.74\pm3.35 \text{ x}10^3 \mu\text{m}^2\text{vs.} 62.22\pm6.08 \text{ x}10^3 \mu\text{m}^2\text{: vs. control } P<.01)$. Many eggs in the vaccinated animals had abnormal morphology. Targeting CatB using a multi-modality approach can provide almost complete protection against S. mansoni challenge.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Schistosomiasis is caused by a number of *Schistosoma spp*. These trematodes currently infect >250 million people worldwide and more than 800 million are at risk of infection¹. The World Health Organization (WHO) considers schistosomiasis to be the most important human helminth infection in terms of mortality and morbidity². Of the three main human schistosome species, *S. mansoni* is very widespread; causing a significant burden of disease in South America, Sub-Saharan Africa, and the Caribbean³.

The current treatment of schistosomiasis relies heavily on the drug praziquantel (PZQ). This oral anthelminthic paralyzes the adult worms and has a reported efficacy of 85-90%⁴. The availability of only one effective drug is a precarious situation however and praziquantel resistance has been observed both experimentally^{5,6} and reduced PZQ cure rates have been observed in the field^{7,8}. Furthermore, praziquantel treatment does not prevent re-infection. There is a clear need for a vaccine that can be used in conjunction with mass drug administration (MDA) and vector control efforts.

The WHO Special Program for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR/WHO) has encouraged the search for a vaccine that can provide \geq 40% protection against *S. mansoni*⁹. Despite this relatively 'low bar', few candidate vaccines have achieved >50% protection in murine or other animal models¹⁰ and even fewer have progressed to human trials¹¹. Our group has previously demonstrated 60-70% protection in a *S. mansoni* murine challenge model by targeting Cathepsin B using intramuscular (IM)-adjuvanted formulations^{12,13}. Cathepsin B (CatB) is a cysteine protease found in the cecum of both the migratory larval form of *S. mansoni* (i.e.: the schistosomula) and in the gut of the adult worm. CatB is important for the digestion of host blood macromolecules such as hemoglobin, serum albumin and immunoglobulin G (IgG)¹⁴. Suppression of CatB expression using RNA interference (RNAi) has a major impact on parasite growth and fitness¹⁵. Because the schistosomula migrate through the lungs and the adult worms reside in mesenteric veins adjacent to the gut mucosa, we wished to determine if a vaccination strategy that targeted induction of both mucosal and systemic responses to CatB could improve protection.

YS1646 is a highly attenuated *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium carrying mutations in the msbB (lipopolysaccharide or LPS) and purI (purine biosynthesis pathway) genes that was originally developed as a possible cancer therapeutic¹⁶. Although its development was halted when it failed to provide benefit in a large phase I trial in subjects with advanced cancer, it was welltolerated when administered intravenously at doses of up to 3.0×10^8 colony-forming units/m²¹⁶. We are seeking to repurpose YS1646 as a novel vaccination platform and reasoned that a locallyinvasive but highly attenuated Salmonella vector might induce both local and systemic responses to CatB. The flagellin protein of S. Typhimurium has been proposed as a general mucosal adjuvant through its action on toll-like receptor (TLR) 5¹⁷. Other Salmonella products such as LPS would be expected to further enhance immune responses by triggering TLR4^{18,19}. Indeed, live attenuated Salmonella have multiple potential advantages as vaccine vectors and have been used to express foreign antigens against infectious diseases and cancers²⁰⁻²². They directly target the intestinal microfold (M) cells overlying the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT)^{21,23-26}, have large 'carrying' capacity²⁷ and are easy to manipulate both in the laboratory and at industrial scale. Although there is considerable experience with the attenuated S. typhi vaccine strain (Ty21a: VivotifTM) in the delivery of heterologous antigens^{21,28}, far less is known about the potential of other Salmonella strains. Of direct relevance to the current work, Chen and colleagues used YS1646 to express a chimeric S. japonicum antigen that induced both strong antibody and cellular responses after repeated oral dosing and provided up to 62% protection in a murine challenge model²⁹.

In this work, we exploited *Salmonella* type-III secretion systems (T3SS) and both T3SS-specific and constitutive promoters to generate a panel of YS1646 strains with plasmid-based expression of enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) or full-length CatB. This panel was screened for protein expression in monomicrobial culture and murine RAW 264.7 murine macrophages and the most promising constructs were advanced to *in vivo* testing in adult female C57BL/6 mice. Animals were vaccinated with the two most promising strains using several strategies and then subjected to cercarial challenge. Herein we report that a two-dose, multimodality schedule starting with oral (PO) gavage of YS1646 bearing the nirB_SspH1_CatB plasmid followed by intramuscular (IM) recombinant CatB (rCatB) was able to reduce both worm and tissue egg burden

by 80-90%. Such reductions are among the best ever reported for any *S. mansoni* candidate vaccine in a murine model.

2.3 METHODS

2.3.1 Ethics statement

All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with Institutional Animal Care and Use Guidelines and were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at McGill University (Animal Use Protocol 7625).

2.3.2 Plasmids

Gene segments of the page promoter as well as the sopE2, sspH1, sspH2, sptP, steA, steB and steJ promoters and secretory signals were cloned from YS1646 genomic DNA (American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, VA) and the *nirB* and *lac* promoters were cloned from *E. coli* genomic DNA (strain AR_0137) (ThermoFischer Scientific, Eugene, OR). S. mansoni CatB complementary DNA (cDNA) was sequence-optimized for expression in S. enterica Typhimurium [Java Codon Optimization Tool (jcat)], synthesized by GenScript (Piscataway, NJ) and inserted into the pUC57 plasmid with a 6x His tag at the 3' end. Promoter-T3SS pairs were cloned upstream of the CatB gene and inserted separately into pQE30 (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Parallel constructs were made with CatB gene replaced by eGFP to produce expression plasmids used for imaging studies. See Figure 2.1 for the general plasmid map and Table 2.1 for a summary of the expression cassettes produced. All plasmids were sequenced to verify successful cloning (McGill Genome Centre, Montreal, QC). S. enterica Typhimurium YS1646 (Cedarlane Labs, Burlington, ON) was cultured in Lysogeny broth (LB) media and strains bearing each construct were generated by electroporation (5ms, 3kV: Biorad, Hercules, CA). Successfully transformed strains were identified using LB agar containing 50 µg/mL ampicillin (Wisent Bioproducts, St-Bruno, QC). Aliquots of each transformed strain were stored in LB with 15% glycerol at -80°C until used in experiments.

2.3.3 Western blotting

Recombinant YS1646 strains were grown in LB broth with 50 µg/mL ampicillin at 37°C in a shaking incubator under aerobic or low oxygen (sealed twist-cap tubes) conditions. Bacterial lysates were prepared by centrifugation (9,000xg for 5 min) then boiling the pellet (100°C x 10 min). Proteins from the culture supernatant were precipitated with 10% trichloroacetic acid for 1 hour on ice followed by centrifugation (9,000xg for 2 min) and removal of the supernatant. Protein pellets were resuspended in NuPAGE LDS sample buffer and NuPAGE reducing agent according to the manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Fisher). Immunoblotting was performed as previously described¹². Briefly, samples were run on a 4-12% Bis-Tris PAGE gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Thermo Fisher). Membranes were incubated in blocking buffer (5% skim milk in PBS [pH 7.4; 0.01M phosphate buffer, 0.14 M NaCl]) for 1 hour at room temperature (RT) with gentle agitation then washed three times in wash buffer (PBS [pH 7.4; 0.01M phosphate buffer, 0.14 M NaCl], 0.1% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Membranes were incubated with a murine, monoclonal anti-polyhistidine primary antibody (1:2,500; Sigma-Aldrich) in blocking buffer overnight at 4°C with gentle shaking. Membranes were washed three times in wash buffer then incubated with a goat, anti-mouse IgG-horseradish peroxidase secondary antibody (1:5000; Sigma-Aldrich) in blocking buffer for 1 hour at RT with gentle agitation. Membranes were washed three times followed by addition of Supersignal West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo Fisher) as per the manufacturer's instructions and developed using an autoradiography cassette and the X-OMAT 2000 processor system (Kodak, Rochester, NY).

2.3.4 In vitro macrophage infection

Murine macrophage-like cells (RAW 264.7: ATCC-TIB 71) were seeded at 10⁶ cells/well in 12well plates in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Wisent Bioproducts) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS: Wisent Bioproducts). Transformed YS1646 were diluted in DMEM-FBS to give a multiplicity of infection of 100 and centrifuged onto the monolayer (110xg for 10 min) to synchronize the infection. After 1 hour at 37°C in 5% CO₂, plates were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS: Wisent Bioproducts) and replaced in the incubator with DMEM-FBS containing 50 µg/mL gentamicin (Sigma-Aldrich) to kill any extracellular bacteria and prevent re-infection. After 2 hours, the cells were washed with PBS three times and the gentamicin concentration was lowered to 5 μ g/mL. After 24 hours, the cells were harvested, transferred to Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged (400xg for 5 min). Pellets were prepared for western blotting as above. For imaging experiments, RAW 264.7 cells were seeded into 6-well chamber slides at 10⁴ cells/well and cultured as above. After 24 hours, the cells were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Thermo Fisher), fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS and incubated for 10 min at RT. Images were obtained using a Zeiss LSM780 laser scanning confocal microscope and analyzed using ZEN software (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

2.3.5 Purification of recombinant cathepsin B

S. mansoni CatB was cloned and expressed in *Pichia pastoris* as previously described¹². Briefly, the yeast cells were cultured at 28°C with shaking in buffered complex glycerol medium (BMGY) (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON). After two days, cells were pelleted (3,000xg for 5 min) and resuspended in fresh BMMY to induce protein expression. After 3 further days of culture, cells were harvested (3,000 xg for 5 min) and supernatants were collected and purified by Ni-NTA affinity chromatography. Immunoblotting for the His-tag (as above) confirmed successful expression of CatB. Protein concentration was estimated by Pierce bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) (Thermo Fisher) and aliquots of the rCatB were stored at -80°C until used.

2.3.6 Immunization protocol

Female 6–8-week-old C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Senneville, QC). All animals received two doses three weeks apart (See Figure 2.2 for experimental design). Oral dosing (PO) was accomplished by gavage three times every other day (200 μ L containing 1x10⁹ colony-forming units (CFUs)/dose). Intramuscular (IM) vaccinations were administered using a 25g needle in the lateral thigh (20 μ g rCatB in 50 μ L PBS). Each experiment included six groups with 8 mice/group: i) saline PO twice (Control or PBS) ii) YS1646 transformed with 'empty' pQE30 vector (EV) PO followed by rCatB IM (EV \rightarrow IM), iii) CatB-bearing YS1646 PO twice (PO \rightarrow PO), iv) rCatB IM twice (IM \rightarrow IM), v) CatB-bearing YS1646 PO followed by rCatB IM (PO \rightarrow IM), and vi) rCatB IM followed by CatB-bearing YS1646 PO

(IM \rightarrow PO). The number of animals that were used for each study outcome at each time-point is indicated in the figure legends.

2.3.7 Intestine processing for IgA assessment

Four weeks after the second vaccination, the animals were sacrificed, and 10 cm of the proximal small intestine was collected. Tissue was weighed and stored in a protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma Aldrich) at a 1:5 dilution (w/v) on ice until processed. Tissue was homogenized (Homogenizer 150; Fisher Scientific), centrifuged at 2500xg at 4°C for 30 minutes and the supernatant was collected. Supernatants were stored at -80°C until analyzed by ELISA.

2.3.8 Humoral response by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

2.3.8.1 Serum IgG and intestinal IgA

Blood was collected from the saphenous vein at baseline (week 0) and at 3 and 6 weeks in microtainer serum separator tubes (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Cleared serum samples were obtained following the manufacturer's protocol and stored at -20° C until used. Serum CatB-specific IgG and intestinal CatB-specific IgA levels were assessed by ELISA as previously described³⁰. Briefly, U-bottom, high-binding 96-well plates (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) were coated overnight at 4°C with rCatB (0.5 µg/mL) in 100 mM bicarbonate/carbonate buffer at pH 9.6 (50 µL/well). Each plate contained a standard curve with 2-fold dilutions of purified mouse IgG or IgA (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) starting at 2,000 ng/mL. The plates were washed three times with PBS (pH 7.4) and incubated with blocking buffer (2% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS-Tween 20 (0.05%; Fisher Scientific)) at 37°C for 1 hour. The plates were washed three times with PBS and diluted serum samples (1:50 in blocking buffer) were added in duplicate (50 µL/well). Blocking buffer was added to the standard curve wells. After 1 hour at 37°C, the plates were washed with PBS four times and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse IgG or horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse IgA (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1: 20,000 (1:10,000 for IgA) in blocking buffer was added for 30 min (IgG) or 1 hour (IgA) at 37°C (75 µL/well). Plates were washed with PBS six times and 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethyl benzidine (TMB) substrate (100 µL/well; Millipore, Billerica, MA) was used for detection followed by 0.5 M H₂SO₄ after 15 min (50 μ l/well; Fisher Scientific). Optical density (OD) was measured at 450 nm with an EL800 microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT). The concentration of CatB-specific IgG and IgA were calculated by extrapolation from the mouse IgG or IgA standard curves.

2.3.8.2 Serum IgG1 and IgG2c

Serum CatB-specific IgG1 and IgG2c levels were assessed by ELISA as previously described¹². Briefly, Immulon 2HB flat-bottom 96-well plates (Thermo Fisher) were coated overnight at 4°C with rCatB (0.5μ g/mL) in 100 mM bicarbonate/carbonate buffer at pH 9.6 (50μ L/well). The plates were washed three times with PBS-Tween 20 (PBS-T: 0.05%; Fisher Scientific) and were blocked as above for 90 min. Serial serum dilutions in duplicate were incubated in the plates for 2 hours. Control (blank) wells were loaded with PBS-T. After washing three times with PBS-T, goat antimouse IgG1-horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (Southern Biotechnologies Associates, Birmingham, AL) and goat anti-mouse IgG2c-HRP (Southern Biotechnologies Associates) were added to the plates and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. After a final washing step, TMB substrate (50μ L/well; Millipore, Billerica, MA) was used for detection followed by 0.5 M H₂SO₄ after 15 min (25 μ l/well; Fisher Scientific). Optical density (OD) was measured at 450 nm with an EL800 microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc.). The results are expressed as the mean IgG1/IgG2c ratio of the endpoint titers \pm standard error of the mean. Endpoint titers refer to the reciprocal of the highest dilution that gives a reading above the cut-off calculated as previously described³¹.

2.3.9 Cytokine production by multiplex ELISA

In some experiments, some of the animals were sacrificed 4 weeks after the second vaccination. Spleens were collected and splenocytes were isolated as previously described with the following modifications¹³. Splenocytes were resuspended in 96-well plates (10^6 cells/well) in RPMI-1640 (Wisent Bioproducts) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1 mM penicillin/streptomycin, 10 mM HEPES, 1X MEM non-essential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1 mM L-glutamine (all from Wisent Bioproducts), 0.05 mM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were incubated at 37°C in the presence of 2.5 µg/mL of rCatB for 72 hours after which the supernatant cytokine levels of IL-2, IL-4, IL-5 IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, IL-17, IFN γ , and TNF- α were

measured by QUANSYS multiplex ELISA (9-plex) (Quansys Biosciences, Logan, UT) following the manufacturer's recommendations.

2.3.10 Schistosoma mansoni challenge

Biomphalaria glabrata snails infected with the S. mansoni Puerto Rican strain were obtained from the Schistosomiasis Resource Center of the Biomedical Research Institute (Rockville, MD) through NIH-NIAID Contract HHSN272201700014I for distribution through BEI Resources. Mice were challenged three weeks after the second immunization (week 6) with 150 cercaria by tail exposure and were sacrificed seven weeks post-challenge as previously described³². Briefly, adult worms were counted after perfusion of the hepatic portal system and manual removal from the mesenteric veins. The livers and intestines were harvested from each mouse, weighed and digested in 4% potassium hydroxide overnight at 37°C. The next day, the number of eggs per gram of tissue was recorded by microscopy. A small portion of each liver was placed in 10% buffered formalin phosphate (Fisher Scientific) and processed for histopathology to assess mean granuloma size and egg morphology (H&E staining). Granuloma area was measured using Zen Blue software (version 2.5.75.0; Zeiss) as previously reported^{33,34}. Briefly, working at 400x magnification, the screen stylus was used to trace the perimeter of 6 - 8granulomas with a clearly visible egg per mouse which the software converted into an area. Mean areas were presented as $x10^3 \mu m^2 \pm SEM$. Eggs were classified as abnormal if obvious shrinkage had occurred, if internal structure was lost or if the perimeter of the egg was crenelated and are reported as a percent of the total eggs counted (\pm SEM).

2.3.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6 software (La Jolla, CA). In each experiment, reductions in worm and egg burden were expressed relative to the saline control group numbers. Results are represented from two separate experiments. Data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA and multiple comparisons were corrected using Tukey's multiple comparison procedure. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

2.4 RESULTS

2.4.1 In vitro Expression and Secretion of CatB by Transformed YS1646 Strains

Thirteen expression cassettes were built and the sequences were verified (McGill University Genome Quebec Innovation Centre) (**Table 2.1**). The promoter/T3SS pairs were inserted in-frame with either *S. mansoni* CatB or eGFP. In monomicrobial culture, CatB expression was effectively driven by the nirB_SspH1, SspH1_SspH1 and SteA_SteA plasmids (**Figure 2.3A**) with the greatest production from the nirB promoter in low oxygen conditions as previously reported²⁹. Secreted CatB was detectable in the monomicrobial culture supernatants only with YS1646 bearing the SspH1_SspH1 construct (**Figure 2.3A**). In infected RAW 264.7 cells, all of the constructs produced detectable eGFP by immunofluorescence (**Figure 2.3B**) but only the YS1646 bearing the nirB_SspH1 and SspH1_SspH1 constructs produced CatB detectable by immunoblot (**Figure 2.3C**). These constructs also led to the greatest eGFP expression in the RAW 264.7 cells and so were selected for *in vivo* testing.

2.4.2 Antibody Response to YS1646-vectored Vaccination

None of the groups had detectable anti-CatB IgG antibodies at baseline and the saline control mice remained negative after vaccination. Mice in the PO \rightarrow PO group also had very low serum CatBspecific IgG antibody levels even after the second vaccination (395.7 ± 48.9) (**Figure 2.4A**). In contrast, all animals that had received at least 1 dose of rCatB IM had significantly higher IgG titers at 6 weeks (i.e.: 3 weeks after the second immunization) (**Figure 2.4A**). Mice that received nirB_SspH1 PO followed by an IM boost had the highest titers (6766 ± 2128 ng/mL, *P*<.01 vs. control) but these titers were not significantly different from groups that had received either one (EV \rightarrow IM) or two doses of rCatB (IM \rightarrow IM) (5898 ± 1951 ng/mL and 6077 ± 4460 ng/mL respectively, both *P*<.05 vs. control). IgG antibody titers were generally lower in all groups that received the YS1646 strain bearing the SspH1_SspH1 construct (range 333.5 – 3495 ng/mL; *P*<.05, *P*<.01, *P*<.001 vs control) (**Figure 2.4B**). Because the SspH1_SspH1 construct will not be carried forward into more advanced studies, we did not measure the IgG subtypes or the intestinal IgA levels for these experimental groups.
Control mice had no detectable anti-CatB antibodies and were arbitrarily assigned an IgG1/IgG2c ratio of 1. The PO \rightarrow PO mice had a ratio of 0.9 (**Figure 2.4C**). The EV \rightarrow IM and the PO \rightarrow IM groups had IgG1/IgG2c ratios of 2.2 and 2.5 respectively while the highest ratios were seen in the IM \rightarrow IM and IM \rightarrow PO groups (10.2 and 7.8 respectively).

Intestinal IgA levels in the saline, EV \rightarrow IM, and IM \rightarrow IM groups were all low (range 37.0 – 148.0 ng/g of tissue) (**Figure 2.4D**). Although the data are variable, groups that received at least one dose of nirB_SspH1 YS1646 PO had increased IgA levels compared to the control group that reached statistical significance in the PO \rightarrow PO group (402.7 ± 119.7 ng/g) and the PO \rightarrow IM group (i.e.: nirB_SspH1 PO then rCatB IM: 419.6 ± 95.3 ng/g, both *P*<.01). The IM \rightarrow PO group also had higher intestinal IgA titers than controls, but this increase did not reach statistical significance (259.8 ± 19.4 ng/g).

2.4.3 Cytokine Production in Response to YS1646-vectored Vaccination

There was only modest evidence of CatB-specific cytokine production by antigen re-stimulated splenocytes immediately prior to challenge (4 weeks after the second dose). There were no significant differences in the levels of IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, IL-17 or TNF- α between vaccinated and control groups (**Supplementary Table 2.1**). Compared to the control group, the levels of IL-5 in splenocyte supernatants were significantly higher in mice that received two doses of rCatB (IM \rightarrow IM) (475.5 ± 98.5 pg/mL, *P*<.01) and the nirB_SspH1 PO \rightarrow IM group (364.4 ± 85.2 pg/mL, *P*<.05) whereas the control group was below the limit of detection at 63.1 pg/mL (**Figure 2.5A**). Only the PO \rightarrow IM group had clear evidence of CatB-specific production of IFN γ in response to vaccination (933 ± 237 pg/mL vs. control 216.4 ± 62.5 pg/mL, *P*<.05) (**Figure 2.5B**).

2.4.4 Protection from S. mansoni Challenge from YS1646-vectored Vaccination

At 7 weeks after infection, the mean worm burden in the saline-vaccinated control group was 25.2 \pm 4.3 and all changes in parasitologic and immunologic outcomes are expressed in reference to this control group. Relatively small reductions in worm burden were observed in the EV \rightarrow IM (9.4%) and IM \rightarrow IM groups (20.5%) across all studies. Overall, protection was better with

nirB_SspH1_CatB schedules compared to SspH1_SspH1_CatB schedules. In the SspH1_SspH1 animals, reductions in worm numbers were similar to the IM \rightarrow IM group: 17.2% with oral vaccination alone (PO \rightarrow PO) and only 17.8% and 24.7% in the PO \rightarrow IM and IM \rightarrow PO groups respectively. In contrast, the PO \rightarrow PO group vaccinated with the nirB_SspH1 YS1646 strain had an 81.7% (*P*<.01) reduction in worm numbers and multi-modality vaccination with this strain achieved 93.1% (*P*<.001) and 81.7% (*P*<.01) reductions in the PO \rightarrow IM and IM \rightarrow PO groups respectively. (**Figure 2.6A**).

Overall, the reductions in hepatic and intestinal egg burden followed a similar pattern to the vaccine-induced changes in worm numbers. The hepatic and intestinal egg burden in the salinevaccinated control mice ranged from 1,994 - 13,224 eggs/g and 6,548 - 24,401 eggs/g respectively. Reductions in hepatic eggs in the EV \rightarrow IM and IM \rightarrow IM groups were modest at 18.9% and 32.7% respectively. Reductions in intestinal eggs followed a similar trend: 15.4% and 43.6% respectively. In the groups that received the SspH1 SspH1 YS1646 strain, $PO \rightarrow PO$ immunization did not perform any better with 11.6% and 18.3% reductions in hepatic and intestinal egg numbers respectively. Somewhat greater reductions in hepatic and intestinal egg burden were seen in the PO→IM (51.3% and 60.9% respectively) and IM→PO groups (17.7% and 29.8% respectively). These apparent differences in egg burden between the two multi-modality groups did not parallel the reductions in worm numbers or the systemic anti-CatB IgG levels. Groups that received the nirB_SspH1 strain had more consistent and greater reductions in egg burden: the PO \rightarrow PO group had 73.6% and 69.2% reductions in hepatic and intestinal egg numbers respectively (both P<.001). The greatest impact on hepatic and intestinal egg burden was seen in the nirB SspH1 multimodality groups: 90.3% (P<.0001) and 79.5% (P<.0001) respectively in the PO \rightarrow IM group and 79.4% (P<.001) and 75.9% (P<.0001) respectively in the IM \rightarrow PO group (**Figures 2.6B** and **2.6C**).

Hepatic granulomas were large and well-formed in the PBS-treated control mice $(62.2 \pm 6.1 \times 10^3 \ \mu\text{m}^2)$ and essentially all of the eggs in these granulomas had a normal appearance. The EV \rightarrow IM and IM \rightarrow IM groups had slightly smaller granulomas $(52.0 \pm 6.9 \times 10^3 \ \mu\text{m}^2)$ and $52.8 \pm 10.4 \times 10^3 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ respectively) with modest numbers of abnormal-appearing eggs (i.e.: loss of internal structure, crenellated edge) (**Table 2.2**) but these differences did not reach statistical significance. Groups that received the SspH1_SspH1 strain had granuloma sizes ranging from $47.3-55.0 \times 10^3 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ with

30.5% of the eggs appearing abnormal in the PO→IM and 28.6% IM→PO groups (both *P*<.05). In the groups that received the nirB_SspH1 strain, both the purely oral (PO→PO) and multimodality strategies (PO→IM and IM→PO) resulted in even smaller granulomas ($32.9 \pm 2.0 \mu m^2$, $34.7 \pm 3.4 \times 10^3 \mu m^2$ and $39.2 \pm 3.7 \times 10^3 \mu m^2$: *P*<.01, *P*<.01 and *P*<.05 respectively). The large majority of the eggs in these granulomas had disrupted morphology ($75.9 \pm 7.6\%$, $79.4 \pm 4.2\%$ and $71.9 \pm 6.0\%$ respectively: all *P*<.0001). Overall, the greatest and most consistent reductions in both adult worm numbers and egg burdens in hepatic and intestinal tissues were seen in the animals that received oral dosing with the YS1646 bearing the nirB_SspH1_CatB construct followed 3 weeks later by IM rCatB.

2.5 DISCUSSION

In the mid-1990s, the Tropical Diseases Research (TDR) committee of the World Health Organization (WHO) launched the search for a *S. mansoni* vaccine candidate capable of providing \geq 40% protection⁹. This initiative targeted reduced worm numbers as well as reductions in egg burden in both the liver and the intestinal tissues. *S. mansoni* female worms can produce hundreds of eggs per day³⁵. While the majority are excreted in the feces, some are trapped in host tissues where they cause most of the pathology associated with chronic infection³⁶. Eggs trapped in the liver typically induce a vigorous granulomatous response that can lead to fibrosis, portal hypertension and death while egg-induced granulomas in the intestine cause local lesions that contribute to colonic polyp formation³⁷. Reducing the hepatic egg burden would therefore be predicted to decrease *S. mansoni*-associated morbidity and mortality while reducing the intestinal egg burden would likely decrease transmission.

Our group has previously described the protective efficacy of CatB-based vaccines delivered IM with adjuvants^{12,13}. Using CpG dinucleotides to promote a Th1-type response, vaccination resulted in a 59% reduction in worm burden after challenge with 56% and 54% decreases in hepatic and intestinal egg burden respectively compared to adjuvant-alone control animals¹². Parasitologic outcomes were slightly better in the same challenge model when the oil-in-water adjuvant Montanide ISA 720 VG was used to improve the antibody response: 56-62% reductions in worm numbers and the egg burden in tissues¹³. These results were well above the 40% threshold

suggested by the TDR/WHO and provided proof-of-concept for CatB as a promising target antigen. Based on this success, we expanded our vaccine discovery program to explore alternate strategies and potentially more powerful delivery systems. The availability of the highly attenuated *Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium strain YS1646 that had been used in a phase 1 clinical cancer trial at doses up to 3x10⁸ IV was attractive for many reasons. Although *S. enterica* species replicate in a membrane-bound host cell compartment or vacuole³⁸, foreign protein antigens can be efficiently exported from the vacuole into the cytoplasm using the organism's T3SS. Like all *Salmonella enterica* species, YS1646 has two distinct T3SS located in *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands 1 and 2 (SPI-I and SPI-II)³⁹ that are active at different phases of infection⁴⁰. The SPI-I T3SS translocates proteins upon first contact of the bacterium with epithelium cells through to the stage of early cell invasion while SPI-II expression is induced once the bacterium has been phagocytosed⁴¹. These T3SS have been used by many groups to deliver heterologous antigens in *Salmonella*-based vaccine development programs^{22,42}.

In this study, we report the protective efficacy of CatB delivered by the attenuated strain YS1646 of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium in a heterologous prime-boost vaccination regimen. Compared to infected controls, vaccination with CatB IM followed by YS1646 bearing the nirB_SspH1 strain resulted in an 93.1% reduction in worm numbers and 90.3% and 79.5% reductions in hepatic and intestinal egg burdens respectively compared to the control group. These results not only surpass the WHO's criterion for an effective S. mansoni vaccine by a considerable margin, they are a marked improvement on our own work using CatB delivered IM with adjuvants and are among the best results ever reported in similar murine models^{12,13}. For example, in the preclinical development of two candidate vaccines that subsequently entered clinical trials^{43,44}, IM administration of the fatty acid binding protein Sm-14 with the adjuvant GLA-SE led to a 67% reduction in worm burden in mice¹⁰ while IM vaccination with the tegumental protein TSP-2 with either Freund's adjuvant or alum/CpG reduced worm numbers by 57% and 25% and hepatic egg burden by 64% and 27% respectively^{45,46}. Another vaccine candidate targeting the tegumental protein Sm-p80 that is advancing towards clinical testing achieved 70 and 75% reductions in adult worm numbers and hepatic egg burden respectively when given IM with the oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN) adjuvant 10104⁴⁷. It is noteworthy that these other vaccine candidates were all administered IM, a route that typically results primarily in systemic immunity. Although there are reports of vaccines delivered IM that can induce some level of mucosal immunity⁴⁸, particularly with the use of adjuvants, intramuscular injection is less likely to elicit a local, mucosal response than the multimodality approach taken in our studies.

To what extent the surprising reductions in worm and egg burdens that we observed with the YS1646 can be attributed to the systemic or the local antibody response is currently unknown although it is likely that both contributed to the success of the combined schedules (i.e.: $IM \rightarrow PO$ and PO \rightarrow IM). Oral administration of Salmonella-vectored vaccines clearly leads to higher mucosal IgA responses than IM dosing⁴⁹ and the protective potential of IgA antibodies has been demonstrated in schistosomiasis⁵⁰. The migrating schistosomula likely interact with the MALT during their week-long passage through the lungs. It is therefore possible that IgA produced by the respiratory mucosa interferes with parasite development at this stage in its lifecycle. The importance of the local response is strongly suggested by the fact that PO dosing alone with YS1646 bearing the nirB_SspH1_CatB construct still provided substantial protection (81.7% and 73.6%/69.2% for worms and hepatic/intestinal eggs) despite the almost complete absence of a detectable systemic response (Figure 2.4A). Indeed, IgA titers were readily detectable in the intestinal tissues of mice receiving the nirB_SspH1 YS1646 vaccine PO \rightarrow PO and in mice the received PO \rightarrow IM dosing (402.7 ng/g and 419.6 ng/g respectively) (**Figure 2.4D**). On the other hand, the importance of IgG antibodies in the protection against schistosomiasis has been reported by many groups^{51,52}. Administered IM, rCatB alone consistently elicited high systemic antibody responses and provided a modest level of protection without any measurable mucosal response. Chen and colleagues have also used YS1646 as a vector to test single- and multi-modality approaches for a bivalent vaccine candidate (Sj23LHD-GST) targeting S. japonicum in a similar murine model²⁹. Although some authors have promoted so-called 'prime-pull' strategies to optimize mucosal responses (i.e.: 'prime' in the periphery then 'pull' to the target mucosa)⁵³, it is interesting that both the Chen group and our own findings suggest that $PO \rightarrow IM$ dosing may be the optimal strategy. In the S. japonicum model targeting the long hydrophobic domain of the surface exposed membrane protein Sj23LHD and a host-parasite interface enzyme (glutathione Stransferase or GST), the PO \rightarrow IM vaccination schedule led to important reductions in both worm numbers (51.4%) and liver egg burden (62.6%)²⁹.

In addition to the substantial overall reductions in worm numbers and egg burden in our animals that received multimodality vaccination, there were additional suggestions of benefit in terms of both hepatic granuloma size and possible reduced egg fitness (Table 2.2). The size of liver granulomas is determined largely by a Th2-deviated immune response driven by soluble egg antigens (SEA)⁵⁴. Prior work with CatB vaccination suggests that IM delivery of this antigen alone tends to elicit a Th2-biased response that can be shifted towards a more balanced Th1/Th2 response by CpG or Montanide^{12,13,55}. The reduction in the anti-CatB IgG1/IgG2c ratio between the IM \rightarrow IM only and multimodality groups (IM \rightarrow PO, PO \rightarrow IM) supports the possibility that combined recombinant CatB with YS1646 bearing CatB can induce a more 'balanced' pattern of immunity to this antigen and, at least in a limited sense, that the YS1646 is acting as a Th1-type adjuvant (Figure 2.4C). Although no adjuvants were included in the current study, the YS1646 vector might reasonably be considered 'auto-adjuvanted' by the presence of LPS, even in an attenuated form, and flagellin which can act as TLR-4 and TLR-5 agonists respectively. It was still surprising however, that the average hepatic granuloma size was significantly smaller in our multi-modality groups than in the IM alone group since no CatB is produced by the eggs (Table 2.2). This observation raises the interesting possibility that the YS1646-based vaccination protocol may be able to influence the overall pattern of immunity to S. mansoni and/or reduce the fitness of the eggs produced (as suggested by the abnormal egg morphology observed). Such effects could significantly extend the value of the combined $PO \rightarrow IM$ vaccination strategy, i.e.: more durable impact, reduced transmission, etc. Furthermore, prior work with IM vaccination with CatB alone revealed a Th2-type pattern of cytokine response in splenocytes (eg: IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13)⁵⁵. In the current work we observed increases in both IFNy and IL-5 in the multimodality PO \rightarrow IM group (Figure 2.5), suggesting that YS1646 vaccination can induce more balanced Th1-Th2 immune response. Finally, this study did not consider the possible role of other immune mechanisms in controlling S. mansoni infection after YS1646 infection and we have previously shown that CD4⁺ T cells and anti-schistosomula antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) contribute to protection after CatB immunization (\pm adjuvants)⁵⁶. Studies are underway to examine these possibilities with the multi-modality YS1646-based vaccination protocols. It is also intriguing that the apparent efficacy of either one or two IM doses of rCatB differed considerably between the $EV \rightarrow IM$ and $IM \rightarrow IM$ groups with the latter schedule eliciting significantly greater protection for all parasitologic outcomes despite the fact that these groups had similar levels of serum anti-CatB

IgG at the time of challenge (**Figure 2.4**). Future studies will address whether or not there are qualitative differences in the antibodies induced (i.e.: avidity, isotype, competence to mediate ADCC) and/or differences in other immune effectors (i.e.: CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells).

Although the findings presented herein are promising, this work has several limitations. First, immune protection is likely to be relatively narrow when only a single schistosome antigen is targeted. In the long term, this limitation could be easily overcome by adding one or more of the many S. mansoni target antigens that have shown promise in pre-clinical and/or clinical development (e.g.: GST, Sm23, Sm-p80, etc.) to generate a 'cocktail' vaccine. In this context, an attenuated Salmonella vector like YS1646 might be ideal because of its high 'carrying capacity' for foreign genes⁵⁷. Second, our current findings are based on plasmid-mediated expression and pQE30 contains a mobile ampicillin resistance gene that would obviously be inappropriate for use in humans⁵⁸. Although chromosomal integration of our nirB_SspH1_CatB gene is an obvious mitigation strategy, expression of the CatB antigen from a single or even multiple copies of an integrated gene would likely be lower than plasmid-driven expression. Finally, the degree to which a vaccination schedule based on the YS1646 vector would be accepted by regulators is currently unknown. Attenuated Salmonella have a good safety track-record in vaccination: e.g.: the Ty21a S. typhi vaccine and a wide range of candidate vaccines⁵⁷ despite their ability to colonize/persist for short periods of time⁵⁹. Although the total clinical exposure to YS1646 to date is limited (25 subjects with advanced cancer in a phase 1 anti-cancer trial), the available data are reassuring since up to $3x10^8$ bacteria could be delivered intravenously in these vulnerable subjects without causing serious side effects¹⁶. Finally, these experiments were designed to test the simplest prime-boost strategies based on the YS1646 vaccine so no adjuvants were used with the recombinant protein dose. Experiments are on-going to determine whether or not the inclusion of an adjuvant with either the prime or boost dose of the recombinant protein can further enhance protection.

In summary, this work demonstrates that a YS1646-based, multimodality, prime-boost immunization schedule can provide nearly complete protection against *S. mansoni* in a well-established murine model. The protection achieved against a range of parasitologic outcomes was the highest reported to date for any vaccine. These observations strongly support the continued development of this candidate vaccine for prophylactic and possibly even therapeutic use in the

many hundreds of millions of people in low- and middle-income countries at risk of or already infected by *S. mansoni*.

2.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Annie Beauchamp for assistance with all animal work, Lydia Labrie for assistance with sample collection and processing, and Louis Cyr for assistance with the histopathology staining. We also would like to thank Dr. Margaret Mentink-Kane, Kenia V. Benitez and the SRC technicians from the Biomedical Research Institute (Rockville, MD) for supplying us with infected *Biomphalaria* snails.

2.7 AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

ASH was involved in all aspects of the study including study design, performing experiments, data analysis and preparation of the manuscript. NHZ designed, constructed and validated the plasmids. DJP assisted in the design of the snail housing facility and the infection model. BJW and MN supervised all parts of the study and prepared the manuscript.

2.8 COMPETING INTERESTS

ASH, MN and BJW are named as inventors on a provisional patent application for a YS1646based *S. mansoni* vaccine.

2.9 REFERENCES

- 1. Weerakoon, K. G. A. D., Gobert, G. N., Cai, P. & McManus, D. P. Advances in the Diagnosis of Human Schistosomiasis. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **28**, 939 (2015).
- 2. King, C. L. Chapter 68—Schistosomiasis In: Barrett ADT, Stanberry LR, editors. Vaccines for Biodefense and Emerging and Neglected Diseases. (2009).
- 3. McManus, D. P. et al. Schistosomiasis. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 2018 41 4, 1–19 (2018).
- 4. Cioli, D., Pica-Mattoccia, L., Basso, A. & Guidi, A. Schistosomiasis control: Praziquantel forever? *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* vol. 195 23–29 (2014).
- Couto, F. F. B. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni: A method for inducing resistance to praziquantel using infected Biomphalaria glabrata snails. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 106, 153–157 (2011).
- 6. Ismail, M. M., Farghaly, A. M., Dyab, A. K., Afify, H. A. & el-Shafei, M. A. Resistance to praziquantel, effect of drug pressure and stability test. *J. Egypt. Soc. Parasitol.* **32**, 589–600 (2002).
- 7. Fenwick, A. & Webster, J. P. Schistosomiasis: challenges for control, treatment and drug resistance. *Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis.* **19**, 577–582 (2006).
- 8. Melman, S. D. *et al.* Reduced susceptibility to praziquantel among naturally occurring Kenyan isolates of Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **3**, (2009).
- 9. McManus, D. P. & Loukas, A. Current status of vaccines for schistosomiasis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* vol. 21 225–242 (2008).
- 10. Tebeje, B. M., Harvie, M., You, H., Loukas, A. & McManus, D. P. Schistosomiasis vaccines: where do we stand? *Parasites and Vectors* vol. 9 1–15 (2016).
- 11. Merrifield, M. *et al.* Advancing a vaccine to prevent human schistosomiasis. *Vaccine* **34**, 2988–2991 (2016).
- 12. Ricciardi, A., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Evaluation of the immune response and protective efficacy of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B in mice using CpG dinucleotides as adjuvant. *Vaccine* **33**, 346–353 (2015).
- 13. Ricciardi, A., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. A vaccine consisting of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B formulated in Montanide ISA 720 VG induces high level protection against murine schistosomiasis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **16**, (2016).
- Sajid, M. *et al.* Functional expression and characterization of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B and its trans-activation by an endogenous asparaginyl endopeptidase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 131, 65–75 (2003).
- Correnti, J. M., Brindley, P. J. & Pearce, E. J. Long-term suppression of cathepsin B levels by RNA interference retards schistosome growth. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 143, 209–215 (2005).
- Toso, J. F. *et al.* Phase I Study of the Intravenous Administration of Attenuated Salmonella typhimurium to Patients With Metastatic Melanoma . *J. Clin. Oncol.* 20, 142– 152 (2002).

- Makvandi, M. *et al.* Expression of Salmonella typhimurium and Escherichia coli flagellin protein and its functional characterization as an adjuvant. *Microb. Pathog.* **118**, 87–90 (2018).
- 18. Hayashi, F. *et al.* The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Tolllike receptor 5. *Nature* **410**, 1099–1103 (2001).
- 19. Poltorak, A. *et al.* Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: Mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science (80-.).* **282**, 2085–2088 (1998).
- Clark-Curtiss, J. E. & Curtiss, R. Salmonella Vaccines: Conduits for Protective Antigens . J. Immunol. 200, 39–48 (2018).
- 21. Galen, J. E., Buskirk, A. D., Tennant, S. M. & Pasetti, M. F. Live Attenuated Human Salmonella Vaccine Candidates: Tracking the Pathogen in Natural Infection and Stimulation of Host Immunity. *EcoSal Plus* **7**, (2016).
- Panthel, K., Meinel, K. M., Sevil Domènech, V. E., Trülzsch, K. & Rüssmann, H. Salmonella type III-mediated heterologous antigen delivery: a versatile oral vaccination strategy to induce cellular immunity against infectious agents and tumors. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 298, 99–103 (2008).
- 23. Jepson, M. A. & Clark, M. A. The role of M cells in Salmonella infection. *Microbes Infect.* **3**, 1183–1190 (2001).
- 24. Hohmann, E. L., Oletta, C. A., Loomis, W. P. & Miller, S. I. Macrophage-inducible expression of a model antigen in Salmonella typhimurium enhances immunogenicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **92**, 2904–2908 (1995).
- Penha Filho, R. A. C. *et al.* Humoral and cellular immune response generated by different vaccine programs before and after Salmonella Enteritidis challenge in chickens. *Vaccine* 30, 7637–7643 (2012).
- Sztein, M. B. Cell-mediated immunity and antibody responses elicited by attenuated Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi strains used as live oral vaccines in humans. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 45, S15–S19 (2007).
- Miller, S. I., Pulkkinen, W. S., Selsted, M. E. & Mekalanos, J. J. Characterization of defensin resistance phenotypes associated with mutations in the phoP virulence regulon of Salmonella typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 58, 3706–3710 (1990).
- 28. Gentschev, I. *et al.* Vivotif--a 'magic shield' for protection against typhoid fever and delivery of heterologous antigens. *Chemotherapy* **53**, 177–180 (2007).
- 29. Chen, G. *et al.* Oral delivery of the Sj23LHD-GST antigen by Salmonella typhimurium type III secretion system protects against Schistosoma japonicum infection in mice. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **5**, (2011).
- Yam, K. K. *et al.* AS03-adjuvanted, very-low-dose influenza vaccines induce distinctive immune responses compared to unadjuvanted high-dose vaccines in BALB/c mice. *Front. Immunol.* 6, 207 (2015).
- 31. Frey, A., Di Canzio, J. & Zurakowski, D. A statistically defined endpoint titer determination method for immunoassays. *J. Immunol. Methods* **221**, 35–41 (1998).

- 32. Tucker, M. S., Karunaratne, L. B., Lewis, F. A., Freitas, T. C. & Liang, Y. san. Schistosomiasis. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* **103**, (2013).
- 33. Cronan, M. R. *et al.* An explant technique for high-resolution imaging and manipulation of mycobacterial granulomas. *Nat. Methods* **15**, 1098–1107 (2018).
- 34. Ebenezer, J. A. *et al.* Periostin as a marker of mucosal remodelling in chronic rhinosinusitis. *Rhinology* **55**, 234–241 (2017).
- 35. LoVerde, P. T. & Chen, L. Schistosome female reproductive development. *Parasitol. Today* **7**, 303–308 (1991).
- 36. Elbaz, T. & Esmat, G. Hepatic and intestinal schistosomiasis. *J. Adv. Res.* **4**, 445–452 (2013).
- 37. Mohamed, A. R., Al Karawi, M. & Yasawy, M. I. Schistosomal colonic disease. *Gut* **31**, 439–442 (1990).
- 38. Ibarra, J. A. & Steele-Mortimer, O. Salmonella–the ultimate insider. Salmonella virulence factors that modulate intracellular survival. *Cell. Microbiol.* **11**, 1579–1586 (2009).
- Haraga, A., Ohlson, M. B. & Miller, S. I. Salmonellae interplay with host cells. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6, 53–66 (2008).
- 40. Gerlach, R. G. & Hensel, M. Salmonella pathogenicity islands in host specificity, host pathogen-interactions and antibiotics resistance of Salmonella enterica. *Berl. Munch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.* **120**, 317 (2007).
- 41. Lee, A. K., Detweiler, C. S. & Falkow, S. OmpR regulates the two-component system SsrA-SsrB in Salmonella pathogenicity island 2. *J. Bacteriol.* **182**, 771–781 (2000).
- 42. Xiong, G. *et al.* Novel cancer vaccine based on genes of Salmonella pathogenicity island 2. *Int. J. cancer* **126**, 2622–2634 (2010).
- 43. Beaumier, C. M., Gillespie, P. M., Hotez, P. J. & Bottazzi, M. E. New vaccines for neglected parasitic diseases and dengue. *Transl. Res.* **162**, 144–155 (2013).
- 44. Tendler, M. & Simpson, A. J. G. The biotechnology-value chain: development of Sm14 as a schistosomiasis vaccine. *Acta Trop.* **108**, 263–266 (2008).
- 45. Pearson, M. S. *et al.* Enhanced Protective Efficacy of a Chimeric Form of the Schistosomiasis Vaccine Antigen Sm-TSP-2. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **6**, 1564 (2012).
- 46. Tran, M. H. *et al.* Tetraspanins on the surface of Schistosoma mansoni are protective antigens against schistosomiasis. *Nat. Med.* **12**, 835–840 (2006).
- 47. Ahmad, G., Torben, W., Zhang, W., Wyatt, M. & Siddiqui, A. A. Sm-p80-based DNA vaccine formulation induces potent protective immunity against Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasite Immunol.* (2009) doi:10.1111/j.1365-3024.2008.001091.x.
- 48. Su, F., Patel, G. B., Hu, S. & Chen, W. Induction of mucosal immunity through systemic immunization: Phantom or reality? *Hum. Vaccin. Immunother.* **12**, 1070–1079 (2016).
- 49. Wahid, R. *et al.* Oral priming with Salmonella typhi vaccine strain CVD 909 followed by parenteral boost with the S. Typhi Vi capsular polysaccharide vaccine induces CD27+ IgD- S. Typhi-specific IgA and IgG B memory cells in humans. *Clin. Immunol.* 138, 187–200 (2011).

- 50. Grzych, J. M. *et al.* IgA antibodies to a protective antigen in human Schistosomiasis mansoni. *J. Immunol.* **150**, 527–35 (1993).
- Mangold, B. L. & Dean, D. A. Passive transfer with serum and IgG antibodies of irradiated cercaria-induced resistance against Schistosoma mansoni in mice. *J. Immunol.* 136, 2644–2648 (1986).
- 52. de Melo, T. T., de Sena, I. C., Araujo, N. & Fonseca, C. T. Antibodies are involved in the protective immunity induced in mice by Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula tegument (Smteg) immunization. *Parasite Immunol.* **36**, 107–111 (2014).
- Çuburu, N. *et al.* A prime-pull-amplify vaccination strategy to maximize induction of circulating and genital-resident intraepithelial CD8+ memory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 202, 1250–1264 (2019).
- 54. Pearce, E. J. *et al.* Th2 response polarization during infection with the helminth parasite Schistosoma mansoni. *Immunol. Rev.* **201**, 117–126 (2004).
- 55. El Ridi, R. *et al.* Cysteine peptidases as schistosomiasis vaccines with inbuilt adjuvanticity. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- 56. Ricciardi, A., Zelt, N. H., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Immune mechanisms involved in schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B vaccine induced protection in mice. *Front. Immunol.* **9**, (2018).
- 57. Wang, J., Harley, R. & Galen, J. Novel methods for expression of foreign antigens in live vector vaccines. (2013).
- 58. Glenting, J. & Wessels, S. Ensuring safety of DNA vaccines. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **4**, 26 (2005).
- 59. Hindle, Z. *et al.* Characterization of Salmonella enterica derivatives harboring defined aroC and Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 type III secretion system (ssaV) mutations by immunization of healthy volunteers. *Infect. Immun.* **70**, 3457–3467 (2002).

2.10 FIGURES AND TABLES

| Plasmid | Promoter | Secretory Signal | Protein | |
|-------------|----------|------------------|----------------|------|
| Lac_SopE2 | Lac | | | |
| nirB_SopE2 | nirB | SonE2 | | |
| pagC_SopE2 | pagC | 50pE2 | | |
| SopE2_SopE2 | SopE2 | | | |
| Lac_SspH1 | Lac | | | |
| nirB_SspH1 | nirB | SspH1 | | |
| pagC_SspH1 | pagC | | | |
| SspH1_SspH1 | SspH1 | | Sm-Cathepsin B | eGFP |
| SspH2_SspH2 | | SspH2 | | |
| SteA_SteA | SteA | | | |
| SteB_SteB | SteB | | | |
| SteJ_SteJ | | SteJ | | |
| SptP_SptP | | SptP | | |

Table 2.1. Recombinant Salmonella constructs.

Each plasmid construct was cloned to express *S. mansoni*-Cathepsin B (Sm-CatB) or enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) fused with a type-3 secretory signal from *S. enterica* Typhimurium and driven by promoters from *E. coli* or *S. enterica* Typhimurium. Construct nomenclature = 'Promoter Secretory Signal Protein of Interest'.



Figure 2.1. Plasmid map for recombinant YS1646 strains. The pQE-30 plasmid served as a backbone. The promoter and secretory signal were inserted between the Xho1 and Not1 restriction sites. The full-length Cathepsin B gene was inserted between the Not1 and Asc1 sites. An ampicillin resistance gene was used as a selectable marker.



Figure 2.2. Immunization schedule. Baseline serum was collected on day 0 for all mice. Each group consists of either a saline control, $EV \rightarrow IM$, $PO \rightarrow PO$, $IM \rightarrow IM$, $PO \rightarrow IM$, and $IM \rightarrow PO$ for the nirB_SspH1 and/or the SspH1_SspH1 construct. Mice receive 3 oral doses of YS1646 (1x10⁹ cfu/dose) or PBS every other day while others receive an intramuscular dose of 20 µg of CatB on day 5. Mice were bled and underwent a second round of vaccination three weeks later before being challenged with 150 *S. mansoni* cercaria by tail penetration. All animals were sacrificed 6 – 7 weeks post-infection.



Figure 2.3. Expression of recombinant cathepsin B. A) The plasmids nirB_SspH1, SspH1_SspH1 and SteA_SteA were transformed into *Salmonella* strain YS1646. Whole bacteria lysates and monomicrobial culture supernatants were examined for the presence of CatB by western blot. B) The mouse macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 cells were infected with transformed YS1646 strains expressing eGFP as a marker for the capacity of promoter-T3SS pairs to support expression of a foreign protein. DAPI nuclear stain is represented in blue and eGFP is shown in green. Scale at 100 μ m. C) Mouse macrophage cells line RAW 264.7 cells were infected with selected plasmids from Table 1 and the presence of CatB protein was determined by western blotting.



Figure 2.4. Production of Sm-Cathepsin B specific antibodies prior to challenge. Serum anti-CatB IgG was measured by ELISA at weeks 0, 3 and 6 for groups that received the nirB_SspH1 construct (A) or the SspH1_SspH1 construct (B). Each group consists of either a saline control, $EV \rightarrow IM$, $PO \rightarrow PO$, $IM \rightarrow IM$, $PO \rightarrow IM$, and $IM \rightarrow PO$ for the nirB_SspH1 and/or the SspH1_SspH1 construct. These results represent between 8 – 16 animals/group from 2 independent experiments and are reported as the geometric mean with 95% confidence intervals. Significance bars for A and B are to the right of each graph. C) Serum anti-CatB IgG1 and IgG2c were measured by endpoint-dilution ELISA and expressed as the ratio of IgG1/IgG2c. D) Intestinal anti-CatB IgA in intestinal tissue was measured by ELISA and is reported as mean \pm standard error of the mean ng/gram. These results represent 5 – 7 animals per group. (*P < .05, **P < .01, ***P < .001 compared to the PBS group).



Figure 2.5. Cytokine production prior to challenge. Supernatant IL-5 (A) and IFN- γ (B) levels after stimulating splenocytes with rCatB for 72 hours were measured by QUANSYS multiplex ELISA. Each group consists of either a saline control, EV \rightarrow IM, PO \rightarrow PO, IM \rightarrow IM, PO \rightarrow IM, and IM \rightarrow PO for the nirB_SspH1 and/or the SspH1_SspH1 construct. These results represent 5 – 7 animals per group. Results are expressed as the mean \pm the standard error of the mean. (**P* < .05, ***P* < .01 compared to the PBS group).



Figure 2.6. Parasitologic burden. The reduction in worm counts (A) as well as the reduction in egg load per gram of liver (B) or intestine (C) are represented for mice in each group consisting of either a saline control, $EV \rightarrow IM$, $PO \rightarrow PO$, $IM \rightarrow IM$, $PO \rightarrow IM$, and $IM \rightarrow PO$ for the nirB_SspH1 and/or the SspH1_SspH1 construct. Worm and egg burdens were determined 7 weeks after cercarial challenge. These results represent between 8 – 16 animals/group from 2 independent experiments. (*P < .05, **P < .01, ***P < .001, ***P < .001 compared to the PBS group).

| Group | Granuloma size (x 10 ³ µm ²) | Abnormal egg morphology | |
|---------------------|---|-------------------------|--|
| | ± SEM | (%) ± SEM | |
| PBS | 62.2 ± 6.1 | 0 | |
| pQE-30 null + rCatB | 52.0 ± 6.9 | 18.9 ± 3.9 | |
| rCatB | 52.8 ± 10.4 | 12.6 ± 5.1 | |
| SspH1_SspH1 | 55.0 ± 8.5 | 25.0 ± 6.2 | |
| SspH1_SspH1 + rCatB | 47.3 ± 4.4 | $30.5\pm7.7^*$ | |
| rCatB + SspH1_SspH1 | 49.8 ± 14.3 | $28.6\pm6.8^*$ | |
| nirB_SspH1 | $32.9 \pm 2.0^{**}$ | $75.9 \pm 7.6^{****}$ | |
| nirB_SspH1 + rCatB | $34.7 \pm 3.4^{**}$ | $79.4 \pm 4.2^{****}$ | |
| rCatB + nirB_SspH1 | $39.2 \pm 3.7^{*}$ | $71.9 \pm 6.0^{****}$ | |

Table 2.2. Granuloma size and egg morphology.

Liver granuloma area (x10³ μ m²) and egg morphology (i.e.: loss of internal structures, shrinkage, crenelated periphery) were assessed. Each group consists of either a saline control, EV \rightarrow IM, PO \rightarrow PO, IM \rightarrow IM, PO \rightarrow IM, and IM \rightarrow PO for the nirB_SspH1 and/or the SspH1_SspH1 construct. SEM represents the standard error of the mean. (**P*<.05, ***P*<.01, *****P*<.0001 compared to the PBS group).

2.11 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

| Cytokine | PBS | pQE30-null | rCatB | NirB_SspH1 | NirB_SspH1 | rCatB + |
|----------|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|-----------------|
| (pg/mL) | | + rCatB | | | + rCatB | NirB_SspH1 |
| IL-2 | 424.5 ± 57.9 | 190.8 ± 62.3 | 426.9 ± 149.7 | 174.1 ± 23.5 | 324.6 ± 52.7 | 174.8 ± 62.0 |
| IL-4 | 20.6 ± 2.2 | 27.5 ± 6.4 | 18.0 ± 3.2 | 35.4 ± 7.6 | 22.8 ± 3.6 | 10.3 ± 1.7 |
| IL-10 | 10.2 ± 0.9 | 23.2 ± 4.3 | 29.7 ± 5.9 | 21.6 ± 2.4 | 21.9 ± 1.5 | 16.0 ± 3.1 |
| IL-12p70 | 34.5 ± 12.1 | 21.5 ± 5.8 | 16.5 ± 0.8 | $15.8\pm0^{\#}$ | 16.2 ± 0.4 | $15.8\pm0^{\#}$ |
| IL-13 | 23.0 ± 7.1 | 22.9 ± 8.7 | 75.1 ± 17.4 | 16.9 ± 6.1 | 68.8 ± 33.4 | 13.1 ± 2.4 |
| IL-17 | 19.4 ± 5.3 | $14.1 \pm 0^{\#}$ | 25.3 ± 11.0 | $14.1 \pm 0^{\#}$ | 14.5 ± 0.4 | 14.3 ± 0.2 |
| TNFα | 26.7 ± 6.2 | 36.1 ± 6.8 | 24.0 ± 5.9 | 17.1 ± 3.0 | 26.1 ± 3.8 | 32.0 ± 5.3 |

Supplementary Table 2.1. Other cytokine production prior to challenge.

Supernatant levels of different cytokines after stimulating splenocytes with rCatB for 72 hours were measured by QUANSYS multiplex ELISA. These results represent 5 - 7 animals per group. Results are expressed as the mean \pm the standard error of the mean.

[#]Values were below the limit of detection.

| Supplementary | Table 2.2. | Primers use | d in d | construct | design. |
|---------------|-------------|--------------------|--------|------------|---------|
| Supplementary | 1 4010 4.4. | I I IIIICI 5 USC | u m v | compet acc | acoigni |

| | Forward Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$ | Reverse Primer $(3' \rightarrow 5')$ | Source |
|--------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------|
| SopE2 promoter and | CCGCTCGAGTAAAAATGTT | CATGGTAGTTCTCCTTTTAG | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | CCTCGATAAA | | |
| SptP promoter and | CGCCTCGAGTTTACGCTGA | САТТТТТСТСТССТСАТАСТТТА | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | CTCATTGG | | |
| SseJ promoter and | CGCCTCGAGACATAAAACA | CGCCTCGAGACATAAAACACT | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | CTAGCACT | AGCACT | |
| SspH1 promoter and | CGCCTCGAGCGCTATATCA | CTCTGCGGCCGCGGTAAGACC | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | CCAAAAC | TGACGCTC | |
| SspH2 promoter and | CGCCTCGAGGTTTGTGCGT | CTCTGCGGCCGCATTCAGGCA | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | CGTAT | GGCACGCA | |
| SteA promoter and | CGCCTCGAGGTTTCGCCGC | CTCTGCGGCCGCATAATTGTCC | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | ATGTTG | AAATAGT | |
| SteB promoter and | CGCCTCGAGCGCTCCAGCG | CTCTGCGGCCGCTCTGACATTA | YS1646 |
| secretory signal | CTTCGA | CCATTT | |
| Lac promoter | CGCCTCGAGCATTAGGCAC | GTGGAATTGTGAGCGGATAAC | Sequence is |
| | CCCAGGCTTTACACTTTATG | AATTTCACACAGGAAACAGCT | in the |
| | CTTCCGGCTCGTATGTTGTG | ATGACCATGACTAACATAACA | primers |
| | TGGAATTGTGAGCGGATAA | CTATCCAC | |
| nirB promoter | CGCCTCGAGTTGTGGTTAC | CGCGCGGCCGCCGGATCTTTA | DH5α <i>E</i> . |
| | CGGCCCGAT | CTCGCATTAC | coli |
| pagC promoter | CGCCTCGAGGTTAACCACT | AACAACTCCT TAATACTACT | YS1646 |
| | СТТААТАА | | |
| SopE2 Secretion | GGCGGTAATAGAAAAGAA | AAGTCGCGGCCGCCGGATCTT | YS1646 |
| Signal | ATCGAGGCAAAAATGACTA | TACTCGC | |
| | ACATAACACTATCCAC | | |
| SspH1 Secretion | GGCGGTAATAGAAAAGAA | CTCTGCGGCCGCGGTAAGACC | YS1646 |
| Signal | ATCGAGGCAAAAATGTTTA | TGACGCTC | |
| | ATATCCGCAATACACAACC | | |
| | ТТ | | |
| Cathepsin B | CGCGCGGCCGCGCACATCT | AGTCGGCGCGCCGTGGTGGTG | S. mansoni |
| | CTGTTAAAAACGAA | GTGGTGGTGCGG | |
| eGFP | CGCGCGGCCGCGGTGAGCA | AGTCGGCGCGCCTTACTTGTAC | pEGFP_C1 |
| | AGGGCGAG | AGCTCGTC | |



Supplementary Figure 2.1. Histological staining of liver granulomas. Representative images of H&E staining of granulomas from livers of vaccinated mice (A) and saline control mice (B). Panel A represents the PO \rightarrow IM group for the nirB_SspH1 construct. Scale is set to 100 µm.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER 3

In Chapter 2, we described the development of a prophylactic schistosomiasis vaccine using a prime-boost strategy with oral doses of attenuated Salmonella Typhimurium strain YS1646 and intramuscular dosing of recombinant Cathepsin B. We demonstrated that priming with plasmidmediated expression of Cathepsin B from the nirB_SspH1 construct followed by an unadjuvanted protein boost was capable of eliciting both systemic and mucosal humoral responses. IgG antibody subtypes indicated a mixed T_H1/T_H2 immune profile which was corroborated by cytokine secretions in ex vivo restimulated splenocytes. Most importantly, prime-boost vaccination led to significant parasite burden reductions in a mouse model of infection, far surpassing established WHO thresholds along with other pre-clinical data in similar models. These findings encouraged further research into the capabilities of our candidate vaccine. To date, only one other schistosomiasis vaccine has been tested for therapeutic activity and this study was performed in a non-human primate animal model. Therefore, in the following chapter, we sought to examine whether our vaccine displayed any therapeutic effect in a mouse model of chronic schistosomiasis. This chapter describes the efficacy of a shortened vaccination schedule for both prophylaxis and disease treatment. It also describes changes in the immune landscape of chronically infected mice following therapeutic vaccination with the nirB_SspH1 construct using a multimodal approach.

This chapter was adapted from the following manuscript: Therapeutic activity of a *Salmonella*-vectored *Schistosoma mansoni* vaccine in a mouse model of chronic infection. **Hassan AS**, *et al. Vaccine* 39(39): 5580-5588 (2021).

CHAPTER 3

Therapeutic activity of a *Salmonella*-vectored *Schistosoma mansoni* vaccine in a mouse model of chronic infection

Adam S. Hassan^{a,b}, Dilhan J. Perera^{b,c}, Brian J. Ward^{a,b,c}, Momar Ndao^{a,b,c}

- a. Department of Microbiology & Immunology, McGill University, Montreal
- b. Infectious Diseases and Immunity in Global Health (IDIGH), Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal
- c. Division of Experimental Medicine, McGill University, Montreal

Vaccine. 2021 September 15;39(39):5580-5588. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.08.031 Copyright © 2021. Elsevier Ltd.

3.1 ABSTRACT

Schistosomiasis is an important fresh-water-borne parasitic disease caused by trematode worms of the genus Schistosoma. With >250 million people infected worldwide and approximately 800 million people at risk, the World Health Organization considers schistosomiasis to be the most important human helminth infection. Several prophylactic non-living vaccines are in pre-clinical and clinical development, but only one has been assessed for therapeutic effect in an animal model with modest results. Live attenuated Salmonella have multiple potential advantages as vaccine vectors. We have engineered an attenuated Salmonella enterica Typhimurium strain (YS1646) to produce a vaccine that targets the parasite digestive enzyme Cathepsin B (CatB). A multi-modality immunization schedule was used in chronically infected mice that included three oral (PO) doses of this CatB-bearing YS1646 strain on days one, three, and five as well as an intramuscular (IM) dose of recombinant CatB on day one. Parasite burden (worm count, intestinal and liver egg numbers) were 46.5 - 50.3% lower than in control animals 1 month post-vaccination and relative reductions further increased to 63.9 - 73.3% at 2 months. Serum anti-CatB IgG increased significantly after vaccination with the development of a more balanced T_H1/T_H2 pattern of response (i.e.: a shift in the IgG1:IgG2c ratio). Compared to control animals, a broad and robust CatB-specific cytokine/chemokine response was seen in splenocytes isolated 1 month postvaccination. A vaccine that has both prophylactic and therapeutic activity would be ideal for use in conjunction with mass treatment campaigns with praziguantel in schistosome-endemic countries.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Schistosomiasis is a parasitic disease caused by several species of the fresh-water helminth *Schistosoma*. Currently, there are over 250 million affected individuals worldwide and approximately 800 million individuals at risk of infection¹. Infections with *S. mansoni* are the most widespread, with several endemic countries in Africa, the Middle East, South and Central America and parts of the Caribbean². The symptoms of chronic disease are attributable to prolonged egg deposition with ensuing inflammation in tissues such as the liver and intestine³. The chronic phase of schistosomiasis is characterized by sequestration of eggs within inflammatory granulomas and T_H2-dominated immunity caused by the release of soluble egg antigens.

The only treatment for schistosomiasis at the current time is the broad-spectrum anti-helminthic praziquantel (PZQ) that paralyzes the adult worms⁴. Although PZQ has reported cure rates varying from 60 - 90% and egg reduction rates of 80 - 95% at a single dose of 40 mg/kg, there are obvious concerns about over-reliance on a single drug⁴. This is particularly true since reinfection in endemic areas is common, leading to repeated courses of therapy with the same drug. While not yet observed clinically, PZQ resistance has been induced experimentally both *in vitro* and in murine studies⁵. Unfortunately, inadequate infrastructure and resources in many endemic regions have limited the long-term effectiveness of mass drug administration (MDA) programs and other control measures⁶.

The need for a schistosomiasis vaccine is therefore urgent. A small number of prophylactic vaccines have entered clinical trials in recent years and several others have shown promise in preclinical studies² including the multi-modal approach based on an attenuated *Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium (YS1646) that is the focus of this work⁷. While most other candidate vaccines target the outer surface of the adult worms (i.e.: tegument), we chose a digestive enzyme, Cathepsin B (CatB) that is crucial for the parasite's ability to digest host blood macromolecules at multiple life stages (i.e.: migrating schistosomula, adult worms) and targeting of CatB by RNA interference has led to stunting of parasite growth^{8,9}. Used prophylactically in a 3-week primeboost regimen, this approach led to significant reductions in parasite burden of up to 90% in a mouse challenge model⁷. Given its novel delivery method, it was of obvious interest to determine whether or not this vaccine could also be used therapeutically. The therapeutic potential of only

one other *S. mansoni* vaccine candidate, Sm-p80, has been assessed with modest results in a nonhuman primate model¹⁰.

In the current work, we report that vaccination of chronically infected C57BL/6 mice resulted in a significant reduction in parasite burden compared to control animals that appeared to progress over time. Vaccination also resulted in a shift in the overall pattern of humoral and cell-mediated immunity response to the targeted antigen. To our knowledge, this is the first report of a candidate therapeutic *S. mansoni* vaccine in a murine model of chronic infection.

3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.3.1 Ethics statement

All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with Institutional Animal Care and Use Guidelines and were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at McGill University (Animal Use Protocol 7625) as well as the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

3.3.2 Chronic Schistosoma mansoni murine infection

Biomphalaria glabrata snails (PR-1 strain) infected with *S. mansoni* were obtained from the Schistosomiasis Resource Center of the Biomedical Research Institute (Rockville, MD) through NIH-NIAID Contract HHSN272201700014I for distribution through BEI Resources. Female 6 – 8-week-old C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Senneville, QC). Naïve mice were infected with 150 cercaria by tail exposure as previously described⁷ and left to develop chronic infection for a period of two or four months prior to therapeutic vaccination. All animals were sacrificed either one or two months post-vaccination as previously described⁷. For prophylactic vaccination studies, mice were challenged 3 weeks post-vaccination and sacrificed 7 weeks post-infection. Briefly, parasite burden was assessed by manual counting of adult worms in the portal system and mesenteric veins as well as egg burden calculation through enzymatic digestion of liver and intestinal segments.

3.3.3 Mouse vaccination

Oral immunization (PO) was performed using recombinant S. enterica Typhimurium YS1646 containing the pQE-30 plasmid with the promoter *nirB* and the secretory signal SspH1fused to the full-length S. mansoni cathepsin B gene. Construction of the S. Typhimurium vector has been described previously⁷. The recombinant Salmonella vector used for oral dosing is nirB_SspH1_CatB which will be abbreviated to nirB_SspH1. Intramuscular (IM) immunization was performed using a purified recombinant S. mansoni cathepsin B (rCatB) cloned and expressed in *Pichia pastoris* as previously described¹¹. A multimodal vaccination schedule previously demonstrated to be effective in a vaccination/challenge mouse model of C. difficile was first verified in our prophylactic S. mansoni vaccination/challenge model¹². This approach consisted of PO dosing by gavage every other day (200 μ L containing 1x10⁹ colony-forming units (cfu)/dose) for three days (D1, D3, D5) and intramuscular (IM) dosing once on D1 (20 µg rCatB in 50 µL PBS) (Figure 3.1). Each experiment included a PBS control group. This schedule was utilized for both prophylactic and therapeutic vaccination experiments. Additionally, the preliminary prophylactic vaccination/challenge experiments included PO only (nirB_SspH1) and IM only (pQE-null + rCatB) dosing groups as controls. Animal numbers used for each outcome at each time point ranged from 8-10 and are indicated in the Figure legends.

3.3.4 Serum antibody production by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

3.3.4.1 Serum CatB-specific Total IgG

Cathepsin B-specific IgG was assessed by ELISA as previously described⁷. Briefly, blood was collected via saphenous bleed pre-infection, pre-vaccination and upon sacrifice in microtainer serum separator tubes (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Serum was obtained following the manufacturer's instructions and frozen at -20° C in aliquots until used in assays. Plates were coated overnight at a concentration of 0.5 µg/mL of rCatB in 100 mM bicarbonate/carbonate buffer at pH 9.6 (50µL/well) at 4°C. Each ELISA plate contained a standard curve of murine total IgG (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) diluted 2-fold from a starting concentration of 2,000 ng/mL. Each sample was run individually and in duplicate. Serum samples were diluted 1:50 and HRP-conjugated anti-mouse IgG (Sigma Aldrich) was diluted 1:20,000. Optical density (OD) was

measured at 450 nm with an EL800 microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT). Concentrations of CatB-specific total IgG were calculated by extrapolation from the standard curve. These results are expressed as ng/mL.

3.3.4.2 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 and IgG2c

CatB-specific IgG1 and IgG2c titres were assessed as above by using standard curves of either purified murine IgG1 (Sigma Aldrich) or an IgG2c isotype control (Southern Biotechnologies Associates, Birmingham, AL) also diluted 2-fold starting at 2,000 ng/mL. ELISA were completed using goat anti-mouse IgG1-HRP or goat anti-mouse IgG2c-HRP (Southern Biotechnologies Associates), diluted 1:20,000. The concentrations of IgG subtypes were calculated by extrapolation from the standard curves. These results are presented as a ratio of IgG1/IgG2c.

3.3.4.3 Serum total IgE

Total serum IgE levels were determined by ELISA using the BD OptEIATM Set Mouse IgE Kit (BD, San Diego, CA) following the manufacturer's directions as previously described¹³. Briefly, Immunolon 2HB plates were coated with anti-mouse IgE capture antibody in coating buffer at a 1:250 dilution at 4°C overnight. Plates were then washed three times (3x) with PBS-Tween 20 (0.05%; Fisher Scientific) and incubated with blocking buffer (10% fetal bovine serum (Wisent Bio Products) in PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature (RT). After washing (3x), standards and serum samples were added and left to incubate for 2 hours at room temperature. After washing (5x), biotinylated anti-mouse IgE and streptavidin-HRP were mixed and added to the plates for 1 hour at RT. After a final washing (7x), 3,3',5,5'-tetramethyl benzidine (TMB) substrate (100 μ L/well; Millipore, Billerica, MA) was used for detection followed by 0.5 M H₂SO₄ after 15 minutes (50 μ L/well; Fisher Scientific). OD₄₅₀ was measured and concentration of total IgE titres was calculated by extrapolation from the standard curve. These results are expressed as ng/mL.

3.3.5 Cell-mediated response by multiplex ELISA

CatB-specific cytokine and chemokine production were assessed in mice 1 month postvaccination. Splenocytes were isolated as previously described ⁷ and restimulated *ex vivo* with 2.5 μ g/mL of rCatB for 72 hours. Supernatant cytokine/chemokine levels were measured using the Qplex Mouse Cytokine-Screen (16-plex) multiplex ELISA following the manufacturer's recommendations (Quansys Biosciences, Logan, UT). This assay included IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-17, IFN γ , TNF α , MCP-1 (CCL2), MIP-1 α (CCL3), GM-CSF, and RANTES (CCL5).

3.3.6 Histopathological assessment

3.3.6.1 H&E staining

Liver sections (1 per mouse) were harvested and placed in 10% buffered formalin phosphate (Fisher Scientific) and processed for histopathology to assess mean egg granuloma size and morphology using Zen Blue Software (version 2.5.75.0; Zeiss) as previously described ⁷. Mean areas are presented as $x10^3 \ \mu\text{m}^2 \pm$ standard error of the mean (SEM). Egg morphology was classified by an operator blinded to group assignment (AH) as abnormal if there was loss of internal structure or peripheral crenelation. Abnormal eggs are reported as a percent of the total egg count (\pm SEM) per histopathological sample.

3.3.6.2 PicroSirius Red staining

Slides were processed similarly as mentioned above for all steps prior to staining. Slides were hydrated and then stained with haematoxylin for 10 seconds. After washing under running water for 2 minutes, slides were stained with 0.1% PicroSirius Red solution for one hour (Direct Red 80; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). 6-8 visual fields per mouse were imaged using Zen Blue Software (version 2.5.75.0; Zeiss) and the percentage of fibrotic area over the total area was measured using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health). Mean percentages are presented \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

3.3.7 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6 software (La Jolla, CA). Results are represented by at least two independent experiments (see Figure legends for details). Parasite

burden efficacy outcomes (worm number, egg counts in liver and intestinal tissues) following prophylactic vaccination were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's correction for multiple comparisons. All other outcomes were analyzed by the Mann-Whitney U test. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 Efficacy of rapid, multimodal vaccination in a prophylactic model

We first sought to determine the efficacy of the multimodal vaccination schedule which differed substantially from our previous work that used a 3-week prime-boost regimen⁷. Mean worm, hepatic egg and intestinal egg burden were assessed 7 weeks post-infection in all groups and relative reductions were compared to the PBS-vaccinated control group. Mice that received multimodality vaccination were substantially protected from S. mansoni challenge. All parasitologic outcomes were generally comparable to those seen with the longer, prime-boost schedule ⁷: compared to the control animals, there were significant reductions in adult worms 77.8 \pm 7.9% (7.3 \pm 4.2 vs. control 32.9 \pm 5.4, P < 0.0001), hepatic eggs 75.7 \pm 17.2% (1985 \pm 786.5 eggs/g vs. control 8168.7 \pm 603, P < 0.0001), and intestinal eggs 75.1 \pm 7.6% (2111 \pm 373.8 eggs/g vs. control 8445.2 \pm 257.1, P < 0.0001) (Figure 3.2). When compared to either IM or PO immunization alone, most of the effect of vaccination was attributable to the YS1646 oral component of the multimodality schedule but the greatest impact on all parasitologic outcomes was consistently seen in the animals exposed to CatB by both IM and PO (Figure 3.2). The administration of non-recombinant Salmonella combined with IM recombinant CatB had no significant effects, therefore eliminating the possibility of non-specific YS1646-mediated protection. Thus, a shortened, multimodal vaccination schedule was also effective in reducing parasite burden in our model.

3.4.2 Parasite burden after therapeutic vaccination

The multimodal approach (IM + PO) was selected as the most optimal treatment for all therapeutic vaccination experiments. Compared to the control group, the chronically infected mice had a significantly lower worm burden ($46.5 \pm 4.9\%$) at one month after vaccination (10.6 ± 3.3 worms

vs. control 22.8 ± 5.4, *P* < 0.01), as well as 46.7 ± 8.7% and 50.3 ± 15.3% fewer eggs in the liver (4383.6 ± 332.5 eggs/g vs. control 9386.7 ± 639.1, *P* < 0.01) and intestines respectively (4462.9 ± 560.3 eggs/g vs. control 8987.5 ± 420.2, *P* < 0.01) (**Figure 3.3 A-C**). At 2 months post-vaccination, the vaccinated mice had even greater relative reductions in worm numbers (69.6 ± 8.1%, 6.1 ± 2.0 worms vs. control 20.1 ± 3.6, *P* < 0.01) as well as hepatic (73.3 ± 6.0%; 3053.3 ± 619.1 eggs/g vs. control 11433.5 ± 820.8), and intestinal egg burdens (63.9 ± 3.1%; 3604.9 ± 533.6 eggs/g vs. control 9986.2 ± 793.1) (**Figure 3.3 D-F**). These data reflect the 2-month infection time-point. The same trend was observed in the 4-month infection time-point as well (**Supplementary Figure 3.1**). Histopathologic examination of the livers revealed a larger mean granuloma size in the control mice compared to the vaccinated group (35.8 ± 3.0 x 10³ µm² vs. 19.7 ± 2.0 x 10³ µm², *P* < 0.001) (**Figure 3.4A**). Vaccinated mice also had a significantly higher percentage of abnormal eggs compared to the PBS control group (61.6 ± 16.2 vs. control 12.5 ± 9.7, *P* < 0.05) (**Figure 3.4B**). Liver fibrosis was assessed by PicroSirius Red staining to measure the impact on collagen deposition. Vaccinated mice had a significantly lower percentage of fibrotic surface area compared to the PBS control group (13.7 ± 1.9% vs. control 30.2 ± 3.0%, *P* < 0.01) (**Figure 3.4C**).

3.4.3 Humoral responses after therapeutic vaccination

Serum samples were collected prior to vaccination and upon sacrifice. Mice had no detectable serum anti-CatB IgG antibodies (below the limit of detection (LOD) of the ELISA used) prior to infection but titres rose significantly with infection (14206.8 ± 1101.9 ng/mL and 13864.6 ± 1524.8 ng/mL at 2- and 4-months post-infection respectively: both p<0.001). Serum anti-CatB levels of the PBS-treated mice did not change after mock vaccination but rose significantly following vaccination in both the 2- and 4-month infected animals: 14206.8 ± 1101.9 ng/mL to 17866.8 ± 1051.7 ng/mL (**Figure 3.5A**) and 13864.6 ± 1524.8 ng/mL to 18870 ± 1778 ng/mL (**Figure 3.5B**) respectively (both P < 0.05). In contrast to the relatively modest changes in total anti-CatB antibody titres in vaccination. In the mice that had been infected for 2 months, the IgG1/IgG2c ratio was dominated by a strong IgG1 response prior to and following PBS treatment as well as pre-vaccination for the experimental group: 3.0 ± 0.1 , 2.6 ± 0.1 , and 2.7 ± 0.2 respectively. Following vaccination, the increase in total anti-CatB IgG was largely attributable to

an increase in IgG2c that resulted in a marked decrease in the IgG1/IgG2c ratio in the animals vaccinated after 2 months of infection: 1.16 ± 0.04 (Figure 3.5C).

Following a 2-month infection period, serum total IgE was measured for control and experimental mice pre-vaccination and 1 month post-vaccination. We observed trends towards an increase over time for both groups. PBS control mice total IgE titres increased from 12569.8 ± 2796.2 ng/mL to 20559.2 ± 3248.2 ng/mL whereas vaccinated mice titres increased from 10458.9 ± 1397.7 ng/mL to 15917.7 ± 3327.6 ng/mL. We observed no significant difference between control and experimental mice prior to and following vaccination (**Figure 3.5D**).

3.4.4 Cytokine and chemokine responses

Cytokine and chemokine levels in splenocyte supernatants were analyzed by Quansys multiplex ELISA following *ex vivo* restimulation with rCatB for control and experimental mice 1 month post-vaccination. We observed significant increases in T_H1-associated cytokine levels in vaccinated animals compared to the control group. Of particular note, the levels of several proinflammatory cytokines were significantly increased: IL-1 α (23.3 ± 3.3 pg/mL vs. control 7.2 ± 0 pg/mL, *P* < 0.001), IL-1 β (99.2 ± 11.7 pg/mL vs. control 21.5 ± 2.4 pg/mL, *P* < 0.001), IL-6 (2000.5 ± 192.0 pg/mL vs. control 282.7 ± 65.4 pg/mL, *P* < 0.001), and TNF- α (59.4 ± 5.4 pg/mL vs. control 36.8 ± 2.8 pg/mL, *P* < 0.01). We also observed a strong increase in IFN γ levels (1931.8 ± 388.8 pg/mL vs. control 204.0 ± 71.6 pg/mL, *P* < 0.001). Interestingly, IL-2 levels in splenocyte supernatants were significantly lower in the vaccinated group (64.1 ± 16.7 pg/mL vs. control 176.7 ± 37.7 pg/mL, *P* < 0.01) (**Figure 3.6**).

Vaccination also resulted in substantial changed in some T_H2-associated and regulatory cytokine levels in the re-stimulated splenocyte supernatants: IL-5 (299.0 \pm 35.4 pg/mL vs. control 167.1 \pm 18.5 pg/mL, *P* < 0.01) and IL-10 (30.8 \pm 2.5 pg/mL vs. control 15.1 \pm 1.3 pg/mL, *P* < 0.001) (**Figure 3.6**).

The impact of vaccination on the supernatant chemokine levels was variable. We observed a slight decrease in CCL2 (MCP-1) levels (2361.5 \pm 106.4 pg/mL vs. control 2595.1 \pm 59.6 pg/mL, *P* <

0.05) and a much greater reduction in CCL3 (MIP-1 α) (33.5 ± 20.1 pg/mL vs. control 1279.8 ± 226.2 pg/mL, *P* < 0.0001). In contrast, supernatant CCL5 (RANTES) levels were increased in the vaccinated group (424.4 ± 46.2 pg/mL vs. control 255.8 ± 40.3 pg/mL, *P* < 0.05) (**Figure 3.6**). There were no significant differences between groups for IL-3, IL-4, IL-12, IL-17, and GM-CSF levels.

3.5 DISCUSSION

The S. mansoni digestive enzyme Cathepsin B (CatB) is needed for nutrient acquisition and maturation of the parasite, making it a promising candidate vaccine antigen. We have previously demonstrated the potential of recombinant CatB as a traditional prophylactic vaccine delivered IM with a number of adjuvants including CpG dinucleotides¹¹, Montanide ISA 720 VG¹⁴, and AddaVax, an MF59-like squalene adjuvant, as well as sulfated lactosyl archaeal archaeosomes (SLA)¹³ in a murine vaccination/challenge model. In these studies, the effectiveness for parasitologic outcomes ranging from 54 - 87%. Most recently, we demonstrated that delivery of CatB using an attenuated Salmonella Typhimurium strain (YS1646) in a 30-day prime-boost strategy can achieve reductions in parasite burden as high as 93% in the same model⁷. In the current work, we sought to determine whether or not a YS1646-based vaccination strategy could be shortened to only 5 days and could be used therapeutically in a model of chronic schistosomiasis. The evaluation of therapeutic vaccine efficacy is intrinsically more complex than assessing prophylaxis, particularly in a chronic infection like schistosomiasis in which eggs are deposited and accumulate in the tissues of the infected host continuously once the adult females reach maturity. Nonetheless, when the parasite burden was assessed in our mouse model 1- or 2-months post-vaccination, we observed significant impact on all parasitologic outcomes, ranging from 46 -50% after 1 month and increasing to 55 - 70% at 2 months post-vaccination relative to control animals. In terms of absolute parasite burden, we observed a trend towards a progressive decrease in worm and tissue egg burden over time after vaccination. While we are unable to determine if this therapeutic vaccination regimen would lead eventually to a cure, these observations suggest a durable effect of vaccination on the host immune response that appears to be detrimental to the parasite.

It is also plausible that our vaccine had an anti-fecundity effect on the female worms, arresting or interfering with the egg-laying process. Indeed, in our prior work, we observed a high rate of morphologically abnormal eggs as well as a significant decrease in egg granuloma size in animals challenged after prophylactic vaccination⁷. These same effects were observed once more in our chronic infection model after therapeutic vaccination. Granuloma formation is mediated by the release of soluble egg antigens (SEA) and serves as a defense mechanism for the host^{1,3}. Since CatB is not expressed by *S. mansoni* eggs, the morphologic changes and smaller granuloma size we observed may reflect a change in the host immune response and/or reduced viability of the eggs due to decreased fitness of the female worms. Although the profile of the immune response was clearly altered by therapeutic vaccination, these changes would be predicted to result in more rather than less inflammation. It is therefore of interest that immature and dead *S. mansoni* eggs have recently been reported to induce a weak granulomatous response and that cellular recruitment into granulomas is intrinsically linked to egg antigen secretion¹⁵. These results raise the possibility that the YS1646-based therapeutic vaccine could also help to interrupt transmission through its impact on fecundity and egg viability.

The use of *Salmonella* Typhimurium YS1646 as a vaccine vector is attractive for several reasons. Live attenuated bacterial vectors provide an in-built adjuvanticity to the antigens they carry. Specifically, the YS1646 vector can stimulating the host immune system through TLR-4 and TLR-5 signalling via its attenuated LPS and flagellin respectively^{16,17}. We have previously demonstrated that recombinant CatB-bearing YS1646 strains are capable of inducing more balanced T_{H1}/T_{H2} humoral and cellular responses to CatB⁷. In the current study, we observed a vaccine-induced reversal of the typical parasite-driven IgG1-dominated IgG1/IgG2c ratio. This shift to a more balanced immunity in response to vaccination and an increase in the T_{H1} immune response could explain the observed reductions in parasite burden and may help to explain why the predominantly IgG1 anti-CatB response seen during natural infection do not appear to be effective in controlling the infection.

Mouse models have been extensively used to study the immunopathogenesis of schistosomiasis and have deepened our understanding of the human immune response to this family of helminths ¹. A large body of preclinical work has established that T_H1 responses are key to the induction of
a successful immune response against schistosomiasis in murine models^{11,18,19} while T_H2-type responses may play the larger prominent role during chronic infection and reinfection in humans²⁰. However, both exaggerated T_H1- and T_H2-biased responses can lead to severe pathology and death¹. Therefore, the optimal T cell immunity in chronic schistosomiasis is likely to be a balanced T_H1/T_H2 response. Infected mice treated with our vaccine displayed an increase in several T_H1associated cytokines such as IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-6, IFNy and TNFa compared to unvaccinated controls. These cytokines mediate inflammatory responses and may activate immune cells to counter the existing, non-protective T_H2-skewed immune responses. Indeed, the T_H2-biased and regulatory responses that characterize chronic schistosomiasis may be a compromise that favours the survival of both the host and the parasite long-term²¹. We and others have shown that recombinant Sm-CatB alone skews the overall immune response towards a T_H2 pattern while prophylactic prime-boost vaccination with YS1646 elicits a more mixed T_H1/T_H2 pattern response^{7,22}. After therapeutic vaccination in our chronic infection model, we also observed increases in anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-5 and IL-10 in the supernatants of splenocytes restimulated with CatB. Together, these observations suggest that our multimodal vaccination strategy was able to redirect the parasite-driven T_H2-skewed immune profile towards a more balanced response. These observations are consistent with the work of Karmakar et al. which showed that vaccination with adjuvanted Sm-p80 increases both $T_{\rm H1}$ and $T_{\rm H17}$ cytokine expression in baboon peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and T_H2 cytokine expression in lymph node cells¹⁰. Thus, while YS1646-based therapeutic vaccine showed considerable promise in our mouse model, the possible success of this strategy will only be proved in human trials due to differences in the protective mechanisms between mice and humans.

Although the preponderance of data favours a pivotal role for cellular immunity in both the immunopathology associated with chronic schistosomiasis and protection against *S. mansoni* reinfection^{1,20}, several studies have suggested a possible supportive role for antibodies as well^{23,24}. Indeed, recent studies have reported antibody-mediated resistance in rhesus macaques to infection with *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* with detrimental effects to adult worms which appear physiologically damaged^{25,26}. It has been demonstrated that Sm-CatB is utilized by schistosomula and adult worms to digest serum IgG as well⁹. Mice in our model had high titres of anti-CatB IgG prior to vaccination (primarily IgG1), but these titres increased following vaccination with a

marked shift towards IgG2c. Since these antibodies target a digestive enzyme, it is possible they result in decreased fitness or starvation of the adult worms leading to the observed changes in egg morphology. In addition to a possible supportive role of the humoral response in chronic schistosomiasis, the tendency of helminth antigens to elicit IgE responses has recently raised concerns about the induction of IgE responses by anti-helminth vaccines. Indeed, participants enrolled in a hookworm vaccine clinical trial suffered from allergic-like responses due to prior exposure to the vaccine antigen²⁷. It is therefore reassuring that we observed no significant change in total IgE production between vaccinated and control animals after therapeutic vaccination.

The current state of our candidate YS1646 vaccine strategy is not yet optimal. In particular, the expression of Sm-CatB in the transformed vector was plasmid-mediated (i.e.: pQE-30) which is likely to be present in multiple copies and contains an ampicillin-resistance gene. The integration of our construct into the genome of S. Typhimurium would permit removal of the antibiotic resistance gene as well as lead to more stable and predictable expression of our antigen²⁸. Of course, chromosomal integration of one or a small number of CatB gene copies could potentially reduce the amount of antigen produced by the YS1646 vector and limit its effectiveness in vivo. Differences between persistence in mice and humans might also limit the effectiveness of this strategy. In the early 1990s, YS1646 advanced to phase I clinical testing in subjects with unresponsive cancer as a possible treatment but was subsequently abandoned due to rapid clearance from the bloodstream after intravenous administration²⁹. Although this background substantially increases the likelihood that YS1646 can be administered orally with a large margin of safety, the limited survival of this bacterium in humans is very different from its biology in mice in which S. Typhimurium disseminates widely and can persist for weeks³⁰. While possibly limiting exposure to the vaccine antigen, short-lived local invasion of the gastrointestinal tract might be ideal to induce immunity without risk of long-term Salmonella persistence. Ongoing experiments include the chromosomal integration of single- and multi-copy constructs. Future studies will also examine the effects of oral or intramuscular only regimens including non-recombinant Salmonella. Finally, mature Cathepsin B is well conserved cysteine protease with 50 - 60% homology between schistosomal and mammalian enzymes³¹. Although this homology raises some concerns about offtarget effects, mammalian CatB is restricted to the cell lysosome³² and therefore relatively unlikely to be accessible to antibodies induced by vaccination even if cross-reactivity were to be present.

In 2013, global experts met to discuss the development of schistosomiasis vaccines³³ and established both a desirable target product profile (TPP) and preferred product characteristics (PPC) for a prophylactic vaccine. It was determined that the acceptable standard of vaccine efficacy would be a reduction of 75% in egg output and worm burden for at least one schistosome species³³. Furthermore, they indicated that an ideal vaccine would be capable of exerting a therapeutic effect on existing disease as well. Over 250 million people are infected with schistosomiasis and a dual-purpose vaccine would greatly enhance the drive towards elimination in combination with existing mass drug administration campaigns. Although a number of schistosomiasis vaccines are at various stages of pre-clinical and clinical development², only one has been assessed for therapeutic use. This vaccine targets the cysteine protease subunit of calpain Sm-p80 and, when chronically infected baboons received 3 intramuscular doses adjuvanted with an oil-in-water emulsion of glucopyranosyl lipid A (GLA-SE)¹⁰, worm numbers, tissue eggs and fecal eggs were reduced approximately by 33 - 54% compared to the adjuvant control. Together with our current CatB observations, their findings strongly support the targeting of cysteine proteases in chronic S. mansoni infection. The potential synergistic effects of praziquantel treatment with our vaccine remain to be evaluated.

In summary, we report a multimodal YS1646-vectored vaccine expressing Sm-CatB that is capable of reducing parasite burden in chronically infected mice. To our knowledge, this is the first report of an effective therapeutic vaccine in a murine model of schistosomiasis. The observed reductions in parasite burden were associated with modification of the existing immune profile towards a more balanced T_{H1}/T_{H2} response and increased secretion of T_{H1}-type cytokines but no evidence of immunopathology or IgE induction. These data support the further development of this potentially dual-purpose *S. mansoni* vaccine.

3.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Margaret Mentink-Kane, Kenia V. Benitez and the Schistosome Resource Center of the Biomedical Research Institute (Rockville, MD) for their continuous assistance and for providing infected *Biomphalaria glabrata* snails. We thank Dr. Li Xing and Nicholas Zelt for early work on the YS1646 constructs. We thank Annie Beauchamp and Lydia

Labrie for assistance with mouse experiments and sample collection & processing. We thank Louis Cyr for assistance with histopathology staining.

3.7 AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

ASH was involved in all aspects of the study including study design, performing experiments, data analysis and preparation of the manuscript. DJP assisted in the design of the snail housing facility and the infection model. BJW and MN supervised all parts of the study and prepared the manuscript.

3.8 COMPETING INTERESTS

ASH, MN and BJW are inventors on a patent application for a YS1646-based S. mansoni vaccine.

3.9 REFERENCES

- 1. McManus, D. P. *et al.* Schistosomiasis—from immunopathology to vaccines. *Seminars in Immunopathology* vol. 42 355–371 (2020).
- 2. McManus, D. P. Recent Progress in the Development of Liver Fluke and Blood Fluke Vaccines. *Vaccines* **8**, 553 (2020).
- 3. Schwartz, C. & Fallon, P. G. Schistosoma "Eggs-iting" the host: Granuloma formation and egg excretion. *Frontiers in Immunology* vol. 9 (2018).
- 4. Cioli, D., Pica-Mattoccia, L., Basso, A. & Guidi, A. Schistosomiasis control: Praziquantel forever? *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* vol. 195 23–29 (2014).
- 5. Couto, F. F. B. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni: A method for inducing resistance to praziquantel using infected Biomphalaria glabrata snails. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **106**, 153–157 (2011).
- 6. Molehin, A. J. Current Understanding of Immunity Against Schistosomiasis: Impact on Vaccine and Drug Development. (2020) doi:10.2147/RRTM.S274518.
- Hassan, A. S., Zelt, N. H., Perera, D. J., Ndao, M. & Ward, B. J. Vaccination against the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B using a YS1646 Salmonella enterica Typhimurium vector provides almost complete protection against Schistosoma mansoni challenge in a mouse model. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 13, e0007490 (2019).
- Correnti, J. M., Brindley, P. J. & Pearce, E. J. Long-term suppression of cathepsin B levels by RNA interference retards schistosome growth. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 143, 209–215 (2005).
- 9. Sajid, M. *et al.* Functional expression and characterization of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B and its trans-activation by an endogenous asparaginyl endopeptidase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **131**, 65–75 (2003).
- 10. Karmakar, S. *et al.* Use of an Sm-p80-Based Therapeutic Vaccine to Kill Established Adult Schistosome Parasites in Chronically Infected Baboons. *J. Infect. Dis.* (2014) doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu031.
- 11. Ricciardi, A., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Evaluation of the immune response and protective efficacy of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B in mice using CpG dinucleotides as adjuvant. *Vaccine* **33**, 346–353 (2015).
- 12. Winter, K., Xing, L., Kassardjian, A. & Ward, B. J. Vaccination against clostridium difficile by use of an attenuated salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium vector (YS1646) protects mice from lethal challenge. *Infect. Immun.* **87**, (2019).
- Perera, D. J. *et al.* Adjuvanted Schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B With Sulfated Lactosyl Archaeol Archaeosomes or AddaVaxTM Provides Protection in a Pre-Clinical Schistosomiasis Model. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 2990 (2020).
- 14. Ricciardi, A., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. A vaccine consisting of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B formulated in Montanide ISA 720 VG induces high level protection against murine schistosomiasis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **16**, (2016).

- 15. Takaki, K. K., Rinaldi, G., Berriman, M., Pagá, A. J. & Ramakrishnan, L. Schistosoma mansoni Eggs Modulate the Timing of Granuloma Formation to Promote Transmission. *Cell Host Microbe* **29**, 58–67 (2021).
- 16. Poltorak, A. *et al.* Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: Mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science (80-.).* **282**, 2085–2088 (1998).
- Makvandi, M. *et al.* Expression of Salmonella typhimurium and Escherichia coli flagellin protein and its functional characterization as an adjuvant. *Microb. Pathog.* **118**, 87–90 (2018).
- McManus, D. P. & Loukas, A. Current status of vaccines for schistosomiasis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* vol. 21 225–242 (2008).
- 19. HEWITSON, J. P., HAMBLIN, P. A. & MOUNTFORD, A. P. Immunity induced by the radiation-attenuated schistosome vaccine. *Parasite Immunol.* **27**, 271–280 (2005).
- 20. Colley, D. G. & Secor, W. E. Immunology of human schistosomiasis. *Parasite Immunology* vol. 36 347–357 (2014).
- 21. Zheng, B. *et al.* T Lymphocyte-Mediated Liver Immunopathology of Schistosomiasis. *Frontiers in Immunology* vol. 11 (2020).
- 22. El Ridi, R. *et al.* Cysteine peptidases as schistosomiasis vaccines with inbuilt adjuvanticity. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- 23. de Melo, T. T., de Sena, I. C., Araujo, N. & Fonseca, C. T. Antibodies are involved in the protective immunity induced in mice by Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula tegument (Smteg) immunization. *Parasite Immunol.* **36**, 107–111 (2014).
- 24. Ricciardi, A., Zelt, N. H., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Immune mechanisms involved in schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B vaccine induced protection in mice. *Front. Immunol.* **9**, (2018).
- 25. Wilson, R. A. *et al.* Elimination of Schistosoma mansoni adult worms by rhesus macaques: Basis for a therapeutic vaccine? *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **2**, (2008).
- 26. Li, X.-H. *et al.* Evidence That Rhesus Macaques Self-Cure from a Schistosoma japonicum Infection by Disrupting Worm Esophageal Function: A New Route to an Effective Vaccine? *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **9**, e0003925 (2015).
- 27. Diemert, D. J. *et al.* Generalized urticaria induced by the Na-ASP-2 hookworm vaccine: Implications for the development of vaccines against helminths. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 130, 169-176.e6 (2012).
- Crépin, S., Harel, S. & Dozois, C. M. Chromosomal complementation using Tn7 transposon vectors in enterobacteriaceae. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 6001–6008 (2012).
- 29. Toso, J. F. *et al.* Phase I Study of the Intravenous Administration of Attenuated Salmonella typhimurium to Patients With Metastatic Melanoma . *J. Clin. Oncol.* **20**, 142–152 (2002).
- 30. Worley, M. J., Nieman, G. S., Geddes, K. & Heffron, F. Salmonella typhimurium disseminates within its host by manipulating the motility of infected cells. *Proc. Natl.*

Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 17915–17920 (2006).

- 31. Lipps, G., Fü, R. & Beck, E. Cathepsin B of Schistosoma mansoni PURIFICATION AND ACTIVATION OF THE RECOMBINANT PROENZYME SECRETED BY SACCHAROMYCES CEREVISIAE*. Journal of Biological Chemistry vol. 271 (1996).
- 32. Yadati, T., Houben, T., Bitorina, A. & Shiri-Sverdlov, R. The Ins and Outs of Cathepsins: Physiological Function and Role in Disease Management. *Cells* vol. 9 (2020).
- Mo, A. X. & Colley, D. G. Workshop report: Schistosomiasis vaccine clinical development and product characteristics. in *Vaccine* vol. 34 995–1001 (Elsevier Ltd, 2016).

3.10 FIGURES AND LEGENDS



Figure 3.1. Experimental study timeline. Baseline serum is collected prior to infection. Mice are infected with 150 cercaria for either a period of 2 or 4 months. Mice then undergo multimodal vaccination which consists of simultaneous doses of intramuscular rCatB and oral YS1646 on day 1 followed by two additional oral doses on days 3 and 5. Mice are then sacrificed either 1- or 2-months post-vaccination.



Figure 3.2. Effectiveness of shortened vaccination schedule in prophylactic model. The reduction in worm counts (A) as well as the reduction in egg load per gram of liver (B) or intestine (C) are represented for each group. Groups consist of PBS control, IM only (pQE-30 null + rCatB), PO only (nirB_SspH1), and multimodal vaccination (nirB_SspH1 + rCatB). Worm and egg burdens were determined 7 weeks after cercarial challenge. Each independent experiment consisted of 8 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (*****P* < .0001 compared to the PBS group).



Figure 3.3. Parasite burden reductions after therapeutic vaccination. Worm reduction (A), hepatic egg reduction (B) and intestinal egg reduction (C) were assessed 1 month post-vaccination. Worm (D), hepatic egg (E) and intestinal egg (F) reductions were assessed 2 months post-vaccination. All are expressed as relative to the PBS control. Each independent experiment consisted of 10 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (***P* < 0.01).



Figure 3.4. Histopathological analysis of hepatic eggs. Liver granuloma area (x10³ μ m²) (A) and egg morphology (i.e.: loss of internal structure, shrinkage, crenelated periphery) (B) were assessed using Zen Blue software. Each independent experiment consisted of 6 – 8 granulomas per animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Percentage of fibrotic area by PicroSirius Red staining of liver sections (C) analyzed by ImageJ software. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (**P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001).



Figure 3.5. Humoral responses. Anti-Cathepsin B-specific IgG combined titres for 1- and 2months post-vaccination after 2 months (A) and 4 months (B) infection periods. Anti-Cathepsin B-specific IgG1 and IgG2c expressed as a ratio of IgG1/IgG2c 1 month post-vaccination (C). Total IgE 1 month post-vaccination (D). Plain bars represent pre-vaccination titres and bars with red diagonal lines represent post-vaccination titres for both groups. Each independent experiment consisted of 10 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (**P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.001).



Figure 3.6. Cytokine and chemokine secretion levels. Mean secretion levels (pg/mL) of cytokines and chemokines 1 month post-vaccination produced from splenocytes restimulated *ex vivo* with recombinant CatB after 72 hours depicted by radar plot on log scale (A). PBS control and vaccinated group are represented by the black and grey lines respectively. Mean fold changes in secretion levels for each cytokine and chemokine relative to the PBS control (B). Each independent experiment consisted of 8 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.001).

3.11 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



Supplementary Figure 3.1. Parasite burden reductions after therapeutic vaccination 4 months post-infection. Worm reduction (A), hepatic egg reduction (B) and intestinal egg reduction (C) were assessed 1 month post-vaccination. Worm (D), hepatic egg (E) and intestinal egg (F) reductions were assessed 2 months post-vaccination. All are expressed as relative to the PBS control. Each independent experiment consisted of 8 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (***P* < 0.01).



Supplementary Figure 3.2. Histopathological staining of hepatic sections. Representative images of H&E staining of liver egg granulomas of control mice (A) and vaccinated mice (B) 1 month post-vaccination. Representative images of PicroSirius Red staining of liver fibrosis in control mice (C) and vaccinated mice (D) 1 month post-vaccination. Scale is set to 100 µm.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER 4

In **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3**, we described the prophylactic and therapeutic efficacy of plasmidmediated expression of Cathepsin B in a live attenuated YS1646 strain of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in combination with intramuscular administration of recombinant antigen in either prime-boost or shortened multimodal vaccination schedules. Expression of our antigen using the pQE-30 plasmid bears limitations if we hope to move forward toward human clinical trials. First, the presence of an antibiotic resistance gene on a mobile genetic element could not be introduced to the patient's gastrointestinal tract. Second, plasmid-based expression is less stable, and the bacterial vector may be subject to losing the plasmid in the absence of selective pressure in the animal model. Therefore, to mitigate these pitfalls, we next sought to develop a novel YS1646 vaccine vector through chromosomal integration. The following chapter describes the cloning experiments performed to generate novel YS1646 vaccine strains. It also describes the immunogenicity conferred by these strains using the shortened multimodal schedule by measuring both humoral and cellular immune responses by ELISA and flow cytometry. Finally, the chapter describes the protection efficacy of multimodal vaccination using a chromosomally integrated vaccine strain.

This chapter was adapted from the following manuscript: Chromosomally integrated gene expression of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B in a Salmonella Typhimurium vaccine vector protects against murine schistosomiasis. **Hassan AS** *et al.* (under review at *npj Vaccines*).

Chromosomally integrated gene expression of *Schistosoma mansoni* Cathepsin B in a *Salmonella* Typhimurium vaccine vector protects against murine schistosomiasis

Adam S. Hassan^{a,b}, Sébastien Houle^c, Lydia Labrie^{a,b}, Dilhan J. Perera^{b,d}, Charles M. Dozois^c, Brian J. Ward^{a,b,d}, Momar Ndao^{a,b,d}

- a. Department of Microbiology & Immunology, McGill University, Montreal, Canada
- b. Infectious Diseases and Immunity in Global Health (IDIGH), Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada
- c. INRS-Centre Armand-Frappier Santé Biotechnologie, Laval, Canada
- d. Division of Experimental Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, Canada

*Manuscript under review at npj Vaccines

4.1 ABSTRACT

Schistosomiasis threatens hundreds of millions of people worldwide. The larval stage of Schistosoma mansoni migrates through the lung and adult worms reside adjacent to the colonic mucosa. Several candidate vaccines are in pre-clinical development, but none is designed to elicit both systemic and mucosal responses. We have repurposed an attenuated Salmonella enterica Typhimurium strain (YS1646) to express Cathepsin B (CatB), a digestive enzyme important for juvenile and adult stages of the S. mansoni life cycle. Previous studies have demonstrated the prophylactic and therapeutic efficacy of our plasmid-based vaccine. We have generated chromosomally integrated (CI) YS1646 strains that express CatB to produce a viable candidate vaccine for eventual human use (stability, no antibiotic resistance). 6–8-week-old C57BL/6 mice were vaccinated in a multimodal oral (PO) and intramuscular (IM) regimen, and then sacrificed 3 weeks later. The PO + IM group had significantly higher anti-CatB IgG titers with greater avidity and mounted significant intestinal anti-CatB IgA responses (all P < 0.0001). Multimodal vaccination generated balanced $T_H 1/T_H 2$ humoral and cellular immune responses. Production of IFN γ by both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells was confirmed by flow cytometry (P < 0.0001 and P < 0.01). Multimodal vaccination reduced worm burden by 80.4%, hepatic egg counts by 75.2%, and intestinal egg burden by 78.4% (all P < 0.0001). A stable and safe vaccine that has both prophylactic and therapeutic activity would be ideal for use in conjunction with praziquantel mass treatment campaigns.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

Trematode worms of the *Schistosoma* genus are responsible for schistosomiasis, a fresh-waterborne disease that affects over 250 million people worldwide. Approximately 800 million people are at risk of infection caused primarily by three human *Schistosoma* spp.: *S. mansoni*, *S. haematobium*, and *S. japonicum*. As the most widespread, *S. mansoni* is prevalent in Sub-Saharan Africa, South and Central America, the Middle East, and parts of the Caribbean¹. Although schoolaged children are most affected, all age groups can suffer from schistosomiasis symptoms including debilitating disease^{2,3}.

The oral anthelmintic, praziquantel (PZQ), is the cornerstone of schistosomiasis control in endemic regions. National or regional deworming campaigns typically deliver a single dose of 40 mg/kg and cure rates are reported to vary between 60 – 90%⁴. However, overreliance on PZQ has led to concerns about drug resistance which has been observed experimentally in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies^{5,6}. While periodic deworming and vector management are useful to control schistosomiasis, vaccines will likely be necessary to achieve elimination⁷. Several candidate vaccines are in pre-clinical development, and few have entered clinical trials in recent years⁷. Most of these candidate vaccines are based on repeated intramuscular injection of one or more recombinant proteins with an adjuvant. In contrast, our group has established a vaccination platform based on a live attenuated *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium YS1646 that can be administered orally^{8,9}. Our strategy also differs from most others in targeting a key digestive enzyme of the parasite, Cathepsin B (CatB), rather than external tegumental proteins¹⁰. This novel approach results in significant reductions in parasite burden when used either prophylactically in a 3-week prime-boost regimen or therapeutically in a shortened 5-day schedule in chronically infected mice.

Previous studies with our recombinant *Salmonella* strains have used plasmid-based expression of CatB^{8,9} which would be unacceptable for human use. These strains are intrinsically unstable since bacteria can shed plasmids during cell division in an environment that does not select for their retention¹¹. Furthermore, retention of plasmids typically involves the use of one or more antibiotic resistance genes. The inclusion of such resistance genes on a mobile genetic element is clearly inappropriate for human use due to the risk of spreading resistance to enteric bacteria. As a result,

chromosomal integration of the antigen construct is crucial to the advancement of these vaccine candidates to the clinic. An obvious concern with chromosomal integration is a sharp reduction in the CatB copy number. In a plasmid-based system, each recombinant *Salmonella* may contain up to 30 copies of the CatB gene while chromosomal integration typically introduces only a single copy of the gene.

In the current work, we report the construction of a chromosomally integrated, single-copy CatB recombinant YS1646 *Salmonella* Typhimurium strain. Vaccination with this novel vector resulted in significant reductions in parasite burden in a murine model. Multi-modal immunization with these candidates led to robust humoral and cellular immune responses with a balanced T_{H1}/T_{H2} profile. To our knowledge, this is the first report of a chromosomally integrated *Salmonella*-vectored vaccine for schistosomiasis.

4.3 METHODS

4.3.1 Ethics statement

All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with Institutional Animal Care and Use Guidelines and were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at McGill University (Animal Use Protocol 7625) as well as the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

4.3.2 Bacterial plasmids

Salmonella enterica Typhimurium (S. Typhimurium) strain YS1646 ($\Delta msbB2 \Delta purl \Delta Suwwan xyl$ negative; ATCC 202165; ATCC, Manassas, VA) was obtained from Cedarlane Labs (Burlington, ON, Canada). Recombinant Tn7 plasmids were produced in *Escherichia coli* DH5 α π kindly provided by Dr. Charles Dozois (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Eugene, OR). Conjugation experiments with YS1646 required *E. coli* MGN-617 for donor genetic material. Plasmids were introduced into YS1646 either by conjugation or by electroporation (20 ng of plasmid at 1.8 kV, 200 Ω and 25 µF; ECM 399 Electroporation System, BTX, Holliston, MA, US). Plasmids were introduced into *E. coli* by heat shock. *S.* Typhimurium and *E. coli* were cultured in Luria broth (LB), with the following antibiotics and amino acids when necessary to maintain plasmids: 100 µg/mL ampicillin

(Amp), 50 μ g/mL kanamycin (Km), 30 μ g/mL chloramphenicol (Cm), and 50 μ g/mL diaminopimelic acid (DAP).

4.3.3 Chromosomal integration

The *nirB* and *pagC* promoters as well as the SspH1 and Cathepsin B sequences have been previously described^{8,12}. The *frr* promoter was obtained from YS1646 S. Typhimurium by PCR. The pGP-Tn7-Cm plasmid backbone¹¹ was digested using FastDigest restriction enzymes EcoRI and KpnI (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Promoter, secretory signal, and antigen sequences were inserted using the pEASY - Uni Seamless Cloning and Assembly kit (TransGen Biotech, Beijing, China). Following the construction of novel Tn7 plasmids, DAP- E. coli MGN-617 were transformed to generate 3 novel strains. The transformed E. coli strains were then used for conjugation experiments with a YS1646 strain containing the temperature-sensitive pSTNSK plasmid which encodes the Tn7 transposase system and confers Km resistance¹¹. Donor E. coli and recipient YS1646 were resuspended in LB supplemented with Km and DAP. 100 µL of the donor strain and 50 µL of the recipient strain were centrifuged together and then resuspended in 10 µL at 30°C for 5 hours. Mixed culture was later grown on LB Km-Cm plates at 37°C, and YS1646 colonies that grew in the absence of DAP, but that had lost resistance to antibiotic markers present on the pSTNSK plasmid but gained Cm resistance associated with the attTn7 targeting sequence were selected. Chromosomal integration at the attTn7 was then confirmed by PCR. The temperature-sensitive pCP20 plasmid, encoding the recombinase flippase (FLP) and conferring Amp and Cm resistance, was transformed into YS1646 strains. The Cm resistance cassette, integrated at the attTn7 site, was flanked by two FRT regions. Loss of the Cm resistance cassette is mediated by FLP-FRT recombination. Transformants were selected on LB-Amp plates at 30°C to maintain pCP20 activity and then serially passaged on LB-Amp at 30°C as well as LB-Cm and LB at 37°C to screen for loss of the pCP20 plasmid and antibiotic susceptibility. Loss of Cm resistance was further confirmed by PCR. Following a similar strategy as outlined above, mCherry-expressing strains were generated for confocal microscopy experiments.

4.3.4 Growth curves

Cultures of wild-type YS1646 and chromosomally integrated constructs were grown overnight at 37°C. The next day, the cultures were diluted 1:100 in LB medium and plated in quadruplicates (n=4) on a 100-well Bioscreen C honeycomb microplate (Growth Curves USA, Piscataway, NJ, USA). The Bioscreen C plate reader measured the optical density of the cultures at a wavelength of 600 nm every 30 minutes over 24 hours with a 30-second shaking period prior to each reading.

4.3.5 Lyophilization of Salmonella strains

YS1646-derived vaccine candidates and control strains were first cultured in LB medium and then formulated in a lyophilization buffer consisting of 28% (w/v) sucrose (BioShop, Burlington, Canada) and 1% gelatin (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in 25 mM potassium phosphate (KPO4) at pH 7¹³. Samples were aliquoted and frozen at -80°C overnight. The following day, the strains were freeze dried using a ModulyoD Freeze Dryer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 24 hours. Samples were later stored at room temperature for various times ranging from 2 weeks to 4 months and cultured on LB plates to determine viability through colony-forming unit (cfu) counts. A sample that did not undergo the freeze-drying process was cultured to determine the initial viability of strains (determined by cfu counts) prior to lyophilization.

4.3.6 Confocal microscopy

Murine macrophage-like cells (RAW264.7; ATCC TIB-71) were propagated and cultured for infection with YS1646 strains as previously described⁸. Briefly, cells were seeded in an 8-well chamber slide at a concentration of 10^5 cells/well in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle medium (DMEM) (Wisent Bioproducts, St-Bruno, QC) supplemented with 10% FBS (Wisent Bioproducts). Recombinant YS1646 strains were diluted in DMEM-FBS to achieve a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 50 or 100. After 1 hour of infection at 37°C and 5% CO₂, wells were washed with PBS (Wisent Bioproducts) and incubated with DMEM-FBS supplemented with 50 µg/mL gentamicin (Sigma Aldrich) for 2 hours. The wells were then washed again with PBS and the gentamicin concentration was lowered to 5 µg/mL for an overnight incubation. Following this, infected cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cells were

washed with PBS and then stained with a 1:1,000 dilution of 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for an additional 10 minutes at RT. Images were obtained using a Zeiss LSM780 laser scanning confocal microscope and analyzed using ZEN blue software (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

4.3.7 Mouse immunization

Female 6–8-week-old C57BL/6 mice were immunized orally (PO) with recombinant chromosomally integrated (CI) *S. enterica* Typhimurium YS1646 derivative wherein the *nirB* promoter was used for expression and a *Salmonella*-specific type three secretory signal sequence SspH1 was fused to full-length *S. mansoni* Cathepsin B (YS1646::NHC). This construct was selected for further *in vivo* investigation based on preliminary animal studies. PO dosing, consisting of 200 μ L containing 1x10⁹ cfu/dose, was administered by oral gavage every other day for three days (D1, D3, D5). The multimodal vaccination schedule also included a simultaneous intramuscular (IM) on D1 of 20 μ g recombinant CatB (rCatB) in 50 μ L PBS⁹ (**Supplemental Figure 4.1**). Briefly, purified recombinant *S. mansoni* CatB was cloned and expressed in *Pichia pastoris* as previously described¹⁴. All experiments included a PBS control group with IM-only (wild-type (WT) + rCatB) and PO-only (YS1646::NHC) groups as additional controls. The number of animals used at each experimental endpoint is indicated in the Figure legends.

4.3.8 Evaluation of humoral responses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

4.3.8.1 Serum CatB-specific IgG & IgE

Cathepsin B-specific IgG was assessed by ELISA as previously described⁸. Serum was collected by saphenous vein bleed at baseline (week 0) and 3 weeks post-vaccination in microtainer serum separator tubes (BD Biosciences, Missausauga, ON, Canada). Serum samples were obtained following manufacturer's instructions and stored at -20°C until assayed. U-bottom, high binding 96-well plates (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) were coated overnight at 4°C with 0.5 µg/mL rCatB in a 100mM bicarbonate/carbonate buffer at pH 9.6. Purified mouse IgG (Sigma Aldrich) was used to set a 2-fold standard curve at a starting concentration of 2,000 ng/mL. All samples were run in duplicate. Serum samples were diluted 1:50 (IgG) or 1:20 (IgE) and HRP- conjugated anti-mouse IgG (Sigma Aldrich) was diluted 1:20,000 in blocking buffer (PBS + 2% BSA). HRP-conjugated anti-mouse IgE (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was diluted 1:6,000 in blocking buffer. Optical density (OD) was measured at 450 nm with an EL800 microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT). The concentrations of CatB-specific total IgG were calculated by extrapolation from the standard curve. These results are expressed as ng/mL. CatB-specific IgE results are expressed as OD₄₅₀ values.

4.3.8.2 Serum CatB-specific IgG avidity

Cathepsin B-specific IgG avidity was assessed following a modified version of the IgG ELISA protocol described above. Following the primary antibody incubation step, plates were washed 4x with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and a range of urea concentrations (0M - 10M) was applied to each plate for a 15-minute incubation at room temperature (RT). After washing the plates 4x, they were incubated for 1 hour in blocking buffer. Normal IgG ELISA protocol then resumed with the addition of the secondary antibody. The IgG avidity index was calculated by dividing urea-treated bound IgG titers with IgG titers assessed treated with 0M urea.

4.3.8.3 Serum CatB-specific IgG1 and IgG2c

CatB-specific IgG subtypes, IgG1 and IgG2c, were assessed by ELISA as previously described⁹. Purified mouse IgG1 (Sigma Aldrich) and a mouse IgG2c isotype control (Southern Biotechnologies Associates, Birmingham, AL) were used to set the respective standard curves. ELISA protocol was run as above for total IgG. Either goat anti-mouse IgG1 and goat anti-mouse Ig2c, both diluted 1:20,000, were used as secondary antibodies (Southern Biotechnologies Associates). These results are presented as the ratio of IgG1/IgG2c.

4.3.8.4 Intestinal CatB-specific IgA

Intestines were collected three weeks post-vaccination and processed as previously described⁸. Purified mouse IgA (Sigma Aldrich) was used to set a 2-fold standard curve starting at a concentration of 1,000 ng/mL. Tissue samples were previously diluted 1:5 (w/v) during the processing phase. Aliquots were applied neat to the plate and the anti-mouse IgA secondary

antibody (Sigma Aldrich) was diluted 1:2,000. The concentrations of CatB-specific total IgG were calculated by extrapolation from the standard curve. These results are expressed as ng/gram of intestinal tissue.

4.3.8.5 Serum total IgE

The BD OptEIATM Mouse IgE ELISA Set (BD, San Diego, CA) was used to determine total serum IgE titers following manufacturer's instructions as previously described⁹. Immulon 2HB flatbottom 96-well plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were coated with anti-mouse IgE capture antibody at a 1:250 dilution in coating buffer at 4°C overnight. Standard concentrations were added following the manufacturer's protocol. Serum samples were diluted 1:20. OD₄₅₀ was measured and concentration of total IgE titers was calculated by extrapolation from the standard curve. These results are expressed as ng/mL.

4.3.9 Cell-mediated responses

4.3.9.1 Cellular responses by multiplex ELISA

CatB-specific cytokine and chemokine production were assessed three weeks post-vaccination in splenocytes restimulated *ex vivo* with 2.5 µg/mL of rCatB for 72 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂ as previously described⁹. Cells were plated 10⁶/well in RPMI-1640 (Wisent Bioproducts) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1 mM penicillin/streptomycin, 10 mM HEPES, 1X MEM non-essential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1 mM L-glutamine (all from Wisent Bioproducts), 0.05 mM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich) (fancy RPMI, fRPMI). Supernatant cytokine/chemokine levels were measured using the Q-plex Mouse Cytokine-Screen (16-plex) multiplex ELISA following the manufacturer's recommendations (Quansys Biosciences, Logan, UT). This assay included: IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-17, IFN γ , TNF α , MCP-1 (CCL2), MIP-1 α (CCL3), GM-CSF, and RANTES (CCL5).

4.3.9.2 Flow cytometry analysis

CatB-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were identified from freshly isolated splenocytes plated 10⁶/well in 96-well round bottom plates (Fisher Scientific) and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and

5% CO₂ for flow cytometry analysis as previously described with minor modifications¹⁵. For the last 5 hours of incubation, Golgi Stop and Golgi Plug (BD Biosciences) were added to samples according to manufacturer's instructions to inhibit protein transport. Cells treated with phorbol 12myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and ionomycin were included as positive controls. All centrifugation steps occurred at 400xg for 7 minutes at 4°C until the cells were fixed after which rotor speed was increased to 450xg. All incubation steps required light protection. Cells were washed twice with PBS and later stained with Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 780 (eBioscience, Waltham, MA) for 15 minutes at 4°C. Cells were washed 2x and incubated with Fc Block (BD Biosciences) diluted 1:50 in PBS for 10 minutes at 4°C. Cells were then stained for 25 minutes at 4°C with surface markers from the following extracellular cocktail: anti-CD3 FITC (145-2C11, eBioscience), anti-CD4 V500 (RM4-5, BD Biosciences) anti-CD8 PerCP-Cy5.5 (53-6.7, BD Biosciences), anti-CD44 BUV395 (IM7, BD Biosciences) anti-CD62L BUV373 (MEL-14, BD Biosciences). Cells were then washed with PBS and fixed with 1X Fixation Buffer (BD Biosciences) overnight at 4°C. The next day, cells were washed with perm/wash buffer (BD Biosciences) and stained with anti-IFNy PE (XMG1.2, BD Biosciences) for 25 minutes at 4°C. Cells were washed in perm/wash buffer, then PBS, and later resuspended in PBS for acquisition. All flow cytometry was conducted using a BD LSRFortessa X20 cell analyzer. Data were analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar, Ashland, OR).

4.3.10 Schistosoma mansoni challenge

Biomphalaria glabrata snails infected with the *S. mansoni* Puerto Rican strain were obtained from the Schistosomiasis Resource Center of the Biomedical Research Institute (Rockville, MD) through NIH-NIAID Contract HHSN272201700014I for distribution through BEI Resources. Mice were challenged three weeks following vaccination with 150 cercaria by tail exposure and were sacrificed seven weeks post-challenge as previously described¹⁶. Briefly, adult worms were counted after perfusion of the hepatic portal system and manual removal from the mesenteric veins. The livers and intestines were harvested from each mouse, weighed, and digested in 4% potassium hydroxide overnight at 37°C. The next day, the number of eggs per gram of tissue was recorded by microscopy.

4.3.11 Histopathological assessment by H&E staining

Liver sections were harvested and placed in 10% buffered formalin phosphate (Fisher Scientific) and processed for histopathology to assess mean egg granuloma size and morphology using Zen Blue Software (version 2.5.75.0; Zeiss) as previously described⁸. Mean areas are presented as $x10^3$ μ m² ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Egg morphology was classified by an operator blinded to group assignment (ASH) as abnormal if there was loss of internal structure or peripheral crenelation. Abnormal eggs are reported as a percent of the total egg count (± SEM) per histopathological sample.

4.3.12 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 9 software (La Jolla, CA). Results are represented by at least two independent experiments (see Figure legends for details). Data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA and followed by Tukey's correction for multiple comparisons. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

4.4 RESULTS

4.4.1 Chromosomal integration of vaccine constructs in YS1646 Salmonella Typhimurium

We first generated plasmids bearing different promoters (*nirB*, *pagC*, *frr*) with the *Salmonella* SspH1 secretion signal fused to the full-length CatB peptide sequence cloned into the pGP-Tn7-Cm vector¹¹ (**Figure 4.1A**). A chloramphenicol resistance gene, flanked by two FRT sites, within the Tn7 transposon arms, Tn7L and Tn7R, was used for selection of colonies where Tn7-mediated integration may have occurred. Constructs were inserted using EcoRI and KpnI cut sites. Tn7-mediated integration occurs at the *att*Tn7 site of *S*. Typhimurium downstream of the *glmS* gene.

By FLP-FRT recombination, we removed the chloramphenicol resistance cassette from the region that integrated at the *att*Tn7 site to generate 3 candidate vaccine vectors in which expression was driven by promoters *nirB* (NHC), *pagC* (PHC or *frr* (FHC) (**Figure 4.1B**). Integration of these constructs occurred downstream of the constitutively active gene *glmS* in YS1646 *S*. Typhimurium. *Salmonella* promoters *nirB* and *pagC* are active intracellularly upon induction by

host oxygen and magnesium levels, whereas the *frr* promoter is constitutively active. Prior to removal of the Cm cassette as part of an intermediate validation step, recombinant antigen expression was confirmed in strains containing the *nirB* and *pagC* constructs, but not the *frr* promoter-based construct. All three chromosomal integrations had no obvious impact on bacterial fitness and growth rates were similar to WT YS1646 (**Figure 4.1C**).

The nirB_SspH1_CatB (NHC) construct was selected for further assessment *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Using a RAW264.7 murine macrophage cell line, we infected 10⁵ cells per well with a recombinant YS1646 strain expressing mCherry (YS1646::mCherry) at an MOI of 100 and then stained the cells with DAPI. We observed detectable levels of mCherry expression within the macrophages infected with YS1646::mCherry whereas the signal was not detected in our uninfected control (**Figure 4.1D**).

4.4.2 Heterologous vaccination with nirB_SspH1_CatB leads to robust systemic and local humoral responses

We next moved forward with *in vivo* vaccination studies using our integrated NHC construct in a mouse model. None of the groups had detectable anti-CatB IgG levels at baseline (week 0). Three weeks post-vaccination, no anti-CatB IgG was found in the PBS and PO groups. However, we observed high IgG titers in all mice receiving a single dose of rCatB intramuscularly at 3 weeks. The greatest increase in antigen-specific IgG titers was observed in the multimodal vaccination group, NHC + rCatB and these antibody levels were significantly higher than in the IM only group (24605 \pm 1309 ng/mL vs. 16783 \pm 1397 ng/mL, *P* < 0.0001) (**Figure 4.2A**). Therefore, multimodal administration led to a greater IgG response to Cathepsin B in vaccinated animals compared to PO or IM dosing alone.

Multimodal vaccination resulted in better IgG avidity maturation as well. At a concentration of 6M urea, the IgG avidity index (%) was significantly greater in the multimodal group compared to IM vaccination ($52.7 \pm 2.7\%$ vs. $29.5 \pm 3.1\%$, P < 0.0001) (**Figure 4.2B**). The IgG avidity indexes for the PBS and PO groups were not calculated. Next, we measured the titers of anti-CatB IgG subtypes IgG1 and IgG2c. The IgG1/IgG2c ratio was significantly lower in the multimodal

group compared to the IM control $(1.9 \pm 0.2 \text{ vs. } 5.0 \pm 1.1, P < 0.001)$ (**Figure 4.2C**). Since IgG1 titers were comparable between groups, the higher total IgG levels and altered ratio were attributable to an increase in antigen-specific IgG2c levels in mice that received multimodal vaccination.

We then looked at local humoral responses by assessing intestinal CatB-specific IgA titers. All mice that received the NHC-bearing YS1646 orally (with or without rCatB IM) had elevated titers of anti-CatB IgA in the intestinal tissues. Both multimodal vaccination (1071.0 \pm 161.4 ng/g, *P* < 0.0001) and PO vaccination alone (842 \pm 206.4 ng/g, *P* < 0.001) led to a significant increase in titers compared to the PBS control group (15.9 \pm 5.1 ng/g) (**Figure 4.2D**). There was no statistical difference observed between the NHC alone and multimodal groups. WT + rCatB vaccination led to IgA titers similar to the PBS control (83.1 \pm 33.8 ng/g).

We also examined the serum total IgE titers in our study following vaccination. The highest titers were observed in the PBS control group ($653.6 \pm 83.6 \text{ ng/mL}$) (**Figure 4.2E**). Groups that received IM-only and PO-only vaccination had total IgE levels of $387.7 \pm 57.0 \text{ ng/mL}$ and $444.7 \pm 36.6 \text{ ng/mL}$ respectively. There was no statistical difference observed between our multimodal vaccination group and any other group in our study. The mean serum total IgE titer in the multimodal group was $457.8 \pm 86.1 \text{ ng/mL}$. Thus, none of the vaccination schedules tested increased total IgE levels. Furthermore, no animals developed antigen-specific IgE titers in response to vaccination (**Supplemental Figure 4.2**).

4.4.3 Multimodal vaccination induces a mixed T_H1/T_H2 cellular response in *ex vivo* stimulated splenocytes

Cytokine and chemokine levels in splenocyte supernatants were assessed by Quansys multiplex ELISA following *ex vivo* restimulation with CatB 3 weeks post-vaccination. There were no significant differences or trends in the levels of IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, TNF- α , CCL3 (MIP-1 α), CCL5 (RANTES), or GM-CSF. However, there were significant increases in T_H1-associated cytokines in the multimodal group compared to the PBS controls. For example, we observed an increase in IL-6 levels (721.3 ± 61.3 pg/mL vs. 489.9 ± 44.3 pg/mL, *P* < 0.05) (**Figure**

4.3A). We also detected increased levels of IL-12 ($68.3 \pm 3.8 \text{ pg/mL}$) in the multi-modal group compared to both the PBS control ($48.7 \pm 2.5 \text{ pg/mL}$) and PO alone group ($50.0 \pm 2.5 \text{ pg/mL}$) (both *P* < 0.001) (**Figure 4.3B**). Of note, the strongest CatB-specific IFN γ response occurred in the multimodal group ($1586.6 \pm 82.7 \text{ pg/mL}$) compared to the PO group ($1236.2 \pm 109.0 \text{ pg/mL}$) (*P* < 0.05), the IM group ($869.6 \pm 65.2 \text{ pg/mL}$) (*P* < 0.0001), and the PBS control ($423.6 \pm 79.7 \text{ pg/mL}$) (*P* < 0.0001) (**Figure 4.3C**).

In addition to T_H1-associated cytokines, we also observed significant differences in the expression of T_H2, T_H17, and regulatory cytokines, as well as in chemokine expression with the different vaccination regimens. All mice receiving an IM dose of rCatB had elevated levels of IL-5 that were highest in the multimodal group $(230.7 \pm 56.5 \text{ pg/mL vs. PBS control } 12.8 \pm 2.9 \text{ pg/mL}$, *P* < 0.01) and only slightly lower significant $(200.1 \pm 66.4 \text{ pg/mL})$ (*P* < 0.05) (**Figure 4.4A**). While not significantly different, there was a trend toward increased IL-10 expression in the NHC + rCatB group $(17.2 \pm 1.7 \text{ pg/mL vs. PBS } 11.4 \pm 0.8 \text{ pg/mL}$, *P* = 0.096) (**Figure 4.4B**). IL-17 secretion levels were also increased in the multimodal vaccination group $(116.9 \pm 24.7 \text{ pg/mL vs.}$ PBS control $41.8 \pm 6.6 \text{ pg/mL}$, *P* < 0.01) (**Figure 4.4C**). The multimodal vaccine response was also higher than that observed in PO ($42.9 \pm 4.5 \text{ pg/mL}$, *P* < 0.01) and IM ($62.6 \pm 8.9 \text{ pg/mL}$, *P* < 0.05) groups. Finally, we CCL2 (MCP-1) levels were also higher in the multimodal group compared to the PBS control ($2696.1 \pm 107.0 \text{ pg/mL vs.}$ $1859.7 \pm 169.9 \text{ pg/mL}$, *P* < 0.01) (**Figure 4.4D**).

4.4.4 Vaccine-induced IFN_γ production is mediated by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells

We next sought to determine whether the increased cytokine levels observed from splenocyte supernatants were generated by T cells. Antigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells from vaccinated animals were analyzed by flow cytometry following our multimodal vaccination schedule, and restimulation of splenocytes with either rCatB ($2.5 \mu g/mL$) or fRPMI medium for 24h. Responding cells were characterized as CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressing IFN γ following our gating strategy (**Supplemental Figure 4.3**).

The percentage of responding IFN γ^+ CD4⁺ T cells was significantly increased in the multimodal vaccination group (0.08 ± 0.02%) compared to all other groups including the PBS control (5.0 x $10^{-3} \pm 2.5 \ge 10^{-3}\%$, *P* < 0.0001), the IM group (0.02 ± 9.3 $\ge 10^{-3}\%$, *P* < 0.001), and the PO group (0.01 ± 3.2 $\ge 10^{-3}\%$, *P* < 0.001) (**Figure 4.5A**). Similar but overall slightly lower results were observed in the percentage of responding IFN γ^+ CD8⁺ T cells: multimodal (0.03 ± 7.8 $\le 10^{-3}\%$), PBS control (6.1 $\ge 10^{-3} \pm 2.4 \ge 10^{-3}\%$, *P* < 0.01), IM alone (6.7 $\ge 10^{-3} \pm 3.1 \ge 10^{-3}\%$, *P* < 0.01), and PO alone (7.9 $\ge 10^{-3} \pm 3.2 \ge 10^{-3}\%$, *P* < 0.01) (**Figure 4.5B**).

4.4.5 Multimodal vaccination significantly reduces parasite burden and egg-associated pathology

At 7 weeks post-infection, we assessed the protective potential of our recombinant *Salmonella* vectored vaccine. Mean worm counts were highest in the PBS group (51.4 ± 2.2 worms). Multimodal vaccination significantly reduced worm burden by 80.4% (10.1 ± 0.7 worms, P < 0.0001). Compared to the control group, mean worm burden in the WT + rCatB and NHC groups were reduced by 27.9% (38.7 ± 3.8 worms) and 51.8% (24.8 ± 2.0 worms) respectively. The worm count in the multimodal vaccine group was significantly lower than the WT + rCatB (P < 0.0001) and NHC groups (P < 0.001) (**Figure 4.6A**). Since female *S. mansoni* worms can lay up to 300 eggs per day¹⁷, we examined the male-female worm ratio. The percentage of female worms was balanced in the PBS ($51.3 \pm 1.5\%$) and the WT + rCatB ($49.8 \pm 1.3\%$) groups. In contrast, the proportion of female worms was significantly lower in mice that received oral vaccination with NHC alone ($38.8 \pm 2.4\%$, P < 0.001 versus PBS) or multimodal vaccination ($32.6 \pm 1.9\%$, P < 0.0001 versus PBS) (**Figure 4.6B**).

Schistosomiasis pathology is strongly associated with egg deposition in tissue. Hepatic egg burden was highest in the PBS control (15,974 \pm 984.7 eggs/g). Multimodal vaccination significantly reduced egg load in the liver by 75.2% (3,965 \pm 259.5 eggs/g, *P* < 0.0001). Hepatic eggs were reduced by 17.6% (14,041 \pm 1394 eggs/g) in the WT + rCatB group and 54.6 % (7,292 \pm 658.2 eggs/g) in the NHC group (**Figure 4.6C**). Similar observations were made for intestinal egg burden. Compared to the PBS control (12,766 \pm 804.3 eggs/g), intestinal egg load in the NHC + rCatB group was reduced by 78.1% (2,796 \pm 250.5 eggs/g, *P* < 0.0001). Intestinal eggs were

reduced by 20.4% (10331 \pm 547.4 eggs/g) in the WT + rCatB group and 51.6% (6,185 \pm 353.9 eggs/g) in the NHC group (**Figure 4.6D**).

Histopathological assessment of murine livers showed a larger mean granuloma size (56536.2 ± 4727.3 μ m²) in control mice with a low percentage of abnormal morphology (10.9 ± 1.9%). Mice in the WT + rCatB group did not differ greatly from the PBS group in their mean granuloma size (55304.7 ± 4366.9 μ m²) and percentage of abnormal eggs (15.9 ± 1.4%). Oral vaccination alone with YS1646::NHC significantly reduced the size of granulomas (40136.1 ± 2497.6 μ m², *P* < 0.05) and mouse livers displayed a higher proportion of abnormal eggs (39.6 ± 2.5%, *P* < 0.0001) compared to the PBS control. The greatest impact was observed in the multimodal vaccination group which had the significantly smallest egg granuloma sizes (31620.4 ± 1759.2 μ m², *P* < 0.001) and the highest rate of morphologically abnormal eggs (51.9 ± 4.8%, *P* < 0.0001) (**Table 4.1**).

4.5 DISCUSSION

Finding the 'right' antigen for a schistosomiasis vaccine has been challenging. Indeed, a recent study that screened 96 cell-surface and secreted recombinant S. mansoni proteins for efficacy in a murine vaccination-challenge model failed to yield any particularly promising candidates¹⁸. As noted above, almost all of the candidate vaccines for schistosomiasis developed to date, including those that have entered early clinical development have targeted surface proteins of adult worms⁷, In contrast, CatB is an important digestive enzyme for S. mansoni as it is used to break down host blood macromolecules such as hemoglobin, serum albumin, and IgG. This cysteine protease is expressed in the cecum of migrating schistosomula and in the gut of the adult worm¹⁹. Suppression of CatB expression by RNA interference leads to significant impacts on parasite growth and survival²⁰. IN early work, our group has had considerable success targeting CatB with IM formulations of recombinant protein combined with several adjuvants different CpG dinucleotides¹⁴, Montanide ISA 720 VG²¹, the MF59-like AddaVax, and sulfated lactosyl archaeal archaeosomes²². These studies demonstrated impressive immunological readouts such as high serum IgG antibody titers and the induction of cellular responses. Parasite burden reductions ranged between 54 to 87%, easily surpassing the 40% protection threshold proposed in 1998 by the Tropical Diseases Research (TDR) committee of the World Health Organization (WHO)²³. In parallel with this work, we have developed an alternate strategy to deliver Cathepsin B to the host

based on an attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium strain YS1646 using either PO alone or multimodal vaccination. Unlike traditional IM vaccination approaches, we hoped this approach would elicit both mucosal and systemic responses. Using a prime-boost strategy with an oral YS1646-vectored dose followed 30 days later by an IM dose, reductions of liver and intestinal parasite burden as high as 93% were observed following challenge⁸. We subsequently established the therapeutic efficacy of multimodal YS-1646 vaccination using a shortened, 5-day regimen (PO + IM vaccination on Day 1 followed by 2 PO doses on Days 3 and 5), with efficacy rates of up to 73% in a chronic schistosomiasis infection model⁹. This strategy therefore meets the more recent criteria established by global experts for a desirable schistosomiasis vaccine: i.e.: 75% efficacy when used prophylactically with an additional therapeutic effect²⁴. Using the same shortened multimodal vaccination schedule, the chromosomally integrated YS1646::NHC strain generated in our present study also meets these criteria with an 80% reduction in worm burden and a 75%/78% reduction in hepatic/intestinal egg burden.

While suitable for prior proof-of-concept murine studies^{8,9}, vaccination using plasmid-based *Salmonella* YS1646 would not be suitable for human use. This is due to the risk of spreading antibiotic resistance as well as unintended effects on the microbiota of the host^{25,26}. In the field of DNA vaccines, plasmids for live bacterial vectors are recommended to be designed as marker-free²⁷. Additionally, with a mid-range copy number²⁸, the plasmid may be lost during cell division, especially in non-selective conditions^{29,30}. Chromosomal integration of our gene construct into the genome of *S*. Typhimurium also allows for more stable and reliable expression¹¹. Through Tn7 transposition, we were able to integrate the vaccine at the *att*Tn7 site which is downstream of the constitutively active *glmS* gene, which encodes an essential glucosamine-fructose-6-phosphate aminotransferase³¹. This gene plays an important role in *Salmonella* cell envelope integrity³². While the integration of multiple copies would increase Cathepsin B copy number, single copy integration of our constructs was beneficial as it did not affect bacterial viability and resulted in strong humoral and cellular immune responses. As *Salmonella* Typhimurium targets host macrophages as part of its lifecycle³³, signal from infected RAW264.7 cells with mCherry-expressing YS1646 served as a proxy for CatB expression.

The use of a *Salmonella* delivery platform is attractive for several reasons. The natural presence of bacterial LPS and flagellin proteins can serve to stimulate the immune system and act as 'auto-adjuvants' through binding to TLR-4 and TLR-5, respectively^{34–36}. The YS1646 strain has previously been used in a phase I clinical trial for treatment of metastatic melanoma and was well tolerated in patients at doses up to 3 x 10⁸ CFU intravenously³⁷. Live attenuated *Salmonella* vectored vaccines have been designed against other infectious diseases, including a commercial typhoid vaccine (Ty21a) ³⁸ and several pre-clinical candidates for other parasitic infections^{39–41}. The bacterium uses its type 3 secretion system (T3SS) to invade specialized gut epithelial cells⁴². Host cell entry is mediated by early effector proteins secreted by the *Salmonella* pathogenicity island I (SPI-I) T3SS whereas the SPI-II T3SS is active to secrete late effector proteins signal can mediate the secretion of our target antigen through both SPI-II and SPI-II T3SSs. Overall, the use of living attenuated *Salmonella* as vaccine vectors is a proven strategy. In fact, the *S*. Typhi commercial vaccine (Vivotif) is administered as a set of 4 oral doses within the span of a week which is very similar to the oral component of our multimodal vaccination strategy.

Developing the 'ideal' schistosomiasis vaccine in the context of desired immune responses is complex. While much work has been done to study the immunopathogenesis of the disease, precise correlates of immunity remain to be elucidated. However, a large body of preclinical data has helped determine possible characteristics for an effective vaccine. Rhesus macaques represent a unique animal model due to their ability to self-cure at the onset of egg deposition by mature worms⁴⁴. There has been renewed interest in studying this model to determine what constitutes a protective immune profile. From these studies, it has been postulated that high antibody titers against key target antigens create an environment of sustained immune pressure which results in reduced rates of worm survival⁴⁵. This immunological pressure may lead to physiological damage of the adult worms⁴⁶ and may induce the autophagic machinery of the parasite as has been observed under other stress conditions such as starvation or drug treatment^{47–49}. In fact, Sm-Cathepsin B IgG antibodies target the parasite's ability to digest host blood macromolecules. It is plausible that the high IgG titers observed in our study lead to decreased worm fitness, which correlates with the observed changes in egg morphology in our prior work^{8,9,50}. Indeed, the induction of high titers of anti-CatB IgG by adjuvanted IM vaccination has been previously demonstrated and may correlate

with reduced parasite burden⁵¹. The supportive role of the humoral response has also been observed in other mouse models⁵². Interestingly, our multimodal vaccination approach with the YS1646-based single-copy recombinant vaccine elicited stronger IgG titers than previously observed in our plasmid-based system despite what is likely to be far fewer copies of the CatB gene/bacterium⁸. We also measured higher IgG avidity maturation in the NHC + rCatB group, suggesting there may be important differences in the antibodies generated by multi-modal vaccination compared to the IM control. Furthermore, multimodal vaccination led to a more balanced IgG subtype profile with higher titers of antigen-specific IgG2c titers. Recombinant CatB tended to elicit a T_H2-skewed response while the *Salmonella* vector caused a T_H1 bias, leading to a more 'balanced' humoral response.

Oral administration of our recombinant YS1646-based vaccine generated a strong local, mucosal response in the gastrointestinal tract. Although schistosomes are not generally considered to be mucosal pathogens, migrating schistosomula transit through the respiratory mucosa of the lungs and adult worms reside in the mesenteric venules of the small intestine. Both parasite life cycle stages interact with mucosal-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) and the protective potential of IgA antibodies has previously been reported for schistosomiasis^{53,54}. Indeed, lung-stage schistosomula represent one of the most vulnerable stages in the life cycle and are subject to attack by eosinophils^{55–57}. Secreted IgA antibodies may work in concert with eosinophils in schistosomula killing by mediating multiple effector functions⁵⁸, and eosinophils have also been shown to contribute to the maintenance of IgA⁺ plasma cells⁵⁹. While systemic immune responses are crucial to protect against schistosomiasis, the induction of local, mucosal responses may be beneficial and represent a currently underutilized strategy. Allergic-like type I hypersensitivity responses have been detrimental in other helminth vaccination studies⁶⁰. As observed in our therapeutic vaccination model⁹, total IgE levels were comparable across all groups and multimodal vaccination did not significantly increase IgE titers. The lack of antigen-specific IgE is also a promising feature.

 $T_{\rm H1}$ cellular responses have been established as a key feature of schistosomiasis vaccine development in murine models^{14,61,62}. However, both exaggerated $T_{\rm H1}$ - and $T_{\rm H2}$ -biased responses can lead to severe pathology and death¹. Thus, the optimal T cell immunity would likely be a

balanced and targeted T_H1/T_H2 response. Upon ex vivo restimulation of splenocytes from vaccinated animals with rCatB, we measured high levels of several T_H1-type cytokines in supernatants such as IL-6, IL-12 and IFNy. These T_H1 immune responses are likely due to the influence of the YS1646 vector. IFNy is generally regarded as a hallmark of schistosomiasis protection based on findings using radiation-attenuated schistosome vaccines^{63,64}. Levels of IFN_{γ} were significantly increased in the multimodal group compared to all other groups in our study. The increased production of IFNy in mice receiving multimodal vaccination is likely due to production by both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells as demonstrated by our flow cytometry experiments. IL-6 and IL-12 may serve to promote a more pro-inflammatory environment. Increases in IL-12 secretion, although small, are quite significant due to the tight control exerted on this regulatory cytokine by the immune system⁶⁵. IL-12 has even been considered as a potential adjuvant in schistosomiasis vaccine studies⁶⁶. In addition, we also observed significant increases in IL-5, IL-17 and CCL2 along with a trend towards an increase for the regulatory cytokine IL-10. IL-5 is implicated in the recruitment of eosinophils as well as playing a role in IgA secretion by plasma cells^{67–69}. Together with IL-10, IL-5 may serve to dampen the pro-inflammatory environment induced by T_H1-type cytokines and generate a more balanced cellular response. The T_H17 pathway has been associated with lower worm burdens and IL-17 secretion has been correlated with recruitment of neutrophils which have an impact on migrating schistosomula via extracellular traps⁷⁰. $T_{\rm H}17$ cytokine expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) has also been demonstrated in a baboon animal model testing a Sm-p80 vaccine⁷¹. CCL2 is a chemokine responsible for recruitment of monocytes, memory T cells, and dendritic cells which may serve to further promote a T_H1-T_H2 environment^{72,73}.

Parasite burden reduction rates achieved by the chromosomally integrated YS1646::NHC strain were comparable with our previous plasmid-based prime-boost vaccination strategy⁸ despite a much shorter schedule. These candidate vaccines meet the recently developed Preferred Product Characteristics (PPC) of a schistosomiasis vaccine by reaching the 75% target for worm and egg burden reductions^{24,74}. Our results surpass those of other vaccines in comparable murine models that have since entered clinical trials⁷⁵. Recombinant Sm-TSP2 achieved 57% reduction in adult worms and 64% reduction in hepatic eggs whereas recombinant Sm14 reduced worm burden by 66%, both adjuvanted with Freund's complete adjuvant^{76,77}. Recently, recombinant Sm-p80
adjuvanted with GLA-SE achieved 93% reduction in female worms and 90% in tissue egg load in a non-human primate model⁷⁵. Mouse studies of this vaccine demonstrated a 70% reduction in parasite burden⁷⁴. These vaccine strategies require repeated intramuscular immunizations whereas the schedule used in the present study required only 5 days. A striking result of the chromosomally integrated vaccine was the significant reduction in the percentage of female worms in the multimodal group, suggesting that this approach may have an anti-fecundity effect. This finding is consistent with the reduced egg granuloma sizes and the higher proportion of morphologically abnormal eggs observed as well as in previous Cathepsin B vaccination studies^{8,9,22,50}. Therefore, we hypothesize that adult female worms are under higher immune and metabolic pressure in vaccinated animals which leads to decreased fitness and egg integrity.

The focus of this work was the characterization of the protective potential and immune responses generated by a single-copy chromosomally integrated YS1646 vectored vaccine. While the current work represents considerable progress in the development of a S. mansoni vaccine more suitable for human use (i.e.: more stable antigen expression and removal of antibiotic resistance), several possible limitations of this approach remain. The stability of our YS1646::NHC strain for longterm storage remains to be evaluated and it is not yet known if a cold chain would be required. To address this concern, we freeze-dried our vaccine following a similar procedure used for the attenuated S. typhi vaccines, Ty21a¹³ and measured CFU concentrations over the course of 16 weeks to assess room temperature (RT) stability (Supplemental Figure 4.4). Despite an initial drop of 1 log following lyophilization, concentrations remained stable for 8 weeks until a small decrease of a half log at 12 weeks which was then maintained at 16 weeks. Additional experiments will be required to measure antigen expression and retention of immunogenicity in freeze dried preparations at different time points. Furthermore, previous work using rCatB has highlighted the benefit of adjuvants, while our studies with YS1646 to date have included none. The in-built adjuvanticity of the Salmonella vector via its TLR agonists likely helped induce an immune response against CatB, however future studies may include an adjuvant for either PO or IM doses to further enhance immunogenicity and protection. Given the local mucosal response conferred by PO doses and protection against challenge previously observed with oral immunization alone, we hope to explore the possibility of a YS1646-derived vaccine without intramuscular rCatB doses, creating a needle-free vaccine. Future studies will include mechanistic experiments to elucidate

correlates of immunity related to our vaccine. Lastly, *S*. Typhimurium can disseminate widely in the murine host and persist for weeks⁷⁸. Phase I clinical studies with YS1646 demonstrated that the bacterium could not survive long in the host's bloodstream due to its susceptibility to physiologic levels of CO₂⁷⁹. As we consider clinical studies, we hope that short-lived local invasion of the gastrointestinal tract will help induce potent immune responses while limiting persistence and dissemination within vaccinees. Finally, there is 60% homology between schistosomal and mammalian Cathepsin B which raises concerns surrounding off-target effects. However, the mammalian homolog is restricted to the cellular lysosomal compartment⁸⁰, rendering cross-reactivity of vaccine-induced antibodies less likely.

In summary, we report the development of a chromosomally integrated multimodal YS1646vectored vaccine expressing S. mansoni Cathepsin B that can induce a superior immune response in a mouse model compared to previous plasmid-based formulations with high parasite burden reductions. Oral dosing with S. Typhimurium expressing a single copy of our target antigen in combination with a single, intramuscular, unadjuvanted dose of recombinant protein led to strong local and systemic immune responses. The protection achieved against several parasitological outcomes ranges among the best reported in the murine model. As we look toward clinical studies and implementation of the vaccine, we expect that administration of our multi-modal vaccine will be easier in clinical practice compared to other schistosomiasis vaccination strategies that rely on several intramuscular doses delivered over a period of many months. A single doctor's visit would include administration of the IM dose along with the first PO dose. Then, patients could continue their oral vaccine regimen at home similarly to the Ty21a S. Typhi vaccine which consists of 4 oral doses³⁸. This would greatly facilitate vaccination of those living in endemic regions for schistosomiasis where recurrent visits to the clinic may be challenging^{81,82}. Chromosomal integration of CatB in the YS1646 vector also allowed the removal of the plasmid-located antibiotic resistance gene, making our candidate vaccine much safer for eventual clinical use. These data strongly support the continued development of this candidate S. mansoni vaccine to aid the hundreds of millions of people presently infected or at risk worldwide.

4.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Li Xing and Dr. Nicholas Zelt for their early work on the plasmidbased YS1646 constructs. We also thank Dr. Hicham Bessaiah and Hossein Jamali from the Dr. Charles Dozois laboratory for their assistance during the chromosomal integration experiments. We thank Annie Beauchamp for assistance with mouse experiments. Finally, we thank Dr. Hilary Hendin and Dr. Kaitlin Winter for assistance with flow cytometry experiments.

4.7 AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

ASH was involved in all aspects of the study including study design, performing experiments, data analysis and preparation of the manuscript. SH assisted with experimental design of chromosomal integration steps. LL assisted in sample collection and processing from vaccinated animals. DJP assisted with revisions to the manuscript. CMD supervised the portion of the study related to chromosomal integration experiments. BJW and MN supervised all parts of the study and prepared the manuscript.

4.8 COMPETING INTERESTS

ASH, MN and BJW are named as inventors on a patent for a YS1646-based *S. mansoni* vaccine held by Aviex Technologies LLC. SH, LL, DJP and CMD have no competing interests to declare.

4.9 REFERENCES

- 1. McManus, D. P. *et al.* Schistosomiasis—from immunopathology to vaccines. *Seminars in Immunopathology* (2020) doi:10.1007/s00281-020-00789-x.
- 2. Léger, E. *et al.* Prevalence and distribution of schistosomiasis in human, livestock, and snail populations in northern Senegal: a One Health epidemiological study of a multi-host system. *Lancet. Planet. Heal.* **4**, e330 (2020).
- 3. Trienekens, S. C. M. *et al.* Variation in water contact behaviour and risk of Schistosoma mansoni (re)infection among Ugandan school-aged children in an area with persistent high endemicity. *Parasit. Vectors* **15**, (2022).
- 4. Cioli, D., Pica-Mattoccia, L., Basso, A. & Guidi, A. Schistosomiasis control: Praziquantel forever? *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* vol. 195 23–29 (2014).
- Couto, F. F. B. *et al.* Schistosoma mansoni: A method for inducing resistance to praziquantel using infected Biomphalaria glabrata snails. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 106, 153–157 (2011).
- 6. Ismail, M. M., Farghaly, A. M., Dyab, A. K., Afify, H. A. & el-Shafei, M. A. Resistance to praziquantel, effect of drug pressure and stability test. *J. Egypt. Soc. Parasitol.* **32**, 589–600 (2002).
- Molehin, A. J., Mcmanus, D. P. & You, H. Molecular Sciences Vaccines for Human Schistosomiasis: Recent Progress, New Developments and Future Prospects. (2022) doi:10.3390/ijms23042255.
- 8. Hassan, A. S., Zelt, N. H., Perera, D. J., Ndao, M. & Ward, B. J. Vaccination against the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B using a YS1646 Salmonella enterica Typhimurium vector provides almost complete protection against Schistosoma mansoni challenge in a mouse model. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **13**, e0007490 (2019).
- Hassan, A. S., Perera, D. J., Ward, B. J. & Ndao, M. Therapeutic activity of a Salmonellavectored Schistosoma mansoni vaccine in a mouse model of chronic infection. *Vaccine* (2021) doi:10.1016/J.VACCINE.2021.08.031.
- 10. Fonseca, C. T., Braz Figueiredo Carvalho, G., Carvalho Alves, C. & De Melo, T. T. Schistosoma tegument proteins in vaccine and diagnosis development: an update. *J. Parasitol. Res.* **2012**, (2012).
- Crépin, S., Harel, S. & Dozois, C. M. Chromosomal complementation using Tn7 transposon vectors in enterobacteriaceae. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 6001–6008 (2012).
- 12. Winter, K., Xing, L., Kassardjian, A. & Ward, B. J. Vaccination against clostridium difficile by use of an attenuated salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium vector (YS1646) protects mice from lethal challenge. *Infect. Immun.* **87**, (2019).
- 13. Ohtake, S. *et al.* Room temperature stabilization of oral, live attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi-vectored vaccines. *Vaccine* **29**, 2761–2771 (2011).
- 14. Ricciardi, A., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Evaluation of the immune response and protective

efficacy of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B in mice using CpG dinucleotides as adjuvant. *Vaccine* **33**, 346–353 (2015).

- 15. Hendin, H. E. *et al.* Elimination of receptor binding by influenza hemagglutinin improves vaccine-induced immunity. *npj Vaccines 2022 71* **7**, 1–13 (2022).
- 16. Tucker, M. S., Karunaratne, L. B., Lewis, F. A., Freitas, T. C. & Liang, Y. san. Schistosomiasis. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* **103**, (2013).
- 17. LoVerde, P. T. Schistosomiasis. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1154, 45–70 (2019).
- 18. Crosnier, C. *et al.* Systematic screening of 96Schistosoma mansoni cell-surface and secreted antigens does not identify any strongly protective vaccine candidates in a mouse model of infection. *Wellcome Open Res.* **4**, (2019).
- Sajid, M. *et al.* Functional expression and characterization of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B and its trans-activation by an endogenous asparaginyl endopeptidase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 131, 65–75 (2003).
- Correnti, J. M., Brindley, P. J. & Pearce, E. J. Long-term suppression of cathepsin B levels by RNA interference retards schistosome growth. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 143, 209–215 (2005).
- 21. Ricciardi, A., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. A vaccine consisting of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B formulated in Montanide ISA 720 VG induces high level protection against murine schistosomiasis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **16**, (2016).
- 22. Perera, D. J. *et al.* Adjuvanted Schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B With Sulfated Lactosyl Archaeol Archaeosomes or AddaVaxTM Provides Protection in a Pre-Clinical Schistosomiasis Model. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 2990 (2020).
- 23. Bergquist, V. R. & Colley, D. G. Schistosomiasis vaccine:research to development. *Parasitol. Today* **14**, 99–104 (1998).
- Mo, A. X. & Colley, D. G. Workshop report: Schistosomiasis vaccine clinical development and product characteristics. in *Vaccine* vol. 34 995–1001 (Elsevier Ltd, 2016).
- 25. Glenting, J. & Wessels, S. Ensuring safety of DNA vaccines. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **4**, 26 (2005).
- 26. Yurina, V. Live Bacterial Vectors—A Promising DNA Vaccine Delivery System. *Med. Sci.* **6**, 27 (2018).
- 27. Oliveira, P. H. & Mairhofer, J. Marker-free plasmids for biotechnological applications implications and perspectives. *Trends Biotechnol.* **31**, 539–547 (2013).
- 28. Kwong, S. M., Skurray, R. A. & Firth, N. Staphylococcus aureus multiresistance plasmid pSK41: analysis of the replication region, initiator protein binding and antisense RNA regulation. *Mol. Microbiol.* **51**, 497–509 (2004).
- 29. Summers, D. Timing, self-control and a sense of direction are the secrets of multicopy plasmid stability. *Mol. Microbiol.* **29**, 1137–1145 (1998).
- 30. Vandermeulen, G., Marie, C., Scherman, D. & Préat, V. New Generation of Plasmid Backbones Devoid of Antibiotic Resistance Marker for Gene Therapy Trials. *Mol. Ther.*

19, 1942 (2011).

- 31. Peters, J. E. & Craig, N. L. Tn7: smarter than we thought. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2**, 806–814 (2001).
- 32. Bennett, A. M., Shippy, D. C., Eakley, N., Okwumabua, O. & Fadl, A. A. Functional characterization of glucosamine-6-phosphate synthase (GlmS) in Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis. *Arch. Microbiol.* **198**, 541–549 (2016).
- 33. Foster, N. *et al.* Revisiting Persistent Salmonella Infection and the Carrier State: What Do We Know? *Pathogens* **10**, (2021).
- 34. Poltorak, A. *et al.* Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: Mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science (80-.).* **282**, 2085–2088 (1998).
- 35. Makvandi, M. *et al.* Expression of Salmonella typhimurium and Escherichia coli flagellin protein and its functional characterization as an adjuvant. *Microb. Pathog.* **118**, 87–90 (2018).
- 36. Hayashi, F. *et al.* The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Tolllike receptor 5. *Nature* **410**, 1099–1103 (2001).
- Toso, J. F. *et al.* Phase I Study of the Intravenous Administration of Attenuated Salmonella typhimurium to Patients With Metastatic Melanoma . *J. Clin. Oncol.* 20, 142– 152 (2002).
- 38. Gentschev, I. *et al.* Vivotif--a 'magic shield' for protection against typhoid fever and delivery of heterologous antigens. *Chemotherapy* **53**, 177–180 (2007).
- 39. Chen, G. *et al.* Oral delivery of the Sj23LHD-GST antigen by Salmonella typhimurium type III secretion system protects against Schistosoma japonicum infection in mice. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **5**, (2011).
- 40. Ding, J. *et al.* Immune responses to a recombinant attenuated Salmonella typhimurium strain expressing a Taenia solium oncosphere antigen TSOL18. *Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* **36**, 17–23 (2013).
- 41. Pompa-Mera, E. N. *et al.* Trichinella spiralis: Intranasal immunization with attenuated Salmonella enterica Carrying a gp43 antigen-derived 30mer epitope elicits protection in BALB/c mice. *Exp. Parasitol.* **129**, 393–401 (2011).
- 42. dos Santos, A. M. P., Ferrari, R. G. & Conte-Junior, C. A. Type three secretion system in Salmonella Typhimurium: the key to infection. *Genes Genomics* **42**, 495–506 (2020).
- 43. Srikanth, C. V., Mercado-Lubo, R., Hallstrom, K. & McCormick, B. A. Salmonella effector proteins and host-cell responses. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **68**, 3687 (2011).
- 44. Li, X.-H. *et al.* Evidence That Rhesus Macaques Self-Cure from a Schistosoma japonicum Infection by Disrupting Worm Esophageal Function: A New Route to an Effective Vaccine? *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **9**, e0003925 (2015).
- 45. Amaral, M. S. *et al.* Rhesus macaques self-curing from a schistosome infection can display complete immunity to challenge. *Nat. Commun. 2021 121* **12**, 1–17 (2021).
- 46. Wilson, R. A. *et al.* Elimination of Schistosoma mansoni adult worms by rhesus macaques: Basis for a therapeutic vaccine? *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **2**, (2008).

- 47. Bogitsh, B. J. Schistosoma mansoni: Cytochemistry and morphology of the gastrodermal Golgi apparatus. *Exp. Parasitol.* **53**, 57–67 (1982).
- 48. Clarkson, J. & Erasmus, D. A. Schistosoma mansoni: an in vivo study of drug-induced autophagy in the gastrodermis. *J. Helminthol.* **58**, 59–68 (1984).
- 49. Mughal, M. N., Grevelding, C. G. & Haeberlein, S. First insights into the autophagy machinery of adult Schistosoma mansoni. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **51**, 571–585 (2021).
- 50. Perera, D. J. *et al.* A low dose adenovirus vectored vaccine expressing Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B protects from intestinal schistosomiasis in mice. *eBioMedicine* **80**, 104036 (2022).
- 51. Ricciardi, A., Zelt, N. H., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Immune mechanisms involved in schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B vaccine induced protection in mice. *Front. Immunol.* **9**, (2018).
- 52. de Melo, T. T., de Sena, I. C., Araujo, N. & Fonseca, C. T. Antibodies are involved in the protective immunity induced in mice by Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula tegument (Smteg) immunization. *Parasite Immunol.* **36**, 107–111 (2014).
- Crabtree, J. E. & Wilson, R. A. Pulmonary cellular reactions to Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula in normal and vaccinated mice. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 216A, 701–707 (1987).
- 54. Grzych, J. M. *et al.* IgA antibodies to a protective antigen in human Schistosomiasis mansoni. *J. Immunol.* **150**, 527–35 (1993).
- 55. Dessein, A. *et al.* Immune evasion by Schistosoma mansoni: loss of susceptibility to antibody or complement-dependent eosinophil attack by schistosomula cultured in medium free of macromolecules. *Parasitology* **82**, 357–374 (1981).
- 56. Jong, E. C., Chi, E. Y. & Klebanoff, S. J. Human neutrophil-mediated killing of schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni: augmentation by schistosomal binding of eosinophil peroxidase. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **33**, 104–115 (1984).
- 57. Caulfield, J. P., Lenzi, H. L., Elsas, P. & Dessein, A. J. Ultrastructure of the attack of eosinophils stimulated by blood mononuclear cell products on schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni. *Am. J. Pathol.* **120**, 380–390 (1985).
- 58. Abu-Ghazaleh, R. I., Fujisawa, T., Mestecky, J., Kyle, R. A. & Gleich, G. J. IgA-induced eosinophil degranulation. *J. Immunol.* **142**, 2393–400 (1989).
- 59. Travers, J. & Rothenberg, M. E. Eosinophils in mucosal immune responses. *Mucosal Immunology* vol. 8 464–475 (2015).
- 60. Diemert, D. J. *et al.* Generalized urticaria induced by the Na-ASP-2 hookworm vaccine: Implications for the development of vaccines against helminths. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 130, 169-176.e6 (2012).
- 61. HEWITSON, J. P., HAMBLIN, P. A. & MOUNTFORD, A. P. Immunity induced by the radiation-attenuated schistosome vaccine. *Parasite Immunol.* **27**, 271–280 (2005).
- 62. McManus, D. P. & Loukas, A. Current status of vaccines for schistosomiasis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* vol. 21 225–242 (2008).

- 63. Wilson, R. A. Interferon gamma is a key cytokine in lung phase immunity to schistosomes but what is its precise role? *Brazilian J. Med. Biol. Res.* = *Rev. Bras. Pesqui. medicas e Biol.* **31**, 157–161 (1998).
- 64. Jankovic, D. *et al.* Optimal vaccination against Schistosoma mansoni requires the induction of both B cell- and IFN-gamma-dependent effector mechanisms. *J. Immunol.* 162, 345–51 (1999).
- 65. Adorini, L. Interleukin-12, a key cytokine in Th1-mediated autoimmune diseases. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **55**, 1610–1625 (1999).
- 66. Wilson, R. A. & Coulson, P. S. Immune effector mechanisms against schistosomiasis: looking for a chink in the parasite's armour. *Trends Parasitol.* **25**, 423 (2009).
- 67. Harriman, G. R., Kunimoto, D. Y., Elliott, J. F., Paetkau, V. & Strober, W. The role of IL-5 in IgA B cell differentiation. *J. Immunol.* **140**, 3033–9 (1988).
- 68. Schoenbeck, S., Mckenzie, D. T. & Kagnoff, M. F. Interleukin 5 is a differentiation factor for IgA B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **19**, 965–969 (1989).
- 69. Bao, S. *et al.* Intestinal IgA plasma cells of the B1 lineage are IL-5 dependent. *Immunology* **94**, 181–188 (1998).
- 70. El Ridi, R. & Tallima, H. Vaccine-induced protection against murine schistosomiasis mansoni with larval excretory-secretory antigens and papain or type-2 cytokines. *J. Parasitol.* **99**, 194–202 (2013).
- 71. Karmakar, S. *et al.* Use of an Sm-p80-Based Therapeutic Vaccine to Kill Established Adult Schistosome Parasites in Chronically Infected Baboons. *J. Infect. Dis.* (2014) doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu031.
- Carr, M. W., Roth, S. J., Luther, E., Rose, S. S. & Springer, T. A. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 acts as a T-lymphocyte chemoattractant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 91, 3652–3656 (1994).
- Xu, Y., Rojkind, M. & Czaja, M. J. Regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 by cytokines and oxygen free radicals in rat hepatic fat-storing cells. *Gastroenterology* 110, 1870–1877 (1996).
- 74. Molehin, A. J. *et al.* Development of a Schistosomiasis Vaccine. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* **15**, 619 (2016).
- 75. Molehin, A. J. Schistosomiasis vaccine development: Update on human clinical trials. *Journal of Biomedical Science* vol. 27 (2020).
- 76. Tran, M. H. *et al.* Tetraspanins on the surface of Schistosoma mansoni are protective antigens against schistosomiasis. *Nat. Med.* **12**, 835–840 (2006).
- Tendler, M. *et al.* A Schistosoma mansoni fatty acid-binding protein, Sm14, is the potential basis of a dual-purpose anti-helminth vaccine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93, 269 (1996).
- Worley, M. J., Nieman, G. S., Geddes, K. & Heffron, F. Salmonella typhimurium disseminates within its host by manipulating the motility of infected cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103, 17915–17920 (2006).

- 79. Karsten, V. *et al.* msbB deletion confers acute sensitivity to CO2 in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium that can be suppressed by a loss-of-function mutation in zwf. *BMC Microbiol.* **9**, (2009).
- Lipps, G., Füllkrug, R. & Beck, E. Cathepsin B of Schistosoma mansoni: Purification and activation of the recombinant proenzyme secreted by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 1717–1725 (1996).
- 81. Phillips, D. E., Dieleman, J. L., Lim, S. S. & Shearer, J. Determinants of effective vaccine coverage in low and middle-income countries: a systematic review and interpretive synthesis. *BMC Health Serv. Res.* **17**, (2017).
- 82. Driciru, E. *et al.* Immunological Considerations for Schistosoma Vaccine Development: Transitioning to Endemic Settings. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 635985 (2021).

4.10 FIGURES & TABLE



Figure 4.1. Chromosomal integration. Map of the pGP-Tn7-Cm plasmid designed to include promoter, secretory signal, and CatB antigen. Insertion occurred between the EcoRI and KpnI restriction sites (A). Linear integrated sequences for each YS1646 construct following FLP-FRT recombination to remove the chloramphenicol resistance gene (B). Growth curves of WT and recombinant YS1646 strains measured by absorbance at OD₆₀₀ over 24 hours (n = 4 readings per 30 min interval) (C). Confocal microscopy images of uninfected and infected RAW264.7 cells at 63X magnification. DAPI nuclear stain is represented in blue and mCherry expression is shown in red (D).



Figure 4.2. Humoral responses. Serum and intestinal samples were collected 3 weeks post-vaccination. Anti-Cathepsin B IgG titers expressed as ng/mL (A). Anti-CatB IgG avidity index (%) (B). Ratio of antigen-specific IgG1 vs IgG2c titers (C). Anti-CatB intestinal IgA titers expressed as ng/g (D). Total serum IgE expressed as ng/mL (E). Each independent experiment consisted of 5 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (****P* < 0.001, *****P* < 0.0001).



Figure 4.3. T_H1 cytokine secretion levels. Supernatant levels of IL-6 (A), IL-12 (B), and IFN γ (C) after *ex vivo* restimulation of splenocytes with rCatB for 72 hours. Cytokines were measured by Quansys multiplex ELISA and expressed in pg/mL. Each independent experiment consisted of 5 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean ± SEM (**P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.001, *****P* < 0.0001).



Figure 4.4. Other cytokines and chemokines. Supernatant levels of IL-5 (A), IL-10 (B), IL-17 (C), and CCL2 (D) after *ex vivo* restimulation of splenocytes with rCatB for 72 hours. Cytokines were measured by Quansys multiplex ELISA and expressed in pg/mL. Each independent experiment consisted of 5 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (**P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01).



Figure 4.5. Flow cytometric analysis of T cells. The percentage of responding IFN γ^+ CD4⁺ T cells (A) and IFN γ^+ CD8⁺ T cells (B) in *ex vivo* restimulated splenocytes with rCatB after 24 hours were measured by flow cytometry. Each independent experiment consisted of 5 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean ± SEM of net values after background subtraction with unstimulated cells (**P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.001).



Figure 4.6. Parasite burden. The worm burden (A) and the percentage of female worms (B) were assessed 7 weeks post-challenge per individual mouse in each group. Egg loads were expressed per gram of liver (C) and intestine (D) for each group. Each independent experiment consisted of 5 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (*P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001).

| Vaccine Group | Granuloma size (µm²) ± SEM | Abnormal egg morphology (%) ± SEM |
|---------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| PBS | 56536.2 ± 4727.3 | 10.9 ± 1.7 |
| WT + rCatB | 55304.7 ± 4366.9 | 15.9 ± 1.4 |
| NHC | $40136.1 \pm 2497.6^{*}$ | $39.6 \pm 2.5^{****}$ |
| NHC + rCatB | 31620.4 ± 1759.2*** | $51.9 \pm 4.8^{****}$ |

Table 4.1. Granuloma size and egg abnormality.

Liver egg granuloma size (μ m²) and egg morphology (i.e.: loss of internal structure, shrinkage, crenelated periphery) were assessed using Zen Blue software. Each independent experiment consisted of 6 – 10 granulomas per animal per group. Each experiment was performed twice. Data are shown as mean ± SEM (**P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.001, *****P* < 0.0001).

4.11 SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL



| Vaccine Group | Oral Dose | Intramuscular Dose |
|---------------|-------------|--------------------|
| PBS | PBS | PBS |
| WT + rCatB | WT YS1646 | rCatB |
| NHC | YS1646::NHC | PBS |
| NHC + rCatB | YS1646::NHC | rCatB |

Supplemental Figure 4.1. Study Design. Baseline serum was collected on D0 for all mice. Depending on the experimental group, mice received three oral doses of PBS, WT YS1646 or YS1646::NHC on D1, D3, and D5 (200 μ L, 1 x 10⁹ CFU/dose). Mice also received an intramuscular dose of PBS or rCatB (50 μ L, 20 μ g/dose). Mice were then euthanized three weeks post-vaccination for immunogenicity studies. For challenge studies, mice were percutaneously exposed to 150 cercaria and euthanized 7 weeks later to assess parasite burden.



Supplemental Figure 4.2 Antigen-specific IgE. Serum samples were collected 3 weeks post-vaccination. No animals developed antigen-specific IgE in response to vaccination. Each independent experiment consisted of 5 animals per group. Each experiment was performed twice.



Supplemental Figure 4.3. Flow cytometry gating strategy. To identify CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressing IFN γ , we first gated to exclude debris, cell clusters, and dead cells. After gating for single cells and live cells, T cell subsets were identified from the CD3⁺ population and IFN γ^+ cells were identified in each population.



Supplemental Figure 4.4. Viability of lyophilized NHC over time. Recombinant YS1646 strains were freeze dried and stored at room temperature (RT) for 16 weeks. Samples were resuspended and grown on LB plates to assess CFU counts and calculate concentrations. The y-axis is expressed on a log scale. Each time point consisted of either 2 or 4 samples.



Supplemental Figure 4.5. Histopathological staining of hepatic sections. Representative images of H&E staining of liver egg granulomas in control mice (A) and the multimodal vaccination group (B). Scale is set to 50 µm.

CHAPTER 5

General Discussion

Schistosomiasis control efforts have been successfully implemented in parts of the world, but progress towards elimination remains a challenge as global infection numbers surpass 250 million. Praziquantel (PZQ) treatment campaigns have helped to reduce morbidity and mortality rates in endemic regions for the past 40 years. However, as with other neglected tropical diseases (NTDs), the COVID-19 pandemic caused setbacks in mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns, thus increasing the number of untreated cases¹. To minimize the pitfalls of PZQ (i.e.: lack of efficacy against juvenile worms, no prevention of reinfection, etc.) and provide long-lasting prophylaxis, a vaccine is required². In the mid-1990s, the Tropical Diseases Research committee of the World Health Organization (TDR-WHO) set the bar for an effective schistosomiasis vaccine at $\geq 40\%$ for parasite burden reductions³ and several pre-clinical vaccine candidates are in development⁴. More recently, as research progress has advanced, global experts convened to establish preferred product characteristics (PPC) for an eventual vaccine⁵. The new threshold in terms of efficacy (i.e., egg output and/or worm burden) would be \geq 75% against at least one *Schistosoma* spp. or against all three as an optimistic target⁵. The PPC propose that an ideal vaccine would also exert therapeutic effects against pre-existing disease. Whereas most vaccines in pre-clinical and clinical development target membrane proteins of the adult worm by intramuscular immunization, our group has chosen the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B (CatB) as a target antigen^{6–8}. S. mansoni CatB is an important cysteine protease present during both larval and adult stages of the lifecycle, and it is required for digestion of host blood macromolecules and proper parasite maturation^{9,10}. The central goal of this thesis work was to evaluate the impact of an attenuated Salmonella Typhimurium YS1646 vaccine vector expressing CatB on schistosomiasis vaccine immunogenicity and efficacy. This thesis describes a promising, multimodal strategy for a novel S. mansoni vaccine with high prophylactic and therapeutic potential.

5.1 MAIN FINDINGS

Prior experimental work established that S. mansoni CatB (SmCatB) is an effective vaccine target when formulated with either CpG dinucleotides⁶ or Montanide ISA 720 VG⁷ and administered intramuscularly in a murine model. A series of three IM doses over 9 weeks led to parasite burden reductions ranging from 54 - 62%. Both formulations elicited robust IgG antibody titers against Cathepsin B. The use of CpG dinucleotides skewed immune responses towards T_H1-type immunity whereas the squalene-based adjuvant Montanide ISA 720 VG led to a more mixed T_{H1}/T_{H2} response. These studies were vital to establishing the foundation for our efforts to develop a Salmonella Typhimurium vectored vaccine to express Cathepsin B. In Chapter 2, we describe the in vitro experiments performed to successfully clone a pQE-30 plasmid construct harbouring E. coli or S. Typhimurium promoters, the Salmonella secretion signal SspH1 and our full-length antigen. CatB expression was demonstrated in axenic culture and in a murine macrophage cell line for two constructs, nirB_SspH1_CatB (NHC) and SspH1_SspH1_CatB (HHC). Next, we moved forward with these two constructs for in vivo immunogenicity and challenge experiments. Even though the HHC construct could cause a systemic immune response, NHC was far more promising. Oral priming doses followed by a single intramuscular boost of recombinant protein 3 weeks later generated considerable local and systemic humoral responses along with mixed T_H1/T_H2 antibody and cellular responses. We observed reductions in adult worm, hepatic egg, and intestinal egg burdens were 93.1%, 90.3%, and 79.5% respectively, thus surpassing recently established thresholds and reported efficacies of other S. mansoni vaccine candidates in a murine model.

The work detailed in **Chapter 2**, published in *PLoS NTDs* in December 2019, led us to consider the impacts of vaccination on chronically infected individuals. Previously, only one other vaccine, Sm-p80, has been assessed for therapeutical potential in a non-human primate model¹¹. Therefore, in **Chapter 3**, published in *Vaccine* in August 2021, we established a chronic infection mouse model to determine the therapeutic effect provided by our recombinant YS1646 vaccine. Mice were infected for a period of either 2 or 4 months prior to vaccination and then sacrificed either 1or 2 months post-vaccination. First, we compared a 5-day multimodal schedule and the 3-week prime-boost schedule in a prophylactic vaccination model. The shorter regimen was an effective strategy and protected against parasite challenge. Therefore, this shortened schedule was used for all therapeutic vaccination experiments. At 1 month post-vaccination, parasite burden reductions ranged from 46.5% - 50.3%. At 2 months post-vaccination, these reductions increased to 63.9% - 73.3% across all parasitological outcomes. Vaccination with recombinant YS1646 shifted the immune landscape from the classical T_H2-dominant environment observed in natural infection to a mixed T_H1/T_H2 response due to the increased secretion of pro-inflammatory T_H1 -type cytokines. Interestingly, egg morphology and granuloma sizes were reduced post-vaccination, and liver fibrosis was also decreased following multimodal administration of the vaccine compared to controls. Finally, serum total IgE was not significantly increased in vaccinated animals as had been seen in clinical trials with other helminth vaccination studies where participants suffered from allergic type I hypersensitivity responses¹².

Together, **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3** demonstrate the efficacy of recombinant YS1646 delivered orally when coupled with intramuscular administration of recombinant Cathepsin B. It is noteworthy that the *Salmonella* vector used to express the antigen CatB in Chapters 2 and 3, was plasmid-based carrying an antibiotic resistance gene cassette which could limit the use of our vaccine in humans. In **Chapter 4**, we redesigned our YS1646 vector to express *S. mansoni* CatB through chromosomal integration to remove the antibiotic resistance gene cassette and ensure more stable expression of the antigen. We evaluated the immunogenicity of this new candidate vaccine and discovered more potent cellular and humoral responses both systemically and locally. We demonstrated that vaccination continued to induce a mixed TH1/TH2 response characterized by the increase in antigen-specific IgG2c antibody titers as well as the secretion of both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. We also showed that IFN γ production upon *ex vivo* restimulation of splenocytes with recombinant antigen is mediated by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Taken together, we show that Cathepsin B expression by an attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium vector is a promising strategy for the development of a schistosomiasis vaccine.

5.2 LIMITATIONS OF THE WORK

Throughout the work presented in this thesis, we have demonstrated the protective capabilities of multimodal vaccination with a *Salmonella* Typhimurium vector. With the aid of chromosomal integration, we have mitigated clear risks associated with plasmid-based expression of our antigen in the live, attenuated YS1646 strain. However, other factors must be considered as these projects

move forward such as limitations with the current animal model as well as challenges with live attenuated vectored vaccination.

5.2.1 Animal model

Throughout this thesis, the C57BL/6 mouse strain has been used as the animal model for all *in vivo* vaccination studies. Inherently, there are several differences between mice and humans in terms of the immune responses elicited and the tropism of our YS1646 vector for example. As we hope to move further toward human clinical trials, these differences should be highlighted. The following section will discuss the mouse model and its application in schistosomiasis challenge studies.

5.2.1.1 Differences in Salmonella Typhimurium responses in mice vs humans

Wild-type *Salmonella* Typhimurium is used to replicate typhoid fever in mice. The YS1646 attenuated strain does not cause severe disease or symptoms in our model, however, bacteria may widely disseminate within the host^{13,14}. Conversely, in humans, *S*. Typhimurium is confined to the gastrointestinal tract as is common in non-typhoidal salmonellosis¹⁵. Therefore, responses to vaccination may differ in the human host, and this must be investigated. Initial humoral responses may be similar such as the induction of local IgA and systemic IgG antibodies. However, the extent to which the dissemination of the attenuated bacteria within the murine host contributes to cellular immunity needs to be studied further.

5.2.1.2 Mice are not an ideal schistosomiasis challenge model

Mice represent a cost-effective model and are easy to manipulate. This aids greatly when assessing the immunogenicity and protection of candidate vaccines. However, a recent study has highlighted the pitfalls associated with this model when performing schistosomiasis challenge experiments¹⁶. Most infection protocols involve exposing mice to 150 - 200 cercaria by percutaneous exposure of the tail. The larva will then migrate through the vasculature to the lungs first before continuing towards the liver in order to mature into adult worm pairs¹⁷. However, many larval schistosomula may be lost during the lung phase of the migration. While mice are considered to be a permissive

host for schistosomes, few parasites are able to migrate from the skin to the portal system and mature into adult worms. As a result, this may influence parasite burden assessment.

A potential limitation of the murine model of schistosomiasis is centered around the fragility of the pulmonary capillaries¹⁶. Migrating schistosomula burst into alveoli and their passage through the lung can be impeded unlike in humans or other experimental models including hamsters and non-human primates. Additionally, challenge studies often infect mice soon after the final boosting dose and this may be considered too short of a time interval. The recruitment of immune cells in the lungs is suggested to be due to activation and not by antigen stimulation. Therefore, it is important to examine where parasites are being eliminated when assessing the efficacy of a vaccine candidate. Another consideration would be to delay the challenge until at least 5 weeks after the final vaccination dose. Pre-clinical studies may occur in mice or hamsters for large-scale testing whereas baboons are the best model as a permissive primate.

Other considerations include the difference in acquired infections in natural versus laboratory settings. For example, in an experimental infection, cercaria are introduced to the host as a single exposure whereas infections are typically acquired gradually in endemic regions¹⁸. Moreover, the intensity of the infection and the *Schistosoma* isolates will vary as well. Finally, the presence of co-infections (i.e., malaria, HIV, hepatitis) may influence the human host.

5.2.1.3 Absence of co-infections in naïve mice

Lastly, naïve mice in our experimental design do not accurately reflect the reality of schistosomiasis endemic regions. Animal test subjects are kept in a clean and controlled environment where the risk of acquiring co-infections is low. In contrast, areas with heavy schistosomiasis burden are also afflicted with other bacterial, viral, and parasitic diseases and the risk of one or more co-infection pathogens is high¹⁹.

Schistosomiasis and malaria share overlapping geographical distribution, and both cause significant disease²⁰. Both infections are highly prevalent in children and fishing communities²¹. Acute malaria infections have been shown to cause diminished vaccine responses to several bacterial diseases^{22,23}. Malaria infection during pregnancy or infancy may also decrease responses

to measles vaccination²⁴. Thus, it may be of interest to test and treat malaria infections before administering a vaccine in an endemic region. In addition, co-infection with soil-transmitted helminths (STHs) can induce immune suppression by diminishing T_H1-type responses and causing a T_H2 bias^{25,26}. B and T cell responses may also be affected by anti-helminth treatment²⁷. Other co-infections including cytomegalovirus, HIV/AIDS, and tuberculosis are also to be screened during vaccination trials and investigated for possible effects on immunizations²¹.

5.2.2 Challenges with live, attenuated vectored vaccines

Live attenuated vaccines have several advantages such as the ability to stimulate the immune system, invade cells to induce cell-mediated immunity, and the possibility to avoid multiple doses or adjuvants. However, they present their own challenges which must be considered. Following a normal course of infection, a live attenuated *Salmonella* Typhimurium vector would remain restricted to the host's gastrointestinal tract until elimination. Nonetheless, there is a risk of persistence of the vector within the host and the safety of immunocompromised individuals must also be considered.

5.2.2.1 Persistence of YS1646 in the host

Due to its nature in the mouse model, the YS1646 strain can widely disseminate within the host, and persist for some time after initial vaccination. The effect of this persistence on maintaining a continued immune response remains to be evaluated. Bacterial shedding is of concern with live vaccines. However, Ty21a vaccination leads to transient shedding and can be resolved by day 4²⁸. Other diseases with vaccines known for shedding are cholera which may last for at least 7 days in the stool²⁹ as well as polio³⁰. On the other hand, when YS1646 was introduced as a cancer treatment in a phase I clinical trial, it failed due to rapid clearance in the bloodstream³¹. While bacteria were administered intravenously in this clinical trial, the duration of YS1646 following oral administration within a human host should be investigated.

5.2.2.2 Safety for immunocompromised individuals

Live attenuated vaccination would likely not be recommended for immunocompromised individuals. The Ty21a *Salmonella* Typhi vaccine is contraindicated in this patient population. It is also not recommended for people taking medications such as antibacterial drugs due to possible interference with the bacterium. The Ty21a vaccine is approved in children over the age of 6 years old which coincides with the at-risk age group of 6 - 10 for schistosomiasis^{32,33}.

5.3 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

We have demonstrated that a recombinant *Salmonella* vector could deliver a heterologous *Schistosoma mansoni* antigen and protect against challenge. Multimodal vaccination worked effectively in both prophylactic and therapeutic models. However, whether this approach can be used against other *Schistosoma* spp. remains to be evaluated. Furthermore, our current vaccine may be improved using adjuvants or by targeting additional antigens. Future work will also include determining the impact of vaccination in treatment/reinfection models as we move forward toward human studies.

5.3.1 Enhancing mucosal immunity through oral adjuvants

The current state of our multimodal vaccine does not include the use of any adjuvants for either oral or intramuscular doses. Previously, our group tested different formulations of recombinant Cathepsin B in murine models^{6–8}. In this work, we have taken advantage of the in-built adjuvanticity of our YS1646 vector to stimulate local and systemic immune responses. Interestingly, oral vaccination alone was shown to protect against *Schistosoma* challenge when administered prophylactically despite the lack of systemic humoral and cellular responses. These findings lead us to consider the benefits of a strictly oral vaccination and whether immune responses can be enhanced through oral adjuvants.

5.3.1.1 Benefits of mucosal immunity for schistosomiasis

The lifecycle of the *Schistosoma* genus involves passage through the lungs where schistosomula will migrate prior to their arrival in the liver for maturation into adult worms¹⁷. In the case of *S. mansoni*, the paired worms will then reside in the mesenteric veins. Therefore, these are two

anatomical locations where the parasite is in close proximity to the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) and could be subjected to attack by the mucosal immune system. The transit of the schistosomula through the lungs makes them susceptible to immune attack by eosinophils^{34–36}. These myeloid cells may bind to circulating secretory IgA antibodies and act in concert with IgA⁺ plasma cells^{37,38}. Moreover, it is plausible that antigen-sensitized IgA⁺ precursor plasma cells from the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT) are disseminated to other mucosa-associated tissues such as the lungs³⁹. In fact, lung dendritic cells can induce IgA class switching and generate protective gastrointestinal responses^{40,41}. There is more evidence towards considering the mucosal immune system as an integrated system-wide organ and more research is needed in the study of communication between mucosal sites⁴².

5.3.1.2 Can oral vaccination alone be sufficient?

The Ty21a vaccine consists of a series of 4 oral doses administered over the course of a week. Oral vaccination would be ideal in endemic regions due to the ease of administration. One possible limitation is that oral vaccination can have lower efficacy in low-and-middle-income countries (LMICs). Children from LMICs may suffer from undernutrition which has been shown to lead to diminished immune responses to oral vaccines⁴³. Other risk factors include enteric infections and environmental enteropathy. Moreover, compared to other oral vaccines, Ty21a is an interesting exception. Clinical trials in several LMICs have shown that vaccination induces local intestinal IgA antibodies and robust cellular responses in school-age children^{44–46}. It has been suggested that this may be due to the unique biology of *Salmonella* spp. to target M cells and quickly gain access to the GALT. As more *Salmonella*-based vaccines are being developed, it would be of interest to determine if stable immunogenicity is also conferred in this risk population.

In our studies, oral-only administration of the vaccine had some substantial effects on reducing parasite burden despite the lack of a systemic immune response. Local IgA antibodies were induced in this group and may play a role in the decreased parasite load observed. Therefore, adjuvanting the oral doses may lead to better parasite burden reduction and increase systemic and local humoral and cellular immune responses.

5.3.1.3 Preliminary work with mucosal adjuvants: ATRA and dmLT

Due to the proximity of *S. mansoni* to intestinal tissues, we tested the additional protective effect of mucosal adjuvants in our shortened vaccination schedule. We have tested different doses of all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) and double-mutant heat-labile toxin (dmLT). These adjuvants have shown considerable promise in both preclinical and clinical studies^{47,48}.

ATRA is a major metabolic derivative of vitamin A and signals through nuclear retinoic acid receptors (RAR α , RAR β , RAR γ)⁴⁹. ATRA can act on and influence various immune cells such as T cells and dendritic cells^{50–53}. The adjuvant can enhance T cell proliferation and mediate homing to the gut mucosa^{51,54}. It can also increase homing to other mucosal sites such as the vagina and the lung^{49,55}. ATRA also affects B cells and drives their differentiation towards plasma cells and increases IgA production⁵⁶. ATRA has an established safety record in humans as a topical agent^{57,58} and has been administered orally for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia⁵⁹. More recently, ATRA has been used as an oral adjuvant for typhoid vaccination with Ty21a where the molecule was well tolerated by subjects and led to an increase in antigen-specific IgA titers⁶⁰.

The adjuvant dmLT is derived from heat-labile enterotoxin (LT) of *Escherichia coli* following the substitution of two residues in the A subunit of the molecule^{48,61}. Administered through various routes, preclinical studies have demonstrated that dmLT can enhance both IgG and IgA antibody titers as well as T_{H1} - and T_{H1} 7-mediated cellular responses in different animal models^{62–68}. The enhanced T_{H1} 7 activity allows for IL-17 secretion which can upregulate polymeric Ig receptor levels in epithelial cells and thus increase the transport of secretory IgA antibodies at mucosal sites^{69–71}. The adjuvant dmLT is safe and effective for use in humans and has been assessed in numerous completed and ongoing clinical trials, particularly for vaccines targeting enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC)⁴⁸.

Using our recombinant chromosomally integrated nirB_SspH1_CatB (NHC) strain as a control, we tested low (10 μ g) and high (20 μ g) doses of ATRA and dmLT. Mice were vaccinated following the 5-day multimodality schedule described in Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis. Three oral doses were administered on days 1, 3, and 5 (D1, D3, D5) along with an intramuscular dose of

recombinant antigen administered on D1. Low (LD) or high (HD) doses of each adjuvant were administered on D1, D3, and D5 together with the oral doses of recombinant YS1646. In a preliminary study, anti-Cathepsin B serum IgG and intestinal IgA antibody responses 3 weeks post-vaccination were measured (**Figure 5.1**).

Serum IgG titers for the LD ATRA (8851.2 \pm 2086.2 ng/mL), HD ATRA (16563.2 \pm 2666.3 ng/mL) and LD dmLT (15654.8 \pm 2813.4 ng/mL) groups were not significantly increased compared to the unadjuvanted NHC group (9804.9 \pm 2371.1 ng/mL). The HD dmLT group trended towards an increase (17877.4 \pm 520.1 ng/mL, *P* = 0.08) and resulted in anti-CatB IgG titers significantly greater than in the LD ATRA group (*P* < 0.05) (**Figure 5.1A**). Intestinal IgA antibodies were most elevated in the HD ATRA (1081.2 \pm 158.5 ng/g) and HD dmLT (1098.8 \pm 90.8 ng/g) groups and significantly greater than the unadjuvanted control (453.0 \pm 95.1 ng/g) (both *P* < 0.01). The low dose groups for ATRA and dmLT displayed non-significant increases in their IgA titers (864.9 \pm 105.4 ng/g and 759.2 \pm 44.3 ng/g, respectively) (**Figure 5.1B**). Thus, adjuvanting the oral doses with high doses of ATRA and dmLT (20 µg) increased antigen-specific humoral responses. The effect of these adjuvants on cellular immunity and protection from challenge remains to be investigated.

5.3.2 Vaccination in PZQ-treated subjects

Contrary to naïve travellers, individuals from endemic regions have a history of prior infection. Therefore, it would be beneficial to test candidate vaccines under such conditions. Praziquantel (PZQ) is the main drug available for schistosomiasis infection and mass administration occurs yearly in many endemic regions⁷². Co-administration of schistosomiasis vaccines along with PZQ should be evaluated to better approximate field settings.

Praziquantel is an effective oral medication used to treat several helminth infections. In the case of schistosomiasis, it has a high efficacy rate of 60 - 90%. PZQ works by paralyzing the adult worms through action upon calcium-gated channels along their membrane. PZQ administration exposes the host's immune system to several antigenic proteins as worm surface proteins are exposed⁷³ and antigen-specific antibody titers increase as a result^{74,75}. However, there is a risk of

antigenic competition for single-antigen vaccines. The timing of PZQ administration and vaccination needs to be considered to develop the most efficient approach and to take advantage of possible synergistic effects.

5.3.3 Cross-protection against other Schistosoma species

While developing a vaccine against *Schistosoma mansoni* was the primary objective, it is of particular interest to note whether this approach may be used to prevent infection by other *Schistosoma* spp. Along with *S. mansoni*, *S. haematobium* is responsible for 95% of human schistosomiasis cases worldwide⁷⁶. As the most common schistosome species in Africa and the Middle East, *S. haematobium* causes approximately 112 million cases in sub-Saharan Africa⁷⁷. These regions are subject to mixed species infections due to the high geographical overlap^{78–80}. Therefore, it would be of great interest to deploy a vaccine capable of reducing the disease burden by both schistosome species.

Cathepsins, specifically Cathepsin B, are also present in both *S. haematobium* and *S. japonicum*. In the case of the *S. japonicum* Cathepsin B (SjCatB), it is highly expressed at the infective cercaria stage to penetrate the host's skin^{81,82}. More recent studies have shown a role for SjCatB in the degradation of host blood proteins by adult worms to support nutrient acquisition^{82,83}. In fact, all three species release cathepsins in the vomitus of the adult worms⁸⁴.

The feasibility of utilizing a cathepsin-based vaccination strategy against *S. haematobium* challenge has previously been demonstrated⁸⁵. When mice were immunized against a mixed formulation of *S. mansoni* Cathepsin B and *Fasciola hepatica* Cathepsin L1, the *S. haematobium* worm burden was reduced by 70% and hepatic egg burden was reduced by 60% in a murine model 12 weeks post-infection. When combined with recombinant *S. mansoni* glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (rSG3PDH), worm burden reduction increased slightly to 72% and no eggs were observed in the livers of immunized mice. Therefore, there is evidence that immunization with SmCatB can protect against heterologous challenge with *S. haematobium*.

It remains to be evaluated whether immunization against Cathepsin B using our multimodal vaccination approach could yield similar results in *S. haematobium* murine and hamster models. A combination strategy with multiple antigens may be required to confer sufficient cross-protection.

5.3.4 Targeting other Schistosoma antigens

In this work, we targeted the digestive enzyme Cathepsin B which is important for nutrient acquisition for both migrating schistosomula and adult worms. This approach differs from other *Schistosoma* vaccines in pre-clinical and clinical development. The current candidate vaccines in phase I and II clinical trials target outer membrane worm proteins⁴. These antigens are tetraspanin-2 (Sm-TSP2), the 14-kDa fatty acid-binding protein (Sm14), and calpain (Sm-p80). A combination approach may be ideal, and a synergistic effect is possible between these clinical candidates and Cathepsin B.

Other groups have attempted combined regimens involving Cathepsin B for *S. mansoni* and *S. haematobium* vaccination strategies^{85,86}. As schistosomes are complex parasites, targeting different life-cycle stages or anatomical locations may have additive effects and lead to higher efficacy rates. One of the advantages of our YS1646 vector is its large carrying capacity. Cloning additional *Schistosoma* antigens would be possible in our expression system and used to vaccinate the host against multiple antigenic targets.

5.3.5 Alternative delivery systems or vaccination approaches for Cathepsin B

While attenuated *Salmonella* vectoring proved to be an effective delivery method of our target antigen, other systems may provide additional benefits and should be explored. In terms of bacterial vectors, live attenuated Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) has been repeatedly repurposed to express heterologous antigens^{87,88}. BCG has also been repurposed to design recombinant vectored vaccines for several parasitic diseases, namely malaria⁸⁹, toxoplasmosis⁹⁰, trypanosomiasis⁹¹, and schistosomiasis^{92–94}. As part of a collaboration between the laboratories of Drs. Momar Ndao and Michael Reed, BCG is currently being tested as an adjuvant and a recombinant strain of BCG is being developed as an expression vector for *S. mansoni* Cathepsin

B murine studies. As SmCatB has T_H2 -skewing properties^{95,96}, expression of the antigen using a recombinant BCG vector may lead to mixed T_H1/T_H2 immune responses and yield comparable results to vaccination studies with the *Salmonella* vector described in this thesis.

In addition, recent work in the fight against COVID-19 has highlighted the advantages of adenoviral vectors. The use of these vectors is attractive due to their broad tissue tropism and strong expression of target antigens^{97,98}. Their safety record has been proven in clinical trials as most individuals did not produce any severe adverse reactions to vaccination^{99–101}. Our group has developed a recombinant human adenovirus serotype 5 (Ad5) vector to deliver *Schistosoma mansoni* Cathepsin B (AdSmCB) intramuscularly¹⁰². Priming with recombinant adenovirus followed by two recombinant protein boosts led to mixed T_H1/T_H2 immune responses, decreased parasite burden, and decreased liver pathology in vaccinated animals.

Finally, the COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the pace of the development of mRNA-based vaccines against other infectious diseases. Some of the advantages of mRNA vaccines include the induction of a strong and effective immune response, rapid and easy development, and the possibility of multivalent combinations^{103,104}. Such vaccines have been recently developed against a few parasitic diseases such as malaria^{105,106}, leishmaniasis¹⁰⁷, and toxoplasmosis¹⁰⁸. The development of an mRNA vaccine encoding for the *S. mansoni* Cathepsin B protease may be particularly successful, especially if coupled with other known target antigens. Therefore, these three approaches are alternative strategies for the delivery of Cathepsin B.

5.3.6 Looking ahead toward human studies

As we hope to move past murine studies, several considerations will have to be made and there will be various hurdles to overcome in order to translate the findings of this thesis into clinical work. Bottlenecks that stall progress towards clinical trials constitute what is known as "the valley of death" which reflects the difficult transition from the laboratory to clinical development and practice¹⁰⁹. Following pre-clinical proof-of-concept studies, the next step will be manufacturing and the scale-up of the vaccine doses, both oral and intramuscular components, and following good manufacturing process (GMP). The live attenuated YS1646 recombinant strain will need to be

properly formulated and stored at optimum conditions to preserve efficacy and viability¹¹⁰. The YS1646 strain has been previously used in a clinical trial study of metastatic melanoma patients³¹. Therefore, the toxicity of the *S*. Typhimurium strain has been tested and it is safe for use in humans. However, this study was conducted by administering the attenuated strain intravenously and it did not produce any heterologous antigen as is the case in our vaccine studies. Thus, short toxicity and dose-escalating studies in another animal model, such as non-human primates, would be required before progressing towards a phase I clinical trial.

Other factors to consider for further studies would include the vaccination schedule. The Ty21a oral vaccine for *S*. Typhi is administered in three doses (four doses in North America) given every other day over the course of one week¹¹¹. Thus, the vaccination schedule may remain the same in clinical trial studies and this would be highly advantageous as it would reduce the number of appointment visits in low-resource areas and be much faster than conventional intramuscular vaccination regimens. Moreover, clinical assays to test the immunogenicity of the vaccine will need to be optimized. Other than assessing serum antibody levels, cellular immune responses may be evaluated by collecting peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Intestinal IgA secretions may be assessed through fecal samples.

Next, following manufacturing processing, assay optimization, and toxicity & efficacy studies in non-human primates, a phase I clinical trial may be implemented to assess safety in healthy adults. The recombinant YS1646 vaccine strain is susceptible to antibiotics in the case of a major adverse event. Dose-ranging studies, as well as safety studies in children, may also be required. Eventually, a phase II study in adults from endemic regions may be implemented to assess vaccine efficacy followed by a phase IIb study in school-aged children from endemic areas as they represent a significant risk group for schistosomiasis. The vaccine may be tested in treated or currently infected individuals to test both its prophylactic and therapeutic effects. The therapeutic arm of the vaccine may include the co-administration of PZQ. As a neglected tropical disease, large amounts of funding from governments as well as philanthropic organizations will be necessary to push a vaccine through the various stages of clinical testing. A large-scale phase III trial would require many resources and the involvement of different stakeholders. Thus, the path for an eventual

schistosomiasis vaccine from pre-clinical testing to licensure will be arduous. Still, it is not outside the realm of possibility if provided with sufficient support.

5.4 CONCLUDING REMARKS

In this work, we explored the use of an attenuated YS1646 strain of *Salmonella* Typhimurium to express the heterologous *Schistosoma mansoni* antigen Cathepsin B as a vaccine vector. Our initial studies suggested high efficacy when delivered in a 3-week prime-boost approach consisting of 3 oral doses followed by a recombinant protein boost administered intramuscularly. These remarkable results lead to the investigation of a therapeutic effect of our vaccine in a chronic challenge model. With success as both a prophylactic and therapeutic vaccine, we then turned towards chromosomal integration of Cathepsin B into our vector to mitigate the risks associated with plasmid-based expression. This newly constructed vaccine proved to be able to elicit robust systemic and local immune responses in a murine model. Considerable work remains to elucidate the mechanisms of action of our vaccine as well as to assess its efficacy in larger animal models, and eventually in humans. Overall, our approach is a promising strategy in the development of a *Schistosoma mansoni* vaccine, and we hope these efforts provide significant contributions to the field.

5.5 REFERENCES

- 1. Adepoju, P. NTDs in the time of COVID-19. *The Lancet Microbe* **1**, e244 (2020).
- 2. Cioli, D., Pica-Mattoccia, L., Basso, A. & Guidi, A. Schistosomiasis control: Praziquantel forever? *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* vol. 195 23–29 (2014).
- 3. Bergquist, V. R. & Colley, D. G. Schistosomiasis vaccine:research to development. *Parasitol. Today* **14**, 99–104 (1998).
- 4. Tebeje, B. M., Harvie, M., You, H., Loukas, A. & McManus, D. P. Schistosomiasis vaccines: where do we stand? *Parasites and Vectors* vol. 9 1–15 (2016).
- Mo, A. X. & Colley, D. G. Workshop report: Schistosomiasis vaccine clinical development and product characteristics. in *Vaccine* vol. 34 995–1001 (Elsevier Ltd, 2016).
- 6. Ricciardi, A., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. Evaluation of the immune response and protective efficacy of Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B in mice using CpG dinucleotides as adjuvant. *Vaccine* **33**, 346–353 (2015).
- 7. Ricciardi, A., Visitsunthorn, K., Dalton, J. P. & Ndao, M. A vaccine consisting of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B formulated in Montanide ISA 720 VG induces high level protection against murine schistosomiasis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **16**, (2016).
- Perera, D. J. *et al.* Adjuvanted Schistosoma mansoni-Cathepsin B With Sulfated Lactosyl Archaeol Archaeosomes or AddaVaxTM Provides Protection in a Pre-Clinical Schistosomiasis Model. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 2990 (2020).
- 9. Sajid, M. *et al.* Functional expression and characterization of Schistosoma mansoni cathepsin B and its trans-activation by an endogenous asparaginyl endopeptidase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **131**, 65–75 (2003).
- Correnti, J. M., Brindley, P. J. & Pearce, E. J. Long-term suppression of cathepsin B levels by RNA interference retards schistosome growth. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 143, 209–215 (2005).
- Karmakar, S. *et al.* Cross-species protection: Schistosoma mansoni Sm-p80 vaccine confers protection against Schistosoma haematobium in hamsters and baboons. *Vaccine* 32, 1296–1303 (2014).
- Diemert, D. J. *et al.* Generalized urticaria induced by the Na-ASP-2 hookworm vaccine: Implications for the development of vaccines against helminths. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 130, 169-176.e6 (2012).
- Ohl, M. E. & Miller, S. I. Salmonella: a model for bacterial pathogenesis. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 52, 259–274 (2001).
- 14. Erazo, A. B. *et al.* CCL17-expressing dendritic cells in the intestine are preferentially infected by Salmonella but CCL17 plays a redundant role in systemic dissemination. *Immunity, Inflamm. Dis.* **9**, 891 (2021).
- 15. Campos, J., Mourão, J., Peixe, L. & Antunes, P. Non-typhoidal Salmonella in the Pig Production Chain: A Comprehensive Analysis of Its Impact on Human Health. *Pathog.*
(*Basel, Switzerland*) **8**, (2019).

- 16. Wilson, R. A., Li, X. H. & Castro-Borges, W. Do schistosome vaccine trials in mice have an intrinsic flaw that generates spurious protection data? *Parasit. Vectors* **9**, (2016).
- 17. Schwartz, C. & Fallon, P. G. Schistosoma "Eggs-iting" the host: Granuloma formation and egg excretion. *Frontiers in Immunology* vol. 9 (2018).
- 18. Abdul-Ghani, R. A. & Hassan, A. A. Murine schistosomiasis as a model for human schistosomiasis mansoni: similarities and discrepancies. *Parasitol. Res.* **107**, 1–8 (2010).
- 19. Pullan, R. L. *et al.* Human helminth co-infection: analysis of spatial patterns and risk factors in a Brazilian community. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **2**, (2008).
- 20. Ojo, O. E., Adebayo, A. S., Awobode, H. O., Nguewa, P. & Anumudu, C. I. Schistosoma haematobium and Plasmodium falciparum co-infection in Nigeria 2001–2018: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sci. African* **6**, e00186 (2019).
- 21. Driciru, E. *et al.* Immunological Considerations for Schistosoma Vaccine Development: Transitioning to Endemic Settings. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 635985 (2021).
- 22. Rosen, J. B. *et al.* Malaria chemoprophylaxis and the serologic response to measles and diphtheria-tetanus-whole-cell pertussis vaccines. *Malar. J.* **4**, 1–9 (2005).
- 23. Usen, S., Milligan, P., Ethevenaux, C., Greenwood, B. & Mulholland, K. Effect of fever on the serum antibody response of Gambian children to Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccine. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* **19**, 444–449 (2000).
- 24. Wajja, A. *et al.* The effect of current Schistosoma mansoni infection on the immunogenicity of a candidate TB vaccine, MVA85A, in BCG-vaccinated adolescents: An open-label trial. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **11**, (2017).
- 25. Babu, S. & Nutman, T. B. Helminth-Tuberculosis Co-Infection: an Immunologic Perspective. *Trends Immunol.* **37**, 597 (2016).
- 26. Salgame, P., Yap, G. S. & Gause, W. C. Effect of helminth-induced immunity on infections with microbial pathogens. *Nat. Immunol.* **14**, 1118–1126 (2013).
- 27. de Ruiter, K. *et al.* The effect of three-monthly albendazole treatment on Th2 responses: Differential effects on IgE and IL-5. *Parasite Immunol.* **39**, (2017).
- 28. Gilman, R. H. *et al.* Evaluation of a UDP-glucose-4-epimeraseless mutant of Salmonella typhi as a liver oral vaccine. *J. Infect. Dis.* **136**, 717–723 (1977).
- 29. Mosley, J. F., Smith, L. L., Brantley, P., Locke, D. & Como, M. Vaxchora: the first FDAapproved cholera vaccination in the United States. *Pharm. Ther.* **42**, 638 (2017).
- Hassan, J. *et al.* Vaccine-related poliovirus shedding in trivalent polio vaccine and human immunodeficiency virus status: analysis from under five children. *BMC Res. Notes* 10, (2017).
- Toso, J. F. *et al.* Phase I Study of the Intravenous Administration of Attenuated Salmonella typhimurium to Patients With Metastatic Melanoma . J. Clin. Oncol. 20, 142– 152 (2002).
- 32. Bhan, M. K., Bahl, R. & Bhatnagar, S. Typhoid and paratyphoid fever. *Lancet (London, England)* **366**, 749–762 (2005).

- 33. Osakunor, D. N. M., Woolhouse, M. E. J. & Mutapi, F. Paediatric schistosomiasis: What we know and what we need to know. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **12**, (2018).
- 34. Dessein, A. *et al.* Immune evasion by Schistosoma mansoni: loss of susceptibility to antibody or complement-dependent eosinophil attack by schistosomula cultured in medium free of macromolecules. *Parasitology* **82**, 357–374 (1981).
- 35. Jong, E. C., Chi, E. Y. & Klebanoff, S. J. Human neutrophil-mediated killing of schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni: augmentation by schistosomal binding of eosinophil peroxidase. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **33**, 104–115 (1984).
- 36. Caulfield, J. P., Lenzi, H. L., Elsas, P. & Dessein, A. J. Ultrastructure of the attack of eosinophils stimulated by blood mononuclear cell products on schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni. *Am. J. Pathol.* **120**, 380–390 (1985).
- 37. Abu-Ghazaleh, R. I., Fujisawa, T., Mestecky, J., Kyle, R. A. & Gleich, G. J. IgA-induced eosinophil degranulation. *J. Immunol.* **142**, 2393–400 (1989).
- 38. Travers, J. & Rothenberg, M. E. Eosinophils in mucosal immune responses. *Mucosal Immunology* vol. 8 464–475 (2015).
- 39. Mestecky, J. The common mucosal immune system and current strategies for induction of immune responses in external secretions. *J. Clin. Immunol.* **7**, 265–276 (1987).
- Ruane, D. *et al.* Microbiota regulate the ability of lung dendritic cells to induce IgA classswitch recombination and generate protective gastrointestinal immune responses. *J. Exp. Med.* 213, 53–73 (2016).
- 41. Li, Y., Jin, L. & Chen, T. The Effects of Secretory IgA in the Mucosal Immune System. (2020) doi:10.1155/2020/2032057.
- 42. Gill, R. F., Pirockinaite, G., O'Sullivan, N. L. & Montgomery, P. C. Nasal-associated lymphoid tissue is not an absolute requirement for the induction of rat tear IgA antibody responses. *Curr. Eye Res.* **35**, 1–8 (2010).
- 43. Marie, C., Ali, A., Chandwe, K., Petri, W. A. & Kelly, P. Pathophysiology of environmental enteric dysfunction and its impact on oral vaccine efficacy. *Mucosal Immunology* vol. 11 1290–1298 (2018).
- 44. Murphy, J. R. *et al.* Immunogenicity of Salmonella typhi Ty21a vaccine for young children. *Infect. Immun.* **59**, 4291–4293 (1991).
- 45. Cryz, S. J. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of Salmonella typhi Ty21a vaccine in young Thai children. *Infect. Immun.* **61**, 1149–1151 (1993).
- 46. Bhuiyan, T. R. *et al.* Evaluation of immune responses to an oral typhoid vaccine, Ty21a, in children from 2 to 5 years of age in Bangladesh. *Vaccine* **32**, 1055–1060 (2014).
- 47. Mwanza-Lisulo, M. & Kelly, P. Potential for use of retinoic acid as an oral vaccine adjuvant. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* vol. 370 (2015).
- 48. Clements, J. D. & Norton, E. B. The Mucosal Vaccine Adjuvant LT(R192G/L211A) or dmLT. *mSphere* **3**, (2018).
- 49. Tan, X., Sande, J. L., Pufnock, J. S., Blattman, J. N. & Greenberg, P. D. Retinoic acid as a

vaccine adjuvant enhances CD8+ T cell response and mucosal protection from viral challenge. *J. Virol.* **85**, 8316–8327 (2011).

- 50. Benson, M. J., Pino-Lagos, K., Rosemblatt, M. & Noelle, R. J. All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**, 1765–1774 (2007).
- Engedal, N., Gjevik, T., Blomhoff, R. & Blomhoff, H. K. All-trans retinoic acid stimulates IL-2-mediated proliferation of human T lymphocytes: early induction of cyclin D3. *J. Immunol.* 177, 2851–2861 (2006).
- 52. Johansson-Lindbom, B. *et al.* Functional specialization of gut CD103+ dendritic cells in the regulation of tissue-selective T cell homing. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 1063–1073 (2005).
- 53. Svensson, M. *et al.* Retinoic acid receptor signaling levels and antigen dose regulate gut homing receptor expression on CD8+ T cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* **1**, 38–48 (2008).
- 54. Iwata, M. *et al.* Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. *Immunity* **21**, 527–538 (2004).
- 55. Kelly, K. A. & Rank, R. G. Identification of homing receptors that mediate the recruitment of CD4 T cells to the genital tract following intravaginal infection with Chlamydia trachomatis. *Infect. Immun.* **65**, 5198 (1997).
- 56. Marks, E. *et al.* Retinoic Acid Signaling in B Cells Is Required for the Generation of an Effective T-Independent Immune Response. *Front. Immunol.* **7**, 23 (2016).
- 57. Berger, R. *et al.* Tretinoin gel microspheres 0.04% versus 0.1% in adolescents and adults with mild to moderate acne vulgaris: a 12-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, phase IV trial. *Clin. Ther.* **29**, 1086–1097 (2007).
- 58. Krautheim, A. & Gollnick, H. P. M. Acne: topical treatment. *Clin. Dermatol.* **22**, 398–407 (2004).
- 59. Wang, Z. Y. & Chen, Z. Acute promyelocytic leukemia: from highly fatal to highly curable. *Blood* **111**, 2505–2515 (2008).
- 60. Lisulo, M. M. *et al.* Adjuvant potential of low dose all-*trans* retinoic acid during oral typhoid vaccination in Zambian men. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **175**, 468–475 (2014).
- 61. Norton, E. B., Lawson, L. B., Freytag, L. C. & Clements, J. D. Characterization of a mutant Escherichia coli heat-labile toxin, LT(R192G/L211A), as a safe and effective oral adjuvant. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* **18**, 546–551 (2011).
- 62. Stinson, J. A. *et al.* Silk fibroin microneedles for transdermal vaccine delivery. *ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng.* **3**, 360–369 (2017).
- Norton, E. B., Lawson, L. B., Mahdi, Z., Freytag, L. C. & Clements, J. D. The A Subunit of Escherichia coli Heat-Labile Enterotoxin Functions as a Mucosal Adjuvant and Promotes IgG2a, IgA, and Th17 Responses to Vaccine Antigens. *Infect. Immun.* 80, 2426 (2012).
- 64. Novotny, L. A., Clements, J. D. & Bakaletz, L. O. Kinetic analysis and evaluation of the mechanisms involved in the resolution of experimental nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae-induced otitis media after transcutaneous immunization. *Vaccine* **31**, 3417–

3426 (2013).

- 65. Novotny, L. A., Clements, J. D., Goodman, S. D. & Bakaletz, L. O. Transcutaneous immunization with a band-aid prevents experimental otitis media in a polymicrobial model. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* **24**, e00563-16 (2017).
- 66. Sjökvist Ottsjö, L. *et al.* Induction of mucosal immune responses against Helicobacter pylori infection after sublingual and intragastric route of immunization. *Immunology* **150**, 172–183 (2017).
- 67. Holmgren, J. *et al.* Development and preclinical evaluation of safety and immunogenicity of an oral ETEC vaccine containing inactivated E. coli bacteria overexpressing colonization factors CFA/I, CS3, CS5 and CS6 combined with a hybrid LT/CT B subunit antigen, administered al. *Vaccine* **31**, 2457–2464 (2013).
- 68. Lalsiamthara, J. & Lee, J. H. Immunization with Salmonella Enteritidis secreting mucosal adjuvant labile toxin confers protection against wild type challenge via augmentation of CD3+ CD4+ T-cell proliferation and enhancement of IFN-γ, IL-6 and IL-10 expressions in chicken. *Vaccine* **35**, 767–773 (2017).
- 69. Doreau, A. *et al.* Interleukin 17 acts in synergy with B cell–activating factor to influence B cell biology and the pathophysiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 778–785 (2009).
- 70. Jaffar, Z., Ferrini, M. E., Herritt, L. A. & Roberts, K. Cutting edge: lung mucosal Th17mediated responses induce polymeric Ig receptor expression by the airway epithelium and elevate secretory IgA levels. *J. Immunol.* **182**, 4507–4511 (2009).
- 71. Jaffar, Z., Ferrini, M. E., Girtsman, T. A. & Roberts, K. Antigen-specific Treg regulate Th17-mediated lung neutrophilic inflammation, B-cell recruitment and polymeric IgA and IgM levels in the airways. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **39**, 3307–3314 (2009).
- 72. McManus, D. P. et al. Schistosomiasis. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 2018 41 4, 1–19 (2018).
- 73. Chan, J. D., Zarowiecki, M. & Marchant, J. S. Ca²⁺ channels and praziquantel: a view from the free world. *Parasitol. Int.* **62**, 619–628 (2013).
- 74. Mutapi, F. *et al.* Praziquantel treatment of individuals exposed to Schistosoma haematobium enhances serological recognition of defined parasite antigens. *J. Infect. Dis.* 192, 1108–1118 (2005).
- 75. El-Faham, M. H. *et al.* Treatment of Schistosoma mansoni with miltefosine in vitro enhances serological recognition of defined worm surface antigens. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 11, (2017).
- 76. Chitsulo, L., Engels, D., Montresor, A. & Savioli, L. The global status of schistosomiasis and its control. *Acta Trop.* **77**, 41–51 (2000).
- 77. Manz, K. M. *et al.* Schistosoma haematobium infection and environmental factors in Southwestern Tanzania: A cross-sectional, population-based study. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 14, 1–22 (2020).
- 78. Meurs, L. *et al.* Epidemiology of mixed Schistosoma mansoni and Schistosoma haematobium infections in northern Senegal. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **42**, 305–311 (2012).

- 79. Anyan, W. K. *et al.* Concurrent Schistosoma mansoni and Schistosoma haematobium infections in a peri-urban community along the Weija dam in Ghana: A wake up call for effective National Control Programme. *Acta Trop.* **199**, (2019).
- 80. Ojo, J. A. *et al.* Prevalence of urogenital and intestinal schistosomiasis among school children in South-west Nigeria. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **15**, (2021).
- 81. Macalanda, A. M. C. *et al.* Schistosoma japonicum cathepsin B as potential diagnostic antigen for Asian zoonotic schistosomiasis. *Parasitol. Res.* **118**, 2601–2608 (2019).
- 82. Zhu, B. *et al.* Schistosoma japonicum cathepsin B2 (SjCB2) facilitates parasite invasion through the skin. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **14**, 1–23 (2020).
- 83. Liu, S. *et al.* Expression profile of the Schistosoma japonicum degradome reveals differential protease expression patterns and potential anti-schistosomal intervention targets. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* **10**, (2014).
- Caffrey, C. R. & Ruppel, A. Cathepsin B-like activity predominates over cathepsin L-like activity in adult Schistosoma mansoni and S. japonicum. *Parasitol. Res. 1997 836* 83, 632–635 (1997).
- 85. Tallima, H., Dalton, J. P. & El Ridi, R. E. Induction of Protective Immune Responses Against Schistosomiasis haematobium in Hamsters and Mice Using Cysteine Peptidase-Based Vaccine. *Front. Immunol.* **6**, (2015).
- Tallima, H. *et al.* Protective immune responses against Schistosoma mansoni infection by immunization with functionally active gut-derived cysteine peptidases alone and in combination with glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 11, (2017).
- 87. Mustafa, A. S. BCG as a Vector for Novel Recombinant Vaccines against Infectious Diseases and Cancers. *Vaccines* **8**, 1–5 (2020).
- Mouhoub, E., Domenech, P., Ndao, M. & Reed, M. B. The Diverse Applications of Recombinant BCG-Based Vaccines to Target Infectious Diseases Other Than Tuberculosis: An Overview. *Front. Microbiol.* 12, 757858 (2021).
- 89. Arama, C. *et al.* A recombinant Bacille Calmette–Guérin construct expressing the Plasmodium falciparum circumsporozoite protein enhances dendritic cell activation and primes for circumsporozoite-specific memory cells in BALB/c mice. *Vaccine* **30**, 5578–5584 (2012).
- Ibrahim, H. M., Bannai, H., Xuan, X. & Nishikawa, Y. Toxoplasma gondii cyclophilin 18mediated production of nitric oxide induces bradyzoite conversion in a CCR5-dependent manner. *Infect. Immun.* 77, 3686–3695 (2009).
- Bontempi, I. *et al.* Recombinant Mycobacterium bovis BCG is a promising platform to develop vaccines against Trypansoma cruzi infection. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 201, 306–316 (2020).
- 92. L, K., G, R., A, B., A, C. & C, L. Neutralizing antibody responses elicited in mice immunized with recombinant bacillus Calmette-Guérin producing the Schistosoma mansoni glutathione S-transferase. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 4309–17 (1996).

- Kremer, L., Dupré, L., Riveau, G., Capron, A. & Locht, C. Systemic and mucosal immune responses after intranasal administration of recombinant Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette-Guérin expressing glutathione S-transferase from Schistosoma haematobium. *Infect. Immun.* 66, 5669–5676 (1998).
- 94. Varaldo, P. B. *et al.* Recombinant Mycobacterium bovis BCG Expressing the Sm14 Antigen of Schistosoma mansoni Protects Mice from Cercarial Challenge. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 3336 (2004).
- 95. de Oliveira Fraga, L. A. *et al.* Rapid induction of IgE responses to a worm cysteine protease during murine pre-patent schistosome infection. *BMC Immunol.* **11**, (2010).
- 96. El Ridi, R. *et al.* Cysteine peptidases as schistosomiasis vaccines with inbuilt adjuvanticity. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- Lasaro, M. O. & Ertl, H. C. J. New insights on adenovirus as vaccine vectors. *Mol. Ther.* 17, 1333–1339 (2009).
- 98. Afkhami, S., Yao, Y. & Xing, Z. Methods and clinical development of adenovirusvectored vaccines against mucosal pathogens. *Mol. Ther. Clin. Dev.* **3**, 16030 (2016).
- 99. Zhu, F.-C. *et al.* Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of a recombinant adenovirus type-5 vectored COVID-19 vaccine: a dose-escalation, open-label, non-randomised, first-in-human trial. *Lancet* **395**, 1845–1854 (2020).
- 100. Sadoff, J. *et al.* Interim results of a phase 1–2a trial of Ad26. COV2. S Covid-19 vaccine. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **384**, 1824–1835 (2021).
- 101. Ramasamy, M. N. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine administered in a prime-boost regimen in young and old adults (COV002): a single-blind, randomised, controlled, phase 2/3 trial. *Lancet* **396**, 1979–1993 (2020).
- Perera, D. J. *et al.* A low dose adenovirus vectored vaccine expressing Schistosoma mansoni Cathepsin B protects from intestinal schistosomiasis in mice. *eBioMedicine* 80, 104036 (2022).
- 103. Zhang, C., Maruggi, G., Shan, H. & Li, J. Advances in mRNA Vaccines for Infectious Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, (2019).
- 104. Zeng, C. *et al.* Leveraging mRNA Sequences and Nanoparticles to Deliver SARS-CoV-2 Antigens In Vivo. *Adv. Mater.* **32**, 2004452 (2020).
- 105. Baeza Garcia, A. *et al.* Neutralization of the Plasmodium-encoded MIF ortholog confers protective immunity against malaria infection. *Nat. Commun.* **9**, 1–13 (2018).
- 106. Mallory, K. L. *et al.* Messenger RNA expressing PfCSP induces functional, protective immune responses against malaria in mice. *NPJ vaccines* **6**, (2021).
- Duthie, M. S. *et al.* Heterologous immunization with defined RNA and subunit vaccines enhances T cell responses that protect against Leishmania donovani. *Front. Immunol.* 9, 2420 (2018).
- 108. Luo, F. *et al.* Induction of protective immunity against Toxoplasma gondii in mice by nucleoside triphosphate hydrolase-II (NTPase-II) self-amplifying RNA vaccine encapsulated in lipid nanoparticle (LNP). *Front. Microbiol.* **8**, 605 (2017).

- 109. Heaton, P. M. Challenges of Developing Novel Vaccines With Particular Global Health Importance. *Front. Immunol.* **11**, 2456 (2020).
- 110. Ohtake, S. *et al.* Room temperature stabilization of oral, live attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi-vectored vaccines. *Vaccine* **29**, 2761–2771 (2011).
- 111. Milligan, R., Paul, M., Richardson, M. & Neuberger, A. Vaccines for preventing typhoid fever. *Cochrane database Syst. Rev.* **5**, (2018).

5.6 FIGURE & FIGURE LEGEND



Figure 5.1. Humoral responses. Serum and intestinal samples were collected 3 weeks post-vaccination. Anti-Cathepsin B IgG titers expressed as ng/mL (A). Anti-CatB intestinal IgA titers expressed as ng/g (B). n = 4-5 animals per group. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (***P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01).